## ECOLOGY OF DENITRIFIERS IN MANGROVE SEDIMENTS

Thesis submitted to Goa University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy In Marine Sciences

574.5 FER/ECO

By

### Sheryl Oliveira Fernandes

National Institute of Oceanography, Dona Paula, Goa – 403004 India

T-481

December 2009

### DECLARATION

As required under the university ordinance 0.19.8 (IV), I state that the present thesis entitled "*Ecology of denitrifiers in mangrove sediments*" is my original contribution and the same has not been submitted on any previous occasion. To the best of my knowledge the present study is the first comprehensive work of its kind from the area mentioned. The literature related to the problem investigated has been cited. Due acknowledgements have been made wherever facilities and suggestions have been availed of.

Sheryl Sliveira Fernandes

### CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled, "*Ecology of denitrifiers in mangrove sediments*", submitted by Ms. Sheryl Oliveira Fernandes for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Marine Sciences is based on her original studies carried out under my supervision. The thesis or any part thereof has not been previously submitted for any other degree or diploma in any university or institute.

Place : NIO, Dona Paula Date: 21<sup>st</sup> December 2009

Loka Bharathi

Scientist "G" & Coordinator Bioinformatics Group, Secretary, Indian-Ocean Census of Marine Life Secretariat, Biological Oceanography, National Institute of Oceanography, Dona Paula, Goa- 403004. Ph #: 0832-2450281 Fax: 0832-2450606 loka@nio.org

exarcon Lave been unerged Alpharath 110/10 n1-17-

Dedicated to my parents

Hipolito & Linda

,

"The most important role of microbes is their ability to synergistically link various elemental cycles"

,

P. A. Loka Bharathi

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknówledgements

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 The marine nitrogen cycle	8
2.2. Measuring denitrification in marine ecosystems	14
2.3. Denitrification in the marine environment	16
2.4. Denitrifying bacteria	18
2.5. Denitrification in mangrove ecosystems	22
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	25
SECTION I – Field observations	25
3.1. Study Area	25
3.1.1. Location and description of mangroves	25
3.1.2. Tuvem mangrove ecosystem	25
3.1.3. Divar mangrove ecosystem	26
3.2. Sampling	26
3.2.1. Sampling period	26
3.2.2. Sample collection	27
3.3. Measurement of physico-chemical parameters	27
3.3.1. Temperature	27
3.3.2. Salinity	27
3.3.3. Hydrogen ion concentration (pH)	27
3.3.4. Redox potential (Eh)	27
3.3.5. Dissolved oxygen (ambient water)	28
3.3.6. Pore water $NH_4^+$ , $NO_2^-$ and $NO_3^-$	28
3.3.7. Total organic carbon	29
3.3.8. Iron and manganese	29
3.4. Bacteriological studies	30
3.4.1. Total bacterial counts	30
3.4.2. Heterotrophic counts	30
3.4.3. Nitrate reducing bacteria	30

3.4.4. Denitrifier abundance	31
3.5. Denitrification rates	31
3.6. Statistical analyses	33
SECTION II – Laboratory experiments	34
3.7. Quantification of nitrous oxide production and its origin	34
3.7.1. Experimental procedure	34
3.7.1.1. Sampling	34
3.7.1.2. Physico-chemical parameters	34
3.7.1.3. Net nitrous oxide production and its origin	35
3.7.1.4. Quantification of denitrifiers	36
3.7.1.5. Statistical analyses	37
3.8. Down-core profiling of denitrification along with other co-occurring processes	
in the N cycle	37
3.8.1. Experimental procedure	37
3.8.1.1. Sampling	37
3.8.1.2. Grain size analysis	37
3.8.1.3. Nutrient and total organic carbon analyses	38
3.8.1.4. Di-nitrogen fixation	38
3.8.1.5. Net nitrification rate	39
3.8.1.6. Nitrate reduction activity	39
3.8.1.7. Denitrification and anammox	40
3.8.1.8. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)	43
3.8.1.9. Net nitrous oxide production	44
3.8.1.10. Macrofaunal abundance	44
3.8.1.11. Quantification of nosZ genes	45
3.8.1.12. Statistical analysis	46
3.9. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification	47
3.9.1. Experimental procedure	47
3.9.1. 1. Sampling	47
3.9.1.2. Pore water nitrate	47
3.9.1. 3. Total organic carbon	47
3.9.1. 4. Labile organic matter	47
3.9.1. 5. Effect of $NO_3^-$ addition on denitrification	48
3.9.1. 6. Effect of organic C addition on denitrification	49
3.9.1. 7. Potential denitrification rates	49
3.9.1. 8. Statistical analyses	49

3.10. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification	49
3.10.1. Experimental procedure	49
3.10.1.1. Study area and sampling	49
3.10.1.2. Physico-chemical analyses	50
3.10.1.3. Denitrifier abundance	51
3.10.1.4. Macrofaunal abundance	52
3.10.1.5. Statistical analysis	52
SECTION III – Diversity of denitrifying bacteria	52
3.11. Taxonomic diversity of denitrifiers: a biochemical approach	53
3.11.1. Isolation	53
3.11.2. Characterization and identification	53
3.12. Functional diversity: probing the <i>nosZ</i> gene	54
3.12.1. DNA extraction	54
3.12.2. Amplification of nosZ genes by PCR	56
3.12.3. Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis	57
3.12.4. Cloning of PCR fragments	58
3.12.5. Ligation of PCR products	59
3.12.6. Transformation of ligation reactions into competent cells	59
3.12.7. Analysis of clones	60
3.12.8. Purification of plasmid culture	60
3.12.9. Sequencing of cloned products and analysis of nosZ sequences	62
3.13. Bacterial diversity in mangrove sediments: A 454 pyrosequencing approach	62
3.13.1. DNA extraction	64
3.13.2. Concentration of DNA	64
3.13.3. High-throughput pyrosequencing	64
3.13.4. Data analysis	65
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	66
SECTION I – Field observations	<b>6</b> 6
4.1. Physical parameters	<b>6</b> 6
4.1.1. Temperature	66
4.1.2. Salinity	66
4.1.3. pH	66
4.1.4. Redox potential	67
4.2. Chemical parameters	67
4.2.1. Dissolved oxygen	67

4.2.2 Pore water $NH_{t}^{+}$ NO <sub>2</sub> and NO <sub>2</sub>	67
4.2.3 Total organic carbon	69
4.2.4. Iron and manganese concentration	69
4.3. Bacteriological parameters	69
4.3.1. Total bacterial counts	69
4.3.2. Heterotrophic counts	70
4.3.3. Nitrate reducing bacteria	70
4.3.4. Denitrifier abundance	71
4.4. Seasonal denitrification rates	71
4.5. Statistical analysis	72
4.5.1. Factors controlling denitrification	72
4.5.2. Factors controlling denitrifier abundance	72
SECTION II – Laboratory experiments	73
4.6. Nitrous oxide production	73
4.6. 1. Physico-chemical characteristics	73
4.6. 2. Net nitrous oxide production, denitrification rate and $N_2O$ production by denitrifiers	73
4.6. 3. Denitrifier abundance	74
4.6. 4. Environmental factors influencing N <sub>2</sub> O production	74
4.7. Denitrification and other co-occurring processes	75
4.7.1. Grain size	75
4.7.2. Total organic carbon and nutrient analyses	75
4.7.3. Di-nitrogen fixation	75
4.7.4. Net nitrification	76
4.7.5. Nitrate reduction	76
4.7.6. $N_2$ production through an ammox and denitrification	76
4.7.7. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)	77
4.7.8. Net nitrous oxide production	77
4.7.9. Macrofaunal abundance	77
4.7.10. Abundance of denitrifying genes (nosZ)	77
4.7.11. Environmental controls on denitrification	78
4.8. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification	78
4.8.1. Chemical analyses	78
4.9. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification	79
4.9.1. Physico-chemical characteristics	79
4.9.2. Biological analyses	80

SECTION III – Denitrifier diversity	81
4.10.1. Taxonomic identification of culturable denitrifiers	81
4.10.2. Functional diversity of denitrifiers	82
4.10.3. Bacterial diversity in mangrove sediments	82

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION	84
5.1. Denitrification: process and controls	84
5.2. Factors influencing denitrifier abundance	88
5.3. Nitrous oxide production and it's origin	90
5.4. Denitrification and other co-occurring processes	94
5.5. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification	100
5.6. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification	103
5.7. Taxonomic and functional diversity of denitrifiers	105
CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	111
CHAPTER 7. IMPLICATION, APPLICATION AND FUTURE SCOPE	114

BIBLIOGRAPHY

APPENDIX

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

PUBLICATIONS FROM THESIS

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to thank **God** for his bountiful blessings, the skills, opportunities, patience, good health, will power and perseverance that have enabled me to pursue a research career. Completion of this thesis is one of his many blessings on me.

This thesis would have not materialized without the enthusiastic supervision of my research guide **Dr**. **P**. **A**. **Loka Bharathi** who has nurtured my ingenuity ever since my inception in her research group. Her constant words of encouragement, support, guidance in literary and technical matters, confidence in my ability, careful correction of manuscript drafts/chapters and advice have enabled me to develop a better understanding of microbial ecology. The extensive evening discussions/learning sessions over a stimulating cup of green tea she prepared for me will never be forgotten. A mentor like her is difficult to find and I thank Dr. Loka profusely for accepting me.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. S. R. Shetye, Director, National Institute of Oceanography, Goa for the facilities.

Many thanks to **Prof. G. N. Nayak**, Dean, Dept. of Life Sciences & Environment, Goa University, **Prof. P.V Desai**, ex-Dean, **Prof. H. B. Menon**, Head, Dept. of Marine Sciences, Goa University and the staff of the Marine Sciences Dept. for their support.

**Dr. C. T. Achuthankutty** (Retd. Scientist, NIO-Goa) and **Dr. Savita Kerkar** (Reader, Dept. of Biotechnology, Goa University) deserve a special thanks as my thesis committee members. Their invaluable advice and critical comments broadened my perspective on the subject and helped to make timely ammendments in the study.

I wish to express my appreciation to Dr. Shanta Achuthankutty for taking intense academic interest in this work. Her valuable suggestions especially prior to the presynopsis presentation helped to improve the flow of the thesis. She has always been approachable, encouraging and supportive. Her positive attitude has been very stimulating.

Special thanks are due to **Dr**. **Maria Judith Gonsalves** who made many valuable suggestions that improved the quality of this study. Her expertise and guidance enabled me to produce predictive models for benthic denitrification.

I am grateful to the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, Govt. of India for the award of *Senior Research Fellowship* (2006-09) which enabled me to cover expenses incurred during the course of the study.

I would also like to thank the Embassy of France in India for the award of *Sandwich PhD Scholarship 2008* which has enabled me to carry out a part of the work at Laboratoire de Microbiologie Géochimie et Ecologie Marines (LMGEM), Marseille, France. My French co-supervisors - Dr. Patricia C. Bonin & Pr. Valérie D. Michotey at LMGEM are acknowledged for giving me an opportunity to work under their esteemed guidance. I appreciate their help with the experimental setup, discussions, suggestions, careful cross-checking of all calculations, inputs on the improvement of the manuscripts and continued guidance during the experimental work carried out at the home institute. I greatly appreciate their warm hospitality throughout my stay in Marseille. Many thanks to Ms. Sophie Guasco, Dr. Monique Aquaviva for technical assistance during molecular analysis, Dr. Nicole Garcia for assistance in nutrient analysis and the entire staff of LMGEM who made my research work rewarding. Dr. Richard Sempere, Director LMGEM, Biogéochimie is thanked for the facilities. Thanks to my pet King Shiloh who kept me company at bâtiment B and friends at the Luminy campus.

High-throughput pyrosequencing in the present study was carried out under the aegis of ICoMM (International Census of Marine Microbes) and supported by the W.M. Keck Foundation grant to the Marine Biological Laboratory (MBL) at Woods Hole. I am grateful to **Dr. Linda Amaral Zettler**, Associate Research Scientist, MBL for her support.

Special thanks to Prof. David Kirchman, University of Delaware for briefing us on bacterial diversity analysis.

I am thankful to Dr. Wajih Naqvi and his team for discussions at the initial stages of the experimental work, Dr. Prabhat Gupta (NPL, New Delhi) for providing the N<sub>2</sub>O standard, Dr. S. N. Harkantra, Dr. Baban Ingole and their students for the macrofaunal identification, ex project leader Dr. K. A. Kamesh Raju for his continued support, Dr. Sujata Kaisary, Dr. M. Wafar, Dr. Mangesh Gauns and Mr. Vasudev Mahale for their kind help, Dr. M. P. Tapaswi, Head Librarian who promptly seeked and delivered the unavailable manuscripts whenever I mailed him a request, Mr. Uchil, DTP section for refining some of the figures incorporated in the thesis and Mr. V Subramanian and Mr. Yeshwant Talkatnal for their co-operation and help.

I am grateful to my friends Christabelle, Dr. Krishnan, Sujith, Anindita, Dr. Sree, Divya, Feby, Sunita, Geeta, Shanti, Dr. Sanitha, Dr. Sini, Dr. Donna, Dr. Sandhya, Dr. Jane, Sanjay, Amar, Rajdeep who have whole heartedly extended their help whenever required. I want to express my gratitude to friends from BOD, COD, POD, GOD, MCMRD, ITG and the Admin staff for their enduring support. Mr. Santosh Shirodkar is especially thanked for help rendered during sample collection. Thank you RD. Your support, constant motivation and belief in me have been incredible.

I am honoured to have a loving and supportive **family** who have been by my side through the most difficult times. They have instilled the values of hard work and respect. I am forever indebted to my parents for their understanding, incessant patience and encouragement when it was most required. It is to them that I dedicate this work.

Sheryl Qliveira Fernandes

## Acronyms

ACE '	Abundance-based coverage estimator
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Anx	Anammox
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATU	Allythiourea
С	Carbon
CFU	Colony forming unit
DGGE	Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
<sup>D</sup> N <sub>2</sub> O	N <sub>2</sub> O produced by denitrifiers
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNRA	Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium
DNT	Denitrification
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DO	Dissolved oxygen
DOTUR	Distance-based OTU and richness
D <sub>tot</sub>	Total denitrification
Eh	Oxidation-reduction potential
EMBL	European molecular biology laboratory
<sup>I</sup> N <sub>2</sub> O	Incomplete denitrification
IPM	Isotope pairing method
IPTG	Isopropyl b-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
kPa	Kilo Pascal
LB	Luria-Bertani broth
LOM	Labile organic matter
mg	Milli gram
MIMS	Membrane inlet mass spectrometry
ml	Milli litres
mM/mmol	Milli mole
MPN	Most-probable number
MS	Mass spectrometer

mV	Milli volt
N,	Nitrogen
ng	Nanno gram
Nif	Di-nitrogen fixation
nM/nmol	Nanno mole
<sup>N</sup> N <sub>2</sub> O	Nitrous oxide produced through nitrification
NPL	National physical laboratory
NRA	Nitrate reduction activity
NRB	Nitrate reducing bacteria
OD	Optical density
OMZ	Oxygen minimum zone
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PCA	Principal component analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pg	Pico gram
pH	Hydrogen ion concentration
pmol	Pico mole
Ppbv	Part per billion by volume
psu	Practical salinity unit
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
TAE	Tris-acetate-EDTA
TBE	Tris-borate-EDTA
TC	Total bacterial count
TDA	Phenylalanine deamination
Tg	Terra gram
THB	Total heterotrophic bacteria
TOC	Total organic carbon
μm	Micro meter
μM/μmol	Micro mole

## Chapter 1

# General Introduction

2

### **CHAPTER 1. General introduction**

Living organisms utilise nitrogen for the synthesis of organic molecules particularly amino acids, proteins, and nucleic acids. Though the nitrogen gas makes up almost 78% of the earth's atmosphere, it cannot be directly incorporated unless taken up by nitrogen fixing organisms. This fixed nitrogen is converted into more utilisable form (nitrate) for use by plants. Of the various processes in the nitrogen cycle, denitrification converts available NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to inert gases making it unavailable for uptake. Nitrogen gas is released into the atmosphere following the reduction of nitrate mostly under anoxic conditions. Thus, the production of gaseous nitrogen by microbial reduction of nitrogenous oxides is known as *biological denitrification* (Tiedje, 1982). Denitrification can be distinguished as either assimilative or dissimilative. In assimilative metabolism, nitrate is reduced as a source of nutrient for growth e.g. plants, fungi, bacteria. This process functions under aerobic conditions.

 $NO_3 \rightarrow NO_2 \rightarrow NH_2OH \rightarrow NH_3 \rightarrow R-NH_2$ 

In dissimilative metabolism, nitrate is used as an electron acceptor for energy e.g. bacteria.

$$NO_3 \rightarrow NO_2 \rightarrow NO \rightarrow N_2O \rightarrow N_2$$

It occurs in terrestrial as well as marine environments mainly in regions where oxygen depletion results in nitrate being used as a terminal electron acceptor. Nitrate respiration is kinetically and thermodynamically favorable (Aivasidis *et al.*, 2005) and is preferred over other electron acceptors following the order:  $O_2 > NO_3 > MnO_2 > FeO(OH) > SO_4^{2-}$ > CO<sub>2</sub> (Canfield *et al.*, 2005). The oxidation of organic matter during denitrification coupled to nitrate reduction results in a higher ATP yield (Tiedje, 1982).

Denitrification is mediated by facultative anaerobes (Tiedje, 1988; Rich and Myrold, 2004). Many heterotrophic bacteria are involved to some extent in denitrification, most of which are found to be incomplete denitrifiers capable of only reducing nitrates to nitrites with no further reduction of the nitrites produced (Drysdale *et al.*, 1999). True denitrifiers complete denitrification by the formation of byproducts such as nitric oxide, nitrous oxide and di-nitrogen. Some of the major denitrifiers are *Paracoccus denitrificans*, *Thiobacillus denitrificans* and various Pseudomonads. The

1

process has also been reported to be carried out by lithotrophs (Betlach, 1982; Trouve and Chazal, 1999) and phototrophs (Hiraishi *et al.*, 1995). Many fungi have denitrifying abilities (Shoun and Tanimoto 1991; Shoun *et al.*, 1992). However, fungi evolve nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) instead of di-nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) as the final product as they lack N<sub>2</sub>O reductase thus differing from bacterial denitrification (Kubota *et al.*, 1999). Most denitrifiers are unable to survive in the absence of nitrogenous oxides as they do not possess the ability to ferment (Tiedje, 1982). Later studies by Jørgensen and Tiedje (1993) have shown that denitrifying organisms have the capacity for long-term survival without O<sub>2</sub> or NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and appear to survive by carrying on a low level of fermentation. Kennedy and Lawless (1985) propose that chemotaxis may be one mechanism by which naturally occurring populations of denitrifiers survive by successfully utilising available NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>.

Denitrifying microbial communities have been detected in marine and terrestrial habitats. In terrestrial ecosystems, denitrifier density ranges between  $10^{5-6}$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> dry soil (Cheneby et al., 2000). In coastal sediments, culture based techniques have shown up to 10<sup>24</sup> cells/g of denitrifier abundance (Michotev et al., 2000; Nogales et al., 2002; Fan et al., 2006) whereas molecular techniques have detected up to  $10^6$  cytochrome cd1 type denitrifiers in marine samples (Michotey et al., 2000). Denitrification is spread among phylogenetically diverse microbial groups (Falk et al., 2007) and is present in many prokaryotic families like Thermoproteaceae, Cytophagaceae, Corynebacteriaceae, Streptomycineae, Bacillaceae, Rhodospirillaceae, Rhodobacteraceae, Rhizobiaceae, Burkholderiaceae, Nitrosomonadaceae, Neisseraceae, Pseudomonaceae (Philippot and Germon, 2005). In agricultural soils, denitrifiers are more diverse belonging to the genera Burkholderia-Ralstonia, Pseudomonas, Xanthomonas-Frateuria, Bacillus, Streptomyces (Cheneby et al., 2000). The genus Pseudomonas includes the most commonly isolated denitrifying bacteria from both soils and aquatic sediments (Gamble et al., 1977; Okereke, 1984: Kariminiaae-Hamedaani et al., 2004) and may represent the most active denitrifiers in natural environments (Knowles, 1982). Other dominant denitrifiers are representative of Alcaligenes (Jørgensen and Tiedje, 1993; Guynot et al., 1998) and genus Flavobacterium (Gamble et al., 1977). Bacillus jeotgali, Bacillus sphaericus, Bacillus firmus and Bacillus bataviensis related strains have been isolated by Fan et al. (2006) from estuarine sediments. Phylogenetic analysis of denitrifier communities by targeting functional genes mediating the denitrification process indicate that the marine environment is dominated by diverse and novel denitrifiers that are not yet cultured (Falk *et al.*, 2007). *nirS* gene sequences from estuarine sediments have shown close relationship to *Psuedomonas stutzeri*, *Roseobacter denitrificans* (Nogales *et al.*, 2002) while majority of the *nosZ* genes have similarity to *nosZ* genes from isolates affiliated with alpha-subclass of the class Proteobacteria (Magalhães *et al.*, 2008). Sequence analysis of the *nirS* clones from continental margin sediments have been found to relate closely to the *nirS* genes of *Alcaligenes faecalis* and *Pseudomonas stutzeri* whereas *nirK* clones closely related to the *nirK* genes of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain G-179, *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*, *Blastobacter denitrificans* and *Alcaligenes xylosoxidans* (Liu *et al.*, 2003). Differences in denitrifier community composition can potentially influence *in situ* N<sub>2</sub>O production in soils indicating that the taxonomic diversity present among denitrifiers is functionally significant (Cavigelli and Robertson, 2001).

Many denitrifiers are metabolically versatile. They are capable of degrading aromatic hydrocarbons like toluene (Evans et al., 1991; Schocher et al., 1991; Fries et al., 1994; Zhou et al., 1995), ethylbenzene (Rabus and Widdel, 1995), naphthalene, phenanthrene and biphenyl (Rockne and Stuart, 2001). Other compounds that can be degraded by denitrifiers include phenol (Tschech and Fuchs, 1987; Van Schie and Young, 1998) and dimethyl phthalate (Liang et al., 2007). Bonin et al. (1994) have measured denitrifying activity in marine sediments heavily contaminated by petroleum hydrocarbons indicating that denitrifying activity remained unaffected. Their potential as competent bioremediators has been highlighted in a number of investigations. Rakhimova et al. (2004) have demonstrated the efficiency of an oil-oxidizing denitrifying community which was capable of degrading up to 60% oil on nitrate application. Ehrenreich et al. (2000) have revealed the capacity of denitrifying bacteria to completely oxidise alkanes and reduce nitrate under anoxic conditions. Denitrifiers have been effectively used in sewage treatment (Satoshi et al., 2005) to convert organic nitrogen to nitrogen gas thus preventing nitrogenous pollutants from being released into the ambient seawater avoiding eutrophication. Some novel denitrifiers mainly relating to Azoarcus are able to derive energy from the oxidation of arsenite to arsenate coupled to the reduction of nitrate

whereas inorganic C is used as the carbon source under aerobic conditions (Rhine *et al.*, 2006), Denitrifying strains like *Thiobacillus denitrificans and Pseudomonas stutzeri* can oxidize ferrous iron under autotrophic conditions suggesting widespread occurrence of anaerobic ferrous iron oxidation in sub-oxic zones of aquatic sediments with active denitrification (Straub *et al.*, 1996). Some denitrifiers isolated from tannery wastewaters have been shown to possess high denitrifying potential and can tolerate toxic compounds like chromium and sulphide (Leta *et al.*, 2004).

Denitrification plays a significant role in sediment ecology. Coastal ecosystems are often subjected to eutrophication resulting from run-off from agricultural systems and sewage discharge. Studies have shown that nitrogen is the critical limiting factor to algal growth and eutrophication in coastal marine waters (Ryther and Dunstan, 1971). Denitrification helps to mitigate the excess nitrate by converting it to nitrogen gas, making it unavailable for algal uptake thus maintaining a balance in the ecosystem. In freshwater, high nitrate content is toxic. Denitrification is regarded as the major mechanism for N loss. Over irrigated or waterlogged soils develop anoxic conditions promoting denitrification. This affects the fertility of soil and consequently agricultural productivity. Some of the factors promoting the process are high soil moisture conditions, high soil temperature, a low rate of oxygen diffusion, presence of soluble organic matter and nitrate concentration (Luo *et al.*, 1999).

Denitrification is also regarded as a major source of nitrous oxide, a potent green house gas. Though N<sub>2</sub>O is responsible for 5–6% of the greenhouse effect (Houghton *et al.*, 1996), its lifetime of about 150 years makes the greenhouse warming potential of this biogenic gas 310 times greater than that of CO<sub>2</sub> (Albritton *et al.*, 1996). N<sub>2</sub>O contributes to the destruction of the stratospheric ozone layer (Yamagishi *et al.*, 2007) which protects the earth from harmful ultraviolet radiations from the sun. Estuaries and coastal regions account for approximately 60% of the total oceanic N<sub>2</sub>O flux (Bange *et al.*, 1996). Nitric oxide (NO) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) are assumed to be obligatory gaseous intermediates of denitrification. However, there is evidence to show that nitric oxide can be also be emitted during nitrification (Jousset *et al.*, 2001; Stüven and Eberhard, 2001; Kampschreur *et al.*, 2007). Similarly, nitrous oxide is released in high quantities under low oxygen conditions (Bonin *et al.*, 2002) and could also be released to the atmosphere during nitrification of ammonium (Bremner and Blackmer, 1978). Experiments by Itokawa *et al.* (1996) have shown that nitrification accounted for more than 99.5% of the total emissions whereas 60-98% of N<sub>2</sub>O was reduced under anoxic conditions. The ability of denitrifiers to evolve N<sub>2</sub> as a denitrification product varies as many of the predominant isolates are not able to reduce N<sub>2</sub>O (Cheneby *et al.*, 2004).

In ecosystems with high inputs of nitrogen, such as estuaries, denitrification mediates nitrogen load reduction and therefore contributes to eutrophication control (Nogales et al., 2002). One such ecosystem is mangroves which constitute nearly 75% of tidal vegetation in tropical regions (Alongi et al., 1989). Mangroves play an important role in the biogeochemical cycles of coastal ecosystems (Thorsten and José, 2001). The proximity of mangroves to human inhabitation, aquaculture farms, waste discharge from industrial units, domestic sewage discharge-points, etc.. make them vulnerable to high nutrient inputs. They protect the coast from tidal erosion, storm surges and trap sediment for land accretion (Pernetta, 1993). Nitrogen is the critical limiting factor to algal growth and eutrophication in coastal waters (Ryther and Dunstan, 1971). The nitrogen cycle within mangrove forests is mediated predominantly by microbial rather than chemical processes (Alongi et al., 1992). A substantial loss of N in mangrove sediment has been attributed to denitrification (Chiu et al., 1996). High litter fall, it's degradation and remineralization is one of the factors contributing to high nitrogen concentrations in mangrove forests (Ramos E Silva et al., 2007). Mangrove sediments are largely anaerobic and nitrate availability is the factor controlling denitrification rates (Seitzinger, 1990). Nitrate can either be generated through intrinsic nitrification (Krishnan et al., 2008) or supplied extraneously through runoff from land (Naqvi et al., 2000). Denitrification could therefore play a significant role in sediment ecology by mitigating excess nitrate in the system.

Marine ecological studies aim to understand the interactions of organisms with their surrounding environment which could be either biotic or abiotic in nature. Most of the present knowledge on mechanisms and ecological role of denitrification have been obtained from studies estimating denitrification activity (Bianchi *et al.*, 1994; Vance-Harris and Ingall, 2005; Naqvi *et al.*, 2006) and the factors affecting the process (Yoon

and Benner, 1992; Tuominen *et al.*, 1998). These studies have highlighted the importance of denitrification as a significant sink of fixed/anthropogenically derived nitrogen. At a cellular level, attempts have been made to characterize denitrifiers (Yoshie *et al.*, 2006) and to improve denitrification efficiency or to isolate (Shieh *et al.*, 2004) and assess their diversity in marine sediments (Liu *et al.*, 2003; Santoro *et al.*, 2006). Many studies have dealt with ecological aspects of denitrification in marine habitats but relatively few studies have been undertaken in potential denitrifying sites such as mangrove swamps where active denitrification has been reported to occur (Rivera-Monroy *et al.*, 1995; Chiu *et al.*, 2004; Meyer *et al.*, 2005). Further, mangrove sediments are known to harbour novel denitrifiers (Lin and Shieh, 2006). Molecular studies targeting functional genes like *nirK* and *nirS* have shown rhizosphere associated strains belonging to  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -, and  $\gamma$ -*Proteobacteria* (Flores-Mireles *et al.*, 2007). Relatively little research has been carried out to understand the factors that influence denitrifiers in mangrove swamps.

The present study represents the first attempt to examine the extent of denitrification in mangrove sediments of Goa and the bacteria that mediate the process. Their inter-relationships with other physico-chemical and biological parameters have been probed to gain deeper insights into the importance of benthic denitrification. This benthic denitrification is also compared to pertinent oxidative and reductive phases of the cycle particularly nitrification, N<sub>2</sub> fixation, anammox and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA). Interestingly, the study projects the importance of DNRA as an important mechanism that minimizes nutrient loss thereby contributing to the modulation of N<sub>2</sub>O, a green house gas to the atmosphere.

### Aim

To understand the environmental factors affecting denitrification rates in mangrove ecosystems and to delineate the physiology and taxonomy of the denitrifying population.

### *Objectives of the present study*

- > To quantify the abundance and activity of denitrifying bacteria
- > To understand the influence of environmental parameters on denitrification
- > To identify the denitrifiers at cellular and molecular level
- > To delineate the influence of bioturbating organisms on denitrification

## Chapter 2

## Literature review

### **CHAPTER 2.** Literature review

### 2.1 The marine nitrogen cycle

Nitrogen  $(N_2)$  occurs in the oxidation states ranging from -3 to +5. It is an essential macronutrient limiting biological productivity in aquatic as well as terrestrial ecosystems. Only a few organisms are capable of utilising free  $N_2$  and converting it into other utilizable forms. This conversion involves a series of processes mainly facilitated by a consortium of microbes e.g. nitrogen fixers, nitrifiers and denitrifiers producing a number of intermediate products like ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$ , nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$ , nitrite  $(NO_2^-)$  and nitrous oxide  $(N_2O)$  as by-products. Among these,  $NO_3^-$  is the most oxidized nitrogenous compound and serves as an easily utilizable substrate to primary producers in aquatic systems. Enrichment experiments have shown an increase in phytoplankton standing stock and bacterial production indicating that N is the main limiting nutrient in oceans (Dufour *et al.*, 1999). Nitrogen in the oceans is cycled (Fig. 1) through the following key processes:

### Nitrogen fixation

Nitrogen enters the marine environment through deposition and solution.

 $N_2 + 8H^+ + 8e^- + 16ATP \longrightarrow 2NH_3 + H_2 + 16ADP + 16Pi$ 

Fixed nitrogen is generally considered to limit primary production (Capone, 2001) in many parts of the oceans and serves to relieve nitrogen stress to phytoplankton assemblages (Kustka *et al.*, 2002). Gruber and Sarmiento (1997) have estimated a global nitrogen fixation rate of 28 Tg N y<sup>-1</sup> (Tg = terragrams / 10<sup>12</sup> g). Extensive blooms of the cyanobacteria *Trichodesmium* spp. have largely been attributed to fix bulk of nitrogen in the oceans (Capone *et al.*, 1997; Capone and Carpenter, 1982). These cyanobacteria account for annual inputs of 4.8 Tg nitrogen to the world's oceans while benthic environments such as seagrass beds or coral reef flats contribute 15 Tg (Capone and Carpenter, 1982). Other potential nitrogen fixers are populations of picocyanobacteria comprising mainly *Synechococcus* sp. (Spiller and Shanmugam, 1987; Ohlendieck *et al.*, 2000). Molecular studies have revealed a high diversity of heterotrophic nitrogen-fixing organisms in marine cyanobacterial mats represented by Firmicutes, Deltaproteobacteria,



Fig. 1: Key processes in the marine microbial nitrogen cycle (Francis et al., 2007).



Fig. 1: Key processes in the marine microbial nitrogen cycle (Francis et al., 2007).

Gammaproteobacteria and anaerobic bacteria (Zehr *et al.*, 1995). Nitrogenase, the enzyme catalyzing nitrogen fixation has also been reported in archaea (Zehr *et al.*, 2000), but is not encoded in any eukaryotic genome (Berman-Frank *et al.*, 2003). The total amount of fixed nitrogen in the ocean can be changed substantially by the denitrification processes (Altabet *et al.*, 1995, 2002; Devol, 2002).

#### Ammonification

Ammonification or mineralization refers to any chemical reaction that generates ammonia as an end product or its ionic form, ammonium. Ammonification occurs through various inorganic reactions or as a result of the metabolic function of microorganism, plants and animals. Nitrogen, in organic form, is converted into ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  by microorganisms. Because it has a positive charge, ammonium can be adsorbed and fixed on to the negatively charged sediment particles or be taken by plants (Brady and Weil, 2002). Nitrates are the forms of nitrogen most commonly assimilated by plant species, which, in turn are consumed by heterotrophs for use in compounds such as amino and nucleic acids. The remains of heterotrophs are then decomposed into nutrient rich organic material. Bacteria or in some cases, fungi, will convert the nitrates within the remains back into ammonia (Smil, 2000).

In aquatic ecosystems, plankton play an important part in the transfer of organic matter to the bottom, and microbial activity in the surficial sediment leads to mineralization of a great part of the organic nitrogen quickly after its deposition (Fernex, *et al.*, 1996). In coastal estuarine surficial sediments, ammonification rates range between 5.8-220 ng N-atoms g<sup>-1</sup> sediment h<sup>-1</sup> (Sumi and Koike, 1990).

#### Nitrification

During nitrification, biological oxidation of ammonia to nitrite is followed by the oxidation of these nitrites into nitrates.

Organic N  $\rightarrow$  NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> $\rightarrow$  N<sub>2</sub>O<sup>†</sup> $\rightarrow$  NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> $\rightarrow$  NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>

This important step in the nitrogen cycle was discovered by the Russian microbiologist, Sergei Winogradsky (Waksman, 1946). The oxidation of ammonia into nitrite, and the subsequent oxidation to nitrate is performed by two nitrifying bacteria. The first step is done by bacteria of the genus *Nitrosomonas* and *Nitrosococcus*.

$$\mathrm{NH}_3 + \mathrm{O}_2 \rightarrow \mathrm{NO}_2^- + 3\mathrm{H}^+ + 2\mathrm{e}^-$$

The second step of oxidizing nitrite into nitrate is mainly done by bacteria of the genus *Nitrobacter*, with both steps producing energy to be coupled to ATP synthesis.

$$NO_2^- + H_2O \rightarrow NO_3^- + 2H^+ + 2e$$

In most environments, both organisms are found together, yielding nitrate as the final product (Mosquera-Corral *et al.*, 2005). Together with ammonification, nitrification forms a mineralization process which refers to the complete decomposition of organic material, with the release of available nitrogen compounds. This replenishes the nitrogen cycle.

In sediments, the extent of nitrification is limited to the zone of oxygen penetration though nitrifying bacteria are found within the anoxic layer (Henriksen *et al.*, 1981). Strauss *et al.* (2002) suggest that  $NH_4^+$  availability and pH are the most important variables regulating nitrification in aquatic sediments in addition to organic C availability which plays a significant role only under high environmental C:N conditions and if most available C is relatively labile. Koike and Hattori (1978) have demonstrated the co-occurrence of nitrification and nitrate reduction in coastal sediments indicating that the nitrate reduction rate was 11 to 17 times higher than the nitrification rate, and nitrogenous oxides derived from ammonium accounted for only 6 to 9% of the N<sub>2</sub> evolution by denitrification. Rysgaard *et al.* (1993) state that in anoxic environments, nitrification is generally coupled to denitrification as the NO<sub>3</sub> produced during nitrification is reduced to N<sub>2</sub> by denitrifying bacteria and lost from the environment or it can be reduced to NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> by fermentative bacteria or diffuse out of the sediment.

Autotrophic nitrification rates in estuarine sediments have been found to share a marked seasonality with highest rates of 0.92 pg N d<sup>-1</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> dry wt. sediment occurring during the summer (Herbert, 1986). Significant rates of nitrification have also been measured in the surficial oligotrophic oceanic waters, with rates of ammonium and nitrite oxidation generally within the range of 10–500 pmol kg<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Clarke *et al.*, 2007). In estuarine regions, wide variation in nitrification rates occurring between 0 to 1712 ± 666  $\mu$ mol NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> have been reported (Magalhaes *et al.*, 2005).

10

#### Anammox

Anaerobic ammonium oxidation (anammox) was discovered by researchers in Netherlands while working on  $NH_4^+$  oxidation in a denitrifying fluidized bed reactor (Mulder *et al.*, 1995). Van de Graaf *et al.* (1995) have shown it to be a biologically mediated process. It has been now considered as an important process in the marine nitrogen cycle (Devol, 2003; Dalsgaard *et al.*, 2005; Nakajima *et al.*, 2008).

 $NH_4^+ + NO_2^- \longrightarrow N_2 + 2H_2O$ 

During anammox,  $NH_4^+$  is oxidized at the expense of  $NO_2^-$  (Meyer *et al.*, 2005) produced by either heterotrophic  $NO_3^-$  reduction (Dalsgaard *et al.*, 2003) or aerobic ammonium oxidation (Francis *et al.*, 2005). Van Dongen *et al.* (2001) have proposed the following stoichiometry for anammox:

 $NH_4^+ + 1.32NO_2^- + 0.066HCO_3^- + 0.13H^+ \longrightarrow 1.02N_2 + 0.26NO_3^- + 0.066CH_2O_{0.5}$  $N_{0.15} + 2.03H_2O$ 

Dalsgaard and Thamdrup (2002) ascribe the dependence of anammox on elevated nitrite concentrations. Experiments by Trimmer *et al.* (2005) have shown that decreasing the concentration of  $NO_3^-$  but holding  $NO_2^-$  at 5 µmol decreased the significance of anammox as a sink for  $NO_2^-$  suggesting that anammox is likely to be regulated by the availability of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NO_2^-$  and the relative size or activity of the anammox population.

Kuypers *et al.* (2005) have shown massive N loss in the pelagic oxygen minimum zones (OMZs) attributing it to anaerobic ammonium oxidation. Up to 67% of the N<sub>2</sub> formation in continental shelf sediments has been attributed to anammox while only 33% of the N<sub>2</sub> formation was due to denitrification (Thamdrup and Dalsgaard, 2002). However, Dalsgaard *et al.* (2003) have shown that anammox accounts for only 19–35% of the total N<sub>2</sub> formation in the anoxic water column in coastal areas. The process could be responsible for up to 50% of the global removal of fixed nitrogen from the oceans (Dalsgaard *et al.*, 2005). Anammox bacteria generally live under ammonium limitation and could be mediating dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) in natural ecosystems (Kartal *et al.*, 2007). Candidatus *Brocadia anammoxidans* (Strous *et al.*, 1999), Candidatus *Kuenenia stutgartiensis*, Candidatus *Scalindua wagneri* and

Candidatus *Scalindua brodae* (Kuypers *et al.*, 2003) are some of the *Planctomycetes* responsible for anaerobic ammonium oxidation.

#### Denitrification

Denitrification is largely a bacterially-mediated anaerobic process wherein the oxides of nitrogen ( $NO_3^-$ ,  $NO_2^-$ ,  $N_2O$ ) are used as alternative electron acceptors in the absence of oxygen. Organic compounds serve as hydrogen donors. The pathway of denitrification is:

$$NO_3^- \rightarrow NO_2^- \rightarrow NO \rightarrow N_2O \rightarrow N_2$$

When nitrate is used as a source of electron acceptors, there is a net loss of nitrogen from the sediment. This process is therefore called dissimilatory nitrate reduction. The oxidation of organic matter during denitrification coupled to nitrate reduction results in a higher ATP yield (Tiedje, 1982). Heterotrophic denitrification follows the stoichiometry (Vance-Harris and Ingall, 2005):

 $5CH_2O_{(\text{organic matter})} + 4NO_3^- + H^+ \longrightarrow 2N_2 + 5CO_2 + 7H_2O_3^-$ 

In terrestrial ecosystems, denitrification is harmful to crops as nitrogenous fertilizers added to soil are lost resulting in low nutrient availability to the plants. The process is carried out by a variety of facultative anaerobic bacteria like *Pseudomonas, Alcaligenes, Flavobacterium, Bacillus,* etc....

Denitrifying activity is also known to release nitrous oxide, a potent greenhouse gas in the atmosphere. The trace gas plays an important role in the destruction of stratospheric ozone which protects the earth from ultraviolet radiation from the sun. This trace gas with a lifetime of approximately 150 years accounts for 2 to 4% of total greenhouse warming potential (Watson *et al.*, 1992). The atmospheric concentrations of N<sub>2</sub>O have increased from 280–290 ppbv before industrial revolution to 350 ppbv at present (Pathak, 1999). Sediment is considered to be one of the major contributors with 65% of the total global emission. In terrestrial ecosystems, 6 to 21% of the annual N<sub>2</sub>O flux occurs in agricultural land during thawing of top soil (Bremner *et al.*, 1980). In India, it is estimated that 0.19 and 0.27 Tg yr<sup>-1</sup> of N<sub>2</sub>O is contributed by rice and wheat fields alone (Parashar *et al.*, 1998).

A number of factors are known to influence denitrification. Some of the important factors affecting denitrification rates include variation in oxygen concentrations (Bonin

and Raymond, 1990), trace metals (Labbé et al., 2003), sediment temperature (Holtan-Hartwig et al., 2002; El-Sayed, 2003), sediment pH (Rust et al., 2000; Simek et al., 2002) and bioturbation (Gilbert et al., 1995). Substrate availability limits microbial activity and may alter rates of N<sub>2</sub> fixation and denitrification (Lee and Joye, 2006). Experimental manipulation have shown that denitrification rates are generally limited by the supply of  $NO_3^-$ , either from nitrification or diffusion from the overlying water (Seitzinger, 1990; Morell and Corredor, 1993; Corredor and Morell, 1994; Rivera-Monroy and Twilley, 1996; Kana et al., 1998). The quantity and quality of organic matter is also known to influence denitrification (McCarty and Bremner, 2003; Hill and Cardaci, 2004; Qin et al., 2005). Studies have shown that  $N_2O$  production rates are affected by the type of organic carbon available as an electron donor and increased organic carbon concentration, indicating that the denitrification potential is organic carbon limited (Pfenning and McMahon, 1997). Denitrification studies in domestic wastewater indicate that whenever the carbon/nitrogen ratio is low, full denitrification is difficult to obtain (Marsili-Libelli and Manzini, 2000). In sediment, denitrifying activity is highly correlated with waterextractable organic carbon and is frequently stimulated by the addition of exogenous carbon (Knowles, 1982; Hahndel and Isermann, 1993).

Though denitrification is regarded mainly as an anaerobic process, it has also been shown to occur aerobically. Reports on aerobic denitrification have shown the denitrification enzymes to be active under aerobic conditions (Robertson and Kuenen, 1984). Robertson *et al.* (1988) have demonstrated the ability of a heterotroph *Thiosphaera pantotropha* to simultaneously carry out nitrification and denitrification under aerobic conditions.

### Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)

Alternate respiratory pathways like DNRA lead to N conservation in the system. Rapid and direct transformation of  $NO_3^-$  to  $NH_4^+$  via DNRA plays an important role in N conservation in the ecosystem as  $NH_4^+$  is generally favoured for assimilation by plants and microbes (Silver *et al.*, 2001).

 $NO_3^{-} + 2H^+ + 4H_2 \longrightarrow NH_4^+ + 3H_2O$ 

13

Dissimilatory nitrate reduction has been reported to occur in coastal and estuarine systems (Koike and Hattori, 1978; Buresh and Patrick, 1981, Kaspar, 1983, Gardner *et al.*, 2006). Jørgensen (1989) has shown that  $NH_4^+$  production accounted for 4 to 21% of the total NO<sub>3</sub> reduced in estuarine sediments. The significance of DNRA varies from one ecosystem to another (Tomaszek and Gruca-Rokosz, 2007). In systems having high sulfide concentrations, nitrification and denitrification is inhibited but DNRA is enhanced by providing an electron donor (An and Gardner, 2002). In freshwater sediments the importance of DNRA appears to be minor relative to denitrification (Scott *et al.*, 2008). Labile carbon is the key factor influencing the partitioning of nitrate reduction between denitrification and DNRA (Yin *et al.*, 2002). DNRA is favoured when NO<sub>3</sub> is limiting, while denitrification is favoured when carbon is in limited supply (Kelso *et al.*, 1997).

### 2.2. Measuring denitrification in marine ecosystems

A range of methods are available for measuring denitrification in marine ecosystems. However, the accuracy, cost, scale and design of the experiments to be undertaken are some of the factors that need to be considered while selecting the most appropriate technique (Greatorex, 2000). Some different methods to measure denitrification and their limitations have been listed in Table 1.

Among the different methods available to measure denitrification, the acetylene inhibition technique is a simple, reliable, rapid and cost effective widely used method to determine near *in situ* denitrification rates (Yoshinari *et al.*, 1977; Sørensen, 1978; Chan, and Knowles, 1979; Lohse *et al.*, 1993; Bonin *et al.*, 2002). Acetylene at concentrations of 0.3 to 4 mmol (0.7 to 10 kPa) inhibits the enzyme nitrous oxide reductase which catalyzes the conversion of nitrous oxide to nitrogen leading to the accumulation of nitrous oxide (Sørensen, 1978). However, studies have shown the technique to underestimate denitrification (Mengis *et al.*, 1997) due to (i) incomplete blockage of N<sub>2</sub>O reductase at low nitrate concentrations (Kaspar, 1982, Binnerup *et al.*, 1992) (ii) incomplete blockage of nitrous oxide by acetylene in the presence of inorganic sulphide (Tam and Knowles, 1979) (iii) diffusion of N<sub>2</sub>O to deeper sediment layers and reduction to N<sub>2</sub> (Seitzinger *et al.*, 1993) (iv) catalytic oxidation of NO into NO<sub>2</sub> (Bollmann and Conrad, 1997) and (v) inhibition of coupled nitrification-denitrification and the acetylene

Table 1: Some d	ifferent appro	paches to m	easuring de	enitrification	(modified	from

Cornwell e	et al., 1999).
------------	----------------

,

Sr. No.	Technique	Approach	Limitations	References
1	Acetylene inhibition	Blocks $N_2O$ conversion to $N_2$ , used to measure $N_2O$ accumulation	Incomplete block; blocks nitrification; diffusion of N <sub>2</sub> O to deeper sediment layers	Sørensen, 1978; Lohse <i>et al.</i> , 1993
2	Stoichiometry	Difference between C or $O_2^{-1}$ based N remineralization and net DIN flux	Not direct, imprecision, problem with 'chemical' oxygen demand or storage of reducing species (S(II), Fe(II) when O <sub>2</sub> is used	Nixon, 1981 ; Joye <i>et al.</i> , 1996 ; Giblin <i>et al.</i> , 1997
3	Pore water modeling	Model rates from pore water chemistry	In shallow environments, need mmscale profiles and transport coefficients	Jahnke <i>et al.</i> , 1982
4	Nitrification-N balance	Measure all DIN fluxes and nitrification, make a mass balance	Indirect	Kemp <i>et al.</i> , 1990
5	Direct N <sub>2</sub>	Time course change in N2 measured by gas chromatography	Degassing step, long-term incubation, high background, gas disequilibria from changing temperature	Seitzinger, 1987; Devol, 1991; Nowicki, 1994; La Montagne and Valiela, 1995
6	Membrane inlet mass spectrometry (MIMS)	Measure time-course changes N <sub>2</sub> /Ar ratio via mass spectrometry, continuous flow gas stripping	Gas disequilibria from changing temperatures or from CH₄ ebullition	Kana <i>et al.</i> , 1994, 1998

Sr. No.	Technique	Approach	Limitations	References
7	Isotope pairing method (IPM)	Label NO <sub>3</sub> or NH $_{*}^{4}$ , follow incorporation in N <sub>2</sub>	Potential enhancement by NO3 <sup>+</sup> additions	Nielsen, 1992; Lohse <i>et al.</i> , 1996
8	Whole-system mass balance	Measure all N fluxes, calculate denitrification by difference	Imprecise, major error associated with measurement of other terms in the budget	Nielsen <i>et al.</i> , 1995 Nixon <i>et al.</i> , 1996
9	Sediment diagenetic modeling	Using labile organic matter inputs and bottom water $O_2$ , the nitrogen cycle is modeled.	Need information on organic leading, water column chemistry. May be difficult to validate.	Soetaert <i>et al.</i> , 1990 Middelburg <i>et al.</i> , 1996
10	Molecular approach	Targeting functional genes involved in denitrification	Allows quantification of bacteria capable of performing a single step of the denitrification cascade, interference of tannins, polyphenols and polysaccharides in DNA isolation, efficiency of bacterial cell wall lysis and the non-specific adsorption of DNA to sediment influence yield, variability in clonal composition, presence of gene does not guarantee function	Goregues <i>et al.</i> , 20



Fig. 2: Schematic representation of the transformation rates during a <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> tracer experiment (Steingruber *et al.*, 2001) where

 $D_w^{tot}$  = Total denitrification of nitrate from the water column

 $D_w$  = Denitrification of nitrate from the water column without tracer addition

 $D_{n=}$  Coupled nitrification-denitrification

 $D_{\text{tot=}}$  Total denitrification rate during the tracer experiment

 $D_{15}$  and  $D_{14}$ = Specific denitrification rates of <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>14</sup>N nitrate respectively

 $P_{28}$ ,  $P_{29}$  and  $P_{30}$  = Production rates of  $N_2$  with masses of 28, 29 and 30 respectively.
can inhibit the process as it blocks nitrification (Walter *et al.*, 1979) thereby affecting nitrate, supply to denitrification.

Acetylene methods have given a large number of denitrification rate estimates which are reasonably robust, especially for systems with moderate or high NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> levels (Groffman *et al.*, 2006). This method is still being used in denitrification assays in conjunction with chloramphenicol (Murray and Knowles, 1999) and allythiourea (Ginestet *et al.*, 1998) amendments to measure *in situ* profiles (Castro-González and Farías, 2004) in the marine environment. The C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub> inhibition method with chloramphenicol addition, conducted over short incubation intervals, provides a costeffective method for estimating denitrification and rate estimates are comparable to those obtained by the membrane inlet mass spectrometry (MIMS) (Bernot *et al.*, 2003).

Another method for measuring denitrification used in the present study is the <sup>15</sup>N Isotope Pairing method (IPM). This method was developed by Nielsen (1992) to quantify denitrification of both NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> diffusing from the overlaying water (D<sub>w</sub>) and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> from nitrification within the sediment (D<sub>n</sub>). A representation of the transformation rates during a <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> tracer experiment (Steingruber *et al.*, 2001) is shown in Fig. 2. Reduction of <sup>14</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (naturally occurring) and <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (tracer added) results in the formation of <sup>15</sup>N labelled N<sub>2</sub> molecules (<sup>29</sup>N<sub>2</sub>=<sup>14</sup>N+<sup>15</sup>N, <sup>30</sup>N<sub>2</sub>=<sup>15</sup>N+<sup>15</sup>N) which can be measured by mass spectrometry after a few hours incubation. Some of the assumptions employed in this technique are that (i) the rate of coupled nitrification-denitrification is not influenced by the addition of labelled nitrate and (ii) the <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> added to the overlying water mixes homogeneously with the <sup>14</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> pool down to the zone where denitrification occurs (Lohse *et al.*, 1996).

The main shortcoming of the IPM is that the formation of N<sub>2</sub>O is ignored resulting in an underestimation of sediment denitrification. Another limitation is the inability to account for a possible influx of nitrate through the hyporheic zone (region beneath and lateral to a stream bed, where there is mixing of shallow groundwater and surface water) into the anoxic sediment layer (Master *et al.*, 2005). Herrman and White (2008) state that artificial mixing of  ${}^{15}NO_{3}^{-}$  tracer into the sediment disrupts the natural redox processes near the sediment-water interface resulting in yields that are not true representative of the field conditions. Further, the technique cannot distinguish anammox

from denitrification as sources of  $N_2$  and may lead to large errors where anammox is significant (Trimmer *et al.*, 2006). Thus, the original IPM has been modified (An *et al.*, 2001; Master *et al.*, 2005) to improve the estimation of sediment denitrification capacity and account for  $N_2O$  formation mechanism(s) and fluxes.

The use of the isotope pairing technique in conjunction with other techniques like <sup>15</sup>N dilution of the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> provides a powerful tool to evaluate in the same experimental setup, the rate of denitrification and the co-occurring processes such as nitrification, mineralization and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (Rysgaard *et al.*, 1993, Master *et al.*, 2005).The technique being sensitive and robust (Nielsen 1992, 1993, Rysgaard *et al.*, 1993, 1995, Risgaard-Petersen *et al.*, 1994) has been widely used to quantify denitrification in a variety of marine environments like streams (Mulholland *et al.*, 2004), rivers (Whalen *et al.*, 2008), estuaries (Tuominen *et al.*, 1998; Gran and Pitkänen, 1999; Cabrita and Brotas, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 2003; Dong *et al.*, 2006), mangroves (Kristensen *et al.*, 1998), coastal waters (Sundbäck *et al.*, 2000, Welsh *et al.*, 2000), fjords (Kristiansen and Schaanning, 2002) and continental shelf sediments (Lohse *et al.*, 1996).

#### 2.3. Denitrification in the marine environment

Oxygen minimum zones (OMZ) in the oceans are known to be major centres for denitrifying activity contributing to 30-50% of the total nitrogen loss commonly attributed to heterotrophic denitrification (Gruber and Sarmiento, 1997; Codispoti *et al.*, 2001). These zones are known to occur along regions of intense upwelling. In the Atlantic and Pacific oceans, OMZs in the depth range 100 to 900 m cover the eastern tropical regions (Karstensen *et al.*, 2008).

In the Eastern Tropical Pacific, water column denitrification occurs at a rate of  $48\pm5$  Tg N yr<sup>-1</sup> while sedimentary denitrification amounts to  $15\pm3$  Tg N yr<sup>-1</sup> (Deutsch *et al.*, 2001). However, in the oxygen-deficient water column of the eastern tropical south Pacific off Chile, Thamdrup *et al.* (2006) have shown that anaerobic ammonium oxidation is the dominant process which is more responsible for nitrogen loss than denitrification with highest rates of up to 0.7 nmol N<sub>2</sub> L<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> just below the oxycline.

16

In the eastern tropical south Atlantic, anammox has been shown to occur in the Benguela upwelling system during *in situ* experiments (Kuypers *et al.*, 2005) indicating that nitrate is not directly converted to  $N_2$  by heterotrophic denitrification in the sub-oxic zone. Earlier studies had suggested denitrification to occur close to the shore in the region (Tyrrell and Lucas, 2002).

In the Indian Ocean, seasonal oxygen deficient conditions are known to be prevalent within a large part of the central and north-eastern Arabian Sea. Though the Arabian Sea makes up  $\sim 2\%$  of the oceanic regime, it is considered to be one of the most productive ecosystems and contains one of the three major open-ocean denitrification zones in the world (Naqvi et al., 2006). Severe anoxia over the western Indian continental shelf develops during late summer and autumn (Naqvi et al., 2000). These anoxic conditions favour alternate respiratory pathways viz., denitrification and sulfate reduction. Intense water column denitrification at a rate of 30 Tg N y<sup>-1</sup> has been found to occur within the OMZ (Naqvi, 1994). Naqvi et al. (2000) have also reported accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O (nitrous oxide) along the western Indian continental shelf during the anoxic period. Bange et al. (2001) state that the emission of N<sub>2</sub>O due to vigorous denitrification in the Arabian Sea ranges from 0.33 to 0.70 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O yr<sup>-1</sup>. On a global scale, it has been speculated that the Arabian Sea represents a hot spot for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and could contribute significantly to the global budget of atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O thereby adding up to the increase in the earth's climate. Naqvi et al. (2006) have cited differences between open-ocean and coastal denitrification in the Arabian Sea stating that the former occupies two orders of magnitude larger volume wherein an accumulation of secondary nitrite is invariably accompanied by depletion of N<sub>2</sub>O. However, in the seasonal coastal system, greater nitrate consumption leading to complete anoxia is observed. High NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and very high N<sub>2</sub>O have been recorded by Naqvi et al. (2006) within the sub-oxic zone indicative of net consumption and net production of N<sub>2</sub>O by denitrifiers.

In coastal marine sediments, the range of denitrification rates measured is greater than that measured in lake or river sediments ranging commonly between 50 and 250 pmol N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> with extremes from 0 to 1.067 pmol N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Seitzinger, 1988). The author suggests that the major source of nitrate for denitrification in most rivers, lakes and coastal marine sediments underlying an aerobic water column is nitrate produced in the sediments and not from nitrate diffusing into the sediments from the overlying water. Very often, coastal ecosystems are subject to eutrophication due to increase in nutrients (carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous) by human activities (Valiela, 1995; Richardson and Jorgenson, 1996). These induce hypoxia as a consequence of seasonal stratification of the water column combined with the decomposition of organic matter derived from accelerated rates of primary production (Childs *et al.*, 2002). Potential denitrification rates in the affected surficial sediments range between 39.8 and 108.1 pmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 2.4. Denitrifying bacteria

A potential for denitrification exists in most habitats (Knowles, 1982). Denitrification, which is carried out solely by denitrifying bacteria, can have a direct impact on sediment nitrogen availability and is also a major source of the greenhouse gas N<sub>2</sub>O (Firestone and Davidson, 1989) responsible for stratospheric ozone decay. The modern era of studies of denitrification began in 1886 with Gayon and Dupetit's report revealing the isolation of two strains of denitrifying bacteria (Payne, 1986). Denitrifiers have now been isolated from different areas ranging from soil to freshwater and marine environs. Denitrifiers have also been detected gut contents of earthworms averaging  $10^{6-7}$  g<sup>-1</sup> (dry weight) of gut material producing N<sub>2</sub>O at rates exceeding that of soil homogenates (Karsten and Drake, 1997). A number of novel denitrifiers have been reported like *Bacillus thermodenitrificans* (Manachini *et al.* 2000), *Comamonas nitrativorans* (Etchebehere *et al.*, 2001), *Thioalkalivibrio denitrificans* (Sorokin *et al.*, 2001), *Pseudovibrio denitrificans* (Shieh *et al.*, 2004), *Denitratisoma oestradiolicum* (Fahrbach *et al.*, 2006), etc. Denitrifies have also been reported from extremely halophilic habitats (Hochstein and Tomlinson, 1985; Mancinelli and Hochstein, 1986).

Denitrifiers are among the most diverse groups of bacteria in terrestrial ecosystems (Zumft, 1992). Denitrification has been reported in more than 50 bacterial genera (Zumft, 1997), archaebacteria and fungi (Tiedje, 1988). In marine ecosystems, a variety of taxonomically unrelated bacterial groups are capable of denitrification. Of these, 96% of cultured denitrifiers belong to the gamma-Proteobacteria (Brettar *et al.*, 2001). Denitrifying bacteria isolated from the marine environment are heterotrophic, gram-negative, motile, facultatively anaerobic cells predominantly straight or curved rods

exhibiting optimal growth at about 30°C, pH 8 and 3% NaCl (Shieh *et al.*, 2004). They gain energy by oxygen-dependent respiration under aerobic conditions (Knowles, 1982). They are capable of anaerobic growth by carrying out denitrifying metabolism using nitrate, nitrite or nitrous oxide as terminal electron acceptors (Shieh *et al.*, 2004). Betlach (1982) suggests that denitrifiers have evolved from a common ancestor within the purple photosynthetic bacterial group but not from a nitrate-reducing organism such as those found today.

The most-probable number (MPN) technique has been widely used for the enumeration of denitrifiers (Davidson et al., 1985; Mancino and Torello, 1986; Jones and Knowles, 1991; Hou et al., 2000; Bigelow et al., 2002; Horiba et al., 2005) instead of plate counts. The technique is based the presence or absence of microorganisms in several individual aliquots of each of several consecutive dilutions of sediment. Upon incubation, change in characteristic of the nitrate medium (e.g. presence of gas bubble, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> depletion in the MPN cultures) is noted as positive for the presence of denitrifiers. Denitrifiers in sediment dilutions have also been identified by depletion of both NO<sub>3</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub> by a negative spot test with diphenylamine (Martin et al., 1988). Allievi et al. (1987) devised an MPN method for the determination of denitrifiers, based on the qualitative gas-chromatographic detection of  $N_2O$  produced during incubation in the presence of acetylene. In this method, tubes with sediment extract medium containing glucose, nitrate and ammonium sulfate were sealed with rubber stoppers and fitted with taps for air extraction. Air in the tubes was replaced with helium/acetylene 90:10 v/v. The tubes were incubated at 28°C for 15 days and tubes testing positive for nitrous oxide production were scored. Allievi and Möller (1992) developed and tested a plate-count based method to evaluate sediment denitrifiers. Saitoh et al. (2003) have improvised the MPN method using less equipment, labor and time to give more precise results than the conventional test tube method. They used a 96-well microtiter plates to add dilutions of samples with a medium and incubated them anaerobically using the AnaeroPouch culture system.

Conventional denitrifier cultivation techniques in natural samples yield only 0.1 to 10% of the denitrifying population. Using molecular techniques, every bacterium that contains the target DNA can be counted compared to MPN culture techniques that may

give varying results due to differences in the physiological state of the bacteria, depending on the sample and the composition of the culture medium (Michotey *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, molecular techniques are being increasingly used to replace time-consuming MPN-based approaches to quantify denitrifiers. Molecular methods like real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) targeting functional genes like *nirK* have shown their densities to range between  $10^{4-6}$  copies per gram of sediment (Henry *et al.*, 2004). Michotey *et al.* (2000) quantified denitrifiers by targeting the cytochrome *cd*<sub>1</sub> denitrifiers by MPN-PCR and competitive PCR techniques. Their results have shown  $10^{2-3}$  copies per millilitre of water and  $10^6$  copies per gram of dry sediment. For high-throughput quantification of the denitrifying community, the microarray technique is promising but the method is countered by its low-sensitivity (Philippot, 2006).

Quantification of microorganisms by cultivation based techniques are generally biased as it is generally believed that only a small fraction of environmental bacteria are recovered (Michotey *et al.*, 2000). Molecular approaches are being widely applied to identify and enumerate denitrifying bacteria in environmental samples. These methods target functional genes (Smith and Tiedje, 1992) to give an indication of the presence of the bacterial group which is capable of that function for e.g. using nitrite reductase gene as a probe for denitrifying bacteria. The use of a functional gene requires sufficient genetic homology of the structural genes and the availability of multiple sequences in order to reliably design primers (Michotey *et al.*, 2000). Specific metalloenzymes (Table 2) catalyze each step (Payne, 1983) of the denitrification process (Fig. 3) of which two contain copper.

The first step of the pathway is catalyzed by either the *nap* gene encoding periplasmic nitrate reductase synthesized during aerobic growth or the membrane-bound *nar* gene synthesized during anaerobic growth (Bell *et al.*, 1990). The second step can be catalyzed by a cytochrome  $cd_1$ -containing nitrite reductase (*nirS*) or a copper nitrite reductase (*nirK*) in some species. The third step catalyses the conversion of nitrite oxide to nitrous oxide by two different types of nitric oxide reductases (*norB*, *norC*) whereas the final step of converting nitrous oxide into di-nitrogen gas is carried out by the enzyme *nosZ*. Expression of nitrate reductase, nitrite reductase and N<sub>2</sub>O reductase is controlled by discrete oxygen levels and by the nature of the nitrogenous oxide available for respiratio

Sr. No.	Enzyme	Gene	Associated metal	Location	Reference
1	Nitrate	narG	Molybdenum	Membrane-	Lanciano et al.,
	reductase			bound	2007
2	Nitrate	napA	Molybdenum	Periplasmic	Hettmann et al.,
	reductase				2004
3	Nitrate	narH	Iron	Membrane-	Richardson et
	reductase			bound	<i>al.</i> , 2001
4	Nitrate	narI	Molybdenum	Membrane-	Watts et al.,
	reductase			bound	2005
5	Nitrate	narJ	Molyb <b>den</b> um	Membrane-	Blasco et al.,
	reductase			bound	1998
6	Cytochrome	nirS	Iron	Periplasmic	Sounders at al
	cd1 nitrite				2000
	reductase				2000
7	Nitrite	nirK	Copper	Periplasmic	Beaumont et
	reductase				al., 2002
8	Nitric oxide	norB	Iron	Membrane-	Cramm et al.,
	reductase			bound	1999
9	Nitric oxide	norC	Iron	Membrane-	Matsuda et al.,
	reductase			bound	2002
10	Nitrous oxide	nosZ	Copper	Periplasmic	Zumft et al.,
	reductase				1990

### Table 2: Metalloenzymes of the denitrification pathway

,



Fig. 3: Enzymes catalyzing the denitrification process and genes involved

(Körner and Zumft, 1989). Denitrification enzyme activity could be used as a useful index for comparing relative N exposure and potential denitrification activity (Wigand, 2004). Smith and Parsons (1985) have found significant increase in enzyme activity in waterlogged cores which was always greater than denitrification rates. However, denitrification enzyme assay cannot be used as a reliable estimate of actual N gas production or seasonal patterns of denitrification in sediment due to the persistence of inactive denitrification enzymes (Groffman, 1986).

Researchers have been able to probe the diversity of denitrifying genes by using culture-independent approaches (Ward, 1995, Braker *et al.*, 2000, 2001; Jayakumar *et al.*, 2004, Prieme *et al.*, 2002, Liu *et al.*, 2003). Though a variety of functional genes have been used to study denitrifier communities in the environment, the most deeply investigated at present are those involved in nitrite reduction (Ward, 2005) and encoded by *nirS* and *nirK* genes that are unique to denitrification pathway. Of these, *nirS* has so far has been reported only within Proteobacteria (Jayakumar *et al.*, 2004; Ward, 2005). A study by Jayakumar *et al.* (2004) in the water column of the coastal Arabian Sea has indicated the highest *nirS* diversity related to relatively high nitrite concentrations implying the presence of active denitrification.

The nosZ gene encoding for nitrous oxide reductase, an enzyme catalyzing the final step of denitrification is largely unique to denitrifying bacteria (Scala and Kerkhof, 1999). It represents the process leading to the loss of biologically available nitrogen from the sediment (Mills *et al.*, 2008) and has been used for determining the diversity of denitrifiers (Scala and kerkhof, 2000; Horn *et al.*, 2006; Yuguang *et al.*, 2006). Investigations in continental shelf sediments have shown nosZ genes relating closely to the nosZ genes of Paracoccus denitrificans or Rhizobium meliloti (Scala and kerkhof, 1998). Magalhães *et al.* (2008) suggest that denitrifiers with specific nosZ genotypes have competitive advantage over others when NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> fluctuates in the system thereby affecting denitrification rates.

Molecular studies to investigate denitrifying communities have extensively used the Denaturing Gradient Gel electrophoresis (DGGE) technique (Noda *et al.*, 2002; Tadashi *et al.*, 2003; Enwall *et al.*, 2005; Hallin *et al.*, 2006; Desnues *et al.*, 2007; Ma *et al.*, 2008). Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis separates PCR generated DNA products (200-700 bp genomic restriction fragments) when run on a low to high denaturant gradient acrylamide gel. As the products migrate, they encounter increasingly higher concentrations of chemical denaturant. Weaker melting domains of the doublestranded PCR product denature retarding the progress of the molecule in the gel. Sequence differences from different bacteria denature at different denaturant concentrations resulting in a pattern of bands wherein each band represents a different bacterial community. The fingerprints can be uploaded into databases and the similarity can be assessed to determine microbial structural differences between environments or among treatments. This method is efficient for PCR fragments shorter than 500 base pairs (Myers et al., 1985) providing high resolution and allowing bands of interest to be excised from the gel for straightforward sequencing to gain insight into the identities of the pre-dominant bacteria present. The major drawback of DGGE is that sequences amplified from different organisms may have the same melting temperature and migrate to the same position on the gel meaning that a single band can contain a mixture of genotypes (Enwall, 2008). Sequence divergence in the ribosomal genes can be obtained using restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis (Ward, 1995; Scala and Kerkhof, 2000) to account for variations in phenotype.

#### 2.5. Denitrification in mangrove ecosystems

Mangrove ecosystems are known to provide coastal protection from tidal erosion, storm surges and trap sediment for land accretion (Pernetta, 1993). They play a major socioeconomic role to human communities in developing countries having traditionally used mangroves for wood and tannin products on a sustainable level (Tomlinson, 1994). Until recently mangrove forests had been considered wastelands. Large tracts of mangrove forest are now being 'reclaimed' for aquaculture and industrial development (Ong *et al.*, 1995). Juvenile fish and prawns use mangroves as habitats (Robertson and Duke, 1987; Robertson and Blaber, 1992). The Indian coastline extends 7516.6 km of which 5% comprises of a luxuriant mangrove cover. Mangrove swamps are located along the west coast of India along Saurashtra, Karnataka and Goa (Jagtap 1985; Jagtap *et al.*, 1993, 1994) while dense vegetation is found in the Sundarbans of West Bengal on the east coast. Extensive deforestation of mangroves for firewood, cattle grazing intense sewage and industrial pollution have threatened the mangroves along Bombay and southern Kerala coast. According to a survey on forest by the Government of India (1997), Goa region has mangrove vegetation amounting to approximately 500 hectares. The major mangrove zones extend along swampy banks of Zuari and Mandovi estuaries. There are other sporadic mangrove patches distributed in the other 4 estuaries and along the Cumbharjua canal connecting the two estuaries.

The denitrifying ability of mangroves make them effective sewage 'filters', converting dissolved inorganic nutrients to particulate matter (Robertson, 1992) make them plausible sites for denitrifying activity. The nitrogen cycle within mangrove forests (Fig. 4) is mediated predominantly by microbial rather than chemical processes (Alongi et al., 1992). The sediment N pool is composed largely of the organic N form which is not readily available for plant uptake (Clarke, 1985). Studies by Clarke (1985) and Alongi et al., (1992) have revealed concentrations of dissolved inorganic forms, particularly nitrate to be low compared to concentrations in other marine sediments. Denitrification in the sediments occurs in close proximity to the oxygenated surface of sediments and is dependent on the diffusion of nitrate into the sediments (Tomaszek, 1995). Mangrove sediments are largely anaerobic and NO3<sup>-</sup> availability is the factor controlling denitrification rates (Seitzinger, 1990). Kristensen et al. (1998) have indicated that more than 90% of the  $NO_3^-$  needed by denitrifiers originates from nitrification (coupled nitrification-denitrification) while only 1 to 2% of the measured NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> influx from the overlying water was consumed by the process. Denitrification results in emission of nitrous oxide, a potent green house gas. As mangroves lie in close proximity to areas prone to anthropogenic activity, there is growing concern towards their contribution to increased nitrous oxide fluxes to the atmosphere. Muñoz-Hincapié et al. (2002) have demonstrated enhanced nitrous oxide fluxes on nitrate enrichment to mangrove sediments resulting in maximal mean flux of 36.7  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Corredor et al. (1999) have encountered rates ranging between 0.12 and 7.8  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> along the Southwest coast of Puerto Rico. The Muthupet mangrove system in South India emits nitrous oxide at a rate of 0.41 and 0.77  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Krithika *et al.*, 2008).

Research on denitrification in mangrove ecosystems has focussed on the measurement of direct rates of denitrification (Rivera-Monroy *et al.*, 1995; Kristensen *et al.*, 1998; Meyer *et al.*, 2005). Denitrification rates reported in mangroves are generally



Fig. 4: Major processes and transformation rates in the N-cycle of mangrove ecosystems (Putvaja et al., 2008). Units for N-processes are in μg m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> except for N, fixation which is mg m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>.

much lower than estuarine sediments (Rivera-Monroy and Twilley, 1996). These rates have, been estimated directly by experimental procedures using different techniques like gas chromatography, N<sub>2</sub>-gas flux technique, <sup>15</sup>N isotope techniques in intact sediment cores, etc. Chiu *et al.* (2004) state that as much as 55% of the N loss in mangrove sediments occurs through denitrification and the process is limited by carbon availability. Little has been understood on the ecology of the organisms mediating the process. So far, attempts have been made to assess the denitrifiers associated with mangrove roots at a molecular level (Flores-Mireles *et al.*, 2007) using functional marker genes (*nirS* and *nirK*) indicating that they belong to  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -, and  $\gamma$ -*Proteobacteria*. Mangrove sediments are also known to harbour novel denitrifiers (Lin and Shieh, 2006) like *Zobellella denitrificans* and *Zobellella taiwanensi*. Therefore, it would be interesting to explore the taxonomic and functional diversity of microbes capable of denitrification from other mangrove habitats. The physico-chemical parameters that influence their distribution and abundance would help gain further insights on benthic denitrification in mangrove ecosystems.

# Chapter 3 Materials & methods

#### **Chapter 3. Materials and methods**

#### **SECTION I – Field observations**

#### 3.1. Study Area

Investigations were carried out at mangrove forests located along the Mandovi and Chapora rivers in Goa, west coast of India (Fig. 5). The locations were fixed using a hand-held *Magellan* Global Positioning System.

#### 3.1.1. Location and description of mangroves

Mangrove forests are one of the most productive and biodiverse ecosystems. The Indian coastline extends up to 7516.6 km of which 8% comprise of a luxuriant mangrove cover (Jagtap and Komarpant, 2003). Mangrove swamps are located along the west coast of India along Saurashtra, Karnataka and Goa (Jagtap, 1985) while 80% of the vegetation is found on the east coast (Untawale, 1984). Some of the major mangrove zones in Goa are located along the banks of the Mandovi and Zuari estuarine systems.

The mangroves are subjected to an annual average rainfall of up to 325 cm. The fresh water input into the riverine systems during the rainy season lowers the salinity from approximately 32 ppt during the pre-monsoon to 0 ppt at the peak of the monsoon.

#### 3.1.2. Tuvem mangrove ecosystem

The control site was located at Tuvem (15°39'09"N and 073°47'71" E). The site is located across the picturesque village of Camurlim (approx. 7 Kms from Mapusa town, North Goa) along the river Chapora which meanders through palm-lined banks. The site is linked by ferry. This serene ecosystem is set amidst lush green hills, banana and coconut plantations and is comparatively less influenced by anthropogenic activities (Krishnan *et al.*, 2007).

The Island is fringed by lush mangroves (Plate 1). The dominant species of mangroves found here are mainly represented by *Acanthus illicifolius, Excoecaria agallocha*, *Caesalpinia* spp., *Avicennia officinalis* and *Clerodendrum inerme*.



Fig. 5: Location of sampling sites along the Chapora and Mandovi estuary



Plate 1: Mangroves at Tuvem along the Chapora river





#### 3.1.3. Divar mangrove ecosystem

The experimental site was located at Divar island (15°30'35"N and 73°52'28"E; Plate 2) which is situated at a distance of approximately 10 km from the capital, Panjim. It is separated from the mainland by the Mandovi estuary and is accessible by ferry. The adjoining Mandovi estuary is important for the economy of the territory as it is heavily used for transportation of iron ore from mines located upstream. These iron ore beneficiation plants situated on the riverbank, discharge effluents directly into the estuary. This discharge contains high quantities of sediment rich in iron and also NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> used as explosive in the mining operations (De Sousa, 1999). High nutrient concentrations in the Mandovi especially during the monsoon (Divya *et al.*, 2009) have been attributed to extraneous sources (De Souza, 1983). The Divar sediments are enriched with metals due to ferromanganese mining upstream of the Mandovi (Krishnan *et al.*, 2007). These metals mainly Fe has been shown to influence N transformations in mangrove sediments (Krishnan and Loka Bharathi, 2009).

The Divar Island is also fringed by luxuriant mangroves. These mangroves consist mainly of species like Acanthus illicifolius, Pongamia pinnata, Cyperus spp., Bruguiera gymnorrhiza, Avicennia officinalis, Caesalpinia spp., Sonneratia caseolaris and Rhizophora mucronata. These mangroves support the livelihood of many islanders and are of immense ecological and economic value. A variety of birds particularly pin tailed ducks, Cormorants, Common Sandpiper, etc. have made this mangrove swamps their abode. Oysters and fish are also found. Fiddler crabs of the genus Uca comprise one of the dominant macro benthic communities in this ecosystem.

#### 3.2. Sampling

#### 3.2.1. Sampling period

Monthly sampling was carried out at low tide for a period of one year (April 2005 to March 2006) in the Divar and Tuvem mangroves swamps. The sampling covered the three seasons i.e. Pre-monsoon (February-May), Monsoon (June-September) and Post-monsoon (October-January).



Plate 2: The Divar mangrove swamps along the Mandovi estuary





#### **3.2.2. Sample collection**

Cores up to 15 cm length were obtained, capped immediately, transferred to an insulated box and transported to the laboratory for further physico-chemical and microbiological analyses. The cores were stored at 4°C until analyses. Water from the sampling sites was collected in clean, well-rinsed carbuoys and used for media preparation during microbiological analyses.

#### 3.3. Measurement of physico-chemical parameters

Upon arrival to the laboratory, representative cores from each site were sectioned at 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm. The following physico-chemical parameters were immediately analyzed in the sediment: temperature, pH and redox potential. Samples for total organic carbon, grain size and metals (Fe and Mn) at each depth layer were analyzed only for the three representative seasons. Down-core variation in pore water concentration of inorganic nitrogenous species (nitrate and nitrite) was determined. Samples for the analyses of dissolved oxygen concentration in the ambient water were fixed at site. Salinity of surrounding water was also measured.

#### **3.3.1.** Temperature

Temperature at each section of the core (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm) was measured using a digital thermometer (*Fisher Scientific*).

#### 3.3.2. Salinity

Salinity of overlying water was measured using a hand held refractometer (model: S/Mill-E, *ATAGO*, Japan). The zero setting (calibration) was done using distilled water as per the manufacturers instructions.

#### 3.3.3. Hydrogen ion concentration (pH)

Hydrogen ion concentration at each section was measured using an *Orion* 4-Star Plus Benchtop pH/ISE Meter after calibration with standard buffers (pH 4, 6.9 and 9; Merck).

#### 3.3.4. Redox potential (Eh)

An intact sediment core was carefully taken out from the PVC core. Sediment oxidationreduction potential (Eh) was measured immediately at each section of the core with the help of an *Orion* platinum redox in combination with a silver/silver chloride reference electrode. The electrode was dipped until the reading stabilized and the values were recorded.

The redox electrode was calibrated using solutions A and B (Appendix I). The electrode was dipped in solution A, and the reading was allowed to stabilize. The potential was around  $192\pm2$  mV. The electrode was then rinsed, wiped dry with a tissue and dipped in a beaker containing solution B. The reading was allowed to stabilize until the potential was  $258\pm5$  mV (the difference potential of solutions B and A was about 66 mV).

#### 3.3.5. Dissolved oxygen (ambient water)

Dissolved oxygen (DO) content in the ambient water was determined using the traditional Winkler's titration (Winkler, 1888) method as described by Grasshoff (1983). Water samples were collected at the sites in acid-washed (10% HCl) 300 ml glass stoppered bottles. The samples were immediately fixed using 2.4 ml of Winkler's A and B reagents (Appendix II). The DO bottles were gently shaken to mix the reagents and the precipitate formed was allowed to settle.

In the laboratory, the precipitate was acidified by adding 2.4 ml of sulphuric acid (50% v/v) and titrated against 0.01N sodium thiosulphate using starch as an indicator. End point was noted by observing colour change from pale yellow to colourless. A blank was maintained using milliQ water. Potassium iodide (0.01N) was used as a standard. The dissolved oxygen concentration of seawater was expressed as the number of millilitres of dioxygen gas ( $O_2$ ) per litre of seawater (ml 1<sup>-1</sup>).

#### 3.3.6. Pore water NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>

Sub-samples were taken at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm by carefully sectioning the core. Each section (7.5 cm diameter and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 ml of sterile saline and homogenised using a glass rod. The slurry was centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes at 5000 rpm with a REMI CPR-24 centrifuge. Low spin was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentrations due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2  $\mu$ m filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Ammonium (Appendix III), nitrite (Appendix IV) and nitrate (Appendix V) were measured colorimetrically (*Shimadzu* UV/VIS spectrophotometer; precision:  $\pm$ 

0.01  $\mu$ mol l<sup>-1</sup>) as described by Koroleff (1969), Bendschneider and Robinson (1952) and Wood *et al.* (1967). Weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 hours.

#### 3.3.7. Total organic carbon

Total organic carbon was determined by wet oxidation method (El Wakeel and Riley, 1957) with a precision of 0.01%. Dried sediment was ground using a mortar and pestle. It was sieved through a 200 µm mesh. About 0.5 grams sample from 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm sections were taken and transferred to a conical flask. Organic matter present in sediment samples was oxidized by adding 25 ml of acid dichromate and the tubes were incubated at 60°C in a water bath for 1 hour. Then, 100 ml of distilled water was added and subsequently titrated against ferrous ammonium sulphate using diphenylamine as an indicator. A colour change from dark blue to green indicated the end point. A blank was run without sediment. The standard curve was plotted using glucose at varying concentrations.

#### 3.3.8. Iron and manganese

Sub samples for metal analyses were dried at  $60(\pm 2)^{\circ}$ C for 48 hours and disaggregated in an agate mortar, before chemical treatment for Fe and Mn analysis. For each sample, a known quantity (~0.2 g) of sediment was digested in a teflon vessel with a solution (10 ml) of concentrated HF (48% GR; Merck), HNO<sub>3</sub> (69% GR; Merck) and HClO<sub>4</sub> (35% GR; Merck) in a ratio of 7:3:1. The sediment was then dried on a hot plate in a fume hood chamber for an hour.

An aliquot of 5 ml of the above acid mixture was added and dried on the hot plate for one hour. Further, 2 ml of concentrated HCl (35% GR; Merck) was added followed by 10 ml of HNO<sub>3</sub> (69% GR; Merck) The residue was warmed and then transferred to a clean, dry standard flask to make up final volume to 100 ml with double distilled water. Detailed procedure of sediment digestion is given in Balaram *et al.* (1995). Trace metal concentrations (Fe and Mn) were measured using a flame atomic absorption spectrophotometer (AAS, Perkin Elmer Model 5000). The accuracy of the analytical procedures was assessed using the certified reference material MAG-1 (USGS) that yielded results within the reference value range (Flanagan, 1967; 1976).

#### 3.4. Bacteriological studies

#### 3.4.1. Total bacterial counts

The sediment core was thawed and sectioned at 2 cm intervals using a sterile core cutter to obtain representative samples at 0-2 cm, 2-4 cm, 4-6 cm, 6-8 cm and 8-10 cm. Subsamples of  $\approx$ 5 gm wet weight sediment was extruded using syringe cores. The subsamples were transferred to 45 ml of filter sterilized full strength seawater (10<sup>-1</sup> dilution). Tween 80 (50 µl) was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 mHz for 15 secs. The next set of dilution (10<sup>-2</sup>) for each section of the core was prepared by transferring 5 ml of 10<sup>-1</sup> dilutions to 45 ml filter sterilized seawater.

The method of Hobbie *et al.* (1977) was used for the enumeration of total bacterial counts (TC) by epifluorescence microscopy. An aliquot of 5 ml sample from  $10^{-2}$  dilution was fixed using 250 µl of buffered formalin (2% final concentration). Two millilitres of sub-sample was filtered over a 0.2 µm black Isopore polycarbonate filter paper (*Millipore*) and stained with acridine orange (final concentration 0.01% w/v). The sample was then incubated for 2 minutes and then filtered. Bacterial cells retained on the filter paper were counted using *Nikon* 50i epifluorescence microscope equipped with a 100X oil immersion objective. Cells were counted from 10-100 microscopic fields and the total counts (TC) were expressed as number of cells g<sup>-1</sup> (dry sediment).

#### 3.4.2. Heterotrophic counts

Total heterotrophic bacteria (THB) were enumerated using medium prepared in aged seawater. The seawater was amended with 0.01% nutrient broth (*HiMedia*, India) at concentrations. The pH of the medium was adjusted to 8.2 before adding agar at a final concentration of 1.5%. A 50  $\mu$ l innoculum from 10<sup>-2</sup> dilution was used to spread plate on to the nutrient agar plates. The plates were incubated at room temperature (28±2°C) for 7 days before and bacterial counts were taken as colony forming units (CFU) g<sup>-1</sup>. Initial weight of the sediment used in the dilutions was determined by drying the filtered sediment at 60°C.

#### 3.4.3. Nitrate reducing bacteria

Nitrate reducing bacteria (NRB) were cultured in agar shake tubes. Media for isolation (Appendix VI) was prepared using aged seawater amended with 1mmol KNO<sub>3</sub> and half-

strength nutrient broth (*HiMedia laboratories Ltd.*, India). About 500  $\mu$ l from 10<sup>-2</sup> dilution of the sediment was used. The medium was gently poured and mixed with the innoculum. The tubes were overlaid with a paraffin-paraffin oil mixture in the ration 1:2 to induce anaerobic conditions. The culture tubes were incubated at 28°C ±2 for 30 days. Gas production was observed in the tubes towards the end of the incubation period. NRB counts were taken in the form of colony forming units. Initial weight of the sediment used in the dilutions was determined by drying the filtered sediment at 60°C. The counts have been expressed as CFU g<sup>-1</sup> (dry sediment).

#### 3.4.4. Denitrifier abundance

Denitrifiers were enumerated seasonally by the N<sub>2</sub>O-most probable number (MPN) technique as described by Michotey *et al.* (2000). The sediment core was thawed and sectioned at 2 cm intervals using a sterile core cutter to obtain representative samples at 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm. Sediment from each depth was homogenised by mixing. Sub-samples of approximately 1 g wet weight from each depth layer were sub-sampled using sterile syringes. The sub-samples were transferred to sterile 9 ml of culture medium (Appendix VII) to give a  $10^{-1}$  dilution. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions and supplemented with 20 kPa acetylene (Bonin *et al.*, 1994). Tween 80 (20 µl) was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 MHz for 15 seconds. Dilutions up to  $10^{-12}$  for each section of the core were prepared in triplicates. The vials were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 10 days, and the positive tubes were scored based on the accumulation of nitrous oxide. Subsequent quantification could be made using standard Mc Cready's table (Rodina, 1972). Denitrifier abundance has been expressed as MPN cells g<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment.

#### 3.5. Denitrification rates

Denitrification rates were measured using sediment slurries by the acetylene inhibition technique based on the inhibition of the conversion of  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$  (Sørensen, 1978). The slurry method was opted over the intact core method (Lowrance and Hubbard, 2001; Bernot *et al.*, 2003) due to low permeability of mangrove sediments (Marchand *et al.*, 2004; Schwendenmann *et al.*, 2006) as uneven penetration of acetylene in compact sediments would lead to an underestimation of denitrification rates. Sampling for

denitrification activity was carried out during April representing pre-monsoon period (February-May), September (monsoon: June-September) and January (post-monsoon: October-January).

Sediment cores were demarcated into five sections (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm). About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20 ml headspace vials. Three ml of sterilized ambient sea water from the sampling site was added to the sediment. This seawater was amended with chloramphenicol at a final concentration of 1g l<sup>-1</sup> (Gilbert *et al.*, 1998; Simek, 2000; Bonin *et al.*, 2002; Desnues *et al.*, 2007) to inhibit *novo* synthesis of denitrifying enzymes and reflecting *in situ* activity at the time of sampling (Brooks *et al.*, 1992). No additional carbon or nitrate was amended to the seawater. The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and the slurry was vortexed for 5 seconds. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions. Acetylene gas at 20 kPa (Bonin *et al.*, 2002) was injected into the headspace to avoid N<sub>2</sub>O production by nitrification and its reduction by denitrification (Castro-González and Farias, 2004). Triplicates (three cores; five depths; n=15) were maintained and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 3.0 hours. At the end of the incubation period, bacterial activity in all incubations was terminated using 0.1 ml of 1M HgCl<sub>2</sub>.

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a *Shimadzu* 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with a electron capture detector and Porapak Q column (Porapak Q 1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh). The oven and detector temperatures were 40°C and 300°C, respectively. High purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard 44.16  $\pm 0.38$  nmol N<sub>2</sub>O in nitrogen (1.11  $\pm 0.009$  ppm<sub>v</sub>; courtesy: National Physical Laboratory (NPL), New Delhi). Total N<sub>2</sub>O was calculated based on the equation stated by Tiedje (1982):  $M=C_g(V_g+V_l\alpha)$ 

where, M = the total amount of N<sub>2</sub>O in the water plus gas phases

 $C_g = \text{concentration of } N_2O$  in the gas phase

 $V_g =$  volume of gas phase

 $V_1$  = volume of liquid phase

 $\alpha$  = Bunsen absorption coefficient

The solubility coefficients of N<sub>2</sub>O were used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the equilibrations (Weiss and Price, 1980). As the experiment was carried out in microcosms, it is necessary to minimize error likely to be caused by variability during sediment transfer. Hence, sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for ~48 hours. Activity was considered as the linear accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O over time. Denitrification rates were calculated as \*nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment, extrapolated to a unit area basis as described below and expressed as  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

Calculations for conversion on area basis  $(m^{-2})$  were done as follows:

A = B x k x 10000

where,

A= denitrification rate (nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>)

**B**= denitrification rate (nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ )

 $k^{**} = 1.13$ 

\*\* Constant k was calculated by converting volume of sample to area:

1cc wet sediment has following dimensions in syringe

Diameter = 1.2 cm

Height = 1 cm

Volume of sediment used =  $\Pi r^2 h$ 

=3.14x0.6x0.6x1

 $= 1.13 \text{ cm}^2$ 

Thus,  $1.13 \text{ cm}^2$  represents volume of sample.

\*For back conversion of DNT activity in  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> to nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>: (DNT activity in  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> x 10<sup>3</sup>) / (1.13 x 10<sup>4</sup>)

#### 3.6. Statistical analyses

Significant differences among physico-chemical and bacteriological parameters were analysed using two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) without replication in Analysis tool pack (*Microsoft Excel*). Bacterial numbers were log<sub>10</sub> transformed before analyses. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to assess inter-relationship between denitrifiers and environmental parameters. The correlation values were plotted using *Cytoscape 2.6.3* software which enabled to build an open-source network visualization. Multiple regression analysis was performed using *Statistica* 6 software to predict the combination of factors controlling denitrification and denitrifier abundance.

#### **SECTION II – Laboratory experiments**

#### 3.7. Quantification of nitrous oxide production and its origin

#### 3.7.1. Experimental procedure

#### 3.7.1.1. Sampling

Sediment cores were collected at low tide and transported in an ice box. Cores for pore water nutrient and rate measurements were maintained at 4°C until analysis. Water from sampling sites was collected in carbuoys for media preparation.

In the present study, down-core variation in net  $N_2O$  production was examined at the relatively pristine site Tuvem and the Divar mangrove ecosystem which is influenced by extraneous nutrient input. Detailed studies on  $N_2O$  production mechanisms have been restricted to Tuvem.

#### **3.7.1.2.** Physico-chemical parameters

Hydrogen ion concentration (pH) was measured upon arrival using an *Orion 4-Star Plus* Benchtop pH/ISE Meter. Sediment oxidation-reduction potential (Eh) was measured with the help of an *Orion* platinum redox in combination with a silver/silver chloride reference electrode.

For nutrient analyses, triplicate sub-samples from thawed cores were taken at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm by careful sectioning of sediment. Each section (7.5 cm diameter and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 ml of sterile saline and gently homogenized using a glass rod. The slurry was centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes at 5000 rpm (x 1803 g) with a *REMI CPR-24* centrifuge. Low spin was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentrations due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2 µm filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Ammonium, nitrite and nitrate were measured colorimetrically (*Shimadzu* UV/VIS spectrophotometer; precision:  $\pm 0.01$  µmol  $\Gamma^1$ ) as described by Koroleff (1969), Bendschneider and Robinson (1952) and Wood *et al.*, (1967). Weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 hours. Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley, 1957).

#### 3.7.1.3. Net nitrous oxide production and its origin

Sediment cores were demarcated into five sections (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm). About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20 ml headspace vials. Three ml of sterilized ambient sea water from the sampling site (containing 4.5 µmol NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup>) was added. Further, sample preparations were amended with chloramphenicol  $(1 \text{ g } 1^{-1})$  to prevent de novo enzyme synthesis during the incubations (Gilbert et al., 1998; Simek, 2000; Bonin et al., 2002; Desnues et al., 2007). No additional carbon or nitrate was added as substrate. The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and were briefly vortexed to form slurry. To determine the denitrification (DNT) rate, some of the tubes were put under anaerobic conditions by flushing with N<sub>2</sub> for 15 min. The headspace over these slurries was assigned with 20 kPa acetylene (Bonin et al., 2002) and the tubes were vortexed. To determine net N<sub>2</sub>O production (from nitrification plus denitrification) and for N<sub>2</sub>O produced by incomplete denitrification ( $^{D}N_{2}O$ ), aerobic conditions were maintained and the headspace over slurries was assigned respectively with 0 or 10 Pa acetylene to inhibit nitrification (Bonin et al., 2002). Triplicates were maintained at each depth and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 3.0 hours. Following incubation, each tube was treated with 0.1 ml of 1M HgCl<sub>2</sub> solution, and vigorously shaken for 2 min to stop the reaction.

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a *Shimadzu* 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with a electron capture detector and Porapak Q column (Porapak Q 1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh). The oven and detector temperatures were 40°C and 300°C respectively. High purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard 44  $\pm 0.38$  nmol N<sub>2</sub>O in nitrogen (NPL, New Delhi). The rate of N<sub>2</sub>O production was determined based on its linear accumulation over time (Tiedje, 1982). The Bunsen

solubility coefficient for the measured salinity and temperature in the microcosms was used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O (Weiss and Price, 1980). As the experiment was carried out in microcosms, it is necessary to minimize error likely to be caused by variability during sediment transfer. Hence, sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for approximately 48 hours. Average N<sub>2</sub>O production was calculated as nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment, extrapolated to a unit area basis (m<sup>-2</sup>) and converted to  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

Nitrous oxide produced through nitrification (<sup>N</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O) was calculated as:

$$^{1}N_{2}O = Net N_{2}O production - {}^{D}N_{2}O$$

Percentage of N<sub>2</sub>O through incomplete denitrification (<sup>1</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O) was calculated as:

$$^{0}N_{2}O = \frac{^{D}N_{2}O}{DNT} \times 100$$

#### 3.7.1.4. Quantification of denitrifiers

Denitrifiers were enumerated by the N<sub>2</sub>O-most probable number (MPN) technique. The sediment core was thawed and sectioned at 2 cm intervals using a sterile core cutter to obtain representative samples at 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm. Sediment from each depth was homogenised by mixing. Approximately 1 g wet weight sediment from each depth was sub-sampled using sterile syringes. The sub-samples were transferred to 9 ml of sterile culture medium to give a  $10^{-1}$  dilution. The culture medium was prepared as described by Michotey *et al.*, (2000). Tween 80 (20 µl) was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 MHz for 15 seconds. Serial dilutions for each section of the core were prepared in triplicates. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions and supplemented with 20 kPa acetylene (Bonin *et al.*, 1994). The vials were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 10 days and the positive tubes were scored based on the accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O. Subsequent quantification was made using standard McCready's table (Rodina, 1972). Denitrifier abundance has been expressed as MPN cells g<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment.

#### 3.7.1.5. Statistical analyses

All analyses have been carried out using *Statistica* version 6. Bacterial numbers were  $log_{10}$  transformed before analysis. Nitrous oxide production rates were checked for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. As the data was normally distributed (*p*>0.2), t-Test was used to check for statistically significant differences in mean value of nitrous oxide production between the two sites. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to assess inter-relationship between biotic and abiotic parameters. Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to examine the combined influence of environmental parameters on N<sub>2</sub>O production. Depth was not included in the matrix since maximum N<sub>2</sub>O production was restricted between 0-4 cm.

## 3.8. Down-core profiling of denitrification along with other co-occurring processes in the N cycle

#### 3.8.1. Experimental procedure

#### 3.8.1.1. Sampling

Sediments were collected from each sampling site at low tide during pre-monsoon (May, 2008). Undisturbed sediment cores (six cores per site) were sampled by hand using PVC cores (inner diameter 7.5 cm, 20 cm depth). The top 10 cm of sediment cores were sectioned into 2 cm thick segments. For each sampling site, sediment corresponding to the same depth were pooled and homogenized. Each homogenized sample was further sub-divided into (i) 3 replicates (1 ml) stored at -20°C for molecular biology experiments, (ii) duplicates (10 ml) for immediate pore water analyses and (iii) duplicate laboratory replicates to determine an average value of microbial activities in each homogenized sample were maintained at every incubation interval (n= 12). The coefficient of variation was consistently lower for laboratory replicates than for homogenized samples from any given sample location. Therefore, the level of replication reported here is for the homogenized samples obtained at each site (Rich *et al.*, 2008).

#### 3.8.1.2. Grain size analysis

De-ionized water was used for desalination of 15g sediment sub-samples by repeated washing followed by oven-drying at 45°C. Samples were then treated overnight by adding 20 ml of 10% Na-Hexa metaphosphate solution. The sand contents were

determined after 'wet-sieving' on 63  $\mu$ m sieve and subsequent weighing. The remaining mud fraction was made up to 1000 ml in a measuring cylinder. Silt (63 to 2 mm) and clay (<2 mm) content were determined by the standard pipette analysis (Folk, 1968). The separated fractions were oven dried and weighed to calculate silt and clay ratios.

#### 3.8.1.3. Nutrient and total organic carbon analyses

For extractable ammonium analyses, 2 ml solution of 2M KCl were added to 1 ml sediment sub sample for extraction of easily exchangeable ammonium (Mackin and Aller, 1984). The tubes were vortexed and the samples were incubated at 4°C for about 2 hours with brief vortexing every 15 minutes. The samples were then centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 minutes using a Beckman GS-15R centrifuge. The supernatant was stored at - 20°C until analysis. Ammonium was subsequently measured using the phenol/hypochlorite method (Koroleff, 1969).

For nitrate and nitrite analysis, 5 ml sediment sub-sample retrieved using syringe core was diluted with 5 ml nitrate-free distilled water, centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 minutes and the supernatant was transferred to a clean tube. Nutrient analysis was performed using the Technicon auto analyser as described by Tréger and Le Corre (1975). Weight of the sediment used in the nutrient analyses was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 hours.

Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by the wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley, 1957).

#### 3.8.1.4. Di-nitrogen fixation

Di-nitrogen fixation rates were measured in sediment by acetylene reduction assays following the procedure of Bebout *et al.* (1987). Two millilitres of the headspace gas was replaced by acetylene in the rubber-stopper-sealed flasks containing the sediment as previously described by Bonin and Michotey (2006). The ethylene concentration was measured using a mass spectrometer (*Anagaz* 100 MKS) by monitoring the signal at m/z=27 and by taking into account the cracking pattern to avoid m/z=28, where the ethylene peak would have been masked by N<sub>2</sub> (m/z=28) (Lloyd and Scott 1983). Considering the salinity and the ratio of liquid/gas phases in the incubation flask, we assumed that the amount of soluble ethylene was negligible. Ethylene production rates

were transformed to  $N_2$  production rates using a theoretical conversion factor of 3 (3  $C_2H_4$  per  $N_2$ ) found applicable to the sediment communities (Hardy *et al.*, 1968, Joye and Paerl, 1994). Di-nitrogen was determined from the linear accumulation of  $N_2$  over time and has been expressed on a dry weight basis as nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ .

#### **3.8.1.5**. Net nitrification rate

To measure nitrification rates, 10 mmol sodium chlorate was added to sediment slurries (4 ml sediment sample + 4 ml seawater) to inhibit oxidation of nitrite (Gilbert *et al.*, 1997). The slurries were prepared in triplicates and incubated for up to 10 hours. Incubations were terminated using HgCl<sub>2</sub> (10 mmol final concentration) and stored at room temperature. At the end of the incubation period, the vials were briefly vortexed and samples were centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 15 min. Nitrification rate was determined from the linear production of nitrite during the incubation period using the Technicon auto analyser (Tréger and Le Corre, 1975) and has been expressed on a dry weight basis as nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 3.8.1.6. Nitrate reduction activity

Approximately 1 g wet weight sediment obtained from each representative section was transferred to 60 ml serum bottles. Sterile ambient seawater collected from site for media preparation. This seawater contained approximately 4.5  $\mu$ mol l<sup>-1</sup> nitrate. The seawater was amended with allythiourea (ATU) at a pre-standardized concentration of 125  $\mu$ mol l<sup>-1</sup> to inhibit nitrification (Ginestet *et al.*, 1998). The sediment slurry was briefly vortexed and the bottles were then filled with seawater up to the brim. The bottles were capped with butyl stoppers and the slurry was gently mixed and incubated in triplicates under static conditions for 3 hours as the nitrification inhibitor used became ineffective beyond this period.

At the end of the sampling period, the bottles were gently swirled. The contents were transferred 100 ml centrifuge tubes and centrifuged (*REMI Compufuge* CPR-24) at 5000 rpm and 4°C for 10 minutes. Nitrate in the supernatant was measured spectrophotometrically (*SHIMADZU* UV/VIS) as described by Wood *et al.* (1967). Nitrate reduction activity (NRA) was determined from the fall in nitrate level over time and the rate has been expressed on a dry weight basis as  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### **3.8.1.7. Denitrification and anammox**

Experiments for anammox and denitrification activities followed the procedure of Thamdrup and Dalsgaard (2002) and Risgaard-Petersen *et al.* (2003) with some modifications as described by Minjeaud *et al.* (2008). The isotope pairing method involves the use of stable nitrogen isotope ( $^{15}NO_3^{-}$ ) and the production of single-labelled ( $^{14}N^{15}N$ ) and double-labelled ( $^{15}N^{15}N$ ) di-nitrogen by a mass spectrometer (Nielsen 1992).

Four ml of homogenised sediment from each section was transferred into 22 ml headspace vials containing 4 ml of filter sterilized seawater amended with 10  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N. The vials were sealed with butyl rubbers stoppers, purged with He and pre-incubated for about an hour before addition stock solution of <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>- (97.4 atom%, *Isotech Mathesson*, USA) (Rich *et al.*, 2008) to obtain a final concentration of 50, 80 and 150  $\mu$ mol <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. The production of single-labelled (<sup>14</sup>N<sup>15</sup>N) and double-labelled (<sup>15</sup>N<sup>15</sup>N) dinitrogen was followed during an incubation period of up to 10 hours in the dark. Two or three vials were sacrificed by adding HgCl<sub>2</sub> (final concentration of 10 mmol) at each point of the time series (0, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 hours).

The amount of <sup>29</sup>N<sub>2</sub> and <sup>30</sup>N<sub>2</sub> produced in the incubation vials during the incubations was measured with a quadrupole mass spectrometer (*Anagaz* 100, MKS, England) (Minjeaud *et al.*, 2008). Argon was used as an internal standard. Signals at 5 m/z values were collected every 0.5 seconds and stored onto a computer for later analyses. N<sub>2</sub> was measured at m/z=28, 29 and 30 corresponding to <sup>28</sup>N<sub>2</sub>, <sup>29</sup>N<sub>2</sub> and <sup>30</sup>N<sub>2</sub> respectively while O<sub>2</sub> or Ar were measured at m/z=32 and m/z=40 respectively. The raw value collected at m/z=30 was corrected according to Minjeaud *et al.* (2008) in order to take into account interference due to NO<sup>+</sup> ions formation from N<sub>2</sub> and O<sup>+</sup> inside the mass spectrometer (MS). The natural abundance of nitrogen isotopes is 99.64% of <sup>14</sup>N and 0.36% of <sup>15</sup>N (Steingruber *et al.*, 2001). The measured ratio in the present study was very close to the theoretical value and calculated to account small variability between measurements. The concentration of <sup>29</sup>N<sub>2</sub> and <sup>30</sup>N<sub>2</sub> were plotted against time and fitted to the linear model (A<sub>(t)</sub>=A<sub>0</sub>±m\*t) using the least squares method where: t= incubation time; A<sub>0</sub>=concentration at t=0; m= slope of linear curve. Rate uncertainties were calculated from the errors in the linear regressions.

Total denitrification (D<sub>tot</sub>) and anammox were calculated from the production of N<sub>2</sub> molecules of different isotopic compositions upon enrichment with stable isotope tracer ( $^{15}NO_3^{-}$ ). The values of  $^{29}N_2$  and  $^{30}N_2$  production were used in the equation described by Thamdrup and Dalsgaard (2002) with some modifications (mod-IPM) as described by Minjeaud et al. (2008) to calculate anammox (Anx) and total denitrification (D<sub>tot</sub>) rates. The production rates of N<sub>2</sub> with masses of 28, 29 ( $^{29}N_2 = {}^{14}N + {}^{15}N$ ) and 30 ( $^{30}N_2 = {}^{15}N + {}^{15}N$ ) have been represented as P<sub>28</sub>, P<sub>29</sub>, and P<sub>30</sub> respectively. The original IPM developed by Nielsen (1992) estimates denitrification by monitoring changes in dinitrogen gas with different isotope compositions  $({}^{29}N_2, {}^{30}N_2)$  after enrichment with <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>. However, if anammox is present, the traditional IPM (Nielsen, 1992) is erroneous and cannot be used. In the presence of  ${}^{15}NO_3$  the production of N<sub>2</sub> from anammox modifies the proportion of  ${}^{28}N_2$ ,  ${}^{29}N_2$  and  ${}^{30}N_2$  productions compared to the case where denitrification alone is implied (Risgaard-Petersen et al., 2003, Trimmer et al., 2006, Minjeaud et al., 2008). The total production of  ${}^{28}N_2$  and  ${}^{29}N_2$  depends on the ratio of intensities between the reactions of denitrification and anammox. The relative contribution of anammox and denitrification in the total N<sub>2</sub> fluxes was calculated according to the equations described by Minjeaud et al. (2008) as indicated below: The percentage of anammox is represented by  $R_a$ .

$$R_a = \frac{A_{28}}{P_{14}}$$

 $A_{28}$  is the production of  ${}^{28}N_2$  coming from anammox.  $P_{14}$  can be expressed as function of  $P_{15}$  and  $R_{14}$ .

$$P_{14} = R_{14} \times P_{15} = R_{14} \times (P_{29} + 2P_{30})$$

The calculation of  $R_{14}$  is thus essential for the calculation of  $P_{14}$ .  $R_{14}$  is the ratio between the quantities <sup>14</sup>NO<sub>3</sub> and <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub> in the zone of expression of the activities, this ratio is different from the initial percentage of labelling

$$R_{14} = \frac{2D_{28}}{D_{29}} = \frac{A_{28}}{A_{29}} = \frac{D_{29}}{2D_{30}}$$

where,

 $D_{29}$  and  $D_{30}$  represent the productions of the  ${}^{29}N_2$  and  ${}^{30}N_2$  coming from denitrification respectively.

 $A_{29}$  is the production of  ${}^{29}N_2$  coming from anammox.

According to Risgaard Petersen *et al.* (2003)  $R_{14}$  can be experimentally determined from measurements of  $P_{29}$  and  $P_{30}$  in the presence of different <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub> concentrations as it allows the calculation of  $R_{14}$  and consequently the determination of the production of N<sub>2</sub> formed from <sup>14</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>.

$$R14_{V} = \frac{P_{29(1)} - V \times P_{29(2)}}{2 \times (P_{30(1)} - V^{2} \times P_{30(2)})}$$

where,

$$V = \frac{\left[{}^{15}NO_{3}^{-}\right]_{c_{1}}}{\left[{}^{15}NO_{3}^{-}\right]_{c_{2}}}$$

 $c_1$  = nitrate at concentration 1

 $c_2$  = nitrate at concentration 2

If  $R_a$  equals zero, no anammox occurs and denitrification rates can be determined according to the original procedure of Nielsen (1992). The total denitrification rate  $(D_{tot} = D_w + D_n)$  in the sediment is therefore calculated as:

$$D_{tot} = D_{14} + D_{15}$$
 Eqn (1)

Denitrification from  ${}^{15}NO_3^-$  (D<sub>15</sub>) and from  ${}^{14}NO_3$  (D<sub>14</sub>) can be calculated from the production rate of  ${}^{29}N_2$  (P<sub>29</sub>) and  ${}^{30}N_2$  (P<sub>30</sub>) as follows:

$$D_{15} = P_{29} + 2 P_{30}$$
 Eqn (2)

$$D_{14} = P_{29} + 2 P_{28}$$
 Eqn (3)

\* Derivation of equation as described by Minjeaud et al., (2008).

When denitrification is the sole process producing  $D_{14}$  and  $D_{15}$ ,  $D_{14}$  can be expressed as:

$$D_{14} = \frac{P_{29}}{2P_{30}} \times (P_{29} + 2P_{30})$$
 Eqn (4)

The part of  $D_{14}$  that is based on  $NO_3^-$  from the water phase ( $D_w$ ) is calculated from  $D_{15}^-$  and the <sup>14</sup>N:<sup>15</sup>N ratio of the water column  $NO_3^-$ :

$$D_{w} = D_{15} \frac{[{}^{14}\text{NO}_{3}^{-}]_{w}}{[{}^{15}NO_{3}^{-}]_{w}}$$

where:

 $[^{14}NO_3^{-}]_w$  = concentration of  $^{14}NO_3^{-}$  in the water column

 $[^{15}NO_3^{-}]_w$  = concentration of  $^{15}NO_3^{-}$  in the water column

In situ denitrification of  $NO_3^-$  produced by nitrification ( $D_n$ ) is calculated as:

$$D_n = D_{14} - D_w$$

All rates have been expressed as nmol  $N_2$  g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 3.8.1.8. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)

For each sampling site, sediment corresponding to the same depth were pooled and homogenized. Four ml of homogenised sediment from each section was transferred into 22 ml headspace vials. Four ml of filter sterilized seawater containing NO<sub>3</sub> -N at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ mol l<sup>-1</sup> was added. The vials were sealed with butyl stoppers, purged with He and pre-incubated for about an hour before addition of stock solution of <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub>- (97.4 atom%, *Isotech Mathesson*, USA) (Rich *et al.*, 2008) to obtain a final concentrations of 50, 80 and 150  $\mu$ mol <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Nitrate ammonification was measured by monitoring the progressive increase in isotopic enrichment of <sup>15</sup>NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> over time. NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> in pore water and sediment was extracted by microdiffusion (Gilbert *et al.*, 1997) and the nitrogen was analyzed by mass spectrometry. Unlabelled ammonium (1  $\mu$ mol) was added before microdiffusion and this quantity was taken into account when calculating the DNRA activity. The samples were treated with a mild-alkali (MgO) to convert NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> to NH<sub>3</sub>, which was trapped on acidified (50  $\mu$ l, 0.5 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) pre-combusted Whatman GF/C filters. To calculate the rate of flux from dissolved nitrate to dissolved ammonium, equations derived by analogy with that of Dugdale and Goering (1967) were used. DNRA
was caculated as described by Gilbert *et al.* (1997) and the rate has been expressed at  $\mu$ mol NH<sub>4</sub>-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

# 3.8.1.9. Net nitrous oxide production

About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20 ml headspace vials. Three ml of sterilized ambient sea water from the sampling site was added. This seawater contained chloramphenicol at a final concentration of 1 g  $\Gamma^{-1}$  (Gilbert *et al.*, 1998; Simek, 2000; Bonin *et al.*, 2002; Desnues et al., 2007) to inhibit de novo synthesis of denitrifying enzymes thus reflecting in situ activity at the time of sampling (Brooks et al., 1992). The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and were briefly vortexed to form slurry. Triplicates were maintained at each depth and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 3.0 hours. At the end of the incubation period, bacterial activity was terminated using 0.1 ml of 1M HgCl<sub>2</sub>. Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a Shimadzu 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with an electron capture detector. Net nitrous oxide production was calculated based on its linear accumulation over time (Tiedje, 1982). The solubility coefficients of N<sub>2</sub>O were used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the equilibrations (Weiss and Price, 1980). Sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for approximately 48 hours. Average N<sub>2</sub>O production rate was calculated as nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment.

#### 3.8.1.10. Macrofaunal abundance

Macro benthic samples were sampled using a box quadrant having an area of 15x15x10 cm. Sediment was scooped and transferred to clean plastic bags. Samples were immediately fixed at site using 10% seawater formalin with Rose Bengal solution. Samples were then transferred to laboratory and sieved through a 500 µm sieve. The stained organisms were sorted and preserved in 5% buffered seawater formalin + Rose Bengal solution (10%). The sorted samples were enumerated for macrofaunal density and identified to the group level with stereo zoom microscope (4X magnification).

#### 3.8.1.11. Quantification of *nosZ* genes

Genomic DNA was extracted in triplicates for each layer from 0.25 g (dry weight) sediment using a *MOBIO PowerSoil*<sup>TM</sup> DNA isolation kit (*MoBio Laboratories*, California) according to the manufacturer's protocol (Refer 3.12.1. for detailed procedure). Dilutions of genomic DNA (1/5, 1/10, 1/50 and 1/100) were made in sterile water and stored at -20°C.

Each PCR reaction (25 µl) reaction tube contained the following: Mg free buffer (2.5 µl) (*Promega*, USA); dNTPs (2.5 µl of 10mM *Promega*, USA); MgCl<sub>2</sub> (1.5 µl of 25 mM *Promega*, USA); *nosZ* Primer 0.5 µl of each nosZ 1211F and *nosZ* 1897R (100 pmol  $\mu$ l<sup>-1</sup>) (Rösch *et al.*, 2002); Taq polymerase: 0.2 µl (5 units/µl; *Promega*, USA). The PCR conditions for *nosZ* were maintained as follows: an initial 3 min denaturation at 94°C followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 30 seconds, elongation at 72°C for 1 minute. The amplified products were analyzed by electrophoresis on a 1.5% (wt/vol) agarose gel and visualized using an UV transilluminator (GelDoc 2000, gel documentation system, *Bio-Rad*). Detailed procedure for amplification of *nosZ* by PCR has been given in 3.12.2.

The competitive PCR method was used to create standard curve for the quantification of *nosZ* genes in the DNA sample. A competitor internal standard was coamplified with the target DNA. The standard was shortened artificially to 120 bp. Standards for *nosZ* quantification ( $6.8 \times 10^{-4}$  to  $6.8 \times 10^{-2}$ ) were prepared as a mixture of cloned *nosZ* fragments of *Pseudomomas*, *Marinobacter* and *Achromobacter* spp. Each replicate of DNA extract for a layer (n=3) were subject to PCR reactions in 25 µl mixtures as follows:

 $nosZ \ 10^{-6} : 4 \ \mu l$ 

 $nosZ 10^{-6}$ : 2 µl + 2 µl sterile H<sub>2</sub>O

 $nosZ 10^{-6}$ : 1 µl + 3 µl sterile H<sub>2</sub>O

 $nosZ 10^{-7} : 4 \mu l$ 

 $nosZ 10^{-7} : 2 \mu l + 2 \mu l$  sterile H<sub>2</sub>O

 $nosZ 10^{-7}$ : 1 µl + 3 µl sterile H<sub>2</sub>O

where,

 $10^{-6}$  dilution of standard contained  $6.8 \times 10^3$  nosZ/µl

 $10^{-7}$  dilution of standard contained  $6.8 \times 10^2 nosZ/\mu l$ 

The extracted DNA was diluted to 1/10 concentration. PCR reactions were carried out in triplicates in 25 ml mixtures. Each reaction tube contained the following:

Mg free buffer: 2.5 µl (*Promega*, USA)

dNTPs: 2.5 µl (*Promega*, USA; 10 mM)

MgCl<sub>2</sub>: 1.5 μl (*Promega*, USA; 25 mM)

nosZ Primer 1211F: 0.5 µl

nosZ Primer 1897R: 0.5 µl

Distilled water: 15.3 µl

Taq polymerase: 0.2 µl (5 units/µl; Promega, USA)

Standard ( $10^{-7}$ ): 1 µl ( $1.3 \times 10^6$  molecules of *nosZ*)

DNA: 2 µl

The pooled products were subjected to gel electrophoresis on a 1.5% agarose gel. The intensity of each band was measured using *Quantity One* software. The ratio between the two bands (one from *nosZ* and the other of the internal standard) was plotted against the number of *nosZ* in the PCR tube (Fig. 6). PCR were run with each DNA extract from mangrove sediments having the same quantity of internal standard ( $3x10^3$  *nosZ*) and quantification of *nosZ* per gram dry sediment was calculated from the standard curve.

## 3.8.1.12. Statistical analysis

Principal component analysis was performed on the data matrix (bacterial activities and chemical parameters) using Pearson rank correlation. This method provided an ordination of sampling sites and of bacterial activities which were plotted in two dimensions based on the scores in the first two principal components. PCA test were performed using the XLSTAT software 2009 (*Addinsoft*, Paris, France). The results of the ordination analyses have been visualized as a bi-plot (Cattell 1966, Gabriel, 1971). Only significant relationships have been discussed. Depth was included in the biplot analysis as the N cycle processes in this study are depth dependent.



**Fig. 6**: Standard graph for *nosZ* quantification where log (ratio intensity)= corrected *nosZ* volume/corrected volume of *nosZ* standard

# 3.9. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification

#### 3.9.1. Experimental procedure

#### 3.9.1. 1. Sampling

The anthropogenically influenced site Divar was selected for detailed investigations. Sediment cores were collected at low tide and transported in an insulated box. Cores for activity measurements were maintained at 4°C. For measurement of labile organic matter, cores were immediately sectioned at 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm interval. The sections were dried at 60°C  $\pm$ 2, powdered and sieved through a 200 µm sieve and stored in clean PVC vials until analysis.

#### 3.9.1. 2. Pore water nitrate

For the estimation of pore water nitrate concentration, sub-samples were taken at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm by carefully sectioning the core. Each section (7.5 cm diameter and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 ml of sterile saline and homogenized using a glass rod. The slurry was centrifuged at 5000 rpm for 10 mins and 4°C. Low spin was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentration due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2  $\mu$ m filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Nitrate was measured colorimetrically (*Shimadzu* UV/VIS spectrophotometer; precision:  $\pm$  0.01  $\mu$ mol 1<sup>-1</sup>) as described by Wood *et al.* (1967). Weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 hours.

#### 3.9.1. 3. Total organic carbon

Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley 1957).

#### 3.9.1. 4. Labile organic matter

The labile organic matter (LOM) was measured as a sum of proteins, carbohydrate and lipid content in the sediments. Proteins were estimated as described by Lowry *et al.* (1951). Carbohydrate was estimated by phenol-sulphuric acid method (Dubois *et al.*, 1956) using glucose as standard. Lipid content was extracted from sediment as described by Bligh et al. (1959) and estimated by using the method outlined by (Parsons *et al.*, 1984).

### 3.9.1. 5. Effect of NO<sub>3</sub> addition on denitrification

Sediment cores were demarcated into five sections (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm). About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20 ml headspace vials. Three ml of sterilized ambient seawater from the sampling site was added to the sediment. This seawater used for slurry preparation was spiked with a KNO<sub>3</sub> solution to give final concentrations of 0 (unamended to reflect *in situ* denitrification activity), 5, 10, 20, 40 and 60 µmol NO<sub>3</sub>-N [ <sup>1</sup>. This seawater was also (Gilbert et al., 1998; Simek, 2000; Bonin et al., 2002; Desnues et al., 2007) to inhibit de novo synthesis of denitrifying enzymes thus reflecting in situ activity at the time of sampling (Brooks et al., 1992). No additional carbon substrates were added. The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and were briefly vortexed to form slurry. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions. Acetylene gas at 20 kPa (Bonin et al., 2002) was injected into the headspace to inhibit N<sub>2</sub>O production by nitrification and its reduction by denitrification (Castro-González and Farias, 2004). Triplicates were maintained at each depth and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 3.0 hours. At the end of the incubation period, bacterial activity was terminated using 0.1 ml of 1M HgCl<sub>2</sub>.

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a *Shimadzu* 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with a electron capture detector and Porapak Q column (1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh). The oven and detector temperatures were 40°C and 300°C respectively. High purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard 44  $\pm$ 0.38 nmol N<sub>2</sub>O in nitrogen (NPL, New Delhi). Denitrification activity was calculated based on the linear accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O over time. The solubility coefficients of N<sub>2</sub>O were used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the equilibrations (Weiss and Price, 1980). Sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for approximately 48 hours and weighed. Denitrification activity was calculated as nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment, extrapolated to a unit area basis (m<sup>-2</sup>) and expressed as µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

# 3.9.1. 6. Effect of organic C addition on denitrification

Sterilized seawater used for slurry preparation was amended with 1 g  $l^{-1}$  chloramphenicol and glucose solution at a final concentration of 0, 0.1, 0.3, 0.5, 0.75 and 1%. Samples were prepared and analyzed as described above. No additional nitrate was added.

#### 3.9.1. 7. Potential denitrification rates

Samples were prepared and analyzed as described above except that the seawater used for slurry preparation was amended with  $KNO_3$  and glucose at a final concentration of 1 mmol  $I^{-1}$  in addition to chloramphenicol.

#### 3.9.1. 8. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses have been carried out using analysis tool pack in *Microsoft Excel*. Significant differences in denitrification rates have been determined using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

# 3.10. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification

#### 3.10.1. Experimental procedure

#### 3.10.1.1. Study area and sampling

The Divar mangrove ecosystem was selected to examine the influence of bioturbation on denitrification. The Divar sediments are sandy in nature and organically rich with organic carbon levels varying between 0.1 to 6.5% (Krishnan and Loka Bharathi, 2009). During high tide most of the mangrove area is inundated with seawater while at low tide, a large area of the mangroves get exposed due to the receding tide. A large number of crabs of the *Uca* spp. can be seen surfacing out from burrows during low tide (Plate 3).

Sediment cores for de-faunation were collected at low tide and transported to the laboratory (May, 2009). De-faunation was achieved by freezing (Gerino, 1990) the cores at -70°C. The de-faunated cores were thawed and covered at both ends using a 200  $\mu$ m mesh to prevent entry of macrofauna. The cores were then transplanted back to the experimental site and left undisturbed for 7 days. After a week, the de-faunated cores were retrieved. Additional cores of natural sediment containing autochthonous infauna (faunated cores) were also collected for measuring physico-chemical and biological parameters. All cores were transferred to an insulated box and transported to the



Plate 3: Crabs of Uca spp. seen burrowing/emerging out from the sediment at Divar

laboratory. Upon arrival, faunated and de-faunated cores were maintained at 4°C for activity measurements. Down-core nutrient profiles, denitrification activity and abundance of macrofauna were estimated and compared between faunated and de-faunated cores. All analysis was completed within 36 hours of sample collection.

#### 3.10.1.2. Physico-chemical analyses

Hydrogen ion concentration at each section was measured using an Orion 4-Star Plus Benchtop pH/ISE Meter after calibration with standard buffers (pH 4, 6.9 and 9; Merck). Sediment oxidation-reduction potential (Eh) was measured at each section of the core with the help of an Orion platinum redox in combination with a silver/silver chloride reference electrode.

For the estimation of N compounds (nitrate and nitrite) in pore water, sub-samples were taken at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm by carefully sectioning the core after thawing. Each section (7.5 cm diameter and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 ml of sterile saline and homogenized using a glass rod. Low spin was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentrations due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2 µm filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Nitrate was measured colorimetrically as described by Wood *et al.* (1967) using a *Shimadzu* UV/VIS spectrophotometer. Nitrite was measured as described by Bendschneider and Robinson (1952). Weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 hours.

For measuring denitrification in faunated and de-faunated cores, thawed cores were demarcated into five sections (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm). About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20 ml headspace vials. Sterilized ambient sea water from the sampling site was added to the sediment. This seawater was also amended with chloramphenicol at a final concentration of 1 g l<sup>-1</sup> (Gilbert *et al.*, 1998; Simek, 2000; Bonin *et al.*, 2002; Desnues *et al.*, 2007) to inhibit *de novo* synthesis of denitrifying enzymes thus reflecting *in situ* activity at the time of sampling (Brooks *et al.*, 1992). The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and were briefly vortexed to form slurry. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions. Acetylene gas at 20 kPa (Bonin *et al.*, 2002) was injected into the headspace to inhibit N<sub>2</sub>O production by nitrification and its reduction by denitrification (Castro-González and Farias, 2004). Triplicates were maintained at each depth and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5 and 3.0 hours. At the end of the incubation period, bacterial activity was terminated using 0.1 ml of 1M HgCl<sub>2</sub>.

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a *Shimadzu* 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with a electron capture detector and Porapak Q column (Porapak Q 1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh). The oven and detector temperatures were 40°C and 300°C respectively. High purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard 44  $\pm 0.38$  nM N<sub>2</sub>O in nitrogen (NPL, New Delhi). Denitrification (DNT) activity was calculated based on the linear accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O over time. The solubility coefficients of N<sub>2</sub>O were used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the equilibrations (Weiss and Price, 1980). Sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for approximately 48 hours. DNT was calculated as nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment, extrapolated to a unit area basis (m<sup>-2</sup>) and expressed as µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 3.10.1.3. Denitrifier abundance

Denitrifiers were enumerated by the N<sub>2</sub>O- most probable number (MPN) technique. The sediment core was thawed and sectioned at 2 cm intervals using a sterile core cutter to obtain representative samples at 0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8 and 8-10 cm. Sediment from each depth was homogenised by mixing. Approximately 1 g wet weight sediment from each depth was sub-sampled using sterile syringes. The sub-samples were transferred to 9 ml of sterile culture medium to give a  $10^{-1}$  dilution. The culture medium was prepared as described by Michotey *et al.* (2000). Tween 80 (20 µl) was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 MHz for 15 seconds. Serial dilutions for each section of the core were prepared in triplicates. The vials were purged with high purity N<sub>2</sub> for 10 minutes to induce anaerobic conditions and supplemented with 20 kPa acetylene (Bonin *et al.*, 1994). The vials were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 10 days and the positive tubes were scored based on the accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O. Subsequent quantification was made using standard McCready's table (Rodina, 1972). Denitrifier abundance has been expressed as MPN cells g<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment.

# 3.10.1.4. Macrofaunal abundance

Cores containing natural sediment were sectioned at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm. The sections were transferred to clean plastic bags. The samples were preserved by adding 10% seawater formalin Rose Bengal solution. Samples were then sieved using a 500  $\mu$ m sieve, sorted, identified and enumerated identified to the lowest taxa possible with stereo zoom microscope (4X magnification). The density of organisms was calculated as:

Area of section=  $\Pi r^2$ 

where radius=0.0375 m

Therefore, area of section=0.0044 m<sup>2</sup>

Area 
$$(m^{-2}) = \frac{1}{0.0044}$$
  
= 226

Organisms  $(m^{-2}) = Count * 226$ 

#### 3.10.1.5. Statistical analysis

Data analysis was carried out using *Statistica* version 6. Differences in denitrification activity between faunated and de-faunated cores were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

# SECTION III – Diversity of denitrifying bacteria

The diversity of denitrifiers in mangrove sediments was assessed using three different approaches. At a cellular level, the culturable denitrifiers isolated from MPN tubes were subjected to biochemical characterization. The isolates were then identified up to the generic level using pertinent taxonomic keys. At the community level, whole DNA from sediments was analyzed to understand both taxonomic and functional diversity of denitrifiers. For functional diversity, the *nosZ* gene catalyzing the reduction of nitrous oxide to di-nitrogen was probed. A more recent technique viz., the 454 pyrosequencing technology involving sequencing of the V6 region of 16S rRNA gene was used to delineate the community diversity up to the species level.

# 3.11. Taxonomic diversity of denitrifiers: a biochemical approach

#### 3.11.1. Isolation

The most-probable number method has been widely used for the culture and enumeration of denitrifiers (Shieh *et al.*, 2004; Fan *et al.*, 2006). Pure isolates of facultatively anaerobic denitrifiers from mangrove sediments were obtained from MPN culture tubes which were amended with nitrate. A 100  $\mu$ l innoculum from every dilution was surface plated on solid media prepared using the MPN denitrifier culture medium (Appendix VII) supplemented with 1.5% agar. The plates were incubated at room temperature in aerobic conditions. Colonies of 1-3 pre-dominant types appearing on each plate were isolated, transferred to liquid MPN culture medium tubes having medium filled up to the brim. A total of 126 denitrifier strains (Divar n=76; Tuvem n=50) were isolated.

#### 3.11.2. Characterization and identification

Pure denitrifier isolates were characterized and identified up to the generic level (Oliver, 1982; Holt *et al.*, 1994). Identification was done based on morphological and physiological (Appendix VIII) tests. Biochemical characterization was done using the following tests:

- 1. Citrate utilization
- 2. Lysine utilization
- 3. Ornithine decarboxylation
- 4. Urease detection
- 5. Phenylalanine deamination (TDA)
- 6. Nitrate reduction
- 7.  $H_2S$  production
- 8. Glucose utilization
- 9. Adonitol utilization
- 10. Lactose utilization
- 11. Arabinose utilization
- 12. Sorbitol utilization

Test cultures were grown overnight in liquid denitrifier medium. The cell suspension was washed with sterile saline. Each test vials from the biochemical test kit (*Microxpress*,

India) was inoculated with 100  $\mu$ l of culture suspension (OD<sub>600</sub>:1.0) and incubated at room temperature for approximately 48 hours. Qualitative results were recorded based on the presence of by-products. Results were interpreted according to the specifications provided by the manufacturer.

# 3.12. Functional diversity: probing the nosZ gene

# 3.12.1. DNA extraction

Sediment samples were lyophilized overnight and genomic DNA was extracted using a *MO BIO PowerSoil* DNA isolation kit (CA, USA). The kit eliminates humic substances/brown colour permitting high level of purity for successful amplification by the PCR. The DNA was isolated as follows:

- 1. Freezed sediment samples from respective depth layer were thawed and homogenised using a sterile rod.
- 2. A sub-sample weighing 0.25 gm each was weighed and added to the PowerBead tubes provided.
- 3. The tubes were briefly vortexed and 60 µl of Solution C1 containing sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was added. The tubes were inverted several times and then fastened onto a horizontal vortexer. They were vortexed at maximum speed for 10 minutes. This step helps to disperse the soil particles, dissolves humic acids and protects nucleic acids from degradation.
- 4. The bead tubes were centrifuged on *Thermo Heraus Fresco 17* centrifuge at  $13,000 \times g$  for 1 minute at room temperature.
- 5. The supernatant was transferred to a clean 2 ml collection tube and 250 μl of Solution C2 was added. The tubes were vortexed for 5 seconds and incubated at 4°C for 5 minutes. Solution C2 contains a reagent to precipitate non-DNA organic and inorganic material including humic substances, cell debris, and proteins.
- 6. The tubes were centrifuged at room temperature for 1 minute at 13,000 x g.
- 7. Avoiding the pellet, 600  $\mu$ l of supernatant was transferred to a clean 2 ml collection tube.
- 8. To the supernatant, 200 μl of Solution C3 was added. The solution precipitates additional non-DNA organic and inorganic material including humic acid, cell

debris and proteins. The tubes were vortexed briefly and incubated at 4°C for 5 , minutes.

- 9. The tubes were centrifuged at room temperature for 1 minute at 13,000 x g.
- 10. Avoiding the pellet, 750 µl of supernatant was transferred into a clean 2 ml collection tube.
- 11. To the supernatant collected, 1200 µl of Solution C4 was added and vortexed for 5 seconds. Solution C4 is a high concentration salt solution. Since DNA binds tightly to silica at high salt concentrations, this will adjust the DNA solutions salt concentration to allow binding of DNA, but not non-DNA organic and inorganic material that may still be present at low levels, to the spin filters.
- 12. Approximately 675  $\mu$ l was loaded onto a spin filter and centrifuge at 13,000 x g for 1 minute at room temperature. The flow through was discarded, an additional 675  $\mu$ l of supernatant was added to the spin filter and centrifuge at 13,000 x g for 1 minute at room temperature. A total of three loads for each sample were processed.
- 13. To the spin filters, 500  $\mu$ l of Solution C5 was added and centrifuged at room temperature for 1 minute at 13,000 x g. Solution C5 is an ethanol based wash solution used to further clean the DNA that is bound to the silica filter membrane in the spin filter. This wash solution removes residual salt, humic acid, and other contaminants while allowing the DNA to stay bound to the silica membrane.
- 14. The flow through was discarded and the tubes were centrifuged again at room temperature for 1 minute at  $13,000 \times g$ .
- 15. The spin filters were carefully placed in a clean 2 ml collection tube avoiding splashing of any Solution C5 onto the spin filter.
- 16. A 100 μl volume of Solution C6 was added to the centre of the white filter membrane. As Solution C6 (elution buffer) passes through the silica membrane, DNA that was bound in the presence of high salt is selectively released by Solution C6 (10 mmol Tris) which lacks salt.
- 17. The tubes were centrifuged at room temperature for 1 minute at 13,000 x g.
- 18. The spin filter was discarded and the DNA in the tube was used for PCR amplification.

19. Samples were checked for purity  $(OD_{260}/OD_{280} \sim 1.8)$ .

#### 3.12.2. Amplification of *nosZ* genes by PCR

The extracted DNA was diluted to 1/10 concentration. PCR reactions were carried out in 25 ml mixtures. Each reaction tube contained the following:

Mg free buffer: 2.5 µl (*Promega*, USA)

dNTPs: 2.5 μl (10 mM; *Promega*, USA)

MgCl<sub>2</sub>: 1.5 µl (25 mM; Promega, USA)

nosZ Primer 1211F: 0.5 µl (Rösch et al., 2002)

nosZ Primer 1897R: 0.5 µl

Sterile distilled water: 15.3 µl

Taq polymerase: 0.2 μl (5 units/μl; Promega, USA)

DNA: 2 µl

The PCR runs were made as follows:

An initial 3 min denaturation at 94°C

Denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds

Annealing at 55°C for 30 seconds

Elongation at 72°C during for 1 minute

30 cycles

Final elongation at 72°C during for 3 minutes

A negative control tube (2  $\mu$ l of sterile distilled water + PCR mix) and a positive tube containing (2  $\mu$ l DNA from *Marinobacter hydrocarbonoclasticus* + PCR mix) were also prepared. About 10  $\mu$ l of PCR product was mixed with 2  $\mu$ l of loading dye, mixed, loaded onto a 1% (wt/vol) agarose gel (Appendix IX) containing 0.5 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> ethidium bromide and subjected to electrophoresis in TBE 1X buffer (Appendix X). A 2  $\mu$ l volume of DNA molecular weight marker III (0.25  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l; *Roche Diagnostics*, Germany) was loaded along with the samples. The separated products were visualized using an UV transilluminator (GelDoc 2000, gel documentation system, *Bio-Rad*). Each PCR was performed thrice and the PCR products were pooled prior to Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (DGGE) analysis.

# 3.12.3. Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis

Denaturing Gradient Gel electrophoresis (DGGE) was performed using a D-code Universal Mutation Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc.). Samples containing approximately equal amounts of PCR products (600 ng) were loaded onto 1 mm thick, 6% (wt/vol) polyacrylamide gel (Appendix XI) with a denaturation gradient from 20% to 80% (100% of denaturation corresponds to 7M urea and 40% formamide). Electrophoresis was run at 60°C for 280 minutes at 150V in 1X TAE (Appendix XII). Following electrophoresis, the gel was incubated for 30 minutes in 1X TAE buffer containing ethidium bromide (0.5 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>) and photographed on a UV transilluminator (GelDoc 2000, gel documentation system, *Bio-Rad*). A 10 µl volume of the following mixture of markers were used-

- nosZ of Pseudomonas sp NBP39
- nosZ of Marinobacter sp BC38
- nosZ of Achromobacter cycloclastes ATCC 21921
- 16S Micrococcus sp SR283
- 16S Clostridium sp.

Representative bands were excised from the polyacrylamide gel using sterile toothpicks and transferred into clean eppendorf tubes. The gel fragments were rinsed with 50  $\mu$ l of sterile distilled water. Another 50  $\mu$ l volume of sterile distilled water was added and the tubes were stored at 4°C overnight for allowing diffusion of the DNA into the water. The following day, the gel pieces were agitated using sterile tips and centrifuges at 13,000 x for 1 minute. The supernatant was transferred to a clean 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. A 5  $\mu$ l volume of these samples were used for amplification of *nosZ* by PCR. The products were observed by electrophoresis. Amplified *nosZ* bands were cut and transferred to clean 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes. The DNA in the agarose gel (approx. 100 mg or 100  $\mu$ l vol) was purified using the *QIAGEN MinElute Gel Extraction Kit* as follows:

- 1. A 300 µl volume of buffer QG was added to the gel.
- 2. The tubes were incubated at 50C for 10 minutes until the gel slice had completely dissolved. To help the dissolution, the tubes were vortexed briefly for a few seconds every 3 minutes.

- 3. After the gel had dissolved completely,  $100 \ \mu l$  of isopropanol was added to the , samples and the contents were mixed by inverting the tubes several times.
- 4. The *MinElute* column was placed in a clean 2 ml collection tube. The samples were transferred to the column and allowed to stand for a minute.
- 5. The samples were centrifuged at 13,000 x for 1 minute.
- 6. The flow-through was discarded from the collection tube and the *MinElute* column was placed back into the collection tube.
- A 500 μl volume of buffer QG was added to the spin column and centrifuged at 13,000 x for 1 minute.
- 8. The flow-through was discarded and the column was placed back into the collection tube.
- To wash, 750 µl of buffer PE was added to the *MinElute* column and centrifuged for 1 minute.
- 10. The flow-through was discarded and the column was centrifuged for an additional 1 minute.
- 11. The *MinElute* column was placed in a clean 1.5 ml collection tube.
- 12. To elute the DNA, 10 μl of buffer EB (10mM Tris Cl; pH 8.5) was added to the centre of the membrane. The column was allowed to stand for a minute and then centrifuged for 1 minute.
- 13. The purified DNA was used for downstream application i.e. cloning.

#### 3.12.4. Cloning of PCR fragments

Cloning of PCR products was performed using the pGEM-T and pGEM-T Easy Vector Systems. The vectors are prepared by cutting *Promega's* pGEM-5Zf(+)<sup>(b)</sup> and pGEM-T Easy vectors with EcoR V and adding a 3' terminal thymidine to both ends. These single 3' - T overhangs at the insertion site greatly improve the efficiency of ligation of a PCR product into the plasmids by preventing re-circularization of the vector and providing a compatible overhang for PCR products (Fig. 7).

The high copy number pGEM-T and pGEM-T Easy Vectors contain T7 and SP3 RNA polymerase promoters flanking a multiple cloning region within the  $\alpha$ -peptide coding region of the enzyme  $\beta$ -galactosidase. Successful cloning of an insert into the



.

Fig. 7: pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T Vector circle map and sequence reference points (3015bp)

vectors interrupts the coding sequence of  $\beta$ -galactosidase. Insertional inactivation of the  $\alpha$ -pepțide and allows recombinant clones to be directly identified by colour screening on indicator plates. Clones that contain PCR products produce white colonies, but blue colonies can result from PCR fragments that are cloned in-frame with the *lacZ* gene.

#### **3.12.5. Ligation of PCR products**

Ligation of PCR products was performed using *Promega's* pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T and pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T Easy Vectors and the 2X Rapid Ligation Buffer. The pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T or pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T Easy Vector and control insert DNA tubes were briefly centrifuged to collect contents at the bottom of the tubes.

Ligation reactions were set up as described below:

2X Rapid Ligation Buffer, T4 DNA Ligase:	$5 \mu$ l / reaction
pGEM®-T or pGEM®-T Easy Vector (50 ng):	1 μ1 / reaction
T4 DNA Ligase (3 Weiss units/µl):	1 μl / reaction
PCR product:	1.5 µl / reaction

The reactions were mixed by pipetting and incubated overnight at 4°C for obtaining maximum number of transformants.

# 3.12.6. Transformation of ligation reactions into competent cells

Transformations was performed using *Promega's* pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T and pGEM<sup>®</sup>-T Easy Vector Ligation Reactions

1. Two LB/ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal plates (Appendix XIII) were prepared for each ligation reaction. The plates were equilibrated to room temperature prior to plating.

- Ampicillin sodium salt: A b-lactam antibiotic with an amino group side chain attached to the penicillin structure. Penicillin derivative that inhibits bacterial cell wall synthesis (peptidoglycan cross-linking) by inactivating transpeptidases on the inner surface of the bacterial cell membrane. Bactericidal only to growing *E. coli*.
- Isopropyl b-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) functions by binding to the *lac1* repressor and altering its conformation, which prevents the repression of the b-galactosidase coding gene *lac2*.
- X-Gal (Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl b-D-galactoside) is a chromogenic substrate for b-galactosidase that produces a rich blue color that can easily be detected visually

over background. X-Gal is a substrate for blue-white selection of recombinant , bacterial colonies with the *lac*+ genotype.

2. Tubes containing the ligation reactions were centrifuged at  $10,000 \times g$  for 10 minutes to collect contents at the bottom of the tube. About 3 µl of each ligation reaction was transferred to a sterile 1.5 ml micro centrifuge tube on ice.

3. Tubes containing frozen JM109 High Efficiency Competent Cells were removed from storage (liquid nitrogen) and placed in an ice bath until just thawed (about 5 minutes). The cells were mixed by gently flicking the tube.

4. 50  $\mu$ l of cells were carefully transferred into each tube prepared in Step 2.

5. The contents were mixed by gently flicking the tubes and placed on ice for 20 minutes.

6. The cells were subjected to heat-shock for 45–50 seconds in a water bath at exactly 42°C.

7. The tubes were immediately returned to ice for 2 minutes.

8. A 950  $\mu$ l innoculum of SOC medium at room temperature was added to the tubes containing cells transformed with ligation reactions.

9. The tubes were incubated for 1.5 hours at 37°C.

10. A 100  $\mu$ l innoculum of each transformation culture was plated onto LB/ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal plates. For a higher number of colonies, the cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 10,000 × g for 10 minutes, re-suspended in 200  $\mu$ l of SOC medium, and 100  $\mu$ l plated on each of two plates.

11. The plates were incubated overnight (16–24 hours) at 37°C.

#### **3.12.7.** Analysis of clones

Whitish colonies (containing insert) from LB/ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal plates (Plate 4) were transferred in 2 ml liquid LB medium amended with ampicillin (10 mg/ml). The culture tubes were incubated for 24 hours on a shaker at 22°C until the cells (plasmid culture) were grown to a density of  $A_{600}$ =2.0 or higher.

#### 3.12.8. Purification of plasmid culture

Plasmid culture was purified using the *MO BIO* UltraClean<sup>™</sup> 6 Minute Mini Plasmid Prep Kit. In this method cells are lysed using alkaline lysis reagents. Plasmid DNA is bound to a silica spin filter, washed once, and recovered in Tris buffer or water. The



Plate 4: Cloned PCR products

DNA retrieved can be directly used for automated sequencing or other downstream applications. The plasmid culture was purified as per the method described by the manufacturer as follows:

1. Overnight grown cells were transferred into sterile labelled micro centrifuge tubes and centrifuged for 1 minute at  $13,000 \times g$ .

2. The supernatant was discarded. Any remaining liquid from tube was removed with a pipette tip.

5. The cell pellet was re-suspended cell in 50  $\mu$ l of Solution 1 by bump vortexing for 1 minute to yield a homogenous suspension. The buffer in the solution prevents the bacterial cells from lysing.

8. A 100  $\mu$ l volume of Solution 2 was added. Solution 2 contains a detergent SDS the addition of which causes the bacterial cells to lyse due to denaturation of proteins in the cell membrane. All DNA becomes denatured to its single stranded form at this point. The bacterial chromosomal DNA is long and is attached to broken pieces of the cell membrane. Plasmid DNA is linked so it forms two attached circles like two links of a chain. All RNA is digested during this very short step because RNase A is active even in very alkaline conditions.

10. The tubes were inverted once to mix.

11. A 325  $\mu$ l volume of Solution 3 was added and the tubes were inverted just once to mix. Solution 3 contains potassium acetate and salt. The potassium acetate forms a precipitate when it interacts with SDS. At the same time denatured proteins co-precipitate with the SDS. Solution 3 neutralizes the alkaline pH to a more neutral pH 7. All DNA tries to re-nature. Plasmid can easily re-form to its double stranded form. Bacterial chromosomal DNA finds it difficult to re-nature because it has no reference point and homologous pieces of DNA may be blocked from finding each other by the cell debris present.

12. The tubes were centrifuged for 1 minute at 13,000 x g.

14. The supernatant was transferred into a spin filter by decanting.

15. The spin filters were centrifuged for 1 minute.

16. The liquid in the collection tube was discarded.

17. A volume of 300  $\mu$ l of Solution 4 was added. Solution 4 washes the DNA that is bound to the spin filter. Solution 4 is about 50% ethanol. The ethanol keeps the plasmid DNA bound to the filter as impurities are washed away.

18. The tubes were centrifuged for 1 minute.

19. The flow through was discarded and the tubes were centrifuged again for another 1 minute.

20. The spin filter baskets were carefully transferred to new micro centrifuge tubes.

21. A 50  $\mu$ l volume of Solution 5 was added to the middle of spin filter membrane. Solution 5 is 10 mM Tris. As it passes through the spin filter, the plasmid DNA is released (eluted) off the filter and it passes into the collection tube. The plasmid DNA is released because it will not stay bound to the spin filter when there is no salt present.

22. The tubes were centrifuged for 1 minute.

23. The spin filter baskets were removed. The Plasmid DNA in the micro centrifuge tube was stored at -20°C until sequencing.

# 3.12.9. Sequencing of cloned products and analysis of nosZ sequences

Sequencing was performed by *GATC Biotech SARL* (Germany). The partial sequences were aligned with the same region of the closest relative strains available in the GenBank database by using the BLAST facility (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). Sequence alignment was achieved using ClustalX (Thompson *et al.*, 1997). A phylogenetic tree was constructed in *TreeView* using the neighbor-joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). Sequences obtained in this study (Table 3) are available from European Molecular Biology Laboratory (EMBL) nucleotide sequence database under the accession numbers FN356193, FN356194, FN356195 and FN356196.

# 3.13. Bacterial diversity in mangrove sediments: A 454 pyrosequencing approach

Massively parallel tag sequencing of the V6 region of 16S rRNA gene is a cost-effective (Huse *et al.*, 2008) and more superior alternative to examine the phylogenetic diversity of microbial populations (Galand *et al.*, 2009). It is fast replacing conventional 16S rRNA gene sequencing which underestimates the full extent of microbial diversity (Huber *et al.*,

2007). It generates hundreds of thousands of short (100-200 nucleotide) DNA sequence reads in a short time period (few hours) eliminating the need for preparing sequence templates by conventional cloning (Huse *et al.*, 2007).

Low abundance populations accounting for most of the observed phylogenetic diversity in marine samples (Sogin *et al.*, 2006) demand high resolution surveys like the pyrosequencing technology which is based upon sequencing-by-synthesis protocol (Ronaghi *et al.*, 1996). Parallel processing of large numbers of samples can be easily carried out by using high-density PicoTiterPlate<sup>TM</sup> (Huse *et al.*, 2007) and microinjector technology (Ronaghi *et al.*, 1998).



Fig. 8: Sequencing reaction of the Genome Sequencer System wherein millions of copies of a single clonal fragment are contained on each DNA Capture Bead.

In this method, nucleotides are flowed sequentially in a fixed order across the  $PicoTiterPlate^{TM}$  device during a sequencing run. During the nucleotide flow, hundreds of thousands of beads each carrying millions of copies of a unique single-stranded DNA molecule are sequenced in parallel. If a nucleotide complementary to the template strand is flowed into a well, the polymerase extends the existing DNA strand by adding nucelotide(s). Addition of one (or more) nucleotide(s) results in a reaction that generates a light signal that is recorded by the CCD camera in the Genome Sequencer System (Fig.

 Table 3: nosZ sequence identification

Accession number	Base pairs (bp)	Sequence	Description
FN356193	589	agtatcagcc cggccacaat cataceteca tgggggagac caaggatgec gaeggeaagt ggetggtgte actgaacaag ttetecaagg acagattat caatgteggt ecaeteaage etgaaaacga geageteate gaeateaeeg gtgataagat gaageteetg catgatggge etaeettege ggageeeeat gaetgeatea ttgtgegtge ggacategte aateeeaaet etgtatggae geggggegat eegatgtggg cagaegtgeg tgagtgggee ageaaggag geateaaeet ggaetetgae ageaaggtgg teegegaegg taatgaggtg egegtetaea tggtateeat egeaeeeae tteageatge agaagttae agtgaaggag ggegatgaag teaeggtgat tgtgaceae atggategea ttgatgaeet gaeceatgge tteaeeetg acettgteg taeegeae gagateggae egeaggege eteettgt acettgteg etgategee gagateggae egeaggegae eteetetgt acettgteg etgategaee gggegtaee tggtttaet gteagtggt etgeegee	Uncultured marine bacterium partial <i>nosZ</i> gene for nitrous oxide reductase, isolate DGGE band BD1
FN356194	666	tgttcatcga cagccagatg gtgaagtgga acatccagaa ggcgatcgac ctctacgcga accccgtcga gggagagacg cccgtcctcg atcgtctcga catccactat caagtaggac acaccatggc ctcgatggcg gagacgaagg aggcggacgg gaaatacete attteetea acaagatete caaggatege tteeteaacg tagaaceeet caaaceggag aacgateage teategacat ctceggagaa gagatggtee tgetegaaga egageeegg tatategage ctcatgactg catcategte cgcagggaca teategagga caaggtteag categtgegg ttetegaaga geatecegae geggtgacee agageteagt ggagegaaae ggacgaagag teaeggeeeg gateaceget teegegeeg teaeggeet acaggaggte gtggteaate agggtgacga ggtgacette ategtgaeea atacegatga gateeeegat etegegaag ggttegegat ctcagactae ggeatecagt tegtegtgg accgttteag acgaagtegg teaegttegt egeggacaag cegggggtee actggateta etgeagaac teeggaeteg eaetgeegg	Uncultured marine bacterium partial <i>nosZ</i> gene for nitrous oxide reductase, isolate DGGE band BD2

		(da)	Tamper
y Uncultured marine bacterium partial nosZ gene for nitrous oxide gene for nitrous oxide deductase, isolate DGGE band BD3	ignored a substance of the second state of the	869	5619SENJ
Uncultured marine bacterium partial nosZ gene for nitrous oxide reductase, isolate DGGE band BD4	sagergeneration in the second	859	9619SENJ

-

8). The signal strength is proportional to the number of nucleotides incorporated in a single nucelotide flow (www.454.com).

#### 3.13.1. DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from the surface sediment (0-2 cm) using a *MO BIO PowerSoil* DNA isolation kit as described above (Refer 3.12.1).

### 3.13.2. Concentration of DNA

The final volume of eluted DNA (100  $\mu$ l) was concentrated by adding 4  $\mu$ l of 5M NaCl and inverting 3-5 times to mix. Next, 200  $\mu$ l of 100% cold ethanol was added and the tubes were inverted 3-5 times to mix. Samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 5 minutes at room temperature. All liquid was decanted. Residual ethanol was removed by drying overnight in a dessicator.

#### 3.13.3. High-throughput pyrosequencing

Precipitated DNA was re-suspended in sterile water. The hypervariable region of rRNA genes (BV6-rRNA tags) were amplified and subjected to high-throughput pyrosequencing using the 454 technology as described by Sogin *et al.* (2006) and Huber *et al.* (2007). The following sequence adaptors and primers were used (vamps.mbl.edu):

Roche amplicon sequencing adaptors: A-adaptor 5'-GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG-3' B-adaptor 5'-GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAG-3'

Forward Primers (967F) CNACGCGAAGAACCTTANC CAACGCGAAAAAACCTTACC CAACGCGCAGAACCTTACC ATACGCGARGAACCTTACC CTAACCGANGAACCTYACC

Reverse Primers (1046R) CGACAGCCATGCANCACCT CGACAACCATGCANCACCT CGACGGCCATGCANCACCT CGACGACCATGCANCACCT Thus, to amplify the V6 hypervariable region of bacterial 16S rRNAs (*Escherichia coli* positions 967-1046) (Sogin *et al.*, 2006) and sequence it in the forward direction (relative to the 5'->3' orientation of the gene) using the Roche A primer, the forward primer consisted of the A-adaptor, 5-base key, and sequence designed to bind to the 967F region of the SSU:

# 5'-GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAGgatctCNACGCGAAGAACCTTANC-3'

The reverse primer would consist of the B-adaptor and a sequence designed to bind to 1046R:

# 5'-GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAG CGACAGCCATGCANCACCT-3'

#### 3.13.4. Data analysis

The sequence reads (tags) were trimmed as described by Sogin *et al.* (2006) and Huber *et al.* (2007). Sequences likely to be of low-quality were identified based on previous assessment of pyrosequencing error rates (Huse *et al.* 2007) and were removed. The 454 tags served as query to identify its closest match in a reference database (V6RefDB) containing  $\approx$ 40,000 unique V6 sequences (Sogin *et al.*, 2006). Taxonomic counts from the VAMPS database (vamps.mbl.edu) were then downloaded and imported into *Microsoft Excel.* Sequence characteristics like average length and tag aggregates were estimated using *R* package (R Development Core Team, 2007). Multiple sequence alignment was done using *ClustalX* 1.83. Distance matrices were calculated using DNAdist from *PHYLIP* 3.69 (Felsenstein, 2005). These pairwise distances served as input to DOTUR (Schloss and Handelsman, 2005) for clustering tags that ranged from unique sequences (no variation) to 20% dissimilarity. These clusters served as operational taxonomic units (OTUs) for generating rarefaction curves, calculating two indices of diversity- Chao1 (Chao, 1987) and ACE (abundance-based coverage estimator (Chao and Lee 1992)) and the Simpson evenness index.

# Chapter 4 Results

,

# **Chapter 4. Results**

# **SECTION I – Field observations**

# 4.1. Physical parameters

# 4.1.1. Temperature

Sediment temperature was found to decrease with increasing depth at both the sites. At the control site Tuvem, temperature varied from 25.9°C in January to 31.6°C in March. Average temperature values (n=4) varied from 29.60 ( $\pm$ 1.82) to 30.00 ( $\pm$ 1.31), 27.58 ( $\pm$ 0.84) to 27.60 ( $\pm$ 0.74) and 26.68 ( $\pm$ 0.80) to 26.93 ( $\pm$ 0.75) during the pre-monsoon (Feb-May), monsoon (June-Sept) and post-monsoon (Oct-Jan) seasons respectively (Fig. 9a).

At the experimental site Divar, sediment temperature fluctuated from 23.6°C in December to 31.1°C in March. Average temperature during pre-monsoon varied between 28.65 ( $\pm$ 2.07) to 29.30 ( $\pm$ 1.98) whereas in the monsoon it fluctuated from 28.00 ( $\pm$ 0.74) to 28.18 ( $\pm$ 0.85). In the post-monsoon season, lower average values varying from 25.95 ( $\pm$ 1.64) to 26.20 ( $\pm$ 1.49) were recorded (Fig. 9b). Seasonal fluctuation of temperature was highly significant (p> 0.001) at both the sites.

#### 4.1.2. Salinity

Annual salinity variations of overlying seawater varied from 0-30 psu and 1-32 psu at Tuvem and Divar respectively. The lowest salinity values were recorded during the monsoon with an average value of 1.25 ( $\pm$ 0.96) psu at the control site and 3.25 ( $\pm$ 3.20) psu at the experimental site (Fig. 10). During the non-monsoon seasons, salinity values at the control site were lower with a pre-monsoon average of 23.75 ( $\pm$ 6.13) psu and 18.50 ( $\pm$ 8.50) at post-monsoon. Average values of 28.75 ( $\pm$ 2.22) psu and 26.75 ( $\pm$ 9.18) psu were recorded at pre and post-monsoon at the experimental site.

#### 4.1.3. pH

Hydrogen ion concentration in Tuvem sediments showed a wider variation from 5.57-7.32 in comparison to the Divar sediments where the fluctuation was relatively less varying between 6.08-7.32 within the 0-10 cm depth range. The control site exhibited a decrease in pH with depth. Average values (Fig. 11a) of 6.52 ( $\pm 0.65$ ) to 6.71 ( $\pm 0.35$ ),



Fig. 9a: Seasonal down-core variation in sediment temperature (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Fig. 9b: Seasonal down-core variation in sediment temperature ( $\pm$ SD) at Divar where n=4 at each season



Fig. 10: Seasonal variation in salinity (±SD) of overlying seawater at Tuvem and Divar where n=4 at each season



Fig. 11a: Seasonal down-core variation in sediment pH (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Fig. 11b: Seasonal down-core variation in sediment  $pH(\pm SD)$  at Divar where n=4 at each season

6.95 ( $\pm 0.18$ ) to 7.11 ( $\pm 0.17$ ) and 5.83 ( $\pm 0.17$ ) to 5.95 ( $\pm 0.13$ ) were recorded during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon respectively.

At the experimental site (Fig. 11b), average pH values of 6.79 ( $\pm 2.07$ ) to 6.99 ( $\pm 0.27$ ), 6.78 ( $\pm 0.43$ ) to 7.13 ( $\pm 0.43$ ) and 6.39 ( $\pm 0.19$ ) to 6.83 ( $\pm 0.32$ ) were recorded during the pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon respectively.

#### 4.1.4. Redox potential

The redox potential differed markedly during the different seasons (Fig. 12a). The values were lowest in July at the control site with comparatively less reducing conditions prevalent during pre and post monsoon.

The Divar sediments were (Fig. 12b) relatively more oxidizing in nature at depth <6 cm prior to the commencement of rainfall in the region. Reducing conditions prevailed through the monsoon with the lowest value of -248.4 mV at 2-4 cm depth in the month of June.

# 4.2. Chemical parameters

#### 4.2.1. Dissolved oxygen

At the control site, dissolved oxygen in the ambient water varied from 0.12-4.79 ml  $\Gamma^1$  through the year. The seasonal pattern was distinct with the monsoon season showing the highest average value of 3.63 (±1.24) ml  $\Gamma^1$ (Fig. 13). The post-monsoon dissolved oxygen content was lower at 0.87 (±1.36) ml  $\Gamma^1$  compared to the pre-monsoon where the average value for this season was 1.36 (±1.59) ml  $\Gamma^1$ .

At the experimental site Divar, similar annual variation in oxygen concentrations were observed with values ranging between 0.19-4.75 ml l<sup>-1</sup>. The highest average value of 3.85 ( $\pm$ 1.32) ml l<sup>-1</sup> was also recorded during the monsoon. Between the non-monsoon periods, the pre-monsoon value was lower at 1.11 ( $\pm$ 1.18) ml l<sup>-1</sup> while the post-monsoon value was marginally higher at 1.29 ( $\pm$ 1.97) ml l<sup>-1</sup>.

# 4.2.2. Pore water NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>

Monthly variation in pore water ammonium at both the control and experimental sites showed generally higher values at depths >4 cm. At the control site, the highest seasonal average of 28.43 ( $\pm$ 5.03) NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N l<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 14a) was recorded at 4-6 cm depth during the



🗆 Pre monsoon 📓 Monsoon 📓 Post monsoon

Fig. 12a: Seasonal down-core Eh ( $\pm$ SD) profile at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Redox potential (mV) -300 -250 -200 -150 -100 -50 0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Fig. 12b: Seasonal down-core Eh ( $\pm$ SD) profile at Divar where n=4 at each season


Fig. 13: Seasonal variation in dissolved oxygen (±SD) in the overlying water at Tuvem and Divar where n=4 at each season

4

post-monsoon. Similarly at the experimental site, higher concentrations were recorded during the post-monsoon season with average values ranging between 20.56 ( $\pm$ 3.07) at 6-8 cm to 32.05 ( $\pm$ 4.63) at 8-10 cm (Fig. 14b). NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> showed significant seasonal variability at the experimental site (p<0.001, df=2) while there was no significant variability at the control site. Between the two sites, a significant variation (p<0.05, df=1) was observed only during the monsoon and could be attributed to the variability observed at 0-2 cm (p<0.01, df=1).

Monthly variation in nitrite concentrations at both the sites varied widely with depth (Figs. 14c-d). At the control site the lowest concentration of 0.41 µmol NO<sub>2</sub>-N  $\Gamma^1$  was recorded at the surface during the post-monsoon while the highest concentration of 5.35 µmol NO<sub>2</sub>-N  $\Gamma^1$  was recorded at 4-6 cm during the same season. At the experimental site, similar nitrite concentrations varying between 0.41-6.42 µmol NO<sub>2</sub>-N  $\Gamma^1$  within the 0-10 cm depth range were observed. Seasonal averages have shown relatively higher nitrite concentration during the monsoon at the experimental site with up to 3.77 (±1.80) µmol NO<sub>2</sub>-N  $\Gamma^1$  at 2-4 cm. Average nitrite concentrations in the surficial sediments at the control site were relatively lower through the seasons as compared to the deeper layers. Inter-seasonal variability in NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration was observed only at the experimental site (p<0.001, df=2). Between the two sites, significant variation was observed only during the post-monsoon (p<0.04, df=1) caused due to variation in the nutrient concentration at 4-6 cm (p<0.01, df=4).

Nitrate concentration in mangrove sediments also varied with depth (Figs. 14e-f). Average values at the control site showed low nitrate concentration at all depths. At premonsoon, the concentration decreased with depth with an average value of 15.32 ( $\pm$ 12.65) µmol NO<sub>3</sub>-N  $\Gamma$ <sup>1</sup> at 0-2 cm to 7.66 ( $\pm$ 4.85) µmol NO<sub>3</sub>-N  $\Gamma$ <sup>1</sup> at 8-10 cm. The highest average pre-monsoon value of 13.35 ( $\pm$ 6.07) µmol NO<sub>3</sub>-N  $\Gamma$ <sup>1</sup> was recorded at 4-6 cm. The monsoon season significantly increased nitrate levels at the experimental site as compared to the non-monsoon seasons. Seasonal variability in nitrate concentrations were observed at the control (p<0.05, df=2) and experimental sites (p<0.001, df=2) sites. The monsoon season showed significant variation (p<0.001, df=1) between both the sampling locations.



Fig. 14a: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water ammonium (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Fig. 14b: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water ammonium (±SD) at Divar where n=4 at each season



Fig. 14c: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water nitrite (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Fig. 14d: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water nitrite (±SD) at Divar where n=4 at each season



Fig. 14e: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water nitrate (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season



Fig. 14f: Seasonal down-core variation of pore water nitrate (±SD) at Divar where n=4 at each season

## 4.2.3. Total organic carbon

Down-core variability in TOC for the different seasons are illustrated in figures 15a and b. TOC at the control site varied from  $1(\pm 0.05)$  % during the monsoon to 4.52 (±3.13) % at post-monsoon. These values were recorded at 4-6 cm depth. Similar trend was observed at the experimental site where TOC varied from  $1.65(\pm 1.37)$  at 4-6 cm during monsoon to 4.88 (±2.76) % at 2-4 cm during the post-monsoon. Seasonal variation in TOC was observed at the control (p<0.01, df=2) and experimental (p<0.01, df=2) sites. The monsoon season showed variability in TOC (p<0.01, df=1) content between both sites.

## 4.2.4. Iron and manganese concentration

The down-core variation of Fe and Mn during pre-monsoon, monsoon and post-monsoon seasons have been shown in Figs. 16a-d. Sediment Fe values at the control site ranged from 4.5% at 0-2 cm to 9.3% at 4-6 cm during the post-monsoon. Seasonal variation in Fe was observed only at the experimental site (p<0.001, df=2) with highest Fe content of up to 30% at 8-10 cm during the pre-monsoon. Variation in Fe between both sampling locations was observed during all the three seasons i.e. pre-monsoon (p<0.001, df=1), monsoon (p<0.001, df=1) and post-monsoon (p<0.001, df=1).

Highest Mn content of 0.9 ( $\pm$ 1.0) % was recorded at 4-6 cm at the control site during the post-monsoon. At the experimental site, a maximum of 2.5 ( $\pm$ 1.9) % was recorded at 6-8 cm during the monsoon. Seasonal variation in Mn content was observed at only the experimental site (p<0.01, df=2). Between the two sites, variation in Mn was observed only during the pre-monsoon (p<0.0001, df=1) and monsoon (p<0.01, df=1).

## 4.3. Bacteriological parameters

## 4.3.1. Total bacterial counts

Total bacterial cells (TC) in the Tuvem sediments ranged from  $3.35 \times 10^9$  to  $3.37 \times 10^{10}$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> while at Divar it varied from  $3.16 \times 10^9$  to  $5.82 \times 10^{10}$  cells g<sup>-1</sup>. Generally, the cell number was marginally higher at 4-6 cm as compared to the surface. Irrespective of the depth, the abundance pattern showed considerable monthly variation. At Tuvem, cells number was high during April, June, July and September. However at Divar, high cell count was recorded during the months of May, June and July. Inter-seasonal variation in



Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon
0-2	0.80	0.28	0.85
2-4	1.43	0.46	1.43
4-6	2.88	0.05	3.13
6-8	2.91	0.41	2.75
8-10	2.66	0.40	2.02

Fig.	15a
------	-----



+

2

Fig.15b

TOC (%)

1

Φ

I

3

6

8

10

0

÷

Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD	
0-2	1.42	1.14	1.83	
2-4	2.16	1.33	2.76	
4-6	0.86	1.37	1.21	
6-8	1.63	1.51	1.23	
8-10	1.51	1.65	2.64	

Figs. 15a & b: Down-core variation in Total Organic Carbon (TOC) the Control (15a) and experimental site (15b) where o Pre Monsoon, + Monsoon and 
 Post Monsoon. SD values have been shown in adjacent tables

| 5

1

4



Control site: Tuvem						
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon <u>SD</u>	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD			
0-2	1.75	2.96	3.70			
2-4	2.97	2.36	1.87			
4-6	2.23	0.92	4.33			
6-8	1.23	1.03	2.26			
8-10	2.27	1.72	3.25			

Experimental site: Divar							
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD				
0-2	7.96	4.87	8.66				
2-4	7.14	6.10	10.36				
4-6	8.43	3.51	4.40				
6-8	8.57	2.38	6.00				
8-10	13.37	11.35	8.47				

Fi	2.1	6b
		~ ~

Figs. 16a & b: Down-core variation in Fe at the control (16a) and experimental site (16b) where o Pre monsoon, + Monsoon and 
Post monsoon. SD values have been shown in adjacent table



Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD
0-2	0.30	0.20	0.20
2-4	0.30	0.10	0.30
4-6	0.30	0.10	1.00
6-8	0.30	0.20	0.10
8-10	0.30	0.10	0.00

Experimental site: Divar							
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD				
0-2	1.20	1.50	0.40				
2-4	1.10	1.40	0.80				
4-6	0.40	0.60	0.20				
6-8	1.40	1.90	1.90				
8-10	0.70	1.50	1.40				

Fig.16d

Figs. 16c & d: Down-core variation in Mn at the control (16c) and experimental site (16d) where o Pre monsoon, + Monsoon and ■ Post monsoon. SD values have been shown in adjacent table



Figs. 16c & d: Down-core variation in Mn at the control (16c) and experimental site (16d) where o Pre monsoon, + Monsoon and 
Post monsoon. SD values have been shown in adjacent table

•

bacterial cells was observed at the control (p<0.001, df=2) and experimental site (p<0.05, df=2). Cell number was maximum during the monsoon at both the sites with higher density at 4-6 cm depth (Figs. 17a-b). No significant seasonal variation in cell abundance was observed between the two sites.

## 4.3.2. Heterotrophic counts

The abundance of total heterotrophic bacteria (THB) in mangrove sediments varied from  $10^{2-5}$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup>. At the control site, their abundance averaged between  $10^{4-5}$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> with a maximum at 2-4 cm. Their abundance was non-detectable at depth  $\geq 4$  cm during December. A maximum abundance of  $8.48 \times 10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at 2-4 cm depth during February. Though THB abundance was higher during the post-monsoon (Fig. 18a), no inter-seasonal variability in their abundance was observed at either location.

At the experimental site, heterotrophic abundance averaged between  $10^{3-5}$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> decreasing steadily with depth. On a monthly basis, their abundance varied from  $3.77 \times 10^2$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> at 6-8 cm in November to  $3.83 \times 10^5$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> at 2-4 cm in January. Lower abundance was observed during the monsoon as compared to the non-monsoon period (Fig. 18b). Between the two sites, variation in THB abundance was observed during the monsoon (p<0.03, df=1).

## 4.3.3. Nitrate reducing bacteria

The nitrate reducers (NRB) were one order lower than the heterotrophs averaging between  $10^{2.4}$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup>. Their abundance was higher between 2-6 cm at both the study sites. Average NRB abundance at the control site varied from  $1.37 \times 10^3$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> at 8-10 cm during the post-monsoon to  $1.38 \times 10^4$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> at 0-2 cm during the pre-monsoon. Inter-seasonal variation in NRB abundance was observed at the control (p<0.001, df=2) and experimental (p<0.001, df=2) site. Their abundance at the experimental site Divar was one order higher during the pre-monsoon as compared to the monsoon season at both study sites (Figs. 19a-b). Between the sites, NRB abundance varied significantly during the monsoon (p<0.01, df=1).



Fig. 17a: Seasonal variation in total bacterial counts at Tuvem. Standard deviation values have been shown in table below.



Fig. 17b: Seasonal variation in total bacterial counts at Divar. SD values have been shown below.

	Tuvem			Divar		
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD
0-2	0.65	0.76	0.40	1.41	1.16	0.22
2-4	0.92	0.57	0.28	0.43	0.65	0.30
4-6	0.77	0.77	0.46	0.34	2.33	0.19
6-8	1.27	0.96	0.69	0.50	1.23	2.00
8-10	0.51	0.40	0.59	1.58	1.51	2.32



Fig. 18a: Seasonal variation in heterotrophic abundance at Tuvem. SD values have been shown below.



Fig. 18b: Seasonal variation in heterotrophic abundance at Divar. SD values have been shown below.

	Tuvem			Divar		
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon _SD	Post-monsoon SD	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD
0-2	0.94	0.34	0.89	0.66	0.30	1.20
2-4	4.09	0.58	2.99	0.92	0.35	1.85
4-6	1.04	0.72	0.30	0.96	0.39	0.13
6-8	2.25	0.57	0.34	0.15	0.23	0.31
8-10	2.33	1.07	2.18	0.54	0.38	0.03



Fig. 19a: Seasonal variation in abundance of heterotrophic nitrate reducing bacteria (NRB) at Tuvem. SD values have been shown below.



Fig. 19b: Seasonal variation in abundance of heterotrophic nitrate reducing bacteria (NRB) at Divar. SD values have been shown below.

	Tuvem			Divar		
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD
0-2	0.95	0.43	0.27	1.51	0.03	0.41
2-4	2.37	0.26	0.25	1.20	0.04	0.18
4-6	1.27	1.73	0.23	1.30	0.31	0.12
6-8	1.82	0.29	0.43	0.66	0.03	0.07
8-10	1.02	0.41	0.10	0.97	0.22	0.11

## 4.3.4. Denitrifier abundance

The denitrifiers were most abundant at 4-6 cm at both the sites investigated. Their abundance at the control site varied from  $6.17 \times 10^4$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> at 2-4 cm to  $1.87 \times 10^8$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> at 4-6 cm during the monsoon. Their abundance was stable during the pre and post-monsoon varying from  $10^{6-7}$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> while it increased to  $10^8$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> (at 4-8 cm) during the monsoon (Fig. 20a). However, no significant inter-seasonal variation in denitrifier abundance was observed.

At the experimental site too, no seasonal variation in denitrifier abundance was observed. Their abundance varied from  $2.34 \times 10^5$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> at 6-8 cm during the monsoon to 8.96  $\times 10^8$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> at 4-6 cm during the post-monsoon. Maximum denitrifier counts were recorded at 4-6 cm at all seasons (Fig. 20b). Comparative analysis between the two study sites showed no significant variation in denitrifier abundance during any of the 3 seasons.

## 4.4. Seasonal denitrification rates

DNT was higher at depths ≤4 cm at both the study sites (Figs. 21a-b). The activity was the highest at pre-monsoon at both the study sites. Between seasons, denitrification activity was significantly different at the control (p<0.001, df=2) and experimental sites (p<0.001, df=2). However, the maximum denitrification rate of 237.29 (±145.07) µmol  $N_2O-N m^{-2} h^{-1}$  at the control site was recorded at the surface while at the experimental site, a maximum of 235.21 ( $\pm 87.57$ ) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at the sub-surface (2-4 cm) during the pre-monsoon season. On the onset of the monsoon, DNT at the control and experimental site decreased to a maximum of 22.01 ( $\pm 9.55$ ) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup>  $h^{-1}$  and 23.86 (±1.45) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> respectively. At post-monsoon, DNT at the experimental site showed increased to 130.35 ( $\pm$ 7.62) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> compared to the control site where the rate remained steady at a maximum of 25.23 ( $\pm$ 3.80) µmol  $N_2$ O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. DNT at the control and experimental sites differed in the monsoon (p<0.001, df=1) and post-monsoon (p<0.001, df=1). The difference observed during the monsoon between the two sites could be attributed to the variability in activity observed at 4-6 (p<0.05, df=1), 6-8 (p<0.001, df=1) and 8-10 (p<0.05, df=1) cm. The difference observed during the post-monsoon between the two sites could be attributed to the



Fig. 20a: Seasonal variation in abundance of denitrifiers at Tuvem. SD values have been shown below.



Fig. 20b: Seasonal variation in abundance of denitrifiers at Divar. SD values have been shown below.

	Tuvem			Divar		
Depth (cm)	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon	Pre-monsoon SD	Monsoon SD	Post-monsoon SD
0-2	0.34	0.59	0.72	0.11	0.28	0.34
2-4	0.23	0.25	1.73	1.00	0.09	0.14
4-6	1.20	1.37	0.33	0.95	0.23	0.10
6-8	1.08	0.21	0.37	0.77	0.03	0.05
8-10	0.98	0.44	0.10	0.81	0.32	0.17



**Fig. 21a**: Seasonal down-core variation in denitrification activity (±SD) at Tuvem where n=4 at each season. Only negative SD bar for pre-monsoon value at 0-2 cm has been shown due to large variability.



Fig. 21b: Seasonal down-core variation in denitrification activity (±SD) at Divar where n=4 at each season. Only negative SD bar for pre-monsoon value at 2-4 cm has been shown due to large variability.

variability in activity observed at 0-2 cm (p<0.01, df=1), 2-4 (p<0.001, df=1), 4-6 (p<0.01, df=1) and 8-10 (p<0.05, df=1) cm.

## 4.5. Statistical analysis

## 4.5.1. Factors controlling denitrification

The collective effect of different environmental factors on denitrification at the control (Table 4a) and experimental sites (Table 4b) were evaluated by multiple linear regression analyses. A predictive model to determine denitrification rates was done using 13 essential parameters which gave the best regression equation (Table 5). The regression equation has been derived on the assumption that the observed values would repeat for two annual cycles without variation for purpose of multiple regression analysis.

## 4.5.2. Factors controlling denitrifier abundance

Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to examine the relationships of environmental variables on denitrifiers in mangrove sediments. Generally, denitrifier abundance decreased with depth mainly at the experimental site as evident from an inverse relationship with depth. At the control site, their abundance was found to increase with depth only during the monsoon (Figs. 22a-c).

At the experimental site, metals (Fe and Mn) were negatively correlated to denitrifiers especially during the monsoon season (Figs. 23a-c). However, this relationship with Fe was not evident during the pre-monsoon and post-monsoon. About 22% of the variation in denitrifiers were brought about due to the variation in NRB (n=15; r=0.46; p<0.05) during the pre-monsoon.

Multiple regression analysis was also used to assess the combined effect of environmental variables on denitrifier abundance in mangrove sediments. Metals mainly Mn was an important parameter influencing denitrifiers at the both the locations (Tables 6a-b). The influence of manganese on denitrifier abundance was persistent throughout the year except during the monsoon where  $NO_2^-$  was seen to influence the bacterial forms at Tuvem.

Table 4a:	Results of multiple	regression an	alysis of a	selected	parameters	which	influence
1							
	denitrification at th	e control site	Tuvem				

Pre-monsoon										
R=.960851	R= .96085115 R <sup>2</sup> = .92323494, F(8,21)=31.570, p<.00000, Std. Error of estimate: 44.261									
	Coefficient B	Std. Err. of B	p-level	Semi part.	Order of influence					
Intercept	1847.487	471.386	7.88E-04							
Fe	-126.500	11.719	5.00E-10	-0.653						
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	72.023	15.614	1.50E-04	0.279						
Eh	-I.114	0.190	7.96E-06	-0.355						
NH₄⁺	13.142	2.208	6.59E-06	0.360	$Fe > NH_4^+ > Eh > NO_3^- > NO_2^- > Mn > TC$					
NO <sub>3</sub>	19.744	3.655	2.33E-05	0.327						
Mn	-455.996	132.941	2.51E-03	-0.207						
TC	-113.697	46.829	2.43E-02	-0.147						
TOC	-16.342	12.126	1.92E-01	-0.081						
		E(11.1.0) 01	Mon	soon	1					
R= .996239	67, R <sup>2</sup> = .99249347	, F(11,18)=210 Std Err of	5.36, p<.00000	Std. Error of e	stimate: .93926					
	B	B	p-level	Cor.	Order of influence					
Intercept	-53.995	19.162	1.14E-02							
Denitrifiers	-1.270	0.290	3.63E-04	-0.089						
NH₄⁺	1.106	0.050	1.90 <b>E-</b> 14	0.449						
THB	-19.393	1.208	4.10E-12	-0.328						
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	-8.719	0.696	2.53E-10	-0.256	$NH_4^+$ >THB> $NO_2^-$ >TC>TOC> $NO_3^-$					
NO3	1.014	0.129	3.13E-07	0.161	>Mn>Eh>Denitrifiers>NKB>pH					
TC	15.288	1.700	4.46E-08	0.184						
TOC	<b>13</b> .134	1.635	2.31E-07	0.164						
Mn	-23.602	3.205	7.80E-07	-0.150						
Eh	-0.025	0.005	5.18E-05	-0.108						
			Post-n	ionsoon						
R= .836692	268, R <sup>2</sup> = .70005463	, F(5,24)=11.	203, p<.00001	Std. Error of es	stimate: 4.9938					
	Coefficient B	Std. Err. of B	p-level	Semi part Cor.	Order of influence					
Intercept	24.785	74.969	7.44E-01							
NO <sub>3</sub>	-0.806	0.250	3.65E-03	-0.360						
pН	-35.157	6.803	2.72E-05	-0.578	HATHRANO. TO ANPP					
THB	2.644	0.69 <b>7</b>	8.83E-04	0.424						
TC	18.232	6.959	1.50E-02	0.293						
NRB	5.439	2.369	3.07E-02	0.257						

Table 4b: Results of multiple regression analysis of selected parameters which influence

denitrification at the experimental site Divar

,

			Pre-	monsoon						
R=.93130013	R=.93130013, R <sup>2</sup> =.86731993, F(11,18)=10.697, p<.00001, Std. Error of estimate: 35.464									
	В	Std. Err. of B	p-level	Semi part Cor.	Order of influence					
Intercept	423.273	1053.619	6.93E-01							
Fe	8.763	7.198	2.39E-01	0.105						
TOC	142.330	21.445	3.14E-06	0.570						
NRB	186.567	38.600	1.33E-04	0.415						
Mn	766.597	249.908	6.63E-03	0.263						
Denitrifiers	96.937	69.154	1.78E-01	0.120	TOC>NRB>pH>TC>Mn> NO2					
pН	-221.613	62.063	2.18E-03	-0.307						
Eh	0.026	0.153	8.68E-01	0.014						
TC	-193.410	60. <b>67</b> 5	5.10E-03	-0.274						
NO <sub>2</sub>	-53.917	20.712	1.80E-02	-0.223	i.					
NH₄ <sup>+</sup>	4.383	2.706	1.23E-01	0.139						

	Monsoon									
R= .95596427	R=.95596427, R <sup>2</sup> =.91386769, F(10,19)=20.159, p<.00000, Std. Error of estimate: 2.4820									
	В	Std. Err. of B	p-level	Semi part Cor.	Order of influence					
Intercept	-356.771	182.682	6.57E-02							
NO <sub>3</sub>	1.407	0.256	2.64E-05	0.370						
Eh	0.073	0.067	2.92E-01	0.0 <b>73</b>						
Mn	-11.599	4.324	1.47E-02	-0.181						
тнв	-10.583	2.153	9.61E-05	-0.331						
NRB	30.941	7.053	3.17E-04	0.295	NO3 >THB>NRB>TC>Mn>Denitrifiers> NO2					
TC	23.191	8.413	1.26E-02	0.186						
NO <sub>2</sub>	-1.566	0.724	4.36E-02	-0.146						
Denitrifiers	-8.399	3.537	2.82E-02	-0.160						
pН	24.485	14.569	1.09E-01	0.113						
TOC	-3.157	3,043	3.13E-01	-0.070						

	Post-monsoon									
R=.99339908	R=.99339908, R <sup>2</sup> =.98684173, F(12,17)=106.25, p<.00000, Std. Error of estimate: 6.7716									
	В	Std. Err. of B	p-level	Semi part Cor.	Order of influence					
Intercept	-173.057	155.370	2.81E-01							
Mn	-122.250	13.707	8.06E-08	-0.248						
Fe	15.066	2.415	9.01E-06	0.174						
TOC	-2.630	8.816	7.69E-01	-0.008						
ТНВ	-12.518	6.194	5.93E-02	-0.056						
тС	35.736	5.238	2.97E-06	0.190						
Eh	-0.377	0.045	2.21E-07	-0.231	$Mn \geq En \geq 1 \leq Pre \geq NRB \geq Nn_4 \geq NO_3$ >Denitrifiers>THB					
NRB	55.079	9.037	1.19E-05	0.170	> Demanders, Milb					
NO <sub>2</sub> -	3.562	2.205	1.25E-01	0.045						
NH₄⁺	-3.666	0.962	1.40E-03	-0.106						
NO <sub>3</sub>	1.338	0.452	8.78E-03	0.082						
Denitrifiers	-24,570	9.428	1.85E-02	-0.073						
pH	-12.603	12.024	3.09E-01	-0.029						

Location	Season	Multiple regression model
		$DNT = 1847.487 - 126.50 * Fe + 72.02 * NO_2 - 1.114 *$
Control site:	Pre-monsoon	Eh + 13.142 * NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> + 19.744 * NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> - 455.996 * Mn -
Tuvem		113.697 * TC - 16.342 * TOC
	7	$DNT = -53.994 - 1.27 * Denitrifiers + 1.106 * NH_4^+ -$
	Monsoon	19.393 * THB - 8.719 * NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> + 1.014 * NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> + 15.287 *
		TC + 13.133 * TOC - 23.601 * Mn - 0.025 * Eh + 8.594
		* NRB - 4.621 * pH
	Post-	$DNT = 24.785 - 0.805 * NO_3^{-} - 35.156 * pH + 2.644 *$
	monsoon	THB + 18.232 * TC + 5.439 * NRB
		DNT = 423.27 + 8.763 * Fe + 142.330 * TOC + 186.567
Experimental	Dra moncoon	* NRB + 766.597 * Mn + 96.937 * Denitrifiers - 221.613
site: Divar	r re-monsoon	* pH + 0.026 * Eh - 193.410 * TC - 53.917 * NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> +
		4.383 * NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> + 45.427 * THB
		DNT = -356.771 + 1.407 * NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> + 0.073 * Eh -11.599 *
	Managan	Mn - 10.583 * THB + 30.941 * NRB + 23.191 * TC -
	Monsoon	1.566 * NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> - 8.399 * Denitrifiers + 24.458 * pH - 3.157
		* TOC
	Post-	DNT = -173.057 - 122.250 * Mn + 15.066 * Fe - 2.630 *
	monsoon	TOC -12.518 * THB + 35.736 * TC - $0.377$ * Eh + 55.079 * NBB + 3.562 * NO $^{-}$ - 3.666 * NH $^{+}$ + 1.338 *
	monsoon	$NO_3 - 24.570 * Denitrifiers - 12.603 * pH$

**Table 5**: The best multiple regression models obtained were:

where DNT = denitrification rate ( $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>); NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>N & NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>N= concentration in  $\mu$ mol L<sup>-1</sup>; Fe & Mn = concentration in %; TC= total bacterial cells; THB = total heterotrophic bacteria; NRB = nitrate reducing bacteria. All bacterial parameters have been log<sub>10</sub> transformed.





Figures 22a-c: Factors influencing denitrifiers during pre-monsoon (Fig. 22a), monsoon (Fig. 22b) and postmonsoon (Fig. 22c) at the control site. Corresponding r values have been shown at each node. Significant correlations have been highlighted in the key denoted above. Variables DNT = denitrification activity; TC= total bacterial cells; THB = total heterotrophic bacteria; NRB = nitrate reducing bacteria. All bacterial parameters have been log<sub>10</sub> transformed before analysis.





Fig. 23b



Fig. 23c



Table 6a: Results of multiple regression analysis of selected parameters which influence

denitrifier abundance at the control site Tuvem:

,

Pre-monso	on: Tuvem				
R=.373052	79, R²= .13916839	, F(1,28)=4.526	7, p<.04231, Std. E	rror of estimate	e: .57084
	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence
Intercept	8.451	0.677	5.75E-13		Ma
Mn	-2.963	1.393	4.23E-02	-0:373	iviti
Monsoon: 7	Tuvem				
R=.879665	33, R <sup>2</sup> = .77381109	9, F(6,23)=13.11	4, p<.00000, Std. E	rror of estimat	e: .77607
	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence
Intercept	47.474	8.772	1.69E-05		
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	2.099	0.277	1.09E-07	0.751	
TOC	-2.420	0.590	4.33E-04	-0.407	
pН	-5.338	1.163	1.29E-04	-0,455	NO <sub>2</sub> '>pH>TOC>Eh> NO <sub>3</sub> '>Fe
Fe	-0.452	0.176	1.71E-02	-0.255	
Eh	0.005	0.002	3.49E-03	0.323	
NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup>	-0.159	0.060	1.47E-02	-0.261	
D	· · · · · ·				
Post-mons	00 <b>n: 1 uvem</b>	D E(( 22)-22 2(	7 00000 844 5		12209
K940929	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence
Intercept	7.0 <b>7</b> 7	0.321	5.58E-17		
Mn	2.076	0.181	5.37E-11	0.769	
Fe	-0.214	0.049	2.11E-04	-0.295	
NH₄⁺	0.029	0.008	1.10E-03	0.250	$Mn > Fe > NH_4^+ > NO_2^- > NO_3^- > EP$
NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	-0.171	0.061	9.85E-03	-0.189	
NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup>	0.047	0.020	2.49E-02	0.161	
Eh	-0.002	0.001	3.68E-02	-0.149	

Table 6b: Results of multiple regression analysis of selected parameters which influence

denitrifier abundance at the experimental site Divar:

Pre-monsoon: Divar									
R=.987414	113, R <sup>2</sup> = .9749866	6, F(6,23)=14	9.42, p<.00000,	Std. Error of est	imate: .14357				
	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence				
Intercept	11.171	1.344	2.21E-08						
Mn	-3.633	0.136	8.51E-19	-0.879					
Fe	-0.106	0.010	4.22E-10	-0.340					
pН	0.583	0.186	4.68E-03	0.103	$Mn>Fe>pH>Eh>NO_2>NH_4^+$				
Eh	-0.001	0.000	2.97E-02	-0.076					
NO <sub>2</sub>	-0.084	0.043	6.16E-02	-0.065					
NH₄⁺	0.010	0.007	1.89E-01	0.045					

### Monsoon: Divar

R= .99983274, R<sup>2</sup>= .99966550, F(7,22)=9392.7, p<0.0000, Std. Error of estimate: .02114

٩	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence
Intercept	8.149	0.274	2.94E-19		
Mn	-2.005	0.009	4.64E-38	-0.839	
Fe	0.162	0.003	1.60E-24	0.203	
NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup>	0.011	0.002	3.45E-05	0.020	
$NO_2^-$	-0.046	0.006	1.93E-07	-0.029	MII-re- NO2 -EI- NO3 -pri
Eh	-0.001	0.000	1.60E-06	-0.025	
pН	0.088	0.039	3.64E-02	0.009	
NH4 <sup>+</sup>	-0.003	0.002	1.15E-01	-0.006	

### Post-monsoon: Divar

## R=.98449229, R<sup>2</sup>=.96922507, F(7,22)=98.981, p<.00000, Std. Error of estimate: .16884

	Coefficient B	Std. Err. Of B	Semi part. Cor.	p-level	Order of influence
Intercept	12.080	0.981	2.43E-11		
Mn	-1.475	0.083	1.48E-14	-0.666	
pH	-0.124	0.161	4.46E-01	-0.029	
NH₄⁺	-0.089	0.009	1.46E-09	-0.370	MONTOON NU TOES NO IN NO I
TOC	0.855	0.080	3.30E-10	0.401	MI-10C- MI4 -re- NO3 - NO2
Fe	-0.187	0.025	2.13E-07	-0.277	
NO <sub>3</sub> .	0.021	0.007	7.39E-03	0.110	
NO <sub>2</sub>	-0.083	0.037	3.57E-02	-0.084	

## **SECTION II – Laboratory experiments**

## 4.6. Nitrous oxide production

## 4.6. 1. Physico-chemical characteristics

The mangrove sediments were acidic in nature with pH ranging from 5.80-6.16 (Table 7). Sediment redox potentials were consistently low, in the range of  $-27.8(\pm 0.9)$  to  $-6(\pm 16.45)$  mV at Tuvem while the Divar sediments exhibited the lowest redox potential of  $-5.7(\pm 25.10)$  at a depth of 8-10 cm.

Pore water had a measurable nutrient content which varied widely with depth. Up to  $15.15(\pm 3.43) \mu mol NH_4^+$ -N l<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at 8-10 cm at Tuvem while  $31.34(\pm 1.83)$  was recorded at Divar at a depth of 6-8 cm. Nitrite and nitrate concentration generally increased with depth with up to  $11.69(\pm 0.83) \mu mol NO_2^-$ -N l<sup>-1</sup> and  $14.17(\pm 0.43) \mu mol NO_3^-$ -N l<sup>-1</sup> at Tuvem. Low nitrate levels and increase in nitrite concentration were observed at Divar. Up to  $14.20(\pm 0.08) \mu mol NO_2^-$ -N l<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at a depth of 6-8 cm. Total organic carbon at Tuvem varied from 2.13-4.54% while at Divar it ranged between 2.45-3.99%.

## 4.6. 2. Net nitrous oxide production, denitrification rate and N<sub>2</sub>O production by denitrifiers

Nitrous oxide production was significantly different (two-tailed t-test, P = 0.003, n = 15) at both the locations and varied with depth. At Tuvem, a steady decrease in N<sub>2</sub>O production with depth was observed. Highest production of 7.98 (±1.23) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at 0-2 cm (Fig. 24). At the deepest layer investigated (8-10 cm), net N<sub>2</sub>O production decreased to a minimum of 1.39 (±0.23) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. At Divar, the 2-4 cm layer showed maximum N<sub>2</sub>O production at a rate of 22.00 (±13.53) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

A denitrification maxima of 25.23 (±3.80)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was observed at 2-4 cm (Fig. 25). DNT was otherwise relatively homogenous up to a depth of 8 cm with a rate of 15.27(±2.15)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at the surface to 13.61(±0.41)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 6-8 cm. At the deepest layer, DNT decreased to 9.61(±2.85)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

In presence of a nitrification inhibitor, denitrifiers produced a maximum of  $14.25(\pm 8.34) \mu mol N_2O-N m^{-2} h^{-1}$  at 0-2 cm (Fig. 26). Incomplete denitrification (<sup>I</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O)

Table	7:	Variation	in	the	average	values	of	physico-chemical	parameters	(n=15)	at
		Tuvem ar	nd I	Diva	r						

.

Location: T	uvem	, ,				
Depth	pН	Eh	NH4 <sup>+</sup> -N	NO <sub>2</sub> -N	NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N	TOC
(cm)		(mV)	(µmol l <sup>-1</sup> )	(µmol 1 <sup>-1</sup> )	(µmol l <sup>-1</sup> )	(%)
0-2	5.84(±0.2)	-27.8(±0.9)	14.73(±4.42)	4.53(±0.13)	10.44(±0.42)	2.13(±0.71)
2-4	5.97(±0.2)	-23.2(±7.39)	15.02(±1.36)	8.59(±0.33)	9.86(±0.37)	2.85(±1.44)
4-6	6.06(±0.6)	-9.5(±15.06)	7.82(±1.45)	8.12(±0.12)	10.94(±0.61)	4.54(±2.86)
6-8	6.04(±0.6)	-6(±16.45)	12.03(±0.82)	10.89(±0.64)	14.17(±0.43)	4.43(±2.82)
8-10	6.16(±0.5)	-6.3(±14.54)	15.15(±3.43)	11.69(±0.83)	11.45(±0.01)	3.97(±2.72)
Location: I	Divar					
0-2	5.88(±0.3)	115(±64.7)	15.69 (±3.40)	7.18(±0.01)	4.62(±0.67)	2.94(±1.57)
2-4	5.80(±0.1)	94.3(±62.6)	15.96 (±2.01)	4.08(±0.19)	4.25(±0.20)	3.99(±2.15)
4-6	5.99(±0.1)	93.5(±45.18)	23.82(±2.27)	6.63(±0.65)	9.31(±0.16)	2.45(±1.04)
6-8	6.03(±0.1)	50.8(±61.38)	31.34(±1.83)	14.20(±0.08)	10.08(±0.16)	3.29(±1.70)
8-10	6.05(±0.04)	-5.7(±25.10)	22.10(±3.97)	8.07(±0.28)	10.01(±0.26)	3.07(±1.77)

.

was responsible for 43-93% (Fig. 27) of the N<sub>2</sub>O production of which about 13-52% (net N<sub>2</sub>O/DNT\*100) of the N<sub>2</sub>O produced through denitrification. N<sub>2</sub>O production through nitrification ( $^{N}N_{2}O$ ) was below detection.

## 4.6. 3. Denitrifier abundance

The cultivation based technique yielded up to  $10^7$  denitrifiers g<sup>-1</sup> sediment. Their abundance was maximum at 4-6 cm (7.14x10<sup>7</sup> cells g<sup>-1</sup>) as compared to the other sections of the core where their number was relatively stable. The denitrifiers significantly influenced (Table 8) nitrous oxide production in these sediments (r= 0.55; p<0.05). They also showed an inverse relationship with pore water ammonium (r= -0.57; p<0.05) and nitrite (r= -0.55; p<0.05) concentrations.

## 4.6. 4. Environmental factors influencing N<sub>2</sub>O production

Inter-relationships of nitrous oxide production rates with physico-chemical parameters at Tuvem showed an inverse relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O production and pore water nitrite concentration (n=15; r= -0.47; p<0.05). Up to 32% variation in gas production was negatively influenced by sediment pH (r= -0.57; p<0.05). Even though the relationship between nitrous oxide concentration and total organic carbon was poor, a positive relationship existed between these parameters.

Principal component analysis (PCA) on sediment variables resulted in four main components explaining nearly 80% of the total variance (Table 9). The first component in the correlation plot (Fig. 28) explained 29% of the observed variance. A forward regression of the reductive processes in the N cycle (DNT and N<sub>2</sub>O production) was observed in the first component. Sediment pH, denitrifier abundance and nitrite significantly influenced this component (Table 10). The second component explained about 22% of the variance with pore water nitrate and organic carbon concentrations correlating strongly with this component. The third component correlated with pore water ammonium and denitrification activity and explained 16% of the variation. The only most significant variable in the fourth component was sediment redox potential and explained 12% of the variation.

Variable 1	Variable 2	r value*
N <sub>2</sub> O production	pH	-0.57
N <sub>2</sub> O production	Nitrite	-0.47
N <sub>2</sub> O production	Denitrifiers	0.55

.

,

Table 8: Correlation between sediment variables at Tuvem

Correlation significant at 0.05 probability level

2

Eigenvalue	% Total	Cumulative	Cumulative
	variance	Eigenvalue	%
2.64	29.31	2.64	29.31
2.02	22.48	4.66	51.79
1.46	16.27	6.12	68.05
1.05	11.71	7.18	<b>,</b> 79.76

**Table 9**: Eigenvalues of correlation matrix and related statistics

,

.

# Table 10: Results of principal component analysis of sediment variables and nitrous oxide production

Variable	Component 1	Component 2	Component 3	Component 4
N <sub>2</sub> O				
production	$0.856^{*}$	0.124	0.206	0.266
pH	-0.597*	-0.391	-0.541	0.134
Eh	-0.215	0.438	0.106	0.828*
Ammonium	-0.453	-0.420	$0.640^{*}$	0.164
Nitrite	-0.687*	0.649	0.093	-0.004
Nitrate	-0.395	0.665*	-0.367	0.027
Denitrifiers	$0.730^{*}$	-0.023	-0.496	0.326
TOC	0.369	0.779*	0.286	-0.330
DNT	0.021	0.133	-0.487*	-0.189

Correlation significant at 0.05 probability level; TOC= Total organic carbon, DNT=Denitrification rate



,

Fig. 24: Net nitrous oxide production (±SD) in the Tuvem and Divar mangrove sediments



Fig. 25: Denitrification rate (±SD) at Tuvem



Fig.26: Nitrous oxide production (±SD) by denitrifiers under nitrification inhibited conditions at Tuvem



Fig.27: Percentage of nitrous oxide produced through incomplete denitrification



Fig. 28: Correlation plot from standardized principal component analysis (PCA) on sediment variables. Variables DNT= denitrification rate measured by C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub> inhibition technique, N<sub>2</sub>O production= Net N<sub>2</sub>O produced from nitrification + denitrification, TOC=total organic carbon. Eigenvalues of correlation matrix and related statistics are as follows:

Eigenvalue	% Total	Cumulative	Cumulative
	variance	Eigenvalue	%
2.64	29.31	2.64	29.31
2.02	22.48	4.66	51.79
1.46	16.27	6.12	68.05
1.05	11.71	7.18	79.76

## 4.7. Denitrification and other co-occurring processes

## 4.7.1. Grain size

Analysis of sand, silt and clay percentage in mangrove sediments (0-10 cm depth) depicts sediment texture dominated by sand which contributes to the extent of 43-79%. A comparison between the two mangrove ecosystems indicates that at Divar (Table 11) sand forms a major component ( $\geq$ 70%) of the sediment with percentage of silt and clay composing only up to 28%. At Tuvem, the percentage of silt and clay was higher at 32% and 22% respectively.

## 4.7.2. Total organic carbon and nutrient analyses

Down-core total organic carbon (TOC) profiles at Divar and Tuvem showed 2 patterns corresponding to the 6 first centimeters (0-6 cm) and the remaining 4 cm (6-10 cm). For Divar, a general increase of TOC with depth appeared for the first 6 cm whereas in Tuvem TOC content was relatively stable (1.19-1.23%) for these layers at Tuvem. TOC content at 6-10 cm was similar at both sites, i.e. a decrease with depth (Fig. 29).

Down-core nutrient profiles at Divar exhibited an overall decreasing trend with depth. Sediment extractable ammonium concentration at the surface was about 2.22 mmol which steadily decreased to 1.21 mmol at 8-10 cm depth (Fig. 30). Ammonium concentrations at Tuvem however showed an opposite trend, starting with 1.1 mmol and increasing with depth. A maximum of 1.60 mmol was observed at 8-10 cm.

At Tuvem, nitrite and nitrate concentrations decreased with depth and a maxima was observed at 2-4 cm with 7.55  $\mu$ mol and 36.62  $\mu$ mol (Fig. 31a) respectively. Similarly at Divar, nitrite concentrations in the pore water decreased from 14.45 at the surface to 4.96  $\mu$ mol at the deeper layer while nitrate varied from 19.90 at 0-2 cm to 2.63  $\mu$ mol at 8-10 cm (Fig. 31b).

## 4.7.3. Di-nitrogen fixation

Di-nitrogen fixing activity (Fig. 32) was detected only at Tuvem with maximum activity of 12.47 nmol  $N_2$  g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> occurring at 6-8 cm depth. At Divar, it was below detection limits.
	Location:	Tuvem		L	Location: Divar					
Depth	Sand	Silt	Clay	Sand	Silt	Clay				
(cm)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)				
0-2	48.42	32.02	16.31	70.14	16.69	11.59				
2-4	44.56	32.36	20.05	69.88	14.32	13.60				
4-6	43.07	32.45	20.10	72.88	12.37	12.71				
6-8	47.93	30.71	19.62	70.03	13.16	15.62				
8-10	44.16	31.86	22.54	79.31	8.68	10.50				
Texture	5	Silty sand			Sandy					

.

٠

Δ.

÷

 Table 11: Fractions of sand, silt and clay at various depths in mangrove sediment



Fig. 29: Down-core total organic carbon (±SD) profile at Tuvem and Divar.



Fig. 30: Down-core variation in sediment extractable ammonium (±SD) at Tuvem and Divar.







Fig. 31b

Figs. 31a-b: Down-core nitrate and nitrite concentration ( $\pm$ SD) profile for pore water in Tuvem (Fig. 31a) and Divar (Fig. 31b). Hatched bars represent NO<sub>2</sub> while NO<sub>3</sub> is represented by the dotted bar.

#### 4.7.4. Net nitrification

Though nitrification is assumed to be maximal under aerobic conditions, it was interesting to note that the deeper layers of mangrove sediments exhibited higher nitrification potential (Fig. 33). At Tuvem, nitrification rates were relatively higher at most depth layers tested varying between 4.05 nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$  at 6-8 cm to 13.78 nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$  at 8-10 cm. Net potential nitrification rates at Divar were homogenous from the surface up to 8 cm depth varying between 4.62-6.06 nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ . The activity at the deepest layer (8-10 cm) doubled to 13.43 nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ .

## 4.7.5. Nitrate reduction

Nitrate reducing activity (NRA) in mangrove sediments determined in sediment slurry incubation under micro aerophilic conditions revealed maximum NRA of 3.52  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 2-4 cm depth at Divar which consequently decreased with increasing depth (Fig. 34). At Tuvem, the trend was opposite with the deeper layers showing maximum activity. A maximum of 2.01  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was observed in Tuvem sediment at 8-10 cm depth. This rate however was comparatively lower than that observed at Divar.

#### 4.7.6. N<sub>2</sub> production through anammox and denitrification

Di-nitrogen production through anammox and denitrification was concomitantly determined. There was wide and statistically significant variation in denitrification activity between sampling stations ( $\alpha$ =0.05, p<0.01, n= 30) and sampling depth ( $\alpha$ =0.05, p<0.01, n= 30). The total N<sub>2</sub> production rates including denitrification and anammox were higher within the first 4 cm, and then decreased with depth except at Divar where the activity was slightly higher in the deeper layer. At Tuvem, the observed rate (Fig. 35a) in the upper layer was three fold lower (81 nmol N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) than that found for the same layer at Divar where N<sub>2</sub> production occurred at a rate of 224 nmol N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 35b). For both sampling stations denitrification was the main process leading to N<sub>2</sub> production and highest denitrification rates were observed in the two first layers.

The contribution of anammox was calculated according to mod.IPM. Anammox (Anx) activity was detected in mangrove sediments. Though the process was negligible in the upper layers (up to 8 cm) at Divar, it was found to be the major source of  $N_2$  in the deeper layer (8-10 cm) accounting for up to 101.15 nmol  $N_2$  g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (67% of total  $N_2$ 



Fig. 32: Down-core di-nitrogen fixation (±SD) profile at Tuvem. No activity was detectable at Divar.



Fig. 33: Down-core profile of net nitrification activity (±SD) at Tuvem and Divar



Fig. 34: Down-core variation in nitrate reduction activity (±SD) at Tuvem and Divar



Fig. 35a



Figs. 35a-b: Di-nitrogen production (±SD) profile from denitrification (hatched bar) and by anammox (full bar) at Tuvem (Fig. 35a) and Divar (Fig. 35b).

production at this layer). At Tuvem, although the process was detected at all depths investigated, it was relatively weaker (1.48-18.31 nmol N<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). Denitrification was the dominant process responsible for N-loss in mangrove sediments and correlated negatively with depth (n=9; r=-0.65; p<0.05).

We calculated a net nitrogen balance by differences between  $N_2$ -production via denitrification plus anammox and  $N_2$ -fixation (Fig. 36). Thus, there was a net  $N_2$  production from the sediments, leading to the loss of nitrogen from the mangrove ecosystem which is not compensated by the process of N-fixation.

## 4.7.7. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA)

<sup>15</sup>N labelling to measure DNRA showed a steady increase in <sup>15</sup>NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> over time at all depths investigated (Fig. 37) at both the sites. This process was responsible for 39% nitrate removal (100% NRA= 6.91  $\mu$ mol) at Divar with values varying from 0.38-0.67  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. At Tuvem, DNRA accounted for up to 65% NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> removal (100% NRA=6.97  $\mu$ mol) with a maximum rate of 1.25  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 2-4 cm.

#### 4.7.8. Net nitrous oxide production

N<sub>2</sub>O production in the Divar sediments decreased with depth from a maximum of 2.71 nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $g^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup> at the surface to 0.33 nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $g^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup> at 8-10 cm (Fig. 38). At the control site Tuvem, maximum N<sub>2</sub>O production occurred at 2-4 cm at a rate of 4.18 nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $g^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>.

## 4.7.9. Macrofaunal abundance

The mangrove sediments at Divar harbored a substantial macrofaunal population (Table 12) with a dominance of polychaetes (94%; 1376 no.  $m^{-2}$ ). The gastropods, oligochaetes and crustaceans formed the minor fraction of the community. Though less in abundance, the polychaetes were the dominant macrofauna (87%; 224 no.  $m^{-2}$ ) at Tuvem. Crustaceans were absent while the minor fraction of the community were represented by oligochaetes and crustaceans.

## 4.7.10. Abundance of denitrifying genes (nosZ)

Abundance of *nosZ* genes ranged from 0.1 to  $2 \times 10^7$  target copies g<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment. At Divar, the *nosZ* genes were well dispersed within the 0-10 cm core as compared to Tuvem where their abundance was maximum at 6-8 cm (Fig. 39).

77



Fig. 36: Down-core profile of di-nitrogen budget (di-nitrogen fixation minus di-nitrogen production (denitrification + anammox)) in mangrove sediments. Hatched bar= Tuvem and dotted bar= Divar sample.



Fig. 37: Down-core variation in dissimilatory reduction of nitrate to ammonium (+ Control site: Tuvem; ▲ Experimental site: Divar).



Fig. 38: Down-core variation in nitrous oxide production (+ Control site: Tuvem; ▲Experimental site: Divar)

Macrofaunal group	Density at Tuvem (nos. m <sup>-2</sup> )	Density at Divar (nos. m <sup>-2</sup> )
Polychaeta	224	1376
Oligochaeta	16	32
Crustacea	16	32
Gastropoda	-	16

~

5

٠

.

 Table 12: Abundance of major macrofaunal groups in mangrove sediments



Fig. 39: Down-core variation in the abundance of nosZ genes (±SD) at Tuvem and Divar

## 4.7.11. Environmental controls on denitrification

The Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was applied to the matrix of correlation coefficient between biotic and abiotic parameters (Fig. 40). The first three factors were taken into account which corresponded to 82.2% of total data variability. Factor 1 (PC 1) explains 38.2% of total data variability.  $D_{tot}$ ,  $N_2$  production as well as nitrite were positively correlated to the axis while  $N_2$  fixation was negatively correlated. The differences between sampling depths were clearly discriminated within the axis. Factor 2 (PC 2) explained 22.6% of data variability. The 4 top centimeters of Divar seems characterized by higher content in nitrate and higher  $N_2$  production that was mainly explained by denitrification rates. Anammox was negatively correlated to this axis. The deeper sampling depths (D3= 2-4 cm, D5=4-6 cm, D7=6-8 cm, D9=8-10 cm) at Divar were seen to cluster along with anammox activity.

## 4.8. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification

#### 4.8.1. Chemical analyses

The Divar sediments harbored a measurable pore water nitrate content which increased with depth (Fig. 41) ranging from 4.15 ( $\pm 0.21$ ) to 18.71 ( $\pm 0.28$ ) µmol. Down-core profiling of denitrification showed a sub-surface maxima at 2-4 cm with a rate of 20.08 µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (1.43 $\pm 0.66$  nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). High denitrification activity at 2-4 cm coincided with increased organic carbon availability at this depth which varied from 2.88% at 4-6 cm to 4.95% at 2-4 cm (Fig. 42). Labile organic matter also showed a similar distribution like TOC with maximum concentration at the sub-surface (2-4 cm) containing 0.68% LOM (Fig. 43).

Denitrification activity in mangrove sediments was monitored when subjected to a wide range of nitrate amendments (three times higher than ambient). Nitrate addition stimulated denitrification activity in all microcosms. Higher rates were observed especially at depth  $\leq$ 4 cm. Highest activity of 129.22 (±31.94) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 0-2 cm was observed at nitrate amendment of 40 µmol (Fig. 44). At depths >4 cm, the activity was less pronounced. Up to 46.54 (±4.77) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at a nitrate amendment of 20 µmol NO<sub>3</sub>-N l<sup>-1</sup> at 4-6 cm.

Organic carbon addition stimulated denitrification activity mostly at depths  $\geq$ 4 cm (Fig. 45). However, maximum activity of only 35.24 (±9.93) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was

Biplot (axes F1 and F2: 60.78 %)



Fig. 40: Principle component analysis (PCA) bi-plot of two sites (Divar (D) and Tuvem (T); sampled at 5 sampling levels- D1/T1=0-2 cm, D3/T3=2-4 cm, D5/T5=4-6 cm, D7/T7=6-8 cm, D9/T9= 8-10 cm) based on the biogeochemical parameters (nitrate, nitrite, ammonium, total organic carbon (TOC) and bacterial activities associated with nitrogen cycle: di-nitrogen fixation (Nif), denitrification (D<sub>tot</sub>), anammox (Anx). Eigenvalues for PCA are as follows:

	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3
Eigenvalue	3.439	2.031	1.931
Variability			
(%)	38.2	22.6	21.5
Cumulative			
%	38.215	60.777	82.236



Fig. 41: Down-core variation in pore water nitrate ( $\pm$ SD) at Divar



**Fig. 42**: Down-core variation in total organic carbon (TOC) (±SD) at Divar

•

Fig. 43: Down-core variation in labile organic matter (LOM) (±SD) at Divar



Fig. 44: Effect of nitrate addition on denitrification activity (±SD) in the Divar mangrove sediments.



Fig. 45: Effect of varying organic carbon ammendments on denitrification (±SD) in the Divar mangrove sediments

recorded at 4-6 cm depth. A 0.5% amendment of labile organic carbon (glucose) was found to effectively stimulate denitrification activity at all depths. Statistical analyses did not show significant increase in denitrification activity on organic carbon addition as compared to amendments with nitrate which showed significant increase (one way ANOVA; n=15; p<0.001) at all depths.

Potential denitrification rates decreased with depth and were 15-38 times higher (within 0-10 cm core) than the ambient when both nitrate and organic carbon were in excess. Highest activity of up to 304.09 (±47.6)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 46) was recorded at 2-4 cm. At 8-10 cm the activity decreased to 81.25 (±22.58)  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

## 4.9. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification

#### 4.9.1. Physico-chemical characteristics

The pH of the non-bioturbated core varied from 7.19 to 7.5 and decreased with depth (Fig. 47). The pH in bioturbated sediments was relatively lower varying from 6.54 at 4-6 cm to 7.02 at the surface. Though the redox potential in both the cores was similar at the surface (-58.6 mV), the non-bioturbated core was comparatively more reducing in nature than the faunated core at depth >6 cm (Fig. 48). A redox potential of -120.9 mV was recorded at 8-10 cm in the de-faunated core.

Nitrate content in the faunated core was generally higher as compared to the defaunated core and its concentration was found to increase with depth (Fig. 49) from  $9.41(\pm 0.17)$  µmol at the surface to  $22.85(\pm 1.28)$  µmol at 8-10 cm. In the de-faunated core, surficial nitrate content was 4 times lower than the faunated core with a maximum nitrate concentration of 17.41 (±4.81) µmol at 8-10 cm. Nitrite accumulation was observed in non-bioturbated conditions with up to 15.55 (±3.66) µmol at 2-4 cm (Fig 50). Nitrite concentration in the bioturbated core decreased with depth with a maximum of 4.49 (±0.54) µmol at the surface.

Denitrification activity was generally higher in the top few centimeters of the defaunated sediment reaching to a maximum of 0.37 ( $\pm$ 0.01) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 2-4 cm (Fig. 51). In the bioturbated core, high DNT was observed to occur from 2-6 cm with a similar rate as observed at 2-4 cm in the de-faunated core. Statistical analysis showed that

79



Fig. 46: Down-core variation in potential denitrification activity (±SD) in the Divar mangrove sediments



Fig. 48: Down-core variation in sediment redox potential



Fig. 49: Down-core variation in pore water nitrate (±SD) at Divar

Fig. 50: Down-core variation in pore water nitrite (±SD) at Divar





Fig. 51: Down-core variation in denitrification activity (±SD) in non-bioturbated and bioturbated conditions at Divar

bioturbation influenced DNT only at depth >4 cm (ANOVA, p<0.05, df=1). However, a linear regression showed that macrofauna accounted for only 18% of the variation in the denitrification activity ( $R^2=0.18$ ).

#### 4.9.2. Biological analyses

In natural sediment, denitrifier abundance ranged between  $10^{6-8}$  MPN cells g<sup>-1</sup> with maximum numbers at 4-6 cm (Fig. 52) which also exhibited elevated DNT activity at this depth. In de-faunated conditions, their abundance at the surface (0-2 cm) was same as that of the faunated core and decreased rapidly by up to two orders with increasing depth.

Down-core profile of macrofaunal abundance showed that they varied from 375 ind.  $m^{-2}$  at the surface to non-detectable levels at 8-10 cm. About 88% of the infauna were present up to a depth of 6 cm beyond which their density declined (Table 13). Polychaetes (*Neries* spp.) and oligochaetes represented the dominant macrofauna in the Divar sediments. The density of polychaetes was highest at the surface (0-2 cm) while the oligochaetes were most abundant at 4-6 cm with a density of 300 ind.  $m^{-2}$ . Crabs of *Uca* spp. were retrieved from a depth of 6-8 cm. Some of the macrofaunal forms have been shown in Figs. 53a-c.



Fig. 52: Down-core variation in denitrifier abundance in non-bioturbated and bioturbated conditions at Divar

.

Depth (cm)	Species	Density (nos. m <sup>-2</sup> )
0-2	Nereis	150
	Oligochaeta	150
	Uca spp.	75
2-4	Nereis	75
	Jasminera spp.	75
	Nemertina spp.	75
	Uca spp.	75
4-6	Oligochaeta	300
	Polychaeta	
	(Family:Euricidae)	75
6-8	Nemertina spp.	75
	Uca spp.	75
8-10		Not detected

Table 13: Down-core variation in macrofaunal abundance at Divar

,









**Figs. 53a-c**: Anterior portion of *Jasminera* spp. (a), *Neries* spp. (b) (5X magnification on *Zeiss* Axioskop 2 Plus microscope) and *Uca* spp. (c) from the Divar sediments.

# **SECTION III – Denitrifier diversity**

#### 4.10.1. Taxonomic identification of culturable denitrifiers

At the control site Tuvem, gram negative denitrifiers comprised majority (68%) of the denitrifying bacteria. Of the 50 denitrifier strains isolated, only 32% were gram positive (Table 14a). All the isolates were opaque, had smooth surfaces and were generally 0.5-1 mm in size. All strains tested positive for nitrate reduction and N<sub>2</sub>O production while H<sub>2</sub>S production was not detected. About 88% of the isolates were catalase positive while only 26% tested positive for oxidase. The cell morphologically varied from short to curved rods. A number of cocci were also recorded. A total of 21 different genera were identified based on physiological and biochemical tests. Culturable denitrifiers isolated from the control site showed close taxonomic affinities to *Acinetobacter, Paracoccus* belonging to Alphaproteobacteria, *Bordetella* of Betaproteobacteria, *E. coli, Serratia, Alteromonas, Shigella, Pseudomonas, Aeromonas, Vibrio, Halomonas, Klebsiella, Pantoea, Enterogenes, Ewingella* all belonging to class Gammaproteobacteria, *Microococcus* and *Corynebacterium* of Actinobacteria, *Salinicoccus, Staphylococcus, Bacillus* and *Marinococcus* of class Bacilli (Table 14b).

At the experimental site Divar, colonies of all 76 isolates had smooth surfaces (Table 15a) and were about 0.5-2.5 mm in size. Except for 3 translucent strains, the rest were opaque. N<sub>2</sub>O production was detected in all isolates while only 3 isolates tested positive for H<sub>2</sub>S production. A total of 19 different genera were identified (Table 15b). Denitrifiers at the experimental site were represented by the genera Acinetobacter of class Alphaproteobacteria, Alcaligenes of Betaproteobacteria, Aeromonas, Alteromonas, Enterobacter, Halomonas, Kluyvera, Proteus, Serratia, Vibrio, Yersinia of class Gammaproteobacteria, Planococcus, Bacillus, Marinococcus, Salinococcus, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus belonging to class Bacilli and Micrococcus belonging to class Actinobacteria. Up to 43% of culturable denitrifiers belonged to Gammaproteobacteria.

		Size	Colour	Gram character	Cell shape	Catalase	Oxidase	OF test	Motility	N <sub>2</sub> O production
0.2	Tuv 1	Medium	Cream	- Crain character	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
0-2		Small	Cream	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+ .
0-2	$T_{\rm UV}$ 3	Small	White		Cocci	+	-	-	+	· +
0-2	$Tuv_{4}$	Medium	White	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
0-2		Small	White	~	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
0-2	$Tuv_{-}$	Small	Cream	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
0-2	$T_{\rm UV} = 7$	Medium	Cream	-	Rods	+	-	+	-	+
0.2	Tuv_7	Medium	Cream	+	Cocci	+	-	+	-	+
0-2	$Tuv_0$	Medium	White	-	Short rods	+	-	-	+	+
0-2	Tuv 10	Small	White	-	Cocci	+	+	-	-	+
0-2	$Tuv_{10}$	Small	White	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
0-2	$Tuv_1$	Medium	Yellow	+	Cocci	+	-	+	-	+
0-2	$Tuv_{12}$	Small	Yellow	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
0-2	$Tuv_{14}$	Small	Yellow	+	Cocci	+	-	-	-	+
2-4	Tuy 15	Large	Cream	+	Rods	+	-	-	-	+
2-4	Tuv 16	Small	Cream	-	Rods	-	-	+	+	+
2-4	$T_{\rm HV} = 17$	Small	Cream	+	Rods	+	-	+	-	+
2.4	Tuy 18	Medium	Yellow	-	Short rods	+	-	+	+	+
2-4	Tuv 19	Small	Yellow	-	Curved rod	+	-	+	+	+
2-4	Tuv 20	Large	Orange	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
2-4	Tuv 21	Medium	Orange	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
2-4	Tuv 22	Medium	Yellow	+	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
2.4	Tuv 23	Small	Yellow	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
2 · 4-6	Tuv 24	Large	Cream	-	Curved rod	+	-	+	+	+
4-6	Tuv 25	Medium	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	÷	+	+
4-6	Tuv 26	Small	Cream	-	Rods	+	+	-	+	+
4-6	Tuv 27	Large	Cream	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
4-6	Tuv 28	Large	Cream	-	Rods	+	-	+	-	+
4-6	Tuv 29	Medium	Cream	-	Short rods	+	+	+	+	+
4-6	Tuy 30	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	+	+	-	-	+

•

-.

Table 14a: Tests for identification of denitrifiers at the control site Tuvem

## Table 14a contd...

i.

~

								OF		N <sub>2</sub> O
Depth	ID no.	Size	Colour	Gram character	Cell shape	Catalase	Oxidase	test	Motility	production
4-6	Tuv_31	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	-	+	+
4-6	Tuv_32	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	+	-	-	-	+
<b>8-1</b> 0	Tuv_33	Medium	White	-	Rods	-	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv_34	Small	White	-	Cocci	-	-	+	+	+
<b>8-1</b> 0	Tuv_35	Small	White	-	Cocci	-	-	+	+	+
8-10		Small	White	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10		Small	White	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv_38	Medium	Yellow	-	Rods	+	-	-	+	+
8-10	Tuv_39	Small	Yellow	-	Rods	+	-	-	+	+
8-10	<b>Tuv</b> 40	Small	Cream	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv 41	Small	White	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv 42	Small	White	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv 43	Small	White	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	 Tuv 44	Small	Cream	•	Rods	-	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv_45	Small	Cream	-	Rods	-	-	+	+	+
8-10	_ Tuv_46	Medium	Pink	-	Cocci	+	-	+	÷	+
8-10		Small	Pink	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv 48	Small	Pink	+	Cocci	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	_ Tuv 49	Medium	Yellow	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
8-10	Tuv 50	Small	White	-	Curved rod	+	- ·	+	+	+

Note: Size classification of colonies: 0.5-1 mm= small; 1-1.5 mm= medium and 1.5-2 mm= large. Surface of all isolates smooth and the colonies were opaque.

ID no.	Citrate utilization	Lysine	Orninthine	Urease	TDA	Glucose	Adonitol	Lactose	Arabinose	Sorbitol	NO3 <sup>-</sup> reduction	H <sub>2</sub> S production	Genus	Class
Tuv_1	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	E. coli	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv_2	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv_3	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Alteromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 4	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 5	-	+	+	+	•	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
_ Tuv 6	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 7	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	_ **	Shigella	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv_8	-	+	-	+	_	+	· +	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 9	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	Acinetobacter	α - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+		Paracoccus	α - Proteobacteria
_ Tuv 11	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Marinococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 12	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 13	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	Marinococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 14	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Co <b>r</b> ynebacterium	Actinobacteria
	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 17	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	, Corynebacterium	Actinobacteria
Tuv 18	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Pseudomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
- Tuv 19	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Pseudomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Se <b>r</b> ratia	γ - Proteobacteria
- Tuv 22	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	· _	Bacillus	Bacilli
- Tuv 23	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 24	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 25	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Halo <b>m</b> onas	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 26	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	Acinetobacter	α - Proteobacteria
Tuv 27	-	-	-	-	-	+ .	+	+	+	+	+	-	Enterogenes	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 28	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Klebsiella	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 29	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Halomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 30	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	Salinicoccus	Bacilli

Table 14b: Biochemical tests for identification of denitrifiers at the control site Tuvem

Table 14b contd...

ID no.	Citrate utilization	Lysine	Orninthine	Urease	TDA	Glucose	Adonitol	Lactose	Arabinose	Sorbitol	NO3 <sup>-</sup> reduction	H <sub>2</sub> S production	Genus	Class
Tuv 31	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Bordetella	β- Proteobacteria
- Tuv 32	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
 Tuv 33	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-	Pantoea	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-	Pantoea	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	-		-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-	Pantoea	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 36	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 37	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+		Staphylococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 38	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	· +	+	-	Bordetella	β- Proteobacteria
Tuv 39	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Bordetella	β- Proteobacteria
	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	Acinetobacter	α - Proteobacteria
Tuv 41	-	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
- Tuv 42	-	+	-	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
- Tuv 43	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	E. coli	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 44	+	+	-		-	+	-	+	-	-	+	-	Ewingella	γ - Proteobacteria
Tuv 45	+	+	-	-		+	-	+	-	-	+	-	Ewingella	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	. +	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
- Tuv 47	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Sťaphylococcus	Bacilli
Tuv 48	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
- Tuv 49	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
		+	+	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria

# Table 15a contd..

ŗ

ς.

ID no.	Depth	Size	Colour	Gram character	Cell shape	Oxidase	Catalase	OF test	Motility	N <sub>2</sub> O production
DIV 35	4-6	Small	Cream	-	Short rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 36	4-6	Small	Cream	-	Rods	+	-	+	+	+
DIV 37	4-6	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	-	+	+	· +	+
DIV 38	4-6	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 39	4-6	Small	White	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 40	4-6	Small	White	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 41	4-6	Small	White	-	Rods	-	+	+	+	+
DIV 42	4-6	Small	White	-	Rods	-	+	+	+	+
DIV 43	4-6	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV 44	4-6	Medium	White	-	Rods	+	+	· -	+	+
DIV 45	4-6	Small	White	-	Rods	+	+	-	+	+
DIV 46	4-6	Small	White	-	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 47	4-6	Small	White	+	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 48	4-6	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 49	4-6	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 50	4-6	Small	Yellow	+	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 51	4-6	Small	Cream	· +	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_52	4-6	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_53	6-8	Large	Yellow	-	Curved rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_54	6-8	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_55	6-8	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
$DIV_{56}$	6-8	Small	Cream	-	Rods	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_57	6-8	Medium	Cream	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV 58	6-8	Small	Yellow	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_59	6-8	Small	Yellow	-	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_60	6-8	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_61	6-8	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	-	-	+
DIV_62	6-8	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	-	-	-	+
DIV_63	8-10	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_64	8-10	Medium	Cream	· -	Rods	+	+	+	+	+
DIV_65	8-10	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	-	-	•	-	+
DIV_66	8-10	Small	Cream	-	Cocci	-	-	+	+	+
DIV_67	8-10	Small	Cream	+	Cocci	+	+	+	-	+
DIV 68	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+

# Table 15a contd..

.

ς.

ID no.	Depth	Size	Colour	Gram character	Cell shape	Oxidase	Catalase	OF test	Motility	N <sub>2</sub> O production
DIV_69	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_70	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_71	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_72	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_73	8-10	Small	White	+	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_74	8-10	Medium	White	-	Cocci	-	+	-	+	+
DIV_75	8-10	Small	Yellow	-	Cocci	-	+	+	+	+
DIV_76	8-10	Small	Yellow	-	Rods	-	+	+	+	+

Note: Size classification of colonies: 0.5-1 mm= small; 1-1.5 mm= medium and 1.5-2 mm= large. Surface of all isolates were smooth. Except for isolate numbers DIV\_10, 11 and 12 all the rest were opaque.

ID no.	Citrate	Lysine	Orninthine	Urease	TDA	Glucose	Adonitol	Lactose	Arabinose	Sorbitol	NO <sub>3</sub> reduction	H <sub>2</sub> S production	Genus	Class
DIV 1	+	-	-	~	-	+	•	-		-	+	-	Vibrio	y - Proteobacteria
DIV 2	+	+	+	v	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 3	v	v	-	-	-	+	-	. ν	+	-	+	+	Aeromonas	y - Proteobacteria
DIV 4	v	+	v	-	v	+	-	v	-	-	+		Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	v	-	+	v	-	-	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 6	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Enterobacter	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	Marinococcus	Bacilli
DIV 8	+	+	+	v	-	+	v	-	-	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 9	+	-	-	•	-	+	-	-	~	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 10	-	+	+	_	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Marinococcus	Bacilli
DIV 11	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
DIV 12	+	+	+	-	_	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
DIV 13	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 14	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 15	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 16	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
DIV 17	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+ .	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
DIV 18	+	-	-	-	-	+	~	-	-	-	+	-	Bacillus	Bacilli
DIV 19	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Proteus	y - Proteobacteria
DIV 20	+	+	+	-	v	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 21	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	v	-		+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 22		+	-	-	ND	v	v	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 23	-	+	v	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 24	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	~	-	-	+	-	Planococcus	Bacilli
DIV 25	+	~	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 26	· +	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 27	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
DIV 28	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 29	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 30	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
	+	+	+	~	-	+	-	-	~	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 32	+	+	+	v	-	+	v	-	-	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV_32	-	+	v	-	-	+	-	-	-		+	+	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV 34	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria

Table 15b: Biochemical tests for identification of denitrifiers at the experimental site Divar

Table 15b contd..

-	ID no.	Citrate utilization	Lysine	Orninthine	Urease	TDA	Glucose	Adonitol	Lactose	Arabinose	Sorbitol	NO3 <sup>-</sup> reduction	H <sub>2</sub> S production	Genus	, Class
-	DIV 35	-	+	+		-	-	•	-	• •	-	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 36	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	v	+	• · · ·	Kluyvera	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 37	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 38	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Halomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 39	-	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 40	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 41	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 42		-	-	-	-	+	-	-	+	-	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 43	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 44	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 45	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 46	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Halomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 47	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 48	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 49	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 50	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 51	-	-	-		-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 52	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	Halomonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 53	-	+	-	-	ND	v	-		-	-	+	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 54	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	-	Acinetobacter	α - Proteobacteria
	DIV 55	+	-	-		-	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	Alcaligenes	β - Proteobacteria
	DIV 56	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Aeromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 57	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 58		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Vibrio	γ - Proteobacteria
	DIV 59	+	-	-		-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Serratia	y - Proteobacteria
	DIV 60		-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 61	+	+	+		-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Micrococcus	Actinobacteria
	DIV 62	+	+	+	-	ND	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Streptococcus	Bacilli
	DIV 63	+	-	-	ND	-	+	-	+	+	-	+	-	Alcaligenes	β - Proteobacteria
	DIV 64	+	+	+	-	-	•	-	+	-	-	+	-	Aeromonas	y - Proteobacteria
														Acinetobacter	α - Proteobacteria
	<b>DIV_65</b>	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	Moraxella grp I	<b>D</b>
	DIV_66	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	Alteromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
~	DIV_67	-	-	-			+	+	+	+	+	+		Salinicoccus	Bacilli

.
Table 15b contd..

.

ID no.	Citrate utilization	Lysine	Orninthine	Urease	TDA	Glucose	Adonitol	Lactose	Arabinose	Sorbitol	NO <sub>3</sub> reduction	H <sub>2</sub> S production	Genus	Class
DIV 68			-			+	+	+	+	+	+	~	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
DIV 69	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
DIV 70		-	-	_	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
DIV_70	-	_	_	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
	-	-		_	-	+	_	_	_	-	+	-	Staphylococcus	Bacilli
DIV_72	-	+	- L	-	-	4	-	-		+	+	_	Stanhylococcus	Bacilli
DIV_73	-	+	-	-	•	L	-	-	т Т	, +	, +	_	Alteromonas	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV_74	-	÷	-	-	•	т ,	Ŧ			-, L	, _	-	Varsinia	γ - Proteobacteria
DIV_75	-	-	+	-	-	+		+	+	+	<i>τ</i>	-	Tersinia	v - Proteobacteria
DIV_76		-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	+	+	+	+	+	+		Serralla	1 1101000000000000

Note: V= variable; ND= No data

#### 4.10.2. Functional diversity of denitrifiers

The main component of the *nosZ* community was analysed by DGGE. Clear difference in DGGE banding pattern was visible between sediment retrieved from Divar and Tuvem (Fig. 54). Partial *nosZ* gene sequences for nitrous oxide reductase from the present study belonged to uncultured marine bacteria. Although some of the bands have been observed at both the sites, a prominent band BT1 was observed at Tuvem at all depths investigated. This band was also found to be in the Divar sediment mainly within 0-6 cm. Its sequence fell within the Gammaproteobacteria *nosZ* cluster and showed 96.5% similarity with *Shewanella loihica nosZ* (Fig. 55). Three more major bands were observed at Divar, BD1, BD2 and BD3. Band BD1 was more prominent until 6 cm depth while the other two bands BD2 and BD3 were observed at all depths. BD2 and BD3 could be seen at Tuvem. From comparison with *nosZ* of cultured strains, BD2 was clustered within the Betaproteobacterial *nosZ* and showed 62% similarity to *Ralstonia eutropha nosZ*. BD3 and BD1 were grouped within Alphaproteobacterial *nosZ* cluster and showed 77% and 74% similarity to *Silicibacter pomeroyi nosZ* and *Azospirillum brasilense nosZ* respectively.

#### 4.10.3. Bacterial diversity in mangrove sediments

More than 23,000 bacterial V6 amplicons were sequenced from the two sites-Tuvem and Divar. The average read length of the sequences were 60.73 ( $\pm$ 2.63) bp. Taxonomic analysis revealed differences in community composition between the two sites. Among the 32 phyla identified, phylum Proteobacteria was the most dominant contributing  $\approx$ 46% of the total V6 tags. Up to 22 and 18% of the bacterial community at Tuvem and Divar respectively remained unidentified at a class level. Deltaproteobacteria was the next most dominant class in the Tuvem sediments forming 21% of the total tags. At Divar the Gammaproteobacteria were the dominant forms at 18% followed by Deltaproteobacteria and Actinobacteria at 15%. The order Desulfobacterales dominated (Fig. 56a) the Tuvem sediments at 10% whereas at Divar they formed only 8% (Fig. 56b). Percentage wise Phylum\_Class\_Order distribution for taxonomically assigned tags that occurred  $\leq$ 100 times (minor orders) has been tabulated in Tables (16a-b).



Fig. 54: nosZ DGGE profiles for mangrove sediments. Lanes 1-5 represent samples retrieved at every 2 cm interval within the 0-10 cm depth range at Divar while lane 6-10 represent samples from Tuvem. a= band BD1, b=BD2; c=BD3; d=BT1.



Fig. 55: Neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree incorporating nosZ genes from BD1, BD2, BD3 & BT1.
Bootstrap analyses (1000 replications) were conducted and values greater than 700 are indicated in the nodes. Bar, 0.05 change per nucleotide position.

# Bacterial taxonomy at Tuvem Total tags: 8030

٤,



- 852 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfobacterales
- 495 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria unknow n
- 384 Acidobacteria Acidobacteria Acidobacteriales
- 339 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria unknow n
- 236 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfuromonadales
- 204 Firmicutes Clostridia Clostridiales
- 182 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Myxococcales
- 165 Thermomicrobia unknow n unknow n
- 148 Proteobacteria unknow n unknow n
- 131 Acidobacteria unknow n unknow n
- 118 Chloroflexi Caldilineae Caldilineales
- 117 Firmicutes Bacilli Bacillales
- 102 Chloroflexi unknow n unknow n
- 100 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Syntrophobacterales

- 840 Bacteria unknow n unknow n
- 444 Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria unknow n
- 356 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Actinomy cetales
- □ 319 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhizobiales
- 224 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhodobacterales
- 203 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Rubrobacterales
- 165 Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Chromatiales
- 163 Bacteroidetes unknow n unknow n
- □ 132 Planctomycetes Planctomycetacia Planctomycetales
- □ 125 Bacteroidetes Bacteroidia Bacteroidales
- 117 Bacteroidetes Flavobacteria Flavobacteriales
- 110 Chloroflexi Anaerolineae unknow n
- 102 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Sphingomonadales
- 1157 Other
- Fig. 56a: Taxonomic breakdown of bacterial V6 tags at Tuvem. Pie charts show the Phylum\_Class\_Order distribution for taxonomically assigned tags that occurred more than 100 times; the remaining tag sequences are grouped into "Other." Numbers denote total tags recorded.

# Bacterial taxonomy at Divar Total tags: 15326



- 1541 Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria unknow n
- 1260 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfobacterales
- 1013 Bacteria unknow n unknow n
- 637 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhizobiales
- 526 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Actinomy cetales
- □ 448 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria unknow n
- 336 Planctomycetes Planctomycetacia Planctomycetales
- 304 Thermomicrobia unknow n unknow n
- 294 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Myxococcales
- 266 Chloroflexi Caldilineae Caldilineales
- a 209 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Sphingomonadales
- 176 Firmicutes Clostridia Clostridiales
- 169 Firmicutes Bacilli Bacillales
- 167 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Syntrophobacterales
- 140 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria unknow n
- 1342 Other

- 1347 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria unknow n
- 1131 Acidobacteria Acidobacteria Acidobacteriales
- 681 Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Chromatiales
- 565 Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhodobacterales
- 476 Proteobacteria unknow n unknow n
- 358 Bacteroidetes Sphingobacteria Sphingobacteriales
- 314 Chloroflexi Anaerolineae unknow n
- 303 Bacteroidetes Flavobacteria Flavobacteriales
- 279 Acidobacteria unknow n unknow n
- 231 Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Rubrobacterales
- 198 Germatimonadetes unknow n unknow n
- 173 Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfuromonadales
- 167 Bacteroidetes unknow n unknow n
- 147 Verrucomicrobia Verrucomicrobiae Verrucomicrobiales
- 128 Chloroflexi unknow n unknow n

Fig. 56b: Taxonomic breakdown of bacterial V6 tags at Divar. Pie charts show the Phylum\_Class\_Order distribution for taxonomically assigned tags that occurred more than 100 times; the remaining tag sequences are grouped into "Other." Numbers denote total tags recorded.

Table 16a: Taxonomic breakdown of bacterial V6 tags at Tuvem showing the<br/>Phylum\_Class\_Order percentage wise distribution (100%= 8030) for<br/>taxonomically assigned tags that occurred ≤100 times.

' Phylum Class Order	Tag occurrence
	(%)
Deferribacteres Deferribacteres Deferribacterales	1.00
verrucomicrobia verrucomicrobiae verrucomicrobiales	0.98
Bacteroidetes Sphingobacteria Sphingobacteriales	0.90
Chlorofiexi Anaerofineae Anaerofineales	0.83
Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria unknown	0.78
Gemmatimonadetes unknown unknown	0.76
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Alteromonadales	0.75
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Burkholderiales	0.61
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Acidimicrobiales	0.61
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria unknown	0.56
Chlorobi unknown unknown	0.54
WS3 unknown	0.45
Proteobacteria Epsilonproteobacteria Campylobacterales	0.44
Nitrospira Nitrospira Nitrospirales	0.37
Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhodospirillales	0.35
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Oceanospirillales	0.31
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Coriobacteriales	0.27
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Legionellales	0.26
Gemmatimonadetes Gemmatimonadetes Gemmatimonadales	0.24
Planctomycetes unknown unknown	0.24
Spirochaetes Spirochaetes Spirochaetales	0.24
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Rubrobacterales	0.22
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Methylococcales	0.20
Chlamydiae Chlamydiae Chlamydiales	0.19
Verrucomicrobia Spartobacteria Chthoniobacterales	0.17
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Rhodocyclales	0.14
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Pseudomonadales	0.14
OD1 unknown unknown	0.12
Chloroflexi Anaerolineae Caldilineaceae	0.11
Cyanobacteria True Cyanobacteria Unassigned	0.11
Cyanobacteria True Cyanobacteria unknown	0.10
Lentisphaerae unknown unknown	0.10
OP8 unknown unknown	0.10
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Enterobacteriales	< 0.1
Nitrospira unknown unknown	< 0.1
Lentisphaerae Lentisphaeria Victivallales	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Hydrogenophilales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Xanthomonadales	<0.1
Fusobacteria Fusobacteriales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Thiotrichales	<0.1
Spirochaetes unknown unknown	<0.1
Acidobacteria TM1 unknown	<0.1
Chloroflexi Dehalococcoidetes unknown	<0.1
Cyanobacteria unknown unknown	< 0.1

Phylum_Class_Order	Tag occurrence (%)
OP11 unknown unknown	<0.1
Profeobacteria Betaproteobacteria Neisseriales	< 0.1
TM7 unknown unknown	<0.1
Unassigned Ktedonobacteria unknown	< 0.1
Verrucomicrobia Opitutae Opitutales	< 0.1
BRC1 unknown unknown	< 0.1
Firmicutes Bacilli Lactobacillales	<0.1
Firmicutes unknown unknown	< 0.1
OP3 unknown unknown	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Nitrosomonadales	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfarculales	< 0.1
Acidobacteria Acidobacteria unknown	< 0.1
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Bifidobacteriales	< 0.1
Deinococcus-Thermus Deinococci Deinococcales	< 0.1
Fibrobacteres unknown unknown	< 0.1
Firmicutes Bacilli unknown	< 0.1
Firmicutes Erysipelotrichi Erysipelotrichales	< 0.1
OP10 unknown unknown	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Bdellovibrionales	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Pasteurellales	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Vibrionales	< 0.1

Table 16b:Taxonomic breakdown of bacterial V6 tags at Divar showing the<br/>Phylum\_Class\_Order percentage wise distribution (100%= 15326) for<br/>taxonomically assigned tags that occurred ≤100 times.

, Phylum_Class_Order	Tag occurrence
WS3 unknown unknown	0.59
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Oceanospirillales	0.57
Deferribacteres Deferribacteres Deferribacterales	0.54
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Alteromonadales	0.51
Chloroflexi Anaerolineae Anaerolineales	0.49
Bacteroidetes Bacteroidia Bacteroidales	0.45
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Acidimicrobiales	0.40
Chlamydiae Chlamydiae Chlamydiales	0.40
Lentisphaerae unknown unknown	0.39
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Methylococcales	0.38
Proteobacteria Epsilonproteobacteria Campylobacterales	0.37
Nitrospira Nitrospira Nitrospirales	0.29
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Burkholderiales	0.27
Chlorobi unknown	0.26
OD1 unknown unknown	0.25
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria unknown	0.25
Gemmatimonadetes Gemmatimonadetes Gemmatimonadales	0.23
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Legionellales	0.20
Spirochaetes Spirochaetes Spirochaetales	0.20
Cyanobacteria True Cyanobacteria unknown	0.16
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Enterobacteriales	0.14
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Coriobacteriales	0.11
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Vibrionales	0.11
OP11 unknown unknown	< 0.1
Chloroflexi Anaerolineae Caldilineaceae	< 0.1
Cyanobacteria True Cyanobacteria Unassigned	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Thiotrichales	< 0.1
Planctomycetes unknown unknown	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Rhodospirillales	< 0.1
Cyanobacteria unknown unknown	< 0.1
Fusobacteria Fusobacteria Fusobacteriales	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Pseudomonadales	< 0.1
Verrucomicrobia Spartobacteria Chthoniobacterales	< 0.1
Firmicutes unknown unknown	< 0.1
Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Bdellovibrionales	< 0.1
TM7 unknown unknown	< 0.1
Verrucomicrobia Opitutae Opitutales	< 0.1
Acidobacteria Acidobacteria unknown	< 0.1
Cvanobacteria True Cvanobacteria Pleurocapsales	<0.1
Firmicutes Bacilli Lactobacillales	<0.1
OP8 unknown unknown	<0.1
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Neisseriales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Betaproteobacteria Rhodocyclales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Deltaproteobacteria Desulfovibrionales	<0.1

Phylum_Class_Order	Tag occurrence (%)
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Bifidobacteriales	< 0.1
Lentisphaerae Lentisphaeria Victivallales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Pasteurellales	<0.1
Proteobacteria Gammaproteobacteria Salinisphaerales	< 0.1
Cyanobacteria True Cyanobacteria Chroococcales	< 0.1
Deinococcus-Thermus Deinococci Deinococcales	< 0.1
Lentisphaerae Lentisphaeria unknown	<0.1
Proteobacteria Alphaproteobacteria Caulobacterales	< 0.1
Thermomicrobia Thermomicrobia unknown	<0.1
Actinobacteria Actinobacteria Rubrobacterales	< 0.1
Nitrospira unknown unknown	< 0.1

Using the furthest neighbor assignment algorithm implemented in DOTUR, more than 2600 unique V6 tag sequences were recorded forming 1561 phylotypes at a distance of 3% (Table 17) at the control site Tuvem. Non-parametric statistical analysis estimates predicted the presence of 2166 phylotypes at Tuvem. At Divar, 24% of the total trimmed sequences were unique with 2198 operational taxonomic units (OTUs) while the predicted phylotypes were estimated to be ~3300. Similarly, species richness estimated by the Chao1 estimator was higher at Divar as compared to Tuvem. Phylogenetic classification of twenty most abundant clusters ( $\geq$ 97% similarity) at both the locations has been tabulated in (Table 18a-b). Rarefaction curves generated did not reach a curvilinear phase (Fig. 57).

	Tuvem	Divar	
DNA recovered from 0.25g dry	10.8	15.2	
sediment (ng/µl)	10.0		
Total number of bacterial V6 tag	12954	21433	
sequences	12954	21435	
Total number of trimmed	8020	15276	
bacterial V6 tag sequences	8030	15520	
Total number of unique sequences	2661	3707	
Total OTUs at 3% difference	1561	2198	
Chao1 estimator of richness at 3%	1099 1014 2076	2002 2068 2227	
difference, min, max	1988, 1914, 2070	3092, 2908, 3237	
ACE estimator of richness at 3%	21/( 212( 210)	2242 22(1 2420	
difference, min, max	2100, 2130, 2196	3342, 3261, 3429	
Simpson evenness index	0.0004	0.0004	

Table 17: Sequencing information and diversity estimates for all bacteria at the two sites

Note: Value under trimmed tags are the numbers of reads remaining after the removal of low-quality data. Values under unique sequences are the numbers of discrete sequences. Average read length of sequences was 60.73 (±2.63) bp.

	Dharline	Close	Order	Family	Occurrence per
Domain	Phylum	Class	Order	гашну	cluster (%)
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.96
	Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales		0.51
	Proteobacteria				0.45
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.38
	Proteobacteria	1	2		0.38
Bacteria					0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
Bacteria					0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
	Proteobacteria				0.32
Bacteria					0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
	Bacteroidetes	Sphingobacteria	Sphingobacteriales		0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.32
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.26
	Bacteroidetes	-			0.26
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.26
	Proteobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Desulfobacterales	Desulfobacteraceae	0.26

**Table 18a**: Phylogenetic classification of twenty most abundant clusters ( $\geq 97\%$  similarity) at Tuvem where total number of OTUs = 1561.

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Occurrence per
				cluster (%)
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.68
Proteobacteria				0.50
Acidobacteria	Acidobacteria	Acidobacteriales	Acidobacteriaceae	0.36
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.36
Proteobacteria		<i>2</i> 1		0.36
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.36
Acidobacteria	Acidobacteria	Acidobacteriales	Acidobacteriaceae	0.32
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.32
Bacteroidetes				0.32
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.32
Bacteroidetes				0.32
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.32
Bacteroidetes	-			0.27
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.27
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales		0.27
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.27
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Rikenellaceae	0.27
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.27
Bacteroidetes	-			0.27
Proteobacteria	Gammaproteobacteria			0.27

**Table 18b**: Phylogenetic classification of twenty most abundant clusters ( $\geq 97\%$  similarity) at Divar where total number of OTUs = 2198.



Fig. 57: Rarefaction curves based on 95 and 97% sequence similarity of sediment bacterial community at Tuvem (T) and Divar (D).

# Chapter 5 Discussion

,

# **Chapter 5. Discussion**

#### 5.1. Denitrification: process and controls

Estuarine sediments are locations for bacterially-mediated removal of anthropogenically derived inorganic nitrogen from the aquatic environment (Dong et al., 2009). Nitrate in particular serves as an electron acceptor for anaerobic oxidation of organic matter and is reduced to gaseous compounds like  $N_2O$  or  $N_2^{-}$  through the denitrification pathway. Denitrification is favorable under oxygen deficient conditions and is mediated by facultatively anaerobic bacteria. However, denitrification rates vary in different ecosystems and could be affected by the prevailing environmental conditions. There is a general lack of information on the environmental parameters affecting benthic denitrification in near-shore coastal ecosystems such as mangroves. Currently, data available on denitrification dynamics and the factors influencing the process in mangrove ecosystems are relatively few. Most of the studies in mangroves have focused on quantifying benthic denitrification rates (Rivera-Monroy et al., 1995; Meyer et al., 2005) to understand the potential use of mangroves in nitrate depuration (Corredor and Morell, 1994) or wastewater treatment (Nedwell, 1975). Chiu et al. (2004) have quantified denitrification and assessed the factors affecting the process in temperate mangrove sediment. In the present study, the seasonal down-core variation of denitrification (DNT) in sediments was investigated in two tropical mangrove ecosystems of Goa. Benthic DNT in these habitats was pre-dominant within 0-4 cm at all seasons and decreased further with depth at both the control site Tuvem and the experimental site Divar. This observation is in accordance to observations made by Chiu et al. (2004) who state that the N loss occurs primarily in the surface rather than in the rhizosphere sediment. Gas chromatographic measurements of DNT rates showed distinct seasonality with highest activity during the pre-monsoon season at both the study sites. Highest DNT activity of 237  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 0-2 cm was recorded at the control site Tuvem. A similar rate was recorded at 2-4 cm during the same season at Divar. Denitrification rates assayed by the acetylene block technique in other mangrove sediments have yielded average rates of 75  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Corredor and Morell, 1994) which are 3 times lower than observed in the present study.

The progressive increase in DNT activity from monsoon to pre-monsoon could be caused due to the variation in associated environmental parameters. In this investigation, multiple regression analysis was used to examine the biotic and abiotic parameters influencing DNT. The complexity of the process increased during the monsoon with a larger number of variables affecting DNT at the control site. The multiple regression model obtained is capable of describing about 99% of the overall variation in DNT rates  $(R^2 = 0.99)$  during the monsoon at the control site. The model was obtained on a seasonal basis for both the sites. The advent of the south-west monsoon results in a large input of fresh water into the estuaries causing considerable changes in the chemical characteristics of the aquatic system. A marked decrease in ambient salinity has been observed during this season. Runoff also results in addition of land-derived nutrients into the estuarine system as evident from the elevated pore water ammonium concentration in the surficial (0-4 cm) mangrove sediments. Among the variables positively influencing DNT during the monsoon,  $NH_4^+$  availability highly influenced DNT (p<0.0000, n=30) at the control site. As nitrate availability is relatively low at the control site during monsoon, DNT could be more closely linked to nitrification which oxidizes  $NH_4^+$  and thus serves as a major source of  $NO_3^-$  (Wang et al., 2003). At the experimental site Divar, DNT was influenced by the concentration of pore water  $NO_3^-$  (p<0.001, n=30) and NRB (p<0.0001, n=30). In anaerobic environments, availability of electron acceptor often limits DNT (Seitzinger, 1990). The experimental site, receives high extraneous nitrate input during the monsoon. Recently Divya et al., (2009) have shown that limno-tolerant bacteria are more actively involved reducing nitrate concentrations entering the Mandovi estuary particularly during the monsoon. In the present study, the heterotrophs and nitrate reducers influenced DNT during the monsoon suggesting that they could be important in reducing elevated nutrient levels in the system thereby counteracting eutrophication.

The post-monsoon marks a transition phase from highly dynamic conditions towards a period of stability. At the control site, a significant increase in pore water  $NO_3^$ concentration is observed during the post-monsoon. A shift in DNT regulation from  $NH_4^+$ modulated to  $NO_3^-$  dependent is observed during this season. Sediment pH negatively influenced DNT while bacterial parameters like heterotrophic bacteria and NRB were some of the prominent variables which positively govern DNT. During the post-

85

monsoon, organic carbon content was higher at depth >4 cm. Its degradation could result in acidic pH at these depths. Generally, the optimum pH for DNT is 7.0-7.5 (Thomas et al., 1994). In mangrove sediments, maximum DNT occurs towards more neutral pH which explains the inverse relationship of DNT with pH. As heterotrophs and NRB influence DNT, a heterotrophic mode of NO<sub>3</sub> respiration could be prevailing at Tuvem during the post-monsoon. At the experimental site, DNT activity increased approximately 5 times during the post-monsoon as compared to the monsoon season. Though NO<sub>3</sub>, NRB and denitrifiers influenced DNT, the process is largely controlled by metals i.e. Mn and Fe. Up to 24% Fe has been recorded at 2-4 cm during this season. The Divar ecosystem lies along the Mandovi estuary which has ferro-manganese mines located upstream. Runoff during the monsoon and subsequent mining activities (input of rejects, movement of Fe ore transporting barges, etc..) on the onset of the post-monsoon could be responsible for high Fe content in the sediments. Earlier studies by Krishnan et al. (2007) at the same location have shown that the 0-4 cm remains moderately contaminated by iron during the post-monsoon while it falls in the 'uncontaminated to moderately contaminated by iron' category during the pre-monsoon and monsoon season. Addition of Ferric ion (Fe<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>) has been shown to significantly accelerate nitrate utilization in the denitrifying strain Paracoccus pantotrophus P16 (Pintathong et al., 2009). Another denitrifying strain Pseudomonas denitrificans, can reduce nitrate and grow in the presence of Fe(0) (Till et al., 1998). Further, denitrification-based remediation studies on contaminated marine sediment samples have shown that autotrophic denitrification results in an increase of reducible fractions of metals (Shao et al., 2009). Mn<sup>2+</sup> oxidation by  $NO_3$  has also been reported to occur by Luther *et al.* (1997). Thus, nitrate respiration by denitrifiers using various potentials electron donors like metal ions could be important in reducing environmental pollution as the mangrove ecosystem shifts from heterotrophic to autotrophic based respiration.

More stable conditions were observed during the pre-monsoon with a fewer factors influencing DNT. The influence of metals (mainly Fe) on DNT was persistent during this season at both the study sites albeit negatively correlated. Iron concentration was found to increase with depth while DNT was maximum within 0-4 cm during this season. Bioturbating organisms viz., *Uca* crabs, polychaetes, etc.. are abundant in the

Divar region. Their burrowing action could be responsible for the downward advection of metals. Co-occurring processes like anoxic nitrification result in metal reduction (Hulth et al., 1999). The lower metal content in the surficial mangrove sediments could be attributed to reduction of Fe and Mn oxides and oxidation of NH4<sup>+</sup>. Krishnan and Loka Bharathi (2009) suggest that autotrophic nitrification could be important in mangrove sediments with higher metal content. As denitrification and nitrification operate in tandem (Rysgaard et al., 1993; Nielsen et al., 1996), metal immobilization could occur through the reductive phase of the N cycle while autotrophic nitrification could be responsible for an increase in reduced metal ions. Thus, a close coupling between metals and nitrogen redox cycle in mangrove sediments could be prevalent. The pre-monsoon is also marked by highest DNT activity compared to other seasons. The activity is positively influenced by the availability of inorganic nitrogenous compounds at the control site. At the experimental site, heterotrophic denitrification could be pre-dominant as organic carbon (p<0.05) and NRB (p<0.05) were some of the factors influencing the process. Organic C has significant effect in regulating DNT (Dodla et al., 2008) as denitrifying organisms oxidize organic matter under sub-oxic or anoxic conditions (Vance-Harris and Ingall, 2005). The mangrove sediments investigated have considerable organic carbon loading throughout the year. Thus, availability of substrates like organic C, NO<sub>3</sub>, oxygen-deficiency, etc. provide ideal conditions for heterotrophic denitrification to occur.

The present study reveals distinct seasonal DNT variability in the mangrove sediments of Goa with highest activity during the pre-monsoon. This variation is brought about by changes in the sediment chemistry and physiological groups of bacteria capable of denitrification. A large number of parameters influence DNT during the monsoon season especially at Tuvem. The complexity decreases progressively towards the non-monsoon period. The availability of inorganic nitrogenous substrates were also seen to limit DNT in these sediments. Generally, heterotrophic DNT prevails at the sites examined. However, during the post-monsoon, DNT at the experimental site is largely influenced by Mn and autotrophic mode of nitrate respiration could possibly exceed heterotrophy.

## 5.2. Factors influencing denitrifier abundance

Though maximum denitrification activity in mangrove sediments occurred within 0-4 cm, bacteria mediating the process were maximum at 4-6 cm indicating that activity is not a function of bacterial biomass. A similar trend in denitrifier distribution has been reported by Fan *et al.* (2006) in estuarine sediments with higher denitrifier aggregation of up to  $3.64 \times 10^4$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> at 5-7 cm whereas the activity was maximum at the surface. In the present study, up to  $10^8$  denitrifiers g<sup>-1</sup> have been recorded. The culturable fraction of this physiological group thus form up to 1% total bacterial population ( $10^{10}$  cells g<sup>-1</sup>) indicating that a large number of non-culturable forms from mangrove sediments could be actively involved in N transformations.

Some of the factors influencing the abundance and activity of denitrifiers are sediment nitrification (Stockenberg and Johnstone, 1997), nitrate availability (Seitzinger, 1990; Corredor and Morell, 1994; Kana *et al.*, 1998), organic carbon (Pfenning and Mc Mahon 1997; Mc Carty and Bremner, 1993; Ward *et al.*, 2008), sediment pH (Rust *et al.*, 2000; Simek *et al.*, 2002), oxygen concentration (Bonin and Raymond, 1990) and redox conditions (Lee and Joye, 2006). In the present study, statistical analysis revealed the influence of metals especially Mn on denitrifier abundance at both the sites investigated. Manganese and nitrate transformations appear to be linked in mangrove sediments. The correlation between denitrifiers and Mn was strongest during the post-monsoon at the

correlation between denitrifiers and Mn was strongest during the post-monsoon at the control site and was responsible for bringing about 43% variation (r=0.66, p<0.01, n=15) in denitrifier population. This could be indicative of the beneficial effect of denitrifiers on Mn removal. Nitrate or nitrite can couple their reduction to oxidants like Mn (II) (Oguz *et al.*, 2001) as described by Luther *et al.* (1997):

 $5Mn_2^- + 2NO_3^- + 8OH^- \longrightarrow 5MnO_2 + N_2 + 4H_2O$ 

Experiments using denitrifying cultures by Vandenabeele *et al.* (1995) have shown that Mn removal rate was 38% higher in the presence of nitrate and was accompanied by nitrite accumulation. In anaerobic sediments containing Mn or Fe oxides denitrifying organism (e.g. *Shewanella putrefaciens* MR-1) would will have a distinct advantage over other organisms by gaining energy from the use of Mn (IV) or Fe (III) as an electron acceptor (Myers and Nealson, 1990). Total bacterial counts also showed a positive relationship with denitrifiers (r=0.45; p<0.05; n=15) indicating that a large fraction of the bacterial population could be involved in DNT and consequently play and important role in altering the sediment chemistry.

At Divar, a strong negative relationship (r=-0.97, p<0.001, n=15) was observed between Mn and denitrifiers during the monsoon. During monsoon, Mn accumulation is observed at depths >6 cm whereas higher denitrifier abundance is seen at depths  $\leq$ 6 cm. The adjoining Mandovi estuary receives higher extraneously derived nitrate concentrations (Divya *et al.*, 2009) during this season. Thus, nitrate could be more important in governing denitrification during this period. Iron also showed a negative influence on denitrifiers during the monsoon. Though multiple regression analysis has indicated TOC as an important factor for denitrification (heterotrophic denitrification), the negative influence of metals on denitrifiers is suggestive of autotrophic denitrification to co-occur. Among the microbiological parameters, denitrifiers were significantly related to NRB (r=0.46; p<0.05; n=15) suggesting that heterotrophic nitrate reducers have the potential to completely denitrify NO<sub>3</sub> at Divar.

Among the various factors governing denitrifier abundance during the monsoon, nitrite (r=0.60; p<0.01; n=15) is the most important factor influencing the group at the control site whereas metals (Fe and Mn) were more important at the experimental site. During the monsoon, terrestrially-derived nutrient input increases in the estuaries and denitrifiers could be important in reducing elevated nitrate levels in the aquatic system. Nitrate reduction results in a formation of nitrite which is further reduced to N<sub>2</sub> through the denitrification pathway. Thus, Pearson's correlation as well as multiple regression analyses employed in the present study indicate that denitrifier abundance in mangrove sediments is largely influenced by metals mainly Mn at both the study sites. Nitrate reduction at the expense of metal ions could thus be a principal mode of respiration during this period.

### 5.3. Nitrous oxide production and it's origin

The marine environment is recognized as a net source of nitrous oxide to the atmosphere (Corredor et al., 1999). In the Indian Ocean region, high nitrous oxide emission has so far been reported within the oxygen minimum zones in the Arabian Sea (Naqvi et al., 2000; Bange et al., 2001). Estuarine sediments also play a significant role in the transformation of nitrogenous compounds leading to N<sub>2</sub>O production. In coastal ecosystems like mangroves, a substantial flux of nitrous oxide has been observed (Corredor et al., 1999; Muñoz-Hincapié et al. 2002; Kreuzwieser et al., 2003). Although Krithika et al., 2008 have reported benthic N<sub>2</sub>O flux to vary between 0.41 and 0.77  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in a South Indian mangrove system, not much is known on the net production or origin of the gas. Natural N<sub>2</sub>O production rates in estuarine sediments have been found to range from 0.1 to 8.5 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Wang et al., 2007). N<sub>2</sub>O production rates estimated from sediment slurry experiments in the present study revealed higher production of the gas especially in sediments prone to elevated nutrient supply. Benthic N<sub>2</sub>O production rates in the Divar sediments was up to 3 times higher than at the relatively pristine Tuvem varying between 6.41-22  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. At nitrate concentration of ~10-15  $\mu$ mol (*in situ* + ambient seawater used in medium). N<sub>2</sub>O production values observed in this study are in close range to those reported by Dong et al., (2002) from the anthropogenically influenced Colne estuary at similar NO<sub>3</sub> concentration. Intertidal rocky biofilms have also shown N<sub>2</sub>O production to occur at rate of up to  $17\pm6$  µmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Magalhaes *et al.*, 2005) which is close to values recorded in the present study. In mangrove sediments, microbial communities are capable of taking up large amounts of nitrate added to water system by sewage effluents (Corredor and Morell, 1994). Nutrient depuration occurs through the denitrification pathway and could possibly lead to evolution of greater amounts of nitrous oxide to the atmosphere. Pore water profiles have shown that the organically-rich Divar sediments are characterized by higher ammonium and nitrite content. Nitrite is an intermediate of both nitrification and denitrification and its concentration could be high when both the processes co-occur. Low nitrate concentration within 0-4 cm layer in the Divar sediments coincided with higher production of nitrous oxide and is indicative of elevated denitrification activity. Jørgensen (1989) has also shown that the denitrification capacity in estuarine sediments was always highest at the surface and declined with depth. Denitrification depends on the supply of nitrate by nitrification and the two processes are coupled (Klingensmith and Alexander, 1983). Denitrification activity could also be dependent on nitrate supply from the ambient water. The Divar mangrove ecosystem fringes the Mandovi estuary which receives high nutrient input through anthropogenic activities. This ecosystem could act as a buffer zone by reducing nutrient levels and maintaining the water quality of the estuary through the denitrification process. The percentage of nitrous oxide produced in the Divar sediments is much higher than at Tuvem highlighting that in ecosystems prone to extraneous nutrient input, denitrification could be an important process to counteract eutrophication. However, higher N loading could also have a detrimental effect on the environment through increased  $N_2O$ production and its consequent flux to the atmosphere.

Experiments to examine the major pathway for N<sub>2</sub>O production in the present study indicates that reducing habitats like mangroves are potential sites for denitrifying activity and incomplete denitrification (up to 93% at the surface) could contribute substantially to an increase in atmospheric  $N_2O$ . Studies by Robinson *et al.*, (1998) in hypernutrified estuarine sediments have also shown higher N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in the surface layer ( $\leq 2$  cm) attributing it to denitrification fuelled by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> availability. Similarly, Koike and Terauchi (1996) have also reported highest concentration of nitrous oxide at the top 1 cm in marine sediments. In this study, stratified sampling showed that benthic N<sub>2</sub>O production was found to generally decrease with depth. The flux of the radiative gas to the atmosphere would however be dependent on the diffusion coefficient and N<sub>2</sub>O consumption rates in the sediment layers it passes. A microsensor approach by Meyer et al., (2008) has shown that in sub-tropical mangrove sediments, N<sub>2</sub>O is produced through nitrification close to the surface while denitrification is responsible for its production in the deeper layers. In this study, measurements were carried out at every 2 cm intervals and not on a sub-millimeter scale unlike Meyer et al., (2008). Perhaps close grid sampling could have provided evidence on the contribution of nitrification to N<sub>2</sub>O production very close to the surface.

A number of factors are known to influence the production of nitrous oxide in marine sediments. Physical, chemical, biological and environmental factors like temperature, pH, sediment redox potential (Van Cleemput and Samater, 1996), organic C availability (Rosswell et al., 1989), nitrite concentration (Dong et al., 2002) and denitrifying communities play an important role in N<sub>2</sub>O production. Statistical analysis showed that pore water nutrient concentrations, organic carbon availability and denitrifiers were some of the important factors influencing the production of nitrous oxide in mangrove sediments. Degradation of sediment organic matter results in acidic conditions (pH=4.7-7.2). Sediments at Tuvem contain organic carbon varving between 2.13-4.54%. Though the relationship between nitrous oxide production and total organic carbon content in these sediments was not highly significant, a positive relationship existed and is indicative of its influence on the gas. N<sub>2</sub>O production rates are by affected by levels of organic carbon which can be used as electron donor during denitrification (Pfenning and McMahon, 1997). Though the water soluble fraction of organic C was not estimated during the study, it is possible that it stimulated denitrifier activity and consequently N<sub>2</sub>O production. Both denitrification rate and N<sub>2</sub>O production followed a decreasing trend with depth, however no significant relationship was observed between the two parameters. The production of N<sub>2</sub>O could be thus be governed by the availability of electron donors and acceptors like NH4<sup>+</sup>, NO3<sup>-</sup>, organic C rather than the rate of denitrification (Usui et al., 2001; Mathieu et al., 2006). The denitrifier community was also found influence nitrous oxide production in mangrove sediments. They numbered up to  $10^7$  cells g<sup>-1</sup> and their abundance could be regulated by the amount of organic matter available for their growth. This can be easily explained by the fact that the denitrifiers are facultative aerobic microorganisms and their denitrifying activity is limited by the amount of nitrate available.

Estuaries are generally heterotrophic systems, with bacterial respiration exceeding primary production (Heip *et al.*, 1995, Gattuso *et al.*, 1998). Consequently, removal of dissolved inorganic nitrogen from estuaries occurs through sedimentary denitrification and/or burial in the sediment (Middelburg and Nieuwenhuize, 2000). An inverse relationship observed between denitrifiers and pore water nutrient concentrations in the present study suggests that denitrification could play an important role in mitigating excess nutrients within the system preventing eutrophication. In sulfidic sediments, the denitrification end product is known to shift from N<sub>2</sub> to partially reduced ones such as nitrite and N<sub>2</sub>O (Ebrahimipour *et al.*, 2000). This could explain the high nitrite pool in the largely anaerobic mangrove sediments. In this study, about 22% variation in nitrous oxide production was caused by the variation in nitrite concentrations suggesting that it was one of the important and statistically significant parameters regulating the production of the gas in mangrove sediments. Many studies have shown a correlation to exist between N<sub>2</sub>O production and nitrite concentration (He et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2004; Alinsafi et al., 2008). Denitrification activity in estuarine sediments is dependent on nitrate availability (Kana et al., 1998) consequently leading to  $NO_2^{2}$  and  $N_2O$  production. Dong et al., (2002) state that formation of N<sub>2</sub>O from nitrite is thermodynamically favourable compared to nitrate and may be a critical factor regulating N<sub>2</sub>O formation. Bauza *et al.*, (2002) have reported N<sub>2</sub>O production mainly through nitrification in red mangrove forests which are characterized by oxic conditions and higher ammonium concentration. In the present study, ammonium concentration did not appear to assert a strong influence on  $N_2O$ production suggesting that nitrification was not a significant source of  $N_2O$ . Low redox potentials (<115 mV) at the sampling sites are indicative of anaerobic conditions in the sediment which are conducive for alternate respiratory pathways like denitrification, sulphate reduction, etc. to occur. When nitrate and nitrite pre-dominate, nitrous oxide arises from microbial denitrification (Corredor et al., 1999). Experimental results also reveal that denitrification was the major pathway for  $N_2O$  production in the mangrove ecosystems of Goa, India. Nitrous oxide production through nitrification could be more prominent when the oxidative process is more pronounced. However, N<sub>2</sub>O production through nitrification was not detected indicating that the reductive phase of the N cycle was pre-dominant (at post-monsoon). Recently, Krishnan and Loka Bharathi (2009) have reported highest rates of benthic nitrification during the pre-monsoon at the same sampling locations. Seasonal trends in N<sub>2</sub>O flux and production mechanisms would provide further insights on contribution of nitrification if any.

Observations in the present study demonstrate that estuarine ecosystems like mangroves are potential sites for denitrifying activity. Incomplete denitrification leads to nitrous oxide production which could be responsible for flux of the radiative gas to the atmosphere. Though mangroves have the ability to efficiently moderate elevated nutrient concentrations in the estuarine system through the denitrification pathway, they also pose a threat by increasing green house gas production. Thus, adequate measures could be

Sr. No.	Area	Denitrification rates	Method	Reference
1	Terminos Lagoon, Mexico	Fringe mangrove: 9.4 $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> Basin mangrove: 1.9 to 4.5 $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	<sup>15</sup> N isotope technique	Rivera-Monroy et al., 1995
2	Mangrove forest, Phuket, Thailand	Vegetated sediments: 1.91 $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> Unvegetated sediments: 0.54 umol m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	<sup>15</sup> N isotope technique	Kristensen et al., 1998
3	Logan/Albert River, Queensland, Australia	$\mu$ mol m n 85 nmol N cm <sup>-3</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> or 38 nmol N g <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	<sup>15</sup> N isotope technique	Meyer <i>et al.</i> , 2005
4	Matang Mangrove Forest Reserve, Malaysia	$16-458 \ \mu mol \ N_2 \ m^{-2} \ h^{-1}$	N <sub>2</sub> -gas flux technique	Alongi <i>et al.</i> , 2004
5	Jiulongjiang Estuary, China	46.08 to 157.5 $\mu$ mol N <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	N <sub>2</sub> -gas flux technique	Alongi <i>et al.</i> , 2005
6	Southwest coast of Puerto Rico	0.12 and 7.8 $\mu mol~N_2O~m^{-2}$ $h^{-1}$	Gas chromatography	Corredor <i>et al.</i> , 1999
		Tuvem: $0.03-74.88 \text{ nmol g}^{-1} \text{ h}^{-1} \text{ or}$ $0.339-846.14 \text{ µmol } \text{N}_2 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$		
7	Goa, India	Divar: 1.47-222.59 nmol g <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> or 16.61-2515.26 µmol N <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>	<sup>15</sup> N isotope technique	Present study

Table 19: Denitrification rates in mangrove sediments

Note: \*For conversion of DNT activity in nmol  $N_2 g^{-1} h^{-1}$  to  $\mu$ mol  $N_2 m^{-2} h^{-1}$ : (DNT activity in nmol  $N_2 g^{-1} h^{-1} x 1.13 x 10^4$ ) /  $10^3$ 

-

initiated to minimize N loading in adjoining estuarine systems in order to lower environmental pollution but also simultaneously result in decreased  $N_2O$  emission to the atmosphere.

## 5.4. Denitrification and other co-occurring processes

Coastal marine ecosystems are susceptible to high nitrogen inputs through anthropogenic activities. In these regions, coupled nitrification/denitrification serves as an important mechanism for nitrogen depuration (Corredor et al., 1999). Investigations carried out in the present study affirm the potential of nearshore tropical mangrove ecosystems in mitigating inorganic nitrogenous compounds mainly through denitrification. Denitrification served as a major mechanism for N loss in mangrove sediments accounting for 75-85% of the total N<sub>2</sub> production. Highest denitrification activity was observed at the surface at both the sites- Divar and Tuvem. Total denitrification rates of up to 222.59 nmol N<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\approx$ 2.51 mmol N<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) have been measured in the Divar sediments. In sub-tropical mangrove sediments, denitrification has been reported to occur at a maximum rate of approximately 85 nmol N cm<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\approx$  38 nmol N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) (Mever *et* al., 2005) which is about five times less than observed in the present measurements. Benthic denitrification rates recorded in other mangrove areas (Table 19) are relatively less than those observed in the present study.

The Divar mangrove ecosystem lies along the Mandovi estuary. This estuary receives about 10 tonnes/month of ammonium nitrate used in explosives for mining activities upstream which eventually acts as a source of nitrate (De Souza, 1999). Experiments have shown that nitrate availability is one of the major factors controlling benthic denitrification (Seitzinger, 1990; Morell and Corredor, 1993; Rivera-Monroy and Twilley, 1996; Kana *et al.*, 1998). In the present study, the higher nitrate concentration recorded in the superficial sediments could be due to the continuous replenishment of the nutrient from the ambient water in addition to its *in situ* production through nitrification. Consequently, nitrate availability could be accountable for the high denitrification rates observed especially at depth  $\leq 4$  cm. Principal component analysis also revealed that nitrate and nitrite availability were important factors limiting denitrification in mangrove ecosystems. A positive relationship between nitrite, nitrate concentration and

94

denitrification  $(D_{tot})$  confirms that this process could be a major sink for nitrate in mangrove sediments. The PCA bi-plot also shows that ammonium, nitrite and nitrate clustered together suggesting a link between ammonium, nitrate and nitrite probably through nitrification.

Molecular investigations carried out in the present study reveal that the abundance of denitrifier genes in mangrove sediments numbered up to  $10^7$  target copies  $g^{-1}$  of dry sediment. The result was comparable to those recorded in other marine environments. Michotev et al. (2000) have reported up to  $10^6$  cytochrome cd1 type denitrifiers in marine samples. No statistical correlation between *nosZ* gene abundance and denitrifying activity could be observed indicating that denitrification activity is not limited by the presence of the population able to denitrify but by the availability of nitrate as substrate. Though denitrification at Tuvem was maximum within the 0-4 cm depth range, the nosZ were most abundant at 6-8 cm. Experiments using the bacterial strain Pseudomonas mandelii has shown that nosZ gene expression did not respond to increasing NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration indicating that there is no relationship between gene expression and denitrification activity (Saleh-Lakha et al., 2009). Boetius (1995) examined the potential hydrolysis rates of five different hydrolytic enzymes in deep-sea sediments and found that the activity of the enzymes most likely reflects the availability of their respective substrates and is not a function of bacterial biomass. It is possible that the expression of nosZ genes in mangrove sediments could be linked to the prevailing environmental conditions. Recently, Sumathi and Raghukumar (2009) have demonstrated the denitrification potential in several species of fungi isolated from the Arabian Sea sediments. Fungi commonly occur in coastal and offshore marine environments (Raghukumar, 1989). Mangrove ecosystems are known to harbour about  $10^4$  colonies g<sup>-1</sup> of fungal flora (Prabhakaran et al., 1987). Fungi are actively involved in the decomposition of mangrove leaves/wood and very little is known on their involvement in mangrove nutrient cycling (Hyde and Lee, 1995). It is uncertain whether denitrifying activity of fungi in mangrove sediments if any, is partially responsible for N loss.

At the experimental site, the denitrifying genes were found from the surface till a depth of 10 cm indicating that the organisms were well dispersed. It is possible that sandy nature of the mangrove sediment and the bioturbating activity of the infauna (crabs,

polychaetes, etc..) could aid in the dispersion of the microbes. The mangrove sediments are seen to harbour a substantially high macrofaunal assemblage. Macrofauna are known to modify nutrient fluxes in marine sediments (Mortimer et al., 1999). Burrowing activities by macrofaunal communities enhances oxygen availability and creates nonlocal mixing between nutrient rich pore water and overlying water (Graf and Rosenberg, 1997). Studies by Pennifold and Davis (2001) have also shown that nutrient fluxes were significantly correlated with increased faunal biomass. Further, the authors state that macrofauna increased the release of ammonium into the water column but decreased the release or resulted in uptake of nitrate by the sediments. Macrofauna stimulate denitrification by providing nitrate to bacteria from the overlying water and also through in situ nitrification strengthening the proximity and exchanges between the two processes (Gilbert et al., 1998). In contrast to the control site, the experimental site is dominated mainly by sand. The sandy nature of the sediments could be responsible for facilitating percolation of nutrients to deeper depths. In this study, we can envisage that the physical perturbation of sediments ascribed to the high density of macrofauna especially in the Divar sediments may have resulted in a stronger nitrification-denitrification coupling by enhancing the exchange of solutes between water and sediment.

Anammox is known to co-occur along with denitrification in marine sediments (Rysgaard *et al.*, 2004). In some marine environments, anammox is a major pathway for the removal of fixed inorganic nitrogen (Kuypers *et al.*, 2003; Engström *et al.*, 2005). The co-occurrence of anammox in mangrove sediments has been detected in the current study. Slurry incubations, as employed in this study, can be useful for quantifying mechanisms of N<sub>2</sub> production, but this approach perturbs the natural gradient and spatial arrangements of organisms carrying out N cycling process *in situ*. Whether slurry measurements yield high activity at low ra% (percentage of anammox) values is thus a concern. Trimmer *et al.* (2006) compared rates of anammox and denitrification in slurries and intact cores. In sediments with low anammox was more significant (ra>5%), ra% was about 10-15% higher in intact core than in slurries (Trimmer *et al.*, 2006). Consequently the slurry measurement used in this study probably accurately assessed the presence or absence of anammox activity, but the actual ra% in some layers with high activity may

have been underestimated. Maximum anammox rates of up to 101.15 nmol N<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\approx 1.14$  mmol N<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) have been observed in the present study. In sub-tropical mangrove sediment, Meyer et al. (2005) have reported anammox rates varying between 0.5 to 8 nmol N cm<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (0.22 to 3.6 nmol N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) which is approximately 25 times lower than those encountered in the present study. Reports by Rysgaard et al. (2004) in arctic marine sediments indicate anammox to occur at about 3 orders lower while in the north sea sediments, anammox rates were also relatively lower (Dalsgaard et al., 2005). The present observations show that anammox served as an important mechanism for  $N_2$ production mainly at deeper depths (8-10 cm) where it accounted for 67-96% of the total N<sub>2</sub> production. High rates of anammox occur in estuarine sediments with permanently high concentrations of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (Risgaard-Petersen et al., 2005). Dalsgaard and Thamdrup (2002) have attributed the 1:1 stoichiometry for the reaction between nitrite and ammonium to the anammox process. At pre-monsoon, nitrification occurs at a rate of up to ~18 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at a depth of 8-10 cm at Divar (Krishnan and Loka Bharathi, 2009) which co-incidentally shows the highest anammox activity in this study. Thus, nitrite production through nitrification at this depth could fuel the anammox process. High  $NO_3^$ concentrations (Rich et al., 2008) are also known to favour anammox rates. The mangrove sediments harbored fairly high concentrations of nitrate which could be favorable for anaerobic oxidation of ammonium to occur. At the control site, anammox was detected at all depths investigated in comparison to the experimental site where it was more restricted. It interesting to observe that anammox activity is more prominent at deeper depths and occurs at a rather low rate in ecosystems where denitrification is much higher. Dalsgaard et al. (2005) explain that in organic-rich sediments, denitrification is more responsive to organic carbon loading than anammox. Dalsgaard et al. (2005) also suggest that high organic matter content creates a higher demand for electron acceptor (i.e., NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and a smaller fraction of the reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> is liberated as NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>. In such circumstances, anammox may not be able to keep up with denitrification when electron donor availability is high. Such a phenomenon might be occurring in mangrove sediments which have considerable organic carbon content. Dalsgaard et al. (2005) also state that denitrifiers have a much higher growth rate which gives them a competitive advantage over anammox bacteria in fluctuating environments. Reports from the Benguela upwelling system indicate that anammox bacteria are metabolically versatile and can function as nitrate reducers (Kartal *et al.*, 2007). Thus, it is possible that these microbes could be mediating dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in mangrove ecosystems.

In mangrove sediments, denitrification and anammox operate concurrently leading to  $N_2$  production. However, the anammox process is restrained in organically rich mangrove sediments and denitrification becomes the major mechanism of N loss. Most of the N loss in these sediments occurs in the superficial layers and a coupling between nitrification and denitrification is suggested. Thus, in coastal ecosystems like mangroves which are prone to high input of inorganic nitrogenous compounds through anthropogenic activities, denitrification helps to counteract eutrophication. Consequently, di-nitrogen fixation in these ecosystems is minimal as compared to the N<sub>2</sub> production from denitrification and anammox together.

Though denitrification is a major mechanism for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> removal in coastal sediments (Tuerk and Aelion, 2005), N<sub>2</sub> produced through complete denitrification of nitrate accounted for  $\leq 1\%$  of the total pore water nitrate reduced. The overall low contribution of denitrification in NO3<sup>-</sup> depuration suggests that removal of the macro nutrient could proceed through other significant pathways. Nutrient re-generation could be important in N limited ecosystems like mangroves (Lovelock et al., 2006) wherein the microbial community could be competing with the vegetation for inorganic N requirements. Internal re-generation could therefore act as an efficient mechanism to meet the nitrogen demand from both the microbial and plant communities. Investigations carried out in the present study show that the anthropogenically influenced Divar sediments are characterized by higher nitrate reduction activity, nitrous oxide and N<sub>2</sub> production within 0-4 cm which are fuelled by nitrate availability. Nitrate can be produced intrinsically through nitrification (Krishnan et al., 2008) or supplied through extraneous input (Naqvi et al., 2000). The Divar ecosystem fringes the Mandovi estuary which is prone to NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> input from Fe-Mn mining rejects (De Sousa, 1999). Colorimetric measurements revealed that nitrate reduction in Divar sediments occurs at a rate of up to 3.52  $\mu$ mol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\approx$ 1.07  $\mu$ mol cm<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) which is in range to reports from

98

other coastal sediments where NRA is found to range from 0.662-2.4  $\mu$ mol cm<sup>-3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Laverman *et al.*, 2006).

DNRA showed a steady increase in  ${}^{15}NH_4^+$  at all depths investigated at both the sites. This process was responsible for 39% nitrate removal (100% NRA= 6.91 µmol; integrated for whole core) at Divar. In anoxic estuarine sediments, degradation of organic matter results in sulfide enrichment (Burton, et al., 2006; Laurent et al., 2009). Chemolithoautotrophic DNRA couples the reduction of  $NO_3^-$  to  $H_2S/S^{2-}$  to generate ammonium which is a more readily utilisable form than nitrate. High concentrations of hydrogen sulfide in marine sediments can be lethal to marine organisms (Phillips et al., 1997). As DNRA provides an electron donor (An and Gardner, 2002) the process could be linked to lowering levels of reduced sulfur forms in the system. Sulfide is also known to inhibit the last two steps of the denitrification pathway (Burgin and Hamilton, 2007). It is observed that N loss through the denitrification pathway (N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub>) in mangrove sediments was almost 3 times lower than DNRA (Fig. 58). Estuaries and coastal regions account for approximately 60% of the total oceanic N<sub>2</sub>O flux (Bange et al., 1996). The present observations reveal that N<sub>2</sub>O production in mangrove sediments is relatively small highlighting the capacity of mangroves to buffer the climate against the green house gas.

Though the control site Tuvem is relatively free from extraneous nutrient input, it is characterized by nitrate accumulation at depth  $\geq 2$  cm which could be attributed to anoxic nitrification. As a result, NRA is more pronounced at depths  $\geq 6$  cm. The relatively higher nitrous oxide production at 2-4 cm in Tuvem could be attributed to nitrate accumulation at this depth. In this ecosystem, DNRA accounts for up to 65% NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> removal (100% NRA=6.97 µmol). N retention is about 15 times higher as compared to N loss through the denitrification pathway. DNRA is an important mechanism that adds or retains available N in the system (Gardner *et al.*, 2006). Studies by Scott *et al.* (2008) have shown that in some areas, DNRA can remove more nitrate than denitrification. The present observations show that DNRA is important in reducing ecosystems and probably responsible for not only nitrite accumulation and removal but also for a non-neglectable part of ammonium production. Ammonium is known to adsorb easily onto clay particles (Laima *et al.*, 1999). In organically rich mangrove sediments (Krishnan and Loka



Fig. 58: Nitrogen cycling in mangrove sediments (T=Tuvem; D=Divar; ND= Not detected; activity has been expressed as nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ ). Pore water nutrient profiles during above activity measurements have been given in Figs. 30 and 31a-b.

Bharathi, 2009), ammonium released through degradation of organic compounds could easily get bound to clay particles making it unavailable for biological uptake. The larger contribution of DNRA in pristine habitats like Tuvem indicates that this ecosystem efficiently re-circulates available N and conserves it to overcome limitation. A similar scenario could be expected at Divar. However, this ecosystem receives additional nutrients from external sources. As a result, the contribution of DNRA is relatively less as compared to ecosystems that need to conserve N.

Until now, mangroves have been known to function as efficient buffer zones mitigating large amounts of intrinsically produced nutrients as well as extraneously derived anthropogenic inputs (Corredor and Morell, 1994). This buffering capacity could be mainly attributed to the efficient functioning of the autochthonous microbial flora especially bacteria. However, mangroves have also been shown to emit a substantial flux of the green house gas  $N_2O$  to the atmosphere (Krithika *et al.*, 2008). On the contrary, the present study has shown that the microbial population in the mangrove swamps could contribute to considerably decreasing the  $N_2O$  emission for the first time. This is achieved in exchange for ammonium that gets retained in the system perhaps within biologically acceptable limits.

## 5.5. Influence of nitrate and organic C amendments on denitrification

Estuarine sediments are known to have considerable nutrient loading mostly derived from extraneous inputs like sewage outfall (King and Nedwell, 1987). The present study showed that the Divar sediments harbored a measurable pore water nitrate content which increased with depth. Down-core profiling of denitrification showed a sub-surface maxima at 2-4 cm with a rate of 20.08  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (1.43±0.66 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). Isotopic measurements by Chiu et al. (2004) have shown much higher denitrification activity in surficial mangrove sediments as compared to the deeper non-rhizosphere soil with rates of up to 120 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Thomas and Lloyd (1994) have also reported maximum denitrification to occur at the surface in estuarine sediment. The process is known to be dependent on nitrate availability (Seitzinger, 1990). Low nitrate values encountered at the surface could thus be attributed to higher nitrate removal in the upper few centimeters of the sediment.

High denitrification activity at 2-4 cm coincided with increased organic carbon availability at this depth. Naturally occurring organic carbon in sediments is critical because it can influence nutrient availability (Moore, 1989), enhance biological activity and can increase acidity of ambient waters through organic acids (Eshleman and Hemond, 1985; Kerekes et al., 1986). The primary source of TOC in mangrove swamps is plant material which is decomposed by sediment organisms and converted to organic compounds viz., carbohydrates, proteins and lipids. A sizeable fraction of organic matter could be transported to deeper depths by bioturbating infauna and retained within the system. Natural processes and human activities can also result in elevated content of TOC in the area. Sardessai (1993) have shown that decomposition of mangrove litter and influx of fresh water during monsoons contributes to organic matter derived from humic acids. In the present investigation, labile organic matter showed a similar depth-wise distribution like TOC with a maximum concentration of 0.68% LOM at 2-4 cm. Labile organic matter is known to limit denitrification (McCutchan and Lewis, 2008). In the reductive phase of the N cycle, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> ions are reduced to N<sub>2</sub>O or N<sub>2</sub> whereas organic C gets oxidized to CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O. In the Divar sediments, about 11-19% of the TOC is present in readily utilizable form (LOM) and could be important for heterotrophic metabolism.

Denitrification activity was stimulated in microcosms containing seawater with all combinations of nitrate amendments i.e. 5, 10, 20, 40 and 60  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N I<sup>-1</sup>. In estuarine sediments prone to high nitrate inputs, the bacterial communities adapt to changes in the concentration exhibiting higher rates of nitrate reduction and also increasing the proportion of nitrate reduced to gaseous products (King and Nedwell, 1987). Laverman *et al.* (2007) have shown that denitrification in estuarine sediments is nitrate limited and the resident denitrifying community rapidly adjusts its level of activity to increased nitrate availability. Denitrification accounts for 27 to 57% of the nitrate consumption in estuarine and coastal sediments (Nishio *et al.*, 1982). The Divar mangrove ecosystem is prone to high nutrient input from mining rejects, land runoff and domestic sewage discharge. The increase in denitrification activity especially in the first few centimeters is indicative of the high nitrate removal capacity of these sediments. Corredor and Morell (1994) have confirmed that mangrove sediment-microbial communities are capable of depurating up

to 10-15 times the nitrate added. Recently, Krishnan and Loka Bharathi (2009) have shown that nitrification rates in the Divar sediments vary between 2.7 to 18.2 nmol  $g^{-1} h^{-1}$ . A strong coupling between redox processes of the N cycle could exist in these sediments wherein nitrate supplied continuously through the nitrification process could be fuelling denitrification especially in the upper few centimeters.

Organic carbon addition stimulated denitrification activity in mangrove sediments mostly at depths  $\geq 4$  cm. A 0.5% amendment of labile organic carbon (glucose) was found to effectively stimulate denitrification activity at all depths suggesting that the process is optimal at this concentration. Statistical analyses did not show significant increase in denitrification activity on organic carbon addition as compared to amendments with nitrate (one way ANOVA; n=15; p<0.001) at all depths indicating that organic carbon was not a limiting factor for denitrification in mangrove sediments. Denitrification in oxygen minimum zones is known to be fuelled almost entirely by organic matter supplied by particles sinking vertically from the euphotic zone (Anderson *et al.*, 2007; Ward *et al.*, 2008). In these environs, organic carbon is the main limiting factor controlling denitrification. In contrast, estuarine systems have considerable organic C loading and labile organic matter is readily available for metabolic activity. In such circumstances, denitrification is more dependent on nitrate availability. Similar observations have been made by Davidsson and Leonardson (1996) using peaty and sandy sediment in which NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> has been shown to be a stronger regulator of denitrification than organic carbon.

Potential benthic denitrification rates at Divar were 15-38 times higher (within 0-10 cm core) than the *in situ* denitrification activity when both nitrate and organic carbon were in excess with highest activity of up to 304.09 ( $\pm$ 47.6) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at the surface. Flemer *et al.* (1998) have reported relatively high potential denitrification rates in estuarine sediments ranging between 500 to 1000 µmol N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> which were also limited by nitrate availability. Laverman *et al.* (2007) have encountered maximum *in situ* rates two fold lower than the maximum potential rate in surficial sediment indicating that *in situ* denitrification was nitrate limited. These observations indicate that the surficial sediments have a comparatively higher denitrifying potential. This could be possible since the denitrifying communities at depths  $\leq$ 4 cm get a continuous availability of electron acceptors through lateral supply from the ambient waters in addition to relatively
intense nitrification in the surficial sediments. Thus, these microbes are able to eliminate elevated nitrate concentration through the denitrification pathway.

The Divar mangrove sediments harbored sufficient amount of labile organic matter to support denitrification activity. Microcosm experiments have indicated that nitrate addition enhanced denitrification at *in situ* organic carbon concentration. The benthic denitrifying community in these habitats respond rapidly to episodic events of elevated nutrient supply by increasing the rate of nitrate removal through the denitrification pathway. Thus, these sediments could act as a sink for nitrate and this nutrient is more crucial in controlling denitrification activity. Potential denitrification rates were up to 38 times higher than *in situ* denitrification activity indicating that denitrification was an important process maintaining low concentration of nitrate and helping to maintain the water quality of the adjoining aquatic system.

### 5.6. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification

Nutrient-rich reducing habitats like mangroves are excellent locations for denitrification to occur. Though a few studies have quantified denitrification rates in mangrove sediments (Meyer et al., 2005; Alongi et al., 2005) and identified some of the factors limiting the process (Chiu et al., 2004), the influence of bioturbation on denitrification in these regions is poorly understood. Benthic denitrification in coastal habitats is largely dependent on nitrate availability (Laverman et al., 2007). The exchange of nutrients and oxygen is known to be facilitated by the feeding and burrowing activities of benthic macrofauna (Aller, 1980, Huttel 1990, Binnerup et al., 1992; Sasaki et al., 2003). In the present study, differences in sediment physical, chemical and biological parameters have been compared between faunated and de-faunated cores to ascertain the effect of bioturbation at different strata. Marked differences in the physico-chemical and biological characteristics of bioturbated and non-bioturbated sediment were observed. Firstly, the de-faunated core showed relatively lower redox potential as compared to natural sediments indicating reduced oxygenation. Recently, Pischedda et al. (2008) have shown increased sediment oxygen heterogeneity particularly in the presence of polychaetes which construct complex burrows. Stratified enumeration of macrofaunal abundance in the present study has shown a well dispersed macrofaunal community

represented by oligochaetes forming the dominant forms followed by polychaetes. Further, crabs belonging to *Uca* spp. were retrieved from 6-8 cm depth indicating that their burrowing activity creates channels that could facilitate the exchange of solutes between overlying water and sediments. The bioturbated sediments were also characterized by decrease in pH with depth. The Divar sediments have a considerable organic and metal content (Krishnan *et al.*, 2007; Krishnan and Loka Bharathi, 2009). In the absence of oxygen, alternate electron acceptors like Fe(III) and Mn(IV) support degradation of organic compounds (Lovley *et al.*, 2004) consequently leading to acidic condition (Ogner *et al.*, 2001) in the sediment. This explains the lower pH encountered in the bioturbated core.

Denitrification in particular is mainly affected by nitrate concentration (Morell and Corredor 1993; Corredor and Morell 1994; Rivera-Monroy and Twilley 1996; Kana et al. 1998). Earlier studies have shown that bioturbation enhances nitrate supply (Kristensen et al. 1991) and stimulates coupling of nitrification-denitrification (Aller et al., 1983, Pelegri et al., 1994). In the present investigation, pore water nitrate concentration in the bioturbated core was relatively higher as compared to the defaunated core and is indicative of elevated nutrient supply in irrigated sediments. Nitrate can be supplied either from the ambient seawater or result from intrinsic nitrification (Krishnan et al., 2008). Experiments by Svensson (1997) have shown that bioturbation mobilizes the ammonium to the water and stimulates denitrification by reducing the diffusive barrier blocking nitrate from reaching anoxic zones in the sediment. Downward movement of crabs and polychaetes in the sediments could induce sediment re-working facilitating the transfer of  $NO_3$  from the water column and also penetration of  $O_2$ , which in turn stimulates nitrification (Gilbert et al., 1997). Unlike the de-faunated core, overall low nitrite levels in the bioturbated core especially at 4-6 cm coincided with high DNT activity. In the denitrification pathway, nitrite is further reduced to gaseous products like N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub>. Thus, high DNT enhances NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> uptake preventing its accumulation to toxic levels. Autochthonous infauna can stimulate denitrification activity significantly by up to 160% in coastal sediments (Gilbert et al., 1998) indicating that denitrification is directly dependent on macrofaunal activity. In this study, significant influence of macrofaunal abundance on DNT was evident at depth  $\geq 4$  cm (p<0.05) and was responsible for about 18% of the variation in the activity. Gilbert *et al.*, (1998) have reported benthic macrofaunal density varying from 2580 to 3160 ind.  $m^{-2}$  in the Gulf of Fos sediments. In this investigation, higher faunal density of organisms were observed at 0-2 and 4-6 cm (375 ind.  $m^{-2}$ ). Lower contribution of the mangrove macrofauna in enhancing denitrification could be attributed to their overall low density and patchy distribution pattern in the sediment.

The exclusion of macrofauna in mangrove sediment was also seen to influence the distribution and abundance of the denitrifying community. Though denitrifier abundance in both the cores was same at the surface, their number decreased rapidly by up to two orders in de-faunated conditions especially between 2-6 cm. The 2-6 cm layers has a sizable fraction of polychaetes and Uca crabs. Bioturbating activity of these forms could be responsible for enhancing nitrate concentration at these depths which in turn stimulates denitrifier abundance as they are dependent on substrate availability. The presence of the marine polychaetes favour the development of bacteria which may play an active role in natural bioremediation processes (Cuny et al., 2007). Further, sediment re-working of macrofauna also aids in the dispersion of denitrifiers to deeper depths as evident from higher number of cells at 8-10 cm in the bioturbated core. It can be concluded that bioturbating activity of autochthonous infauna in the Divar sediments could be one of the important factors influencing denitrification activity. Relatively higher redox potential, elevated nitrate supply, low nitrite accumulation and higher denitrifier abundance in natural sediments further substantiate the findings in the present study.

#### 5.7. Taxonomic and functional diversity of denitrifiers

Very little is known about benthic bacterial diversity in productive coastal habitats like mangroves. So far, 16S rRNA gene analysis based studies have been used to assess their diversity in these regions (Sjöling *et al.*, 2005; Liang *et al.*, 2007; Gomes *et al.*, 2008) providing some knowledge of the bacteria therein. The technologically advanced 454 pyrosequencing approach was used to examine bacterial diversity in two mangrove ecosystems of Goa- the anthropogenically influenced Divar and the relatively pristine Tuvem. The present study showed that the surficial mangrove sediments (0-2 cm)

harbour all major sediment bacterial groups affiliated with the phyla Proteobacteria (classes Alpha, Beta, Gamma, Delta and Epsilonproteobacteria), Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Cyanobacteria, Planctomycetes, Actinobacteria, etc. Early studies in mangrove swamps have also shown predominant bacterial phylotypes to cluster within Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Gemmatimonadetes, Actinobacteria and Firmicutes (Zhang et al., 2009). Interestingly, this study reveals the existence of bacteria belonging to the newly devised phylum like Acidobacteria and Gemmatimonadetes and members of the candidate divisions OD1, OP3, OP8, OP10 and OP11 in mangrove sediments. According to the frequency of V6 tag occurrence, the Proteobacterial community at Tuvem was dominated by members of the class Deltaproteobacteria (21% of total V6 tags; up to 0.96% total OTUs), in particular Desulfobacterales and to a lesser extent by Actinobacteria (14% of total V6 tags). The identities of organisms provide clues on the bacterially-mediated processes likely to occur in these habitats. At Tuvem redoxpotential of <-150 mV have been observed at the surface implying that the sediments are largely anaerobic as compared to Divar. Anoxic environments are known to be dominated by Deltaproteobacteria (Schwarz et al., 2007). This class of bacteria have been reported to occur in coastal (Paisse et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008), continental shelf (Hunter et al., 2006) as well as cold-seep sediments (Reed et al., 2009). The Desulfobacterales have implications in sulfur cycling (Vrionis et al., 2005; Borin et al., 2009) as they are primarily involved in sulfate-reduction (Reed et al., 2009) which is an important electron-accepting process for mineralization of carbon (Asami et al., 2005; Scholten et al., 2005). Earlier studies by Loka Bharathi et al., (1991) have also shown the occurrence of SRB representing the orders Desulfovibrionales, Desulfobacterales, Desulfococcus and Clostridiales in mangrove swamps of the Zuari estuarine system in Goa. Other SRB sequences within the class Deltaproteobacteria found at Tuvem belonged to the orders Desulfuromonadales, Myxococcales and Synthrophobacterales. Some Desulfuromonadales can obtained energy from the reduction of Fe(III), Mn(IV), nitrate, elemental sulfur using a variety of electron donors like organic acids, alcohols, biological extracts and hydrogen (Greene et al., 2009). Investigations in the present study have shown that the Tuvem sediments have a considerable organic carbon, Fe, Mn and nutrient (N compounds) content. It is possible that Deltaproteobacteria in this anoxic habitat could not only participate in sulfur cycling but also prevent accumulation of metal and inorganic nitrogenous compounds. Members of the phylum Actinobacteria are ubiquitously found in estuarine and oceanic environments (Crump *et al.*, 2004; Piza *et al.*, 2004; Stach and Bull, 2005). Most Actinobacteria are of economic importance (Ward and Bora, 2006) as they are as a source of antibiotics (Ellaiah and Zeeck, 2006; Adinarayana *et al.*, 2006; Kim *et al.*, 2006; Manivasagan *et al.*, 2009). Like Deltaproteobacteria, they play multiple roles in the environment that includes degradation of cellulose (Pankratov *et al.*, 2006) and hydrocarbons (Harwati *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2008), metal oxidation (Bryan and Johnson, 2008; Johnson *et al.*, 2009), nitrate reduction (Van Keulen *et al.*, 2005), etc.. Their presence and activity in mangrove sediments could be vital in altering the benthic chemistry.

Rarefaction curves at both locations did not reach an asymptotic stage as the bacterial richness was not fully covered. Diversity estimates suggest that the bacterial community at the anthropogenically influenced site Divar is relatively more diverse than at Tuvem with ~3300 phylotypes which are an order of magnitude higher than previously reported (Zhang et al., 2008) in marine sediments. A large number of low-abundance OTUs of the so called "rare biosphere" (Sogin et al., 2006) were responsible for the high diversity observed in mangrove sediments and indicate that they have the potential to become dominant when favorable environmental conditions arise. The Divar ecosystem receives comparatively higher extraneously derived organic and inorganic compounds of different types. Consequently, availability of a wide variety of substrates could result in a higher taxonomic and metabolic bacterial diversity. The frequency of Proteobacterial tags at Divar formed >40% of total V6 tag sequences as in Tuvem. However, the Gammaproteobacteria dominated (2% higher tag occurrence than Deltaproteobacteria) at Divar as compared to Deltaproteobacteria at Tuvem. Molecular investigations by Liang et al., (2007) in a Chinese mangrove ecosystem have also shown that the Gammaproteobacteria affiliated sequences constituted the largest portion in their clone library. The Gammaproteobacteria are active mediators of the N and S cycles. Gammaproteobacteria are also involved in methane oxidation (Sorokin et al., 2000). Some of the Gammaproteobacteria recorded at Divar are classified under the order Alteromonadales, Chromatiales, Pseudomonadales, Vibrionales, Enterobacteriales,

Salinisphaerales etc.. Species belonging to the genus Marinobacter, Shewanella, Alteromonas of order Alteromonadales have been commonly found in the marine environment (Rontani et al., 1999; Zhuang et al., 2009). Marinobacter spp. use a variety of hydrocarbons as the sole source of carbon and energy (Gauthier et al., 1992). These halophilic bacteria also have a high capacity for denitrification (Yoshie et al., 2006). Similarly, Shewanella (Brettar et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2006) and Alteromonas (Haijun, 2002) are known to mediate reductive phase of the N cycle. Facultatively anaerobic species of the order Pseudomonadales (Carlson and Ingraham, 1983; Castignetti and Hollocher, 1984; Rezaee et al., 2008), Vibrionales (Yoshinari, 1980; Bianchi et al., 1992; Kim et al., 2000), Enterobacteriales (Bezbaruah 1983, Calmels et al., 1996; Herbert, 1999) etc.. have been reported to participate in both oxidative and reductive phases of the N cycle. The Divar ecosystem is prone to high nutrient input from mining rejects (De Souza, 1999) predominantly during the monsoon (Divya et al., 2009). Pore water analysis in the present study have shown measurable concentrations of inorganic nitrogenous compounds. However, pore water ammonium was  $<50 \ \mu mol \ l^{-1}$  throughout the year at Tuvem and Divar indicating close coupling between synthetic and degradative processes. The existence of metabolically versatile bacteria could indicate their contribution to the C and N cycle. The presence of a large number of enteric Gammaproteobacteria reflect their terrestrial origin in the Divar mangrove ecosystem. The micro-aerophilic purple sulfur bacteria (order Chromatiales) capable of photosynthesis (Antony and Philip, 2006) have also been recorded at Divar suggesting their importance in the microbial food web. A significant fraction of bacteria in this habitat have not been identified up to the class level indicating that the mangrove sediments harbour novel bacterial species of scientific value that might play a more dominant role than believed hitherto.

Denitrification is mediated by heterotrophic anaerobic facultative bacteria which can use nitrate or nitrite as a terminal electron acceptor for respiration and reduce it to nitrous oxide or nitrogen (Desnues *et al.*, 2007). In marine ecosystems, a variety of taxonomically unrelated bacterial groups are capable of denitrification. Of these, 96% of cultured denitrifiers belong to the Gammaproteobacteria (Brettar *et al.*, 2001). Biochemical characterization of denitrifier strains carried out in the present study have shown that in addition to Firmicutes (class Bacilli) and Actinobacteria, the denitrifies belonged to the classes Alpha, Beta and Gammaproteobacteria establishing that denitrifiers in mangrove systems are polyphyletic. Bacteria belonging to these classes are known to catalyze carbon and nitrogen cycling as discussed above. The Gammaproteobacteria constituted nearly 50% of all the denitrifying strains at Divar. The pyrosequencing approach too has shown the occurrence of high Gammaproteobacteria tags in this region suggesting that they could be primarily contributing to the reductive phase of the N cycle. Undoubtedly, the pyrosequencing approach reveals that a vast majority of the denitrifiers from mangrove sediments remain unculturable. Only a few viable phylotypes make their appearance in enriched medium and can be cultured under laboratory conditions.

The functional gene *nosZ* encoding for nitrous oxide reductase, an enzyme catalyzing the final step of denitrification (Scala and Kerkhof, 1999) was used for determining the diversity of denitrifiers (Horn *et al.*, 2006). The *nosZ* derived clones in marine sediments are affiliated to the class Alphaproteobacteria (Hunter *et al.*, 2006; Magalhaes *et al.*, 2008). At the two sites investigated, the *nosZ* community was found to be resilient and was represented by members belonging to class Alpha, Beta and Gammaproteobacteria. The dominant denitrifiers at the control site were represented by strains showing close similarity to *Shewanella* spp. which are known to show considerable respiratory versatility. *Shewanella* spp. can use a wide range of compounds as electron acceptors (Tiedje, 2002, Munn, 2004). Oxygen fluctuation during tidal cycles and diffusion of nutrients from overlying water could favor proliferation of versatile bacteria capable of using alternate electron acceptors.

The present study shows that both biochemical characterization of denitrifiers and the functional gene phylogeny give a fair understanding of the major bacterial groups involved in N transformations in mangrove sediments as they have also been encountered in the 454 pyrosequencing approach. For the first time, this study provides insights on the yet uncultured and ecologically significant bacterial communities in mangrove sediments. Overall, diversity in anthropogenically influenced estuarine zones is higher than in relatively pristine locations. Prevailing environmental conditions could be crucial in influencing the composition of sediment bacterial communities. Large physico-chemical gradients in these systems can lead to the formation of complex microbial communities which play a vital role in ecosystem functioning. Both culturable and molecular approaches adopted to reveal the taxonomy of dominant denitrifying communities in tropical mangrove sediments indicates that the process is mainly carried out by members belonging to different classes of the phylum Proteobacteria.

• •

110

## Chapter 6

## Summary & conclusion

. . .

,

### Chapter 6. Summary and conclusion

The study on the "*Ecology of denitrifiers in mangrove sediments*" elucidates the role of environmental parameters in governing the reductive phase of the N cycle in two mangrove ecosystems of Goa, India- the anthropogenically influenced Divar and the relatively pristine site Tuvem. Field and lab based experiments were carried out to meet the following objectives:

- > To quantify the abundance and activity of denitrifying bacteria
- > To understand the influence of environmental parameters on denitrification
- > To identify the denitrifiers at cellular and molecular level
- > To delineate the influence of bioturbating organisms on denitrification

Down-core investigations were carried out at 2 cm intervals within 0-10 cm depth range at both the locations. Some of the salient findings from this study are as follows:

- Denitrifier abundance in mangrove sediments varied from 10<sup>5-8</sup> cells g<sup>-1</sup> and constituted an important fraction of the total bacterial community (10<sup>9-10</sup> cells g<sup>-1</sup>) in mangrove sediments. Maximum denitrifier abundance by both culturable and molecular methods showed higher abundance at deeper depths (within 4-8 cm) at both the sites.
- 2. Denitrification activity (DNT) was found to be maximum within 0-4 cm at both the sites suggesting that the activity depends on the prevailing environmental conditions and is not a function of bacterial biomass.
- 3. DNT at Divar was nearly 3 times the value at Tuvem with maximum activity of 224.51 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> observed at 0-2 cm. Other co-occurring processes in the N cycle were also measured in conjunction with denitrification. Highest anammox activity of 101.15 nmol N<sub>2</sub> g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at Divar was recorded at 8-10 cm and was 5 times higher than at Tuvem. Di-nitrogen fixation was minimal in estuarine habitats prone to high nitrate inputs and denitrification rather than anammox served as an important mechanism for counteracting N loading.
- 4. Alternate respiratory pathways like dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) removes up to 3 times more nitrate than DNT resulting in N retention.

- 5. DNT results in a significant flux of nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), a potent green house gas. Microcosm studies showed that net nitrous oxide production at Divar occurred at a maximum rate of 22 μmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> which was 3 times higher than at Tuvem and is indicative of higher emission of the radiative gas in anthropogenically influenced regions.
- 6. Among the environmental factors influencing DNT, nitrate had a larger influence (n=15; p<0.001) than organic carbon suggesting that mangrove sediments are NO<sub>3</sub> limited and these regions could act as a sink for nitrate. Multiple regression analysis showed that Fe and Mn also influenced DNT which is indicative of DNT coupled to metal oxidation.
- 7. Bioturbating infauna were responsible for only 18% of the variation in DNT. The little influence on the process is attributed to the low and patchy distribution of macrofauna in the sediments.
- Culturable methods have shown that up to 43% of culturable denitrifiers belonged to Gammaproteobacteria.
- 9. The dominant denitrifier community probed based on the functional gene (nosZ) phylogeny showed that they belonged to the sequences of uncultured organisms and were clustered within phylum Proteobacteria. However, it is possible that some of these genes belong to the culturable counterparts.
- 10. Analysis of bacterial diversity using the 454 pyrosequencing technology revealed a complex and rich bacterial community in mangrove sediments with ~3300 phylotypes recorded at Divar. The phylum Proteobacteria was the most dominant phylum at both the locations. The class Deltaproteobacteria dominated the Tuvem sediments while the Gammaproteobacteria were more dominant at Divar. Deltaproteobacteria include most of the sulfur cycle bacteria whereas the Gamma and Alphaproteobacteria are involved in N cycling. The existence of these bacteria in mangrove sediments reflects their ability to thrive on reduced substrates and could therefore play an important role in altering the chemistry of inorganic N compounds in coastal ecosystems.

11. Though benthic DNT in mangrove ecosystems serves as an important mechanism for counteracting N loading, it can be concluded that these habitats effectively conserve N through the DNRA pathway thereby minimizing nutrient loss that would otherwise occur through DNT. Most importantly DNRA contributes to minimizing the flux of green house gas N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere.

### Chapter 7

## Implication, application

### L

Future scope

### **Chapter 7. Implication, application and future scope**

### Implication and application

- Mangrove systems overcome N limitation by effectively conserving N through the dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) pathway thereby minimizing nutrient loss that would otherwise occur through denitrification (DNT). As the reduction of nitrate through the DNRA pathway in anoxic sediments could be coupled to the oxidation of reduced forms of sulfur, the process contributes to lowering levels of toxic ions in the system. Most importantly this process contributes to minimizing the emission of the potent radiative gas N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere.
- In estuarine habitats prone to high nitrate inputs, DNT overrides other cooccurring processes like anammox. Consequently, the process serves as an important mechanism for counteracting N loading.

#### **Future scope**

- 1. Examination of oxidizing and reducing processes of N cycle could be carried out in tandem to elucidate spatial/temporal coupling at the genetic, cellular and community level.
- 2. Mn/Fe coupled denitrification in mangrove sediments could be examined to gain deeper understanding of their contribution to the reductive phase of the N cycle.
- Nitrous oxide flux across the sediment atmosphere interface could be quantified to enhance the contribution of mangrove ecosystem to N<sub>2</sub>O inventory from the Indian Ocean region.
- 4. Contrary to our understanding that pristine mangrove habitats have a higher bacterial diversity, taxonomic investigations in the present study have shown

anthropogenically influenced mangrove sediments to contain more complex and diverse bacterial communities. It would also be interesting to examine if the metabolic diversity also follows a similar trend.

# Bibliography

- Adinarayana G, Venkateshan MR, Bapiraju VV, Sujatha P, Premkumar J, Ellaiah P, Zeeck A. 2006. Cytotoxic compounds from the marine actinobacterium. *Bioorganicheskaya khimiya* 32, 328-34.
- Aivasidis A, Melidis P, Georgiou D. 2005. Continuous denitrification by external electron-donor supply utilizing an algorithm-based software controller *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 25, 179–186.
- Albritton D, Derwent R, Isaksen I, Wuebbles LM. 1996. Radiative forcing of climate change. In: Houghton JT et al (Ed) Climate change 1995, the science of climate change. Cambridge University press, New York p. 118-131.
- Alinsafi A, Adouani N, Béline F, Lendormi T, Limousy L, Sire O. 2008. Nitrite effect on nitrous oxide emission from denitrifying activated sludge. *Process Biochemistry* 43 (6), 683-689.
- Aller RC. 1980. Quantifying solute distributions in the bioturbated zone of marine sediments by defining an average microenvironment. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 44, 1955-1965.
- Aller RC, Yingst JY, Ullman WJ. 1983. Comparative biogeochemistry of water in interdidal *Onuphis* (Polychaeta) and *Upogebia* (Crustacea) burrows: temporal patterns and causes. *Journal of Marine Research* **41**, 571-604.
- Allievi L, Möller F. 1992. A method based on plate count for enumerating N<sub>2</sub>O/N<sub>2</sub>producing bacteria from nitrate in the soil. *Journal of Basic Microbiology* 32(5), 291-298.
- Allievi L, Catelani D, Ferrari A, Treccani V. 1987. A method for counting denitrifiers by N<sub>2</sub>O detection. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 7(2-3), 67-72.
- Alongi DM, Boto KG, Tirendi F. 1989. Effect of exported mangrove litter on bacterial productivity and dissolved organic carbon fluxes in adjacent tropical nearshore sediments. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 56, 133-144.
- Alongi DM, Boto KG, Robertson AI. 1992. Nitrogen and phosphorous cycles. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (Eds.) *Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems*. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC pp. 251-292.
- Alongi DM, Sasekumar A, Chong VC, Pfitzner J, Trott LA, Tirendi F, Dixon P, Brunskill GJ. 2004. Sediment accumulation and organic material flux in a managed mangrove ecosystem: estimates of land-ocean-atmosphere exchange in peninsular Malaysia. *Marine Geology* 208(2-4), 383-402.
- Alongi DM, Pfitzner J, Trott LA, Tirendi F, Dixon P, Klumpp DW. 2005. Rapid sediment accumulation and microbial mineralization in forests of the mangrove Kandelia candel in the Jiulongjiang Estuary, China. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **63**(4), 605-618.
- Altabet MA, Francois R, Murray DW, Prell WL. 1995. Climate-related variations in denitrication in the Arabian Sea from sediment <sup>15</sup>N/<sup>14</sup>N ratios. *Nature* **373**, 506-509.
- Altabet MA, Higginson MJ, Murray DW. 2002. The effect of millenial-scale changes in Arabian Sea denitrification on atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>. Nature **415**, 159-162.
- An S, Gardner WS. 2002. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) as a nitrogen link, versus denitrification as a sink in a shallow estuary (Laguna Madre/Baffin Bay, Texas). *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 237, 41-50.

- An S, Gardner WS, Kana T. 2001. Simultaneous measurement of denitrification and nitrogen fixation using isotope pairing with membrane inlet mass spectrometry analysis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 67(3), 1171-1178.
- Anderson TR, Ryabchenko VA, Fasham MJR, Gorchakov VA. 2007. Denitrification in the Arabian Sea: A 3D ecosystem modelling study. *Deep-sea research Part I* 54 (12), 2082-2119.
- Antony SP, Philip R. 2006. Bioremediation in shrimp culture systems. NAGA WorldFish Center Quarterly 29(3&4), 62-66.
- Asami H, Aida M, Watanabe K. 2005. Accelerated sulfur cycle in coastal marine sediment beneath Areas of intensive shellfish aquaculture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(6), 2925–2933.
- Balaram V, Ramesh SL, Anjaiah KV. 1995. Comparative study of the sample decomposition procedures in determination of trace and rare elements in anorthosites and related rocks by ICP-MS. Fresen. Journal of Analytical Chemistry 353, 176-182.
- Bange HW, Rapsomanikis S, Andreae MO. 1996. Nitrous oxide in coastal waters. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 10, 197-207.
- Bange HW, Andreae MO, Lal S, Law CS, Naqvi SWA, Patra PK, Rixen T, Upstill-Goddard RC. 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from the Arabian Sea: A synthesis. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussions 1, 61-71.
- Bauza JF, Morell JM, Corredor JE. 2002. Biogeochemistry of nitrous oxide production in the red mangrove (*Rhizophora* mangle) forest sediments. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* 55(5), 697-704.
- Beaumont HJE, Hommes NG, Sayavedra-Soto LA, Arp DJ, Arciero DM, Hooper AB, Westerhoff HV, Van Spanning RJM. 2002. Nitrite reductase of *Nitrosomonas europaea* is not essential for production of gaseous nitrogen oxides and confers tolerance to nitrite. *Journal of bacteriology* **184**(9), 2557-2560.
- Bebout BM, Paerl HW, Crocker KM, Prufert LE. 1987. Diel interactions of oxygenic photosynthesis and  $N_2$  fixation (acetylene reduction) in a marine microbial mat community. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 53, 2353-2362.
- Bell LC, Richardson DJ, Ferguson SJ. 1990. Periplasmic and membrane-bound respiratory nitrate reductases in *Thiosphaera pantotropha*: the periplasmic enzyme catalyses the first step in aerobic denitrification. *FEBS Letters* 265, 85-87.
- Bendschneider K, Robinson NJ. 1952. A new spectrophotometric determination of nitrite in seawater. *Journal of Marine Research* 11, 87-96.
- Berman-Frank I, Lundgren P, Falkowski P. 2003. Nitrogen fixation and photosynthetic oxygen evolution in cyanobacteria. *Research in Microbiology* **154**, 157-164.
- Bernot MJ, Dodds WK, Gardner WS, McCarthy MJ, Sobolev D, Tank JL. 2003. Comparing denitrification estimates for a Texas estuary by using acetylene inhibition and membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69(10), 5950-5956.
- Betlach MR. 1982. Evolution of bacterial denitrification and denitrifier diversity. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 48(6), 585-607.
- Bezbaruah B. 1983. Ureolytic and nitrifying bacterial heterotrophs from acid soils. Journal of Biosciences 5(3), 267-278.

- Bianchi M, Perfettini J, Bianchi A. 1992. Marine heterotrophic bacteria associated with enrichment culture of nitrifying bacteria planned for closed aquaculture systems. *Aquatic Living Resources* 5, 137-144.
- Bianchi M, Bonin P, Feliatra. 1994. Bacterial nitrification and denitrification rates in the Rhone River plume (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). *Marine Ecology Progress* Series 103, 197-202.
- Bigelow CA, Bowman DC, Wollum AG. 2002. Characterization of soil microbial population dynamics in newly constructed sand-based rootzones. Crop Science 42, 1611-1614.
- Binnerup SJ, Jensen K, Revsbech NP, Jensen MH, Sørensen J. 1992. Denitrification, dissimilatory reduction of nitrate to ammonium and nitrification in a bioturbated estuarine sediment as measured with <sup>15</sup>N and microsensor techniques. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **58**, 303–313.
- Blasco F, Dos Santos JP, Magalon A, Frixon C, Guigliarelli B, Santini CL, Giordano G. 1998. NarJ is a specific chaperone required for molybdenum cofactor assembly in nitrate reductase A of Escherichia coli. Molecular Microbiology 28, 435-447.
- Bligh EG. Dyer W. 1959. rapid method for total Α lipid extraction purification. and Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology 37, 911–917.
- Boetius A. 1995. Microbial hydrolytic enzyme activities in deep-sea sediments. Helgoland Marine Research 49(1-4), 177-187.
- Bollmann A, Conrad R. 1997. Acetylene blockage technique leads to underestimation of denitrification rates in oxic soils due to scavenging of intermediate nitric oxide. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 29, 1067-1077.
- Bonin PC, Raymond N. 1990. Effects of oxygen on denitrification in marine sediments. Hydrobiologia 207(1), 115-122.
- Bonin PC, Michotey VD. 2006. Nitrogen budget in a microbial mat in the Camargue (southern France). Marine Ecology Progress Series 322, 75-84.
- Bonin P, Ranaivoson ER, Raymond N, Chalamet A, Bertrand JC. 1994. Evidence for denitrification in marine sediment highly contaminated by petroleum products. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 28, 89-95.
- Bonin P, Tamburini C, Michotey V. 2002. Determination of bacterial processes which are sources of nitrous oxide production in marine samples. *Water Research* **36**, 722-732.
- Borin S, Brusetti L, Daffonchio D, Delaney E, Baldi F. 2009. Biodiversity of prokaryotic communities in sediments of different sub-basins of the Venice lagoon. *Research in Microbiology* 160(5), 307-314.
- Brady N, Weil R. 2002. Nitrogen and sulfur economy of soils. In: Helba (Ed.) *The Nature* and properties of soils. Pearson Education, NJ p. 543-571.
- Braker G, Zhou JZ, Wu LY, Devol AH, Tiedje JM. 2000. Nitrite reductase genes (*nirK* and *nirS*) as functional markers to investigate diversity of denitrifying bacteria in Pacific Northwest marine sediment communities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66, 2096-2104.
- Braker G, Ayala-del-Rio HL, Devol AH, Fesefeldt A, Tiedje JM. 2001. Community structure of denitrifiers, Bacteria and Archaea along redox gradients in Pacific Northwest marine sediments by terminal restriction fragment length

polymorphism analysis of amplified nitrite reductase (*nirS*) and 16S rRNA genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67, 1893-901.

- Bremner JM, Blackmer AM. 1978. Nitrous oxide: emission from soils during nitrification of fertilizer nitrogen. *Science* 199(4326), 295-296.
- Bremner JM, Robbins SG, Blackmer AM. 1980. Seasonal variability in emission of nitrous oxide from soil. *Geophysical Research Letters* 7, 641-644.
- Brettar I, Moore ERB, Höfle MG. 2001. Phylogeny and abundance of novel denitrifying bacteria isolated from the water column of the central Baltic Sea. *Microbial Ecology* **42**(3), 295-305.
- Brettar I, Christen R, Höfle M. 2002. Shewanella denitrificans sp. nov., a vigorously denitrifying bacterium isolated from the oxic-anoxic interface of the Gotland Deep in the central Baltic Sea. G. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 52(6), 2211-2217.
- Brooks MH, Smith RL, Macalady DL. 1992. Inhibition of existing denitrification enzyme activity by chloramphenicol. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58 (5), 1746-1753.
- Bryan CG, Johnson DB. 2008. Dissimilatory ferrous iron oxidation at a low pH: a novel trait identified in the bacterial subclass *Rubrobacteridae*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **228**(2), 149-155.
- Buresh RJ, Patrick WH Jr. 1981. Nitrate reduction to ammonium and organic nitrogen in an estuarine sediment. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 13, 279-283.
- Burgin AJ, Hamilton SK. 2007. Have we overemphasized the role of denitrification in aquatic ecosystems? A review of nitrate removal pathways. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5(2), 89–96.
- Burton ED, Bush RT, Sullivan LA. 2006. Fractionation and extractability of sulfur, iron and trace elements in sulfidic sediments. Chemosphere 64(8), 1421-1428.
- Cabrita MT, Brotas V. 2000. Seasonal variation in denitrification and dissolved nitrogen fluxes in intertidal sediments of the Tagus estuary, Portugal. Marine Ecology Progress Series 202, 51-65.
- Calmels S, Ohshima H, Henry Y, Bartsch H. 1996. Characterization of bacterial cytochrome cdt-nitrite reductase as one enzyme responsible for catalysis of nitrosation of secondary amines. *Carcinogenesis* 17(3), 533-536.
- Canfield DE, Thamdrup B, Kristensen E. 2005. Aquatic geomicrobiology. Advances in Marine Biology 48, 1-600.
- Capone DG. 2001. Marine nitrogen fixation: what's the fuss? Current Opinion in Microbiology 4 (3), 341-348.
- Capone DG, Carpenter EJ. 1982. Nitrogen fixation in the marine environment. Science 217, 1140-1142.
- Capone DG, Zehr JP, Paerl HW, Bergman B, Carpenter EJ. 1997. Trichodesmium: a globally significant marine cyanobacterium. *Science* 276, 1221-1229.
- Carlson CA, Ingraham JL. 1983. Comparison of denitrification by Pseudomonas stutzeri, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Paracoccus denitrificans. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 45(4), 1247-1253.
- Castignettii D, Hollocher TC. 1984. Heterotrophic nitrification among denitrifiers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 47(4), 620-623.

- Castro-González M, Farías L. 2004. N<sub>2</sub>O cycling at the core of the oxygen minimum zone off northern Chile. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **280**, 1–11.
- Cattell, RB. 1966. The scree test for the number of factors. Multivariate Behavioral Research 1, 245-276.
- Cavigelli MA, Robertson GP. 2001. Role of denitrifier diversity in rates of nitrous oxide consumption in a terrestrial ecosystem. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33(3), 297-310.
- Chan YK, Knowles R. 1979. Measurement of denitrification in two freshwater sediments by an in situ acetylene inhibition method. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 37, 1067-1072.
- Chao A. 1987. Estimating the population-size for capture recapture data with unequal catchability. *Biometrics* 43, 783-791.
- Chao A, Lee SM. 1992. Estimating the number of classes via sample coverage. Journal of the American Statistical Association 87, 210-217.
- Cheneby D, Philippot L, Hartmann A, Henault C, Germon J-C. 2000. 16S rDNA analysis for characterization of denitrifying bacteria isolated from three agricultural soils. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **34**(2), 121-128.
- Chèneby D, Perrez S, Devroe C, Hallet S, Couton Y, Bizouard F, Iuretig G, Germon JC, and Philippot L. 2004. Denitrifying bacteria in bulk and maize-rhizospheric soil: diversity and N<sub>2</sub>O-reducing abilities. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 50(7), 469-474.
- Childs CR, Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Proctor LM. 2002. Sediment denitrification in the Gulf of Mexico zone of hypoxia. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 240, 285-290.
- Chiu CY, Lee SC, Juang HT, Hur MT, Hwang YH. 1996. Nitrogen status and fate of applied N in mangrove soils. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica* 39, 191-196.
- Chiu CY, Lee SC, Chen TH, Tian G. 2004. Denitrification associated N loss in mangrove soil. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 69, 185-189.
- Clarke PJ. 1985. Nitrogen pools and soil characteristics of a temperate estuarine Wetland in Eastern Australia. Aquatic Botany 23, 275-290.
- Clark DR, Andrew PR, Ian J. 2007. A method for the determination of nitrification rates in oligotrophic marine seawater by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Marine Chemistry* **103**(1-2), 84-96.
- Codispoti LA., Brandes JA, Christensen JP, Devol AH, Naqvi SWA, Paerl HW, Yoshinari T. 2001. The oceanic fixed nitrogen and nitrous oxide budgets: Moving targets as we enter the anthropocene? *Scientia Marina* 65(Suppl. 2), 85-105.
- Corredor JE, Morell JM. 1994. Nitrate depuration of secondary sewage effluents in mangrove sediments. *Estuaries* 17, 295-300.
- Corredor JE, Morell JM, Bauza J. 1999. Atmospheric nitrous oxide fluxes from mangrove sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 38(6), 473-478.
- Corredor JE, Howarth RW, Twilley RR, Morell JM. 1999. Nitrogen cycling and anthropogenic impact in the tropical interamerican seas. *Biogeochemistry* 46(1-3), 163-178.
- Cornwell JC, Kemp MW, Kana TM. 1999. Denitrification in coastal ecosystems: methods, environmental controls, and ecosystem level controls, a review. Aquatic Ecology 33, 41-54.

- Cramm R, Anne P, Bärbel F. 1999. Purification and characterization of the singlecomponent nitric oxide reductase from *Ralstonia eutropha* H16. *FEBS letters* **460**(1), 6-10.
- Crump BC, Hopkinson CS, Sogin ML, Hobbie JE. 2004. Microbial biogeography along an estuarine salinity gradient: combined influences of bacterial growth and residence time. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **70**(3), 1494-1505.
- Cuny P, Miralles G, Cornet-Barthaux V, Acquaviva M, Stora G, Grossi V, Gilbert Franck. 2007. Influence of bioturbation by the polychaete *Nereis diversicolor* on the structure of bacterial communities in oil contaminated coastal sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **54**(4), 452-459.
- Dalsgaard T, Thamdrup B. 2002. Factors controlling anaerobic ammonium oxidation with nitrite in marine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **68**(8), 3802-3808.
- Dalsgaard T, Canfield DE, Petersen J, Thamdrup B, Acuña-González J. 2003. N<sub>2</sub> production by the anammox reaction in the anoxic water column of Golfo Dulce, Costa Rica. *Nature* 422, 606-608.
- Dalsgaard T, Thamdrup B, Canfield DE. 2005. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation (anammox) in the marine environment. *Research in Microbiology* **156**, 457-464.
- Davidsson TE, Leonardson LG. 1996. Effects of nitrate and organic carbon additions on denitrification in two artificially flooded soils. *Ecological Engineering* 7(2), 139-149.
- Davidson EA, Strand MK, Galloway LF. 1985. Evaluation of the most probable number method for enumerating denitrifying bacteria. Soil Science Society of America Journal 49, 642-645.
- Desnues C, Michotey VD, Wieland A, Zhizang C, Fourc-ansd A, Durand R, Bonin PC. 2007. Seasonal and diel distributions of denitrifying and bacterial communities in a hypersaline microbial mat (Camargue, France). *Water Research* **41**, 3407-3419.
- De Souza SN. 1983. Studies on the behaviour of nutrients in the Mandovi estuary during premonsoon. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* 16, 299-308.
- De Souza SN. 1999. Effect of mining rejects on the nutrient chemistry of Mandovi estuary, Goa. Indian Journal of Marine Science 28, 198-210.
- Deutsch C, Gruber N, Key RM, Sarmiento JL, Ganachaud A. 2001. Denitrification and N<sub>2</sub> fixation in the Pacific Ocean. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **15**(2), 483-506.
- Devol AH. 1991. Direct measurement of nitrogen gas fluxes from continental shelf sediments. *Nature* 349, 319-321.
- Devol AH. 2002. Getting cool with nitrogen. Nature 415, 131-132.
- Devol AH. 2003. Nitrogen cycle—solution to a marine mystery. *Nature* 422, pp. 575-576.
- Divya B, Fernandes SO, Sheelu G, Nair S, Loka Bharathi PA, Chandramohan D. 2009. Limnotolerant bacteria govern nitrate concentration in Mandovi estuary, India. *Estuarine Coastal Shelf Science* 82, 29-34.
- Dodla SK, Wang JJ, Delaune RD, Cook RL. 2008. Denitrification potential and its relation to organic carbon quality in three coastal wetland soils. Science of the total environment 407(1), 471-480.

- Dong LF, Nedwell DB, Underwood GJC, Thornton DCO, Rusmana I. 2002. Nitrous oxide formation in the Colne Estuary, England: The central role of nitrite. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **8**, 1240-1249.
- Dong LF, Nedwell DB, Colbeck I, Finch J. 2004. Nitrous oxide emission from some English and Welsh rivers and estuaries. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 4(6), 127-134.
- Dong LF, Nedwell DB, Stott A. 2006. Sources of nitrogen used for denitrification and nitrous oxide formation in sediments of the hypernutrified Colne, the nutrified Humber, and the oligotrophic Conwy estuaries, United Kingdom. *Limnology and Oceanography* **51**(1 part 2), 545-557.
- Dong LF, Smith CJ, Papaspyrou S, Stott A, Osborn AM, Nedwell DB. 2009. Changes in benthic denitrification, nitrate ammonification and anammox process rates and nitrate- and nitrite-reductase gene abundances along an estuarine nutrient gradient; the Colne estuary, U.K Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(10), 3171-3179.
- Drysdale GD, Kasan HC, Bux F. 1999. Denitrification by heterotrophic bacteria during activated sludge treatment. *Water SA* 25(3), 357-362.
- Dubois M, Gilles KA, Hamilton JK, Rebers PA, Smith F. 1956. Colorimetric method for the determination of sugars and related substances. *Analytical Chemistry* 28, 350– 356.
- Dufour P, Charpy L, Bonnet S, Garcia N. 1999. Phytoplankton nutrient control in the oligotrophic South Pacific subtropical gyre (Tuamotu Archipelago). Marine Ecology Progress Series 179, 285-290.
- Dugdale RC, Goering JJ. 1967. Uptake of new and regenerated forms of nitrogen in primary productivity. *Limnology and Oceanography* **12**, 196-296.
- Ebrahimipour G, Lindenlaub P, Höpner T. 2000. Denitrification in intertidal black anoxic surface sediments forms rather N<sub>2</sub>O and nitrite instead of molecular nitrogen. *Marine Biodiversity* **30**(3-6), 73-80.
- Engström P, Dalsgaard T, Hulth S, Aller RC. 2005. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation by nitrite (anammox): Implications for N<sub>2</sub> production in coastal marine sediments *Geochimica et Cosmochim Acta* 69, 2057-2065.
- Ehrenreich P, Behrends A, Harder J, Widdel F. 2000. Anaerobic oxidation of alkanes by newly isolated denitrifying bacteria. *Archives of Microbiology* **173**(1), 58-64.
- Ellaiah P, Zeeck A. 2006. Cytotoxic compounds from the marine actinobacterium Streptomyces corchorusii AUBN<sub>1</sub>/7<sup>1</sup>. Russian Journal of Bioorganic Chemistry **32**(3), 295-300.
- El-Sayed SAM. 2003. The effect of soil temperature on denitrification and ammonification. *Egyptian Journal of Soil Science* **43**(4), 447-465.
- El Wakeel SK, Riley JP. 1957. Determination of organic carbon in the marine muds. Journal Du Conseil Intrenational Pour L'exploration De La Mer 22, 180-183.
- Enwall K. 2008. Community Ecology of Denitrifying Bacteria in Arable land PhD thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala
- Enwall K, Philippot L, Hallin S. 2005. Activity and composition of the denitrifying bacterial community respond differently to long-term fertilization. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(12), 8335-8343.

- Eshleman KN, Hemond HF. 1985. The role of soluble organics in acid-base status of surface waters at Bickford Watershed, Massachusetts. Water Resources Research 21, 1503-1510.
- Etchebehere C, Errazquin MI, Dabert P, Moletta R, Mux L. 2001. Comamonas nitrativorans sp. nov., a novel denitrifier isolated from a denitrifying reactor treating landfill leachate. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 51, 977-983.
- Evans PJ, Mang, DT, Kim KS, Young LY. 1991. Degradation of toluene by a denitrifying bacterium. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 57, 1139-1145.
- Fahrbach M, Kuever J, Meinke R, Kämpfer P, Hollender J. 2006. Denitratisoma oestradiolicum gen. nov., sp. nov., a 17β-oestradiol-degrading, denitrifying betaproteobacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 56, 1547-1552.
- Falk S, Hannig M, Gliesche C, Wardenga R, Köster M, Jürgens K, Braker G. 2007. NirScontaining denitrifier communities in the water column and sediment of the Baltic Sea. Biogeosciences 4(3), 697–727.
- Fan LF, Shieh WY, WU WF, Chen CP. 2006. Distribution of nitrogenous nutrients and denitrifiers strains in estuarine sediment profiles of the Tanshui River, northern Taiwan Estuarine. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **69**(3-4), 543-553.
- Felsenstein, J. 2005. PHYLIP (Phylogeny Inference Package) version 3.6. Department of Genome Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle.
- Fernex FE, Braconnot J-C, Dallot S, Boisson M. 1996. Is Ammonification Rate in Marine Sediment Related to Plankton Composition and Abundance? A Time-series Study in Villefranche Bay (NW Mediterranean). *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* 43(3), 359-371.
- Firestone MK, Davidson EA. 1989. Microbiological basis of NO and nitrous oxide production and consumption in soil. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (Eds.) *Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere*. John Wiley & Sons, New York pp. 7-21.
- Flanagan FJ. 1967. U.S. Geological survey silicate rock standards. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 31, 289-308.
- Flanagan FJ. 1976. Descriptions and analyses of eight new USGS rock standards. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 840, 192.
- Flemer DA, Lores EM, Bundrick CM. 1998. Potential sediment denitrification rates in estuaries of Northern Gulf of Mexico. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27(4), 859-868.
- Flores-Mireles AL, Winans SC, Holguin G. 2007. Molecular characterization of diazotrophic and denitrifying bacteria associated with mangrove roots. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **73**(22), 7308-7321.
- Folk RL. 1968. Petrology of sedimentary rocks. Hemphill Publishing, Austin, p. 44-50.
- Francis CA, Roberts KJ, Beman JM, Santoro AE, Oakley BB. 2005. Ubiquity and diversity of ammonia-oxidizing archaea in water columns and sediments of the ocean. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **102**, 14683-14688.
- Francis CA, Beman JM, Kuypers MMM. 2007. New processes and players in the nitrogen cycle: the microbial ecology of anaerobic and archaeal ammonia oxidation. *The ISME Journal* 1, 19-27.

- Fries MR, Zhou J, Chee-Sanford J, Tiedje JM. 1994. Isolation, characterization, and distribution of denitrifying toluene degraders from a variety of habitats. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **60**, 2802-2810.
- Gabriel KR. 1971. The biplot graphic display of matrices with application to principal component analysis. *Biometrika* 58, 453-467.
- Galand PE, Casamayor EO, Kirchman DL, Potvin M, Lovejoy C. 2009. Unique archaeal assemblages in the Arctic Ocean unveiled by massively parallel tag sequencing. *ISME Journal* 3(7), 860-869.
- Gamble TN, Betlach MR, Tiedje JM. 1977. Numerically dominant denitrifying bacteria from world soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **33**(4), 926-939.
- Gardner WS, McCarthy MJ, An S, Sobolev D, Sell KS, Brock D. 2006. Nitrogen fixation and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) support nitrogen dynamics in Texas estuaries. *Limnology and Oceanography* **51**(1), 558-568.
- Gattuso JP, Frankignoulle M, Wollast R. 1998. Carbon and carbonate metabolism in coastal aquatic ecosystems. *Annual Review of Ecological Systems* 29, 405-434.
- Gauthier MJ, Lafay B, Christen R, Fernandez L, Acquaviva M, Bonin P, Bertrand JC. 1992. Marinobacter hydrocarbonoclasticus gen. nov., sp. nov., a new, extremely halotolerant, hydrocarbon degrading marine bacterium. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 42, 568-576.
- Gayon E, Dupetit G. 1886. Recherches sur la reduction des nitrates par les infiniment petits. Soc. des Science's Physiques et Naturelles de Bordeaux, Series 3, 2, 201-307.
- Gerino M. 1990. The effects of bioturbation on particle redistribution in Mediterranean coastal sediment. Preliminary results. *Hydrobioiogia* 207, 251-258.
- Giblin AE, Hopkinson CS, Tucker J. 1997. Benthic metabolism and nutrient cycling in Boston Harbor, Massachusetts. *Estuaries* 20, 346-364.
- Gilbert F, Bonin P, Stora G. 1995. Effect of bioturbation on denitrification in a marine sediment from the West Mediterranean littoral. *Hydrobiologia* **304**(1), 49-58.
- Gilbert F, Philippe S, Bianchi M, Bonin P. 1997. Influence of shellfish farming activities on nitrification, nitrate reduction to ammonium and denitrification at the watersediment interface of the Thau lagoon, France. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 151, 143-153.
- Gilbert F, Stora G, Bonin P. 1998. Influence of bioturbation on denitrification activity in Mediterranean coastal sediments: an in *situ* experimental approach. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 163, 99-107.
- Ginestet P, Audic JM, Urbain V, Block JC. 1998. Estimation of nitrifying bacterial activities by measuring oxygen uptake in the presence of the metabolic inhibitors allylthiourea and azide. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 64 (6), 2266-2268.
- Gomes NC, Borges LR, Paranhos R, Pinto FN, Mendonça-Hagler LCS, Smalla K. 2008. Exploring the diversity of bacterial communities in sediments of urban mangrove forests. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **66**(1), 96-109.
- Goregues CM, Michotey VD, Bonin PC. 2005. Molecular, biochemical, and physiological approaches for understanding the ecology of denitrification. *Microbial Ecology* **49**(2), 198-208.

- Government of India. 1997. The State of Forest Report. Forest Survey of India. New Delhi, Ministry of Environment & Forests 38, 5-6.
- Graf G, Rosenberg R. 1997. Bioresuspension and biodeposition: a review. Journal of Marine Systems 11, 269-278.
- Gram C. 1884. The differential staining of schizomycetes in tissue sections and in dried preparations. Fortschitte der Medicin 2, 185-189.
- Gran V, Pitkänen H. 1999. Denitrification in estuarine sediments in the eastern Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. *Hydrobiologia* 393, 107-115.
- Grasshoff K. 1983. Determination of oxygen. In: Grasshoff K, Ehrjardt M, Kremling KV (Eds.) *Methods of seawater analysis*. Weinheim, Verlag Chemie.
- Greatorex JM. 2000. A review of methods for measuring methane, nitrous oxide and odour emissions from animal production activities. JTI Institutet för jordbruksoch miljöteknik pp 1-27
- Greene AC, Patel BKC, Yacob S. 2009. Geoalkalibacter subterraneus sp. nov., an anaerobic Fe(III)- and Mn(IV)-reducing bacterium from a petroleum reservoir, and emended descriptions of the family Desulfuromonadaceae and the genus Geoalkalibacter. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 59, 781-785.
- Groffman PM. 1986. Nitrification and denitrification in soil: A comparison of enzyme assay, incubation and enumeration methods. *Plant and Soil* 97(3), 445-450.
- Groffman PM, Altabet MA, Bohlke JK, Butterbach-Bahl K, David MB, Firestone MK, Giblin AE, Kana TM, Nielsen LP, Voytek MA. 2006. Methods for measuring denitrification: Diverse approaches to a difficult problem. *Ecological Applications* **16** (6), 2091–2122.
- Gruber N, Sarmiento JL. 1997. Global patterns of marine nitrogen fixation and denitrification. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 11, 235-266.
- Guynot ME, Toribio A, Quevedo M, Muxi L. 1998. Microflora of dissimilative nitrate reduction in a denitrifying reactor. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **50**(3), 396-400.
- Hahndel R, Isermann K. 1992. Soluble nitrogen and carbon in the subsoil in relation to vegetable production intensity. Acta Horticulturae 339, 193-206.
- Haijun X. 2002. Two starins of Alteromonas putrefaciens with dye-decolouring capability. Chinese Journal of Applied Environmental Biology. 8(3), 294-297.
- Hallin S, Throbäck IN, Dicksved J, Pell M. 2006. Metabolic profiles and genetic diversity of denitrifying communities in activated sludge after addition of methanol or ethanol. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72(8), 5445-5452.
- Hardy RWF, Holsten RD, Jackson EK & Burns RC. 1968. The acetylene-ethylene assay for N<sub>2</sub> fixation: laboratory and field evaluation. *Plant Physiology* **43**, 1185-1207.
- Harwati TU, Kasai Y, Kodama Y, Susilaningsih D, Watanabe K. 2007. Characterization of diverse hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria isolated from Indonesian seawater. *Microbes and Environments* 22(4), 412-415
- He Y, Inamori Y, Mizuochi M, Kong H, Iwami N, Sun T. 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from aerated composting of organic waste. *Environmental Science and Technology* **35**(11), 2347-2351.

- Heip CHR, Goosen NK, Herman PMJ, Kromkamp J, Middelburg JJ, Soetaert K. 1995. Production and consumption of biological particles in temperate tidal estuaries. Oceanography and Marine Biology. An Annual Review 33, 1-150.
- Henriksen K, Hansen JI, Blackburn TH. 1981. Rates of nitrification, distribution of nitrifying bacteria, and nitrate fluxes in different types of sediment from Danish waters. *Marine Biology* **61**, 299-304.
- Henry S, Baudoin E, López-Gutiérrez JC, Martin-Laurent F, Brauman A, Philippot L. 2004. Quantification of denitrifying bacteria in soils by *nirK* gene targeted realtime PCR. Journal of Microbiological Methods 59 (3), 327-335.
- Herbert RA. 1986. Nitrate respiration and nitrification in estuarine sediments. Gerbam Deuxième Colloque International de Bactériologie marine — CNRS, Brest, 1-5 octobre 1984 IFREMER, Actes de Colloques, 3, pp. 277-281
- Herbert RA. 1999. Nitrogen cycling in coastal marine ecosystems. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* 23(5), 563-590.
- Herrman KS, White JR. 2008. Denitrification in intact sediment cores from a constructed wetland: Examining the isotope pairing technique Applied Geochemistry 23(8), 2105-2112.
- Hettmann T, Siddiqui RA, Frey C, Santos-Silva T, Romao MJ, Diekmann S. 2004. Mutagenesis study on amino acids around the molybdenum centre of the periplasmic nitrate reductase from *Ralstonia eutropha*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **320**, 1211-1219.
- Hill AR, Cardaci M. 2004. Denitrification and organic carbon availability in Riparian wetland soils and subsurface. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68, 320-325.
- Hiraishi A, Muramatsu K, Urata K. 1995. Characterization of new denitrifying Rhodobacter strains isolated from photosynthetic sludge for wastewater treatment. Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering 79(1), 39-44.
- Hobbie JE, Daley RJ, Jasper S. 1977. Use of nucleopore filters for counting bacteria by fluorescence microscopy. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **33**, 1225-1228.
- Hochstein LI, Tomlinson GA. 1985. Denitrification by extremely halophilic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 27, 329-331.
- Holt JG, Krieg NR, Sneath PHA, Staley JT, Williams ST. 1994. Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, ninth edition.
- Holtan-Hartwig L, Dörsch P, Bakken LR. 2002. Low temperature control of soil denitrifying communities: kinetics of N<sub>2</sub>O production and reduction. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry 34(11), 1797-1806.
- Horiba Y, Khan ST, Hiraishi A. 2005. Characterization of the microbial community and culturable denitrifying bacteria in a solid-phase denitrification process using poly(ε-caprolactone) as the carbon and energy source. *Microbes and Environments* 20(1), 25-33.
- Horn MA, Drake HL, Schramm A. 2006. Nitrous oxide reductase genes (nosZ) of denitrifying microbial populations in soil and the earthworm gut are phylogenetically similar. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72(2), 1019-1026.

- Hou AX, Chen GX, Wang ZP, Cleemput OV, Patrick WH Jr. 2000. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from a rice field in relation to soil redox and microbiological processes. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64, 2180-2186.
- Houghton JT, Meira F, LG, Callander BA, Harris N, Kattenberg A, Maskell K (Eds) 1996. Climate Change, 1995: The Science of Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.572.
- Huber JA, Welch DB, Morrison HG, Huse SM, Neal PR, Butterfield DA, Sogin ML. 2007. Microbial population structures in the deep marine biosphere. *Science* **318**, 97-100.
- Hulth S, Aller RC, Gilbert F. 1999. Coupled anoxic nitrification/manganese reduction in marine sediments. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 63(1), 49-66.
- Hunter EM, Mills HJ, Kostka JE. 2006. Microbial community diversity associated with carbon and nitrogen cycling in permeable shelf sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72(9), 5689-5701.
- Huse S, Huber J, Morrison H, Sogin M, Welch, D. 2007. Accuracy and quality of massively parallel DNA pyrosequencing. *Genome Biol* 8, R143.
- Huse SM, Dethlefsen L, Huber JA, Welch DM, Relman DA, Sogin ML. 2008. Exploring microbial diversity and taxonomy using SSU rRNA hypervariable tag sequencing. *PLoS Genetics* 4(11), 1-10.
- Huttel M. 1990. Influence of the lugworm Arenicola marina on porewater nutrient profiles of sand flat sediments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 62, 241-248.
- Hyde KD, Lee SY. 1995. Ecology of mangrove fungi and their role in nutrient cycling: what gaps occur in our knowledge? *Hydrobiologia* **295**(1-3), 107-118.
- Itokawa H, Hanaki K, Matsuo T. 1996. Nitrous oxide emission during nitrification and denitrification in a full-scale night soil treatment plant. *Water Science and Technology* **34**(1), 277-284.
- Jagtap TG. 1985. Structure and composition of the mangrove forest along the Goa coast. Proceedings of National Symposium Biol. Util. Cons. Mangroves, 188-195.
- Jagtap TG, Chavan VS, Untawale AG. 1993. Mangrove ecosystems of India: A need for protection. *Ambio* 22(4), 252-254.
- Jagtap TG, Untawale AG, Inamdar SN. 1994. Study of mangrove environment of Maharashtra coast using remote sensing data. *Indian Journal of Marine Science* 23(2), 90-93.
- Jagtap TG, Komarpant DS. 2003. Evaluation of mangrove ecosystem of India for assessing its vulnerability to projected climatic changes. In: Dash SK, Rao P (Eds.) Assessment of climate change in India and mitigation policies World Wide Fund for Nature-India, New Delhi, India. p. 39-51.
- Jahnke RA, Emerson SR, Murray JW. 1982. A model of oxygen reduction, denitrification, and organic matter mineralization in marine sediments. *Limnology* and Oceanography 27, 610-623.
- Jayakumar DA, Francis CA, Naqvi WA, Ward BB. 2004. Diversity of nitrite reductase genes (*nirS*) in the denitrifying water column of the coastal Arabian Sea. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 34, 69-78.
- Johnson DB, Bacelar-Nicolau P, Okibe N, Thomas A, Hallberg KB. 2009. Ferrimicrobium acidiphilum gen. nov., sp. nov. and Ferrithrix thermotolerans gen. nov., sp. nov.: heterotrophic, iron-oxidizing, extremely acidophilic

actinobacteria. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 59(Pt 5), 1082-1089.

- Jones AM, Knowles R. 1991. Enumeration of *Flexibacter canadensis* in environmental samples by using a bacteriophage isolated from soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 57(10), 3043-3045.
- Jørgensen KS. 1989. Annual pattern of denitrification and nitrate ammonification in estuarine sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 55(7), 1841-1847.
- Jørgensen KS, Tiedje JM. 1993. Survival of denitrifiers in nitrate-free, anaerobic environments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59(10), 3297-3305.
- Jousset S, Tabachow RM, Peirce JJ. 2001. Soil nitric oxide emissions from nitrification and denitrification. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* **127**(4), 322-328.
- Joye SB, Paerl HW. 1994. Nitrogen cycling in marine microbial mats: Rates and patterns of nitrogen fixation and denitrification. *Marine Biology* **119**, 285-295.
- Joye SB, Smith SV, Hollibaugh JT, Paerl HW. 1996. Estimating denitrification rates in estuarine sediments: a comparison of stoichiometric and acetylene based methods. *Biogeochemistry* 33, 197-215.
- Kampschreur MJ, Picioreanu C, Tan N, Kleerebezem R, Jetten MSM, Van Loosdrecht MCM. 2007. Unraveling the source of nitric oxide emission during nitrification. *Water Environment Research* **79**(13), 2499-2509.
- Kana TM, Darkangelo C, Hunt MD, Oldham JB, Bennett GE, Cornwell JC. 1994. Membrane inlet mass spectrometer for rapid high-precision determination of N2, O2, and Ar in environmental water samples. *Analytical Chemistry* 66, 4166–4170.
- Kana TM, Sullivan MB, Cornwell JC, Groszkowski KM. 1998. Denitrification in estuarine sediments determined by membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *Limnology* and oceanography 43(2), 334-339.
- Kariminiaae-Hamedaani H-R, Kohzo K, Kato F. 2004. Denitrification activity of the bacterium *Pseudomonas* sp. ASM-2-3 isolated from the Ariake Sea tideland. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* **97**(1), 39-44.
- Karsten GR, Drake HL. 1997. Denitrifying bacteria in the earthworm gastrointestinal tract and in vivo emission of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) by earthworms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63(5), 1878-1882.
- Karstensen J, Stramma L, Visbeck M. 2008. Oxygen minimum zones in the eastern tropical Atlantic and Pacific oceans. *Progress in Oceanography* 77(4), 331-350.
- Kartal B, Kuypers MMM, Lavik G, Schalk J, Op den Camp H, Jetten M, Strous M. 2007. Anammox bacteria disguised as denitrifiers: nitrate reduction to dinitrogen gas via nitrite and ammonium. *Environmental Microbiology* 9(3), 635–642.
- Kaspar HF. 1982. Denitrification in marine sediment: measurement of capacity and estimate of in situ rate. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **43**(3), 522-527.
- Kaspar HF. 1983. Denitrification, nitrate reduction to ammonium, and inorganic nitrogen pools in intertidal sediments. *Marine Biology* 74, 133-139.
- Kelso BHL, Smith RV, Laughlin RJ, Lennox SD. 1997. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction in anaerobic sediments leading to river nitrite accumulation. Applied And Environmental Microbiology 63(12), 4679-4685.

- Kemp WM, Sampou P, Caffrey J, Mayerr M, Henriksen K, Boynton WR. 1990. Ammonium recycling versus denitrification in Chesapeake Bay sediments. *Limnology and Oceanography* 35, 1545-1563.
- Kennedy MJ, Lawless JG. 1985. Role of chemotaxis in the ecology of denitrifiers. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 49(1), 109-114.
- Kerekes J, Beauchamp S, Tordon R, Tremblay C, Pollock T. 1986. Organic versus anthropogenic acidity in tributaries of the Kejimkujik watershed in western Nova Scotia. *Water Air Soil Pollution* **31**, 165-173.
- Kim NJ, Sugano Y, Hirai M, Shoda M. 2000. Removal of a high load of ammonia gas by a marine bacterium, Vibrio alginolyticus. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 90(4), 410-415.
- Kim TK, Hewavitharana AK, Shaw NP, Fuerst JA. 2006. Discovery of a new source of rifamycin antibiotics in marine sponge Actinobacteria by phylogenetic prediction. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **72**(3), 2118-2125.
- Kim YH, Cha CJ, Engesser KH, Kim SJ. 2008. Degradation of various alkyl ethers by alkyl ether-degrading Actinobacteria isolated from activated sludge of a mixed wastewater treatment. Chemosphere 73(9), 1442-1447.
- King D, Nedwell DB. 1987. The adaptation of nitrate-reducing bacterial communities in estuarine sediments in response to overlying nitrate load. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* **45**(1), 15-20.
- Klingensmith KM, Alexander V. 1983. Sediment nitrification, denitrification, and nitrous oxide production in a deep Arctic lake. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **46**(5), 1084–1092.
- Knowles R. 1982. Denitrification in soils. In: Subba Rao NS. (Ed.) Advances in Agricultural Microbiology. Butterworth Sci. Pub., London, UK. p. 246-266.
- Koike I, Hattori A. 1978. Simultaneous determination of nitrification and nitrate reduction in coastal sediments by a <sup>15</sup>N dilution technique. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 35, 853-857.
- Koike I, Terauchi K. 1996. Fine scale distribution of nitrous oxide in marine sediments. Marine Chemistry 52, 185-193.
- Körner H, Zumft WG. 1989. Expression of denitrification enzymes in response to the dissolved oxygen level and respiratory substrate in continuous culture of *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **55**(7), 1670-1676.
- Koroleff F. 1969. Direct determination of ammonia in natural waters as indophenol blue. ICES C.M. 1969/C: 9. Hydrol Commun p. 4.
- Kovacs N. 1956. Identification of *Pseudomonas pyocyanea* by the oxidase reaction. *Nature* 178, 703.
- Kreuzwieser J, Buchholz J, Rennenberg H. 2003. Emission of methane and nitrous oxide by Australian mangrove ecosystems. *Plant Biology* 5, 423-431.
- Kristensen E, Hjorth JM, Aller RC. 1991. Direct measurement of dissolved inorganic nitrogen exchange and denitrification in individual polychaete (*Nereis virens*) burrows. Journal of Marine Research 49, 355-377.
- Kristensen E, Jensen MH, Banta GT, Hansen K, Holmer M, King GM. 1998. Transformation and transport of inorganic nitrogen in sediments of a southeast Asian mangrove forest. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* 15, 165-175.

- Kristiansen S, Schaanning TM. 2002. Denitrification in the water column of an intermittently anoxic fjord. *Hydrobiologia* **469**(1-3), 77-86.
- Krishnan, KP, Fernandes SO, Chandan GS, Loka Bharathi PA. 2007. Bacterial contribution to mitigation of iron and manganese in mangrove sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 54(9), 1427-1433.
- Krishnan KP, Fernandes SO, Loka Bharathi PA, Krishna KL, Nair S, Pratihary AK, Rao BR. 2008. Anoxia over the western continental shelf of India: Bacterial indications of intrinsic nitrification feeding denitrification. *Marine Environmental Research* 65, 445-455.
- Krishnan KP, Loka Bharathi PA. 2009. Organic carbon and iron modulate nitrification rates in mangrove swamps of Goa, South west coast of India. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* 84, 419-426.
- Krithika K, Purvaja R, Ramesh R. 2008. Fluxes of methane and nitrous oxide from an Indian mangrove. *Current Science* 94(2), 218-224.
- Kubota Y, Naoki T, Hirofumi S. 1999. Membrane-associated, dissimilatory nitrite reductase of the denitrifying fungus *Cylindrocarpon tonkinense*. Archives of Microbiology 171, 210-213.
- Kustka A, Carpenter EJ, Sañudo-Wilhelmy SA. 2002. Iron and marine nitrogen fixation: progress and future directions. *Research in Microbiology* **153**, 255–262.
- Kuypers MMM, Sliekers AO, Lavik G, Schmid M, Jørgensen BB, Kuenen JG, Damsté JSS, Strous M, Jetten MSM. 2003. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation by anammox bacteria in the Black Sea. *Nature* 422, 608-611.
- Kuypers MMM, Lavik G, Woebken D, Schmid M, Fuchs BM, Amann R, Jørgensen BB, Jetten MSM. 2005. Massive nitrogen loss from the Benguela upwelling system through anaerobic ammonium oxidation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 102(18), 6478-6483.
- Labbé N, Parent S, Villemur R. 2003. Addition of trace metals increases denitrification rate in closed marine systems. *Water Research* 37(4), 914-920.
- Laima MJC, Girard MF, Vouvé F, Blanchard GF, Gouleau D, Galois R, Richard P. 1999. Distribution of adsorbed ammonium pools in two intertidal sedimentary structures. Marennes-Oléron Bay, France. Marine Ecology Progress Series 182, 29-35.
- La Montagne MG, Valiela I. 1995. Denitrification measured by a direct N<sub>2</sub> flux method in sediments of Waquoit Bay, MA. *Biogeochemistry* **31**, 63-83.
- Lanciano P, Vergnes A, Grimaldi S, Guigliarelli B, Magalon A. 2007. Biogenesis of a respiratory complex is orchestrated by a single accessory protein. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282(24), 17468-17474.
- Laurent MCZ, Gros O, Brulport JP, Gaill F, Le Bris N. 2009. Sunken wood habitat for thiotrophic symbiosis in mangrove swamps. *Marine Environmental Research* 67, 83–88.
- Laverman AM, Van Cappellen P, Van Rotterdam-los D, Pallud C, Abell J. 2006. Potential rates and pathways of microbial nitrate reduction in coastal sediments. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 58(2),179-192.
- Laverman AM, Meile C, Van Cappellen P, Wieringa EBA. 2007. Vertical distribution of denitrification in an estuarine sediment: Integrating sediment flowthrough reactor

experiments and microprofiling via reactive transport modelling. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(10), 40-47.

- Lee RY, Joye SB. 2006. Seasonal patterns of nitrogen fixation and denitrification in oceanic mangrove habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 307, 127-141.
- Leta S, Gumaelius L, Assefa F, Dalhammar G. 2004. Identification of efficient denitrifying bacteria from tannery wastewaters in Ethiopia and a study of the effects of chromium III and sulphide on their denitrification rate. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 20(4), 405-411.
- Liang DW, Zhang T, Fang H. 2007. Denitrifying degradation of dimethyl phthalate. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 74(1), 221-229.
- Liang JB, Chen YQ, Lan CY, Tam NFY, Zan QJ, Huang LN. 2007. Recovery of novel bacterial diversity from mangrove sediment. *Marine Biology* **150**(5), 739-747.
- Lin YT, Shieh WY. 2006. Zobellella denitrificans gen. nov., sp. nov., and Zobellella taiwanensis sp. nov., denitrifying bacteria capable of fermentative metabolism. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 56, 1209-1215.
- Liu X, Tiquia SM, Holguin G, Wu L, Nold SC, Devol AH, Luo K, Palumbo AV, Tiedje JM, Zhou J. 2003. Molecular diversity of denitrifying genes in continental margin sediments within the oxygen-deficient zone off the Pacific coast of Mexico. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69**(6), 3549-3560.
- Lloyd D, Scott RI. 1983. Direct measurement of dissolved gases in microbiological systems using membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 1(6), 313-328.
- Lohse L, Malschaert JFP, Slomp CP, Helder W, Van Raaphorst W. 1993. Nitrogen cycling in North Sea sediments: interaction of denitrification and nitrification in offshore and coastal areas. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **101**, 283-296
- Lohse L, Kloosterhuis HT, van Raaphorst W, Helder W. 1996. Denitrification rates measured by the isotope pairing technique in continental shelf sediments of the North Sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 132, 169-179.
- Loka Bharathi PA, Oak S, Chandramohan D. 1991. Sulfate-reducing bacteria from mangrove swamps. II. Their ecology and physiology *Oceanologica Acta* 14, 163-171.
- Lowrance R, Hubbard RK. 2001. Denitrification from a swine lagoon overland flow treatment system at a pasture-riparian zone interface. Journal of Environmental Quality 30, 617-624.
- Lovelock CE, Feller IC, Ball MC, Engelbrecht BMJ, Mei LE. 2006. Differences in plant function in phosphorus- and nitrogen-limited mangrove ecosystems. New phytologist 172(3), 514-522.
- Lovley DR, Holmes DE, Nevin KP. 2004. Dissimilatory Fe(III) and Mn(IV) reduction. Advances in Microbial Physiology 49, 219-286.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. 1951. Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 193, 265-275.
- Luo J, Tillman RW, Ball PR. 1999. Factors regulating denitrification in a soil under pasture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31(6), 913-927.

- Luther GW, Sundby B, Lewis BL, Silverberg N. 1997. Interactions of manganese with the nitrogen cycle: alternative pathways to dinitrogen. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 61, 4043-4045.
- Ma WK, Bedard-Haughn A, Siciliano SD, Farrell RE. 2008. Relationship between nitrifier and denitrifier community composition and abundance in predicting nitrous oxide emissions from ephemeral wetland soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40(5), 1114-1123.
- Mackin JE, Aller RC. 1984. Ammonium adsorption in marine sediments. Limnology and Oceanography 29, 250-257.
- Magalhães CM, Wiebe WJ, Joye SB, Bordalo AA. 2005. Inorganic nitrogen dynamics in intertidal rocky biofilms and sediments of the Douro river estuary (Portugal). *Estuaries* 28(4), 592-607.
- Magalhães C, Bano N, Wiebe WJ, Bordalo AA, Hollibaugh JT. 2008. Dynamics of Nitrous oxide reductase genes (nosZ) in intertidal rocky biofilms and sediments of the Douro river estuary (Portugal), and their relation to N-biogeochemistry. Microbial Ecology 55(2), 259-269.
- Manachini LP, Mora D, Nicastro G, Parini C, Stackebrandt E, Pukall R, Fortina GM. 2000. Bacillus thermodenitrificans sp. nov., nom . rev. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 50, 1331-1337.
- Mancino CF, Torello WA. 1986. Enumeration of denitrifying microbial populations in turf. *Plant and Soil* 96(1), 149-151.
- Mancinelli RL, Hochstein LI. 1986. The occurrence of denitrification in extremely halophilic bacteria. FEMS Microbiology Letters 35, 55-58.
- Manivasagan P, Gnanam S, Sivakumar K, Thangaradjou T. 2009. Antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities of an Actinobacteria (*Streptomyces* Sp. PM-32) isolated from an offshore sediments of the Bay of Bengal in Tamil Nadu. Advances in Biological Research 3(5-6), 231-236.
- Marchand C., Baltzerb F, Lallier-Vergèsa E, Albéric P. 2004. Pore-water chemistry in mangrove sediments: relationship with species composition and developmental stages (French Guiana). *Marine Geology* 208, 361-381.
- Marsili-Libelli S, Manzini M. 2000. Adaptive control for organic carbon dosing in denitrification. Proceeding of IWA-WATERMATEX'2000, 5<sup>th</sup> International Symposium on Systems Analysis and Computing in Water Quality Management, Gent, Belgium pp. 3.97-3.104.
- Martin K, Parsons LL, Murray RE, Smith MS. 1988. Dynamics of soil denitrifier populations: relationships between enzyme activity, most-probable-number counts, and actual N gas loss. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 54, 2711-2716.
- Master Y, Shavit U, Shaviv A. 2005. Modified isotope pairing technique to study N transformations in polluted aquatic systems: theory. *Environmental Science and Technology* **39**(6), 1749-1756.
- Mathieu O, Lévêque J, Hénault C, Milloux MJ, Bizouard F, Andreux F. 2006. Emissions and spatial variability of N<sub>2</sub>O, N<sub>2</sub> and nitrous oxide mole fraction at the field scale, revealed with <sup>15</sup>N isotopic techniques. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **38**(5), 941-951.

- Matsuda Y, Inamori K, Osaki T, Eguchi A, Watanabe A, Kawabata S, Iba K, Arata H. 2002. Nitric oxide-reductase homologue that contains a copper atom and has cytochrome c-oxidase activity from an aerobic phototrophic bacterium Roseobacter denitrificans. The Journal of Biochemistry 131, 791-800.
- McCarty GW, Bremner JM. 1993. Factors affecting the availability of organic carbon for denitrification of nitrate in subsoils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 15(2), 132-136.
- McCutchan JH, Lewis WM. 2008. Spatial and temporal patterns of denitrification in an effluent-dominated plains river. *Verh International Verein Limnology*, **30**(2), 323-328.
- Mengis M, Bernasconi S, Gächter R, Wehrli B. 1997. Nitrogen elimination in two deep eutrophic lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography* 42, 1530-1543.
- Meyer RL, Risgaard-Petersen N, Allen DE. 2005. Correlation between anammox activity and microscale distribution of nitrite in a sub-tropical mangrove sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71(10), 6142-6149.
- Meyer RL, Allen DE, Schmidt S. 2008. Nitrification and denitrification as sources of sediment nitrous oxide production: A microsensor approach. *Marine Chemistry* **110**, 68-76.
- Michotey VD, Méjean V, Bonin PC. 2000. Comparison of methods for quantification of cytochrome cd<sub>1</sub>-denitrifying bacteria in environmental marine samples. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(4), 1564-1571.
- Middelburg JJ, Nieuwenhuize J. 2000. Uptake of dissolved inorganic nitrogen in turbid, tidal estuaries. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 192, 79-88.
- Middelburg, JJ, Soetart K and Herman PMJ. 1996. Evaluation of the nitrogen isotopepairing method for measuring benthic denitrification: A simulation analysis. *Limnology and Oceanography* **41**, 1839-1844.
- Mills HJ, Hunter E, Humphrys M, Kerkhof L, McGuinness L, Huettel M, Kostka JE. 2008. Characterization of nitrifying, denitrifying, and overall bacterial communities in permeable marine sediments of the Northeastern Gulf of Mexico. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 74(14), 4440-4453.
- Minjeaud L, Bonin PC, Michotey VD. 2008. Nitrogen fluxes from marine sediments: quantification of the associated co-occurring bacterial processes. *Biogeochemistry* **90**(2), 141-157.
- Moore TR. 1989. Dynamics of dissolved organic carbon in forested and disturbed catchments, wetland, New Zealand. Water Resources Research 25, 1321-1330.
- Morell JM, Corredor JE. 1993. Sediment nitrogen trapping in a mangrove lagoon. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 37, 203-212.
- Mortimer RJG, Davey JT, Krom MD, Watson PG, Frickers PE, Clifton RJ. 1999. The effect of macrofauna on pore water profiles and nutrient fluxes in the intertidal zone of the Humber estuary. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **48**(6), **683-699**.
- Mosquera-Corral A, De Kreuk MK, Heijnen JJ, Van Loosdrecht MCM. 2005. Effects of oxygen concentration on N-removal in an aerobic granular sludge reactor. Water Research 39, 2676-2686.
- Mulder A, Van de Graaf AA, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG. 1995. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation discovered in a denitrifying fluidized bed reactor. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* **16**, 177-184.

- Mulholland PJ, Valett MH, Webster JR, Thomas SA, Cooper LW, Hamilton SK, Peterson BJ. 2004. Stream denitrification and total nitrate uptake rates measured using a field <sup>15</sup>N tracer addition approach. Limnology and Oceanography **49**(3), 809–820.
- Munn CB. 2004. Marine microbes. In: *Marine Microbiology: Ecology and Applications*. Published by Taylor & Francis.
- Muñoz-Hincapié M, Morell JM, Corredor JE. 2002. Increase of nitrous oxide flux to the atmosphere upon nitrogen addition to red mangroves sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **44**(10), 992-996.
- Murray RE, Knowles R. 1999. Chloramphenicol inhibition of denitrifying enzyme activity in two agricultural soils. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65(8), 3487-3492.
- Myers RM, Fischer SG, Lerman LS, Maniatis T. 1985. Nearly all single base substitutions in DNA fragments joined to a GC-clamp can be detected by denaturing gradient gel-electrophoresis. *Nucleic Acids Research* 13(9), 3131-3145.
- Myers CR, Nealson KH. Respiration-linked proton translocation coupled to anaerobic reduction of manganese (IV) and iron (III) in *Shewanella putrefaciens* MR-1. 1990. Journal of Bacteriology 172(11), 6232-6238.
- Nakajima J, Sakka M, Kimura T, Furukawa K, Sakka K. 2008. Enrichment of anammox bacteria from marine environment for the construction of a bioremediation reactor. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 77(5), 1159-1166.
- Naqvi SWA. 1994. Denitrification processes in the Arabian Sea. Proceedings of the Indian Acadamy of Sciences (earth Planet. Sci.) 103(2), 279-300.
- Naqvi SWA, Jayakumar DA, Narvekar PV, Naik H, Sarma VVSS, DeSouza W, Joseph S, George MD. 2000. Increased marine production of N<sub>2</sub>O due to intensifying anoxia on the Indian continental shelf. *Nature* **408**, 346-349.
- Naqvi SWA, Naik H, Pratihary A, D'Souza W, Narvekar PV, Jayakumar DA, Devol AH, Yoshinari T, Saino T. 2006. Coastal versus open-ocean denitrification in the Arabian Sea. *Biogeosciences* 3, 621-633.
- Nedwell DB. 1975. Inorganic nitrogen metabolism in a eutrophicated tropical mangrove estuary. *Water Research* 9, 221-231.
- Nielsen LP. 1992. Denitrification in sediment determined from nitrogen isotope pairing. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 86, 357-362.
- Nielsen LP. 1993. Denitrification in microbial gradient communities. In: Guerrero R, Pedros-A116 C (Eds.) Trends in microbial ecology. Spanish Society for Microbiology. Barcelona, pp. 153-156.
- Nielsen K, Nielsen LP, Rasmussen P. 1995. Estuarine nitrogen retention independently estimated by the denitrification rate and mass balance methods: a study of Norsminde Fjord, Denmark. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **119**, 275-283.
- Nielsen TH, Nielsen LP, Revsbech NP. 1996. Nitrification and coupled nitrificationdenitrification associated with a soil-manure interface. Soil Science Society of America Journal 60, 1829-1840.
- Nishio T, Koike I, Hattori A. 1982. Denitrification, nitrate reduction, and oxygen consumption in coastal and estuarine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **43**(3), 648-653.

- Nixon SW. 1981. Remineralisation and nutrient cycling in marine coastal ecosystems, In: Neilson BJ, Cronon LE (Eds.), *Estuaries and nutrients*. Human press, Clifton, NJ. pp. 111-138.
- Nixon SW, Ammerman JW, Atkinson LP, Berounsky VM, Billen G, Boicourt WC, Boynton WR, Church TM, DiToro DM, Elmgren R, Garber RH, Giblin AE, Jahnke RA, Owens NJP, Pilson MEQ, Seitzinger SP. 1996. The fate of nitrogen and phosphorus at the land-sea margin of the North Atlantic Ocean. Biogeochemistry 35, 141-180.
- Noda N, Yoshie S, Miyano T, Tsuneda S, Hirata A, Inamori Y. 2002. PCR-DGGE analysis of denitrifying bacteria in a metallurgic wastewater treatment process. *Water Science and Technology* 46(1-2), 333-336.
- Nogales B, Kenneth NT, Nedwell DB, Osborn AM. 2002. Detection and Diversity of Expressed Denitrification genes in estuarine sediments after reverse transcription-PCR amplification from mRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **68**(10), 5017–5025.
- Nowicki BL. 1994. The effect of temperature, oxygen, salinity, and nutrient enrichment on estuarine denitrification rates measured with a modified nitrogen gas flux technique. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **38**, 137-156.
- Ogner G, Randem G, Remedios G, Wickstrom T. 2001. Increase of soil acidity and concentrations of extractable elements by 1M ammonium nitrate after storage of dry soil for up to 5 years at 22°C. Communications in soil science and plant analysis **32**(5-6), 675-684.
- Oguz T, Murray JW, Callahan AE. 2001. Modelling redox cycling across the suboxic interface zone in the Black Sea. *Deep-Sea Res. I* 48, 761-787.
- Ohlendieck U, Stuhr A, Heike S. 2000. Nitrogen fixation by diazotrophic cyanobacteria in the Baltic Sea and transfer of the newly fixed nitrogen to picoplankton organisms. *Journal of Marine Systems* 25(3-4), 213-219.
- Okereke GU. 1984. Prevalence of nitrous oxide reducing capacity in denitrifiers from a variety of habitats. *Plant and Soil* 81(3), 421-428.
- Oliver JD. 1982. Taxonomic scheme for the identification of marine bacteria. Deep Sea Research 29, 795-798.
- Ong JE, Gong WK, Clough BF. 1995. Structure and productivity of a 20-year-old *Rhizophora apiculata* Bl. mangrove forest. *Journal of Biogeography* 22, 417-424.
- Paisse S, Coulon F, Goñi-Urriza M, Peperzak L, McGenity TJ, Duran R. 2008. Structure of bacterial communities along a hydrocarbon contamination gradient in coastal sediment. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 66(2), 295-305.
- Pankratov TA, Dedysh SN, Zavarzin GA. 2006. The leading role of actinobacteria in aerobic cellulose degradation in *Sphagnum* peat bogs. *Doklady Biological Sciences* **410**(1), 428-430.
- Parashar DC, Kulshrestha UC, Sharma C. 1998. Anthropogenic emission of NO<sub>x</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in India. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* **52**, 255-259.
- Parsons TR, Maita Y, Lalli CM. 1984. A manual of chemical and biological methods for seawater analysis, Pergamon Press, New York.

Pathak H. 1999. Emissions of nitrous oxide from soil. Current Science 77(3), 359-369.

Payne WJ. 1983. Bacterial Denitrification: Asset or Defect? BioScience 33(5), 319-325.
Payne WJ. 1986. Centenary of the Isolation of Denitrifying Bacteria ASM News 52(12), 627-629.

Pelegri SP, Nielsen LP, Blackburn TH. 1994. Denitrification estuarine sediment stimulated by the Irrigation activity of the amphipod Corophium volutator. Marine Ecology Progress Series 105, 285-290.

Pennifold M, Davis J. 2001. Macrofauna and nutrient cycling in the Swan River Estuary, Western Australia: experimental results. Hydrological Processes 15, 2537-2553.

Pfenning KS, McMahon PB. 1997. Effect of nitrate, organic carbon, and temperature on potential denitrification rates in nitrate-rich riverbed sediments. *Journal of Hydrology* 187(3), 283-295.

Pernetta JC. 1993. Mangrove forests, climate change and sea level rise: hydrological influences on community structure and survival, with examples from the Indo-West Pacific, *Marine Conservation and Development Report*, IUCN, Gland, Switzerland pp. 46.

Philippot L. 2006. Use of functional genes to quantify denitrifiers in the environment. Biochemical Society Transactions 34, 101-103.

Philippot L, Germon JC. 2005. Contribution of bacteria to initial input and cycling of nitrogen in soils. In: Buscot F, Varma A (Eds.), *Microorganisms in soils: roles in genesis and functions.* Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg. pp. 159-176.

Phillips BM, Anderson BS, Hunt JW. 1997. Measurement and distribution of interstitial and overlying water ammonia and hydrogen sulfide in sediment toxicity tests. *Marine Environmental Research* 44(2), 117-126.

Pintathong P, Richardson DJ, Spiro S, Choorit W. 2009. Influence of metal ions and organic carbons on denitrification activity of the halotolerant bacterium, *Paracoccus pantotrophus* P16 a strain from shrimp pond. *Journal of Biotechnology* 12(2) (DOI: 10.2225/vol12-issue2-fulltext-12).

Pischedda L, Poggiale JC, Cuny P, Gilbert F. 2008. Imaging Oxygen Distribution in Marine Sediments. The Importance of Bioturbation and Sediment Heterogeneity. Acta Biotheoretica 56, 123–135.

Piza FF, Prado PI, Manfio GP. 2004. Investigation of bacterial diversity in Brazilian tropical estuarine sediments reveals high Actinobacterial diversity. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 86(4), 317-328.

Prabhakaran N, Gupta R, Kutty MK. 1987. Fungal activity in Mangalvan: an estuarine mangrove ecosystem. Proceedings of National Seminar on Estuarine Management, 4-5 June 1987, Trivandrum, 458-463.

Prieme A, Braker G, Tiedje JM. 2002. Diversity of nitrite reductase (*nirK* and *nirS*) gene fragments in forested upland and wetland soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 68, 1893-1900.

Purvaja R, Ramesh R, Ray AK, Rixen T. 2008. Nitrogen cycling: A review of the processes, transformations and fluxes in coastal ecosystems. *Current Science* 94(11), 1419-1438.

Qin L, Yu L, Tay J-H. 2005. Denitrification on poly -β -hydroxybutyrate in microbial granular sludge sequencing batch reactor. *Water Research* **39**(8), 1503-1510.

Rabus R, Widdel F. 1995. Anaerobic degradation of ethylbenzene and other aromatic hydrocarbons by new denitrifying bacteria. Archives of Microbiology 163, 96-103.

- Raghukumar S. 1989. Marine fungi. National Inst. of Oceanography; Dona Paula, Goa; India. Training programme in oceanography under Core project Lecture notes 106-110.
- Rakhimova ER, Osipova AL, Zaripova SK. 2004. Purification of soil from oil pollutants with the use of denitrifying hydrocarbon-oxidizing microorganisms. *Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology* **40**(6), 563-567.
- Ramos E Silva CA, Oliveira SR, Rego RDP, Mozeto AA. 2007. Dynamics of phosphorus and nitrogen through litter fall and decomposition in a tropical mangrove forest. *Marine Environmental Research* 64(4), 524-534.
- R Development Core Team (2007). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org
- Reed AJ, Dorn R, Van Dover CL, Lutz RA, Vetriani C. 2009. Phylogenetic diversity of methanogenic, sulfate-reducing and methanotrophic prokaryotes from deep-sea hydrothermal vents and cold seeps. *Deep Sea Research* (Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography) 56(19-20), 1665-1674.
- Rezaee A, Godini H, Dehestani S, Yazdanbakhsh AR, Mosavi G, Kazemnejad A. 2008. Biological denitrification by *Pseudomonas stutzeri* immobilized on microbial cellulose. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 24(11), 2397-2402.
- Rhine DE, Phelps CD, Young LY. 2006. Anaerobic arsenite oxidation by novel denitrifying isolates. *Environmental Microbiology* **8**(5), 899-908.
- Rich JJ, Myrold DD. 2004. Community composition and activities of denitrifying bacteria from adjacent agricultural soil, riparian soil, and creek sediment in Oregon, USA. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36(9), 1431-1441.
- Rich JJ, Dale OR, Song B, Ward BB. 2008. Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation (Anammox) in Chesapeake Bay Sediments. *Microbial Ecology* 55(2), 311-320.
- Richardson K, Jorgensen BB. 1996. Eutrophication: Definition, history and effects. In: Richardson K, Jorgensen BB. (Eds.) Eutrophication in CoastalMarine Ecosystems, American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC
- Richardson DJ, Berks BC, Russell DA, Spiro S, Taylor CJ. 2001. Functional, biochemical and genetic diversity of prokaryotic nitrate reductases. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 58,165-178.
- Risgaard-Petersen N, Rysgaard S, Nielsen LP, Revsbech NP. 1994. Diurnal variation of denitrification and nitrification in sediments colonized by benthic rnicrophytes. Limnology and Oceanography 39, 573-579.
- Risgaard-Petersen N, Nielsen LP, Rysgaard S, Dalsgaard T, Meyer RL. 2003. Application of the isotope pairing technique in sediments where anammox and denitrification coexist. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods* 1, 63-73.
- Risgaard-Petersen N, Meyer RL, Revsbech NP. 2005. Denitrification and anaerobic ammonium oxidation in sediments: effects of microphytobenthos and NO<sub>3</sub>. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 40(1), 67-76.
- Rivera-Monroy VH, Twilley RR. 1996. The relative role of denitrification and immobilization in the fate of inorganic nitrogen in mangrove sediments (Terminos Lagoon, Mexico). Limnology and Oceanography 41, 284-296.

- Rivera-Monroy VH, Twilley RR, Boustany RG, Day JW, Vera- Herrera F, Ramirez MC. 1995. Direct denitrification in mangrove sediments in Terminos Lagoon, Mexico. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 126, 97-109.
- Robertson AI, Duke NC. 1987. Mangroves as nursery sites: comparisons of the abundance and species composition of fish and crustaceans in mangroves and other nearshore habitats in tropical Australia. *Marine Biology* **96**,193-206.
- Robertson AI. 1992. Concluding remarks: research and mangrove conservation. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (Eds.) Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems, American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC.
- Robertson AI, Blaber JM. 1992. Plankton, epibenthos and fish communities. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (Eds.) Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, USA. pp. 173-224.
- Robertson LA, Kuenen JG, 1984. Aerobic denitrification: a controversy revived. Archives of Microbiology 139, 351-354.
- Robertson LA, Van Niel EWJ, Torremans RAM, Kuenen JG. 1988. Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in aerobic chemostat cultures of *Thiosphaera* pantotropha. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **54**(11), 2812-2818.
- Robinson AD, Nedwell DB, Harrison RM, Ogilvie BG. 1998. Hypernutrified estuaries as sources of N<sub>2</sub>O emission to the atmosphere: the estuary of the River Colne, Essex, U.K. Marine Ecology Progress Series 164, 59–71.
- Rockne KJ, Stuart ES. 2001. Anaerobic biodegradation of naphthalene, phenanthrene, and biphenyl by a denitrifying enrichment culture. *Water Research* **35**(1), 291-299.
- Rodina AG. 1972. Methods in aquatic microbiology, University Park Press, Butterworths, Baltimore London pp. 269-291.
- Ronaghi M, Karamohamed S, Pettersson B, Uhlén M, Nyrén P. 1996. Real-time DNA sequencing using detection of pyrophosphate release. *Analytical Biochemistry* 242, 84-89.
- Ronaghi M, Uhlén M, Nyrén P. 1998. DNA SEQUENCING: A sequencing method based on real-time pyrophosphate. *Science* 281(5375), 363-365.
- Rontani JF, Bonin PC, Volkman JK. 1999. Production of wax esters during aerobic growth of marine bacteria on isoprenoid compounds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **65**(1), 221-230.
- Rösch C, Mergel A, Bothe H. 2002. Biodiversity of denitrifying and dinitrogen-fixing bacteria in an acid forest soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **68**(8), 3818-3829.
- Rosswell TF, Bak DB, Cicerone RJ, Conrad R, Ehhalt DH, Firestone MK, Galbally IE, Galchenko VF, Croffman PM, Rapen H, Reeburg WS, Sanhueza E. 1989. What regulates production and consumption of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (Eds.), John Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, U.K, pp. 73-95.
- Rust CM, Aelion CM, Flora JRV. 2000. Control of pH during denitrification in subsurface sediment microcosms using encapsulated phosphate buffer. *Water Research* 34(5), 1447-1454.
- Rysgaard S, Risgaard-Petersen N, Nielsen LP, Revsbech NP. 1993. Nitrification and denitrification in lake and estuarine sediments measured by the <sup>15</sup>N Dilution

- Rivera-Monroy VH, Twilley RR, Boustany RG, Day JW, Vera- Herrera F, Ramirez MC. 1995. Direct denitrification in mangrove sediments in Terminos Lagoon, Mexico. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 126, 97-109.
- Robertson AI, Duke NC. 1987. Mangroves as nursery sites: comparisons of the abundance and species composition of fish and crustaceans in mangroves and other nearshore habitats in tropical Australia. *Marine Biology* **96**,193-206.
- Robertson AI. 1992. Concluding remarks: research and mangrove conservation. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (Eds.) Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems, American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC.
- Robertson AI, Blaber JM. 1992. Plankton, epibenthos and fish communities. In: Robertson AI, Alongi DM (Eds.) Tropical Mangrove Ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, USA. pp. 173-224.
- Robertson LA, Kuenen JG, 1984. Aerobic denitrification: a controversy revived. Archives of Microbiology 139, 351-354.
- Robertson LA, Van Niel EWJ, Torremans RAM, Kuenen JG. 1988. Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification in aerobic chemostat cultures of *Thiosphaera* pantotropha. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **54**(11), 2812-2818.
- Robinson AD, Nedwell DB, Harrison RM, Ogilvie BG. 1998. Hypernutrified estuaries as sources of N<sub>2</sub>O emission to the atmosphere: the estuary of the River Colne, Essex, U.K. Marine Ecology Progress Series 164, 59–71.
- Rockne KJ, Stuart ES. 2001. Anaerobic biodegradation of naphthalene, phenanthrene, and biphenyl by a denitrifying enrichment culture. *Water Research* **35**(1), 291-299.
- Rodina AG. 1972. Methods in aquatic microbiology, University Park Press, Butterworths, Baltimore London pp. 269-291.
- Ronaghi M, Karamohamed S, Pettersson B, Uhlén M, Nyrén P. 1996. Real-time DNA sequencing using detection of pyrophosphate release. *Analytical Biochemistry* 242, 84-89.
- Ronaghi M, Uhlén M, Nyrén P. 1998. DNA SEQUENCING: A sequencing method based on real-time pyrophosphate. *Science* 281(5375), 363-365.
- Rontani JF, Bonin PC, Volkman JK. 1999. Production of wax esters during aerobic growth of marine bacteria on isoprenoid compounds. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 65(1), 221-230.
- Rösch C, Mergel A, Bothe H. 2002. Biodiversity of denitrifying and dinitrogen-fixing bacteria in an acid forest soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **68**(8), 3818-3829.
- Rosswell TF, Bak DB, Cicerone RJ, Conrad R, Ehhalt DH, Firestone MK, Galbally IE, Galchenko VF, Croffman PM, Rapen H, Reeburg WS, Sanhueza E. 1989. What regulates production and consumption of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. In: Andreae MO, Schimel DS (Eds.), John Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, U.K, pp. 73-95.
- Rust CM, Aelion CM, Flora JRV. 2000. Control of pH during denitrification in subsurface sediment microcosms using encapsulated phosphate buffer. *Water Research* 34(5), 1447-1454.
- Rysgaard S, Risgaard-Petersen N, Nielsen LP, Revsbech NP. 1993. Nitrification and denitrification in lake and estuarine sediments measured by the <sup>15</sup>N Dilution

technique and isotope pairing. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59(7), 2093-2098.

- Rysgaard S, Christensen P, Nielsen LP. 1995. Seasonal variation in nitrification and denitrification in estuarine sediment colonized by benthic microalgae and bioturbating infauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **126**, 111-121.
- Rysgaard S, Glud RN, Risgaard-Petersen N, Dalsgaard T. 2004. Denitrification and anammox activity in Arctic marine sediments. Limnology Oceanography 49(5), 1493-1502.
- Ryther JH, Dunstan WM. 1971. Nitrogen, phosphorus, and eutrophication in the coastal marine environment. *Science* 171(3975), 1008-1013.
- Saitou N, Nei M. 1987. The neighbor joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **4**, 406-425.
- Saitoh S, Iwasaki K, Yagi O. 2003. Development of a most-probable-number method for enumerating denitrifying bacteria by using 96-Well microtiter plates and an anaerobic culture system. *Microbes and Environments* 18(4), 210-215.
- Saleh-Lakha S, Shannon KE, Henderson SL, Zebarth BJ, Burton DL, Goyer C, Trevors JT. 2009. Effect of nitrate and acetylene on nirS, cnorB and nosZ expression and denitrification activity in Pseudomonas mandelii. Applied and Environmental Microbiology (doi:10.1128/AEM.00777-09).
- Santoro AE, Boehm AB, Francis CA. 2006. Denitrifier community composition along a nitrate and salinity gradient in a coastal aquifer. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72(3), 2102-2109.
- Sasaki H, Nakamura Y, Sato H. 2003. Effect of bioturbation on oxygen concentration profile in river sediments. Bulletin of Hachinohe Institute of Technology 22, 21-26.
- Sardessai S. 1993. Dissolved, particulate and sedimentary humic acids in the mangroves and estuarine ecosystem of Goa, west coast of India. *Indian Journal of Marine Sciences* 22, 54-58.
- Satoshi I, Taro H, Hisayoshi T. 2005. Nitrogen elimination in sewage processing system with porous photocatalyst, nitrifier and denitrifier. *Nippon Kikai Gakkai Kankyo Kogaku Sogo Shinpojiumu Koen Ronbunshu* **15**, 276-279.
- Saunders NF, Ferguson SJ, Baker SC. 2000. Transcriptional analysis of the *nirS* gene, encoding cytochrome cdl nitrite reductase, of *Paracoccus pantotrophus* LMD 92.63. *Microbiology* 146(Pt 2), 509-516.
- Scala DJ, Kerkhof LJ. 1998. Nitrous oxide reductase (nosZ) gene-specific PCR primers for detection of denitrifiers and three nosZ genes from marine sediments. FEMS Microbiology Letters 162(1), 61-68.
- Scala DJ, Kerkhof LJ. 1999. Diversity of nitrous oxide reductase (nosZ) genes in continental shelf sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65(4), 1681-1687.
- Scala DJ, Kerkhof LJ. 2000. Horizontal heterogeneity of denitrifying bacterial communities in marine sediments by terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66(5), 1980-1986.

- Schloss PD, Handelsman J. 2005. Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**(3), 1501-1506.
- Schocher RJ, Seyfried B, Vasquez F, Winter J. 1991. Anaerobic degradation of toluene by pure cultures of denitrifying bacteria. *Archives of Microbiology* **157**, 7-12.
- Scholten JCM, Joye SB, Hollibaugh JT, Murrell JC. 2005. Molecular analysis of the sulfate reducing and archaeal community in a meromictic soda lake (Mono Lake, California) by targeting 16S rRNA, mcrA, apsA, and dsrAB genes. Microbial Ecology 50(1), 29-39.
- Schwarz JIK, Eckert W, Conrad R. 2007. Community structure of Archaea and Bacteria in a profundal lake sediment Lake Kinneret (Israel). Systematic and Applied Microbiology 30(3), 239-254.
- Schwendenmann L, Riecke, Rubén L.J. 2006. Solute dynamics in a North Brazilian mangrove: the influence of sediment permeability and freshwater input. *Wetlands Ecology and Management* 14, 463–475.
- Scott TJ, McCarthy MJ, Gardner WS, Doyle RD. 2008. Denitrification, dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium, and nitrogen fixation along a nitrate concentration gradient in a created freshwater wetland. *Biogeochemistry* 87(1), 99-111.
- Seitzinger SP. 1987. Nitrogen biogeochemistry in an unpolluted estuary: the importance of benthic denitrification. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **41**, 177-186.
- Seitzinger SP. 1988. Denitrification in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: Ecological and geochemical significance. *Limnology and Oceanography* **33**(4, part 2), 702-724.
- Seitzinger SP. 1990. Denitrification in Aquatic Sediments. In: Revsbech NP, Sorenson J (Eds.) Denitrification in soil and sediment, Plenum Press, New York.
- Seitzinger SP, Nielsen LP, Caffrey J, Christensen PB. 1993. Denitrification measurements in aquatic sediments: a comparison of three methods. *Biogeochemistry* 23,147-167.
- Shao M, Zhang T, Fang HHP. 2009. Autotrophic denitrification and its effect on metal speciation during marine sediment remediation. *Water Research* 43(12), 2961-2968.
- Shieh WY, Lin YT, Jean WD. 2004. *Pseudovibrio denitrificans* gen. nov., sp. nov., a marine, facultatively anaerobic, fermentative bacterium capable of denitrification. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 54, 2307-2312.
- Shoun H, Tanimoto T. 1991. Denitrification by the fungus *Fusarium oxysporum* and involvement of cytochrome P-450 in the respiratory nitrite reduction. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 266, 11078-11082.
- Shoun H, Kim DH, Uchiyama H, Sugiyama J. 1992. Denitrification by fungi. FEMS Microbiology Letters 73(3), 277-281.
- Silver WL, Herman DJ, Firestone MK. 2001. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in upland tropical forest soils. *Ecology* 82(9), 2410-2416.
- Simek M. 2000. Persistence of denitrifying enzyme activity in refrigerated and air-dried Cambisols. Soil Use and Management 16, 232-233.
- Simek M, Jisova L, Hopkins DW. 2002. What is the so-called optimum pH for denitrification in soil? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34(9), 1227-1234.

Sjöling S, Mohammed SM, Lyimo TJ, Kyazuri JJ. 2005. Benthic bacterial diversity and nutrient processes in mangroves: impact of deforestation. *Estuarine, coastal and shelf science* 63(3), 397-406.

Smil V. 2000. Cycles of Life, Scientific American Library, New York

- Smith MS, Parsons LL. 1985. Persistence of denitrifying enzyme activity in dried soils. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 49(2), 316-320.
- Smith GB, Tiedje JM. 1992. Isolation and characterization of a nitrite reductase gene and its use as a probe for denitrifying bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 58(1), 376-384.
- Soetaert K, Herman PMJ, Middelburg JJ. 1996. A model of early diagenetic processes from the shelf to abyssal depths. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 60, 1019-1040.
- Sogin ML, Morrison HG, Huber JA, Welch DM, Huse SM, Neal PR, Arrieta JM, Herndl GJ. 2006. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(32), 12115-12120.
- Sørensen J. 1978. Denitrification rates in marine sediment as measured by the acetylene inhibition technique. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **36**, 139-143.
- Sorokin DY, Jones BE, Kuenen GJ. 2000. An obligate methylotrophic, methaneoxidizing *Methylomicrobium* species from a highly alkaline environment. *Extremophiles* 4(3), 145-155.
- Sorokin DY, Lysenko AM, Mityushina LL, Tourova TP, Jones BE, Rainey FA, Robertson LA, Kuenen GJ. 2001. *Thioalkalimicrobium aerophilum* gen . nov., sp . nov. and *Thioalkalimicrobium sibericum* sp . nov., and *Thioalkalivibrio versutus* gen . nov., sp . nov., *Thioalkalivibrio nitratis* sp.nov., novel and *Thioalkalivibrio denitrificans* sp . nov., novel obligately alkaliphilic and obligately chemolithoautotrophic sulfur-oxidizing bacteria from soda lakes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 51(Pt2), 565-580.
- Spiller H, Shanmugam KT. 1987. Physiological conditions for nitrogen fixation in a unicellular marine cyanobacterium, *Synechococcus* sp. strain SF1. Journal of Bacteriology 169(12), 5379-5384.
- Stach JE, Bull AT. 2005. Estimating and comparing the diversity of marine Actinobacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 87(1), 3-9.
- Steingruber SM, Friedrich J, Gächter R, Wehrli B. 2001. Measurement of denitrification in sediments with the <sup>15</sup>N isotope pairing technique. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 9, 3771-3778.
- Stockenberg A, Johnstone RW. 1997. Benthic denitrification in the Gulf of Bothnia. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 45(6), 835-843.
- Straub KL, Benz M, Schink B, Widdel F. 1996. Anaerobic, nitrate-dependent microbial oxidation of ferrous iron. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **62**(4), 1458-1460.
- Strauss EA, Mitchell NL, Lamberti GA. 2002. Factors regulating nitrification in aquatic sediments: effects of organic carbon, nitrogen availability and pH. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59, 554-563.
- Strous M, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM. 1999. Key physiology of anaerobic ammonium oxidation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 50, 589-596.

- Stüven R, Eberhard B. 2001. Nitrification and denitrification as a source for NO and NO<sub>2</sub> production in high-strength wastewater. *Water Research* **35**(8), 1905-1914.
- Sumathi JC, Raghukumar C. 2009. Anaerobic denitrification in fungi from the coastal marine sediments off Goa, India. *Mycological Research* **113**, 100–109.
- Sumi T, Koike I. 1990. Estimation of ammonification and ammonium assimilation in surficial coastal and estuarine sediments. *Limnology and Oceanography* **35**, 270-286.
- Sundbäck K, Miles A, Göransson E. 2000. Nitrogen fluxes, denitrification and the role of microphytobenthos in microtidal shallow-water sediments: an annual study. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 200, 59-76.
- Svensson JM. 1997. Influence of *Chironomus plumosus* larvae on ammonium flux and denitrification (measured by the acetylene blockage- and the isotope pairing-technique) in eutrophic lake sediment. *Hydrobiologia* 346, 157-168.
- Tadashi N, Futoshi K, Hiroyasu S, Takashi M. 2003. Analysis of the populations of denitrifying bacteria in activated sludge by PCR-DGGE analysis of the nirS nitrite reductase genes. Journal of Japan Society on Water Environment 26(9), 583-588.
- Tam TY, Knowles R. 1979. Effects of sulphide and acetylene on nitrous oxide reduction by soil and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 25, 1133-1138.
- Thamdrup B, Dalsgaard T. 2002. Production of N<sub>2</sub> through anaerobic ammonium oxidation coupled to nitrate reduction in marine sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68, 1312-1318.
- Thamdrup B, Dalsgaard T; Jensen MM, Ulloa O, Farias L, Escribano R. 2006. Anaerobic ammonium oxidation in the oxygen-deficient waters off northern Chile. Limnology and Oceanography 51(5), 2145-2156.
- Thomas KL, Lloyd D. 1994. Measurement of denitrification in estuarine sediment using membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 16(2), 103-114.
- Thomas KL, Lloyd D, Boddy L. 1994. Effects of oxygen, pH and nitrate concentration on denitrification by *Pseudomonas* species, *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 118, 181-186.
- Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Plewniak F, Jeanmougin F, Higgins DG. 1997. The CLUSTAL\_X windows interface: flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools. Nucleic Acids Research 25, 4876–4882.
- Thorsten D, José LR. 2001. Do mangroves rather than rivers provide nutrients to coastal environments south of the Amazon River? Evidence from long-term flux measurements. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 213, 67-77.
- Tiedje JM. 1982. Methods of soil analysis, Part2. Chemical and microbiological Properties- Agronomy Monograph no.9 (2<sup>nd</sup> edition) pp. 1011-1026.
- Tiedje JM. 1988. Ecology of denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. In: Zehnder AJB (Ed.) *Biology of anaerobic microorganisms*, John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp. 179-227.
- Tiedje JM. 2002. Shewanella—the environmentally versatile genome. Nature Biotechnology 20, 1093-1094.
- Till B, Weathers LJ, Alvarez PJJ. 1998. Fe(0)-Supported autotrophic denitrification. Environmental Science and Technology 32, 634-639.

- Tomaszek JA. 1995. Relationship between denitrification and redox potential in two sediment-water systems. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **46**, 27-32.
- Tomaszek JA, Gruca-Rokosz R. 2007. Rates of dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in two polish reservoirs: Impacts of temperature, organic matter, organic matter content and nitrate concentration. *Environmental Technology* 28, 771-778.
- Tomlinson PB. 1994. The botany of mangroves. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Tschech A, Fuchs G. 1987. Anaerobic degradation of phenol by pure cultures of newly isolated denitrifying pseudomonads. *Archives of Microbiology* **148**, 213-217.
- Tréger P, Le Corre P. 1975. Manuel d'analyse des sels nutritifs dans l'eau de mer (Utilisation de l'auto analyser Technicon), Université de Bretagne occidentale.
- Trimmer M, Nicholls JC, Morley N, Davies CA, Aldridge J. 2005. Biphasic behavior of anammox regulated by nitrite and nitrate in an estuarine sediment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**(4), 1923-1930.
- Trimmer M, Risgaard-Petersen N, Nicholls JC, Engstrom P. 2006. Direct measurement of anaerobic ammonium oxidation (anammox) and denitrification in intact sediment cores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **326**, 31-47.
- Trouve C, Chazal PM. 1999. Autotrophic denitrification by *Thiobacillus denitrificans* with thiosulphate as sole energy source. Pilot scale experiments at low temperature. *Environmental technology* **20**(4), 387-395.
- Tuerk KJS, Aelion CM. 2005. Microbial nitrogen removal in a developing suburban estuary along the South Carolina coast. *Estuaries and Coasts* 28(3), 364-372.
- Tuominen L, Heinanen A, Kuparinen J, Nielsen LP. 1998. Spatial and temporal variability of denitrification in the sediments of the Northern Baltic Proper. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 172, 13-24.
- Tyrrell T, Lucas MI. 2002. Geochemical evidence of denitrification in the Benguela upwelling system. Continental Shelf Research 22(17), 2497-2511.
- Untawale AG. 1984. Mangroves of India: Present status and multiple use practices, National Institute of Oceanography, Goa, Report, 1-28.
- Usui T, Koike I, Ogura N. 2001. N<sub>2</sub>O production, nitrification and denitrification in an estuarine sediment. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science* **52**(6), 769-781.
- Valiela I. 1995. Marine Ecological Processes, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Van Cleemput O, Samater AH, 1996. Nitrite in soils: accumulation and role in the formation of gaseous N Compounds. *Fertilizer Research* **45**, 81-89.
- Van de Graaf A, Mulder A, De Brujin P, Jetten MSM, Robertson LA, Kuenen JG. 1995. Anaerobic oxidation of ammonium is a biologically mediated process. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology 61, 1246-1251.
- Van Dongen LGJM, Jetten MSM, Van Loosdrecht MCM. 2001. The combined Sharon/Anammox process. Stowa: Foundation for Applied Water Research. IWA Publishing, London.
- Van Keulen G, Alderson J, White J, Sawers RG. 2005. Nitrate respiration in the actinomycete Streptomyces coelicolor. Biochemical Society Transactions 33(Pt 1), 210-212.
- Van Schie PM, Young LY. 1998. Isolation and characterization of phenol-degrading denitrifying bacteria. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64(7), 2432-2438.

- Vance-Harris C, Ingall E. 2005. Denitrification pathways and rates in the sandy sediments of the Georgia continental shelf, USA. *Geochemical Transactions* 6(1), 12-18.
- Vandenabeele J, De Beer D, Germonpré R, Van de Sande R, Verstraete W. 1995. Influence of nitrate on manganese removing microbial consortia from sand filters.*Water Research* 29(2), 579-587.
- Vrionis HA, Anderson RT, Ortiz-Bernad I, O'Neill KR, Resch CT, Peacock AD, Dayvault R, White DC, Long PE, Lovley DR. 2005. Microbiological and geochemical heterogeneity in an *in situ* uranium bioremediation field site. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology 71(10), 6308-6318.
- Waksman SA. 1946. "Sergei Nikolaevitch Winogradsky: The study of a great bacteriologist" Soil Science 62,197-226.
- Walter HM, Keeney DR, Fillery IR. 1979. Inhibition of nitrification by acetylene. Soil Science Society of America Journal 43, 195-196.
- Wang F, Juniper KS, Pelegrí SP, Macko SA. 2003. Denitrification in sediments of the Laurentian Trough, St. Lawrence Estuary, Québec, Canada. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 57(3), 515-522.
- Wang D, Chen Z, Wang J, Xu S, Yang H, Chen H, Yang L, Hu L. 2007. Summer-time denitrification and nitrous oxide exchange in the intertidal zone of the Yangtze Estuary. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **73**, 43-53.
- Ward AC, Bora N. 2006. Diversity and biogeography of marine Actinobacteria. Current Opinion in Microbiology 9(3), 279-286.
- Ward BB. 1995. Diversity of culturable denitrifying bacteria. Archives of Microbiology 163,167-175.
- Ward BB. 2005. Molecular approaches to marine microbial ecology and the marine nitrogen cycle. Annual Reviews of Earth and Planetary Science 33, 301-333.
- Ward BB, Tuit CB, Jayakumar A, Rich JJ, Moffett J, Naqvi SWA. 2008. Organic carbon, and not copper, controls denitrification in oxygen minimum zones of the ocean. *Deep Sea Research* Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers 55(12): 1672-1683.
- Watson RT, Meira Filho LC, Sanhueza E, Janetos A. 1992. Sources and sinks. In: Houghton JT *et al.* (Eds), Climate change. The supplementary report to the IPCC Scientific Assessment. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press, 25-46.
- Watts CA, Ridley H, Dridge EJ, Leaver JT, Reilly AJ, Richardson DJ, Butler C.S. 2005. Microbial reduction of selenate and nitrate: common themes and variations. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 33(1), 173-175.
- Weiss RF, Price BA. 1980. Nitrous oxide solubility in water and seawater. Marine Chemistry 8, 347-359.
- Welsh DT, Bartoli M, Nizzoli D, Castaldelli G, Riou SA, Viaroli P. 2000. Denitrification, nitrogen fixation, community primary productivity and inorganic-N and oxygen fluxes in an intertidal Zostera noltii meadow. Marine Ecology Progress Series 208, 65-77.
- Whalen SC, Alperin MJ, Nie Y, Fischer EN. 2008. Denitrification in the mainstem Neuse River and tributaries, USA. Fundamental and Applied Limnology 171(3), 249-261.

- Wigand C, McKinney RA, Chintala MM, Charpentier MA, Groffman PM. 2004. Denitrification Enzyme Activity of Fringe Salt Marshes in New England (USA). Journal of Environmental Quality 33, 1144-1151.
- Winkler LW. 1888. Die Bestimmung des in Wasser gelösten Sauerstoffen. Berichte der Deutschen Chemischen Gesellschaft. 21, 2843-2855.
- Wood ED, Armstrong FAJ, Richards FA. 1967. Determination of nitrate in sea water by cadmium-copper reduction to nitrite. Journal of Marine Biological Association (United Kingdom) 47, 23-31.
- Yamagishi H, Westley MB, Popp BN, Toyoda S, Yoshida N, Watanabe S, Koba K, Yamanaka Y, 2007. Role of nitrification and denitrification on the nitrous oxide cycle in the eastern tropical North Pacific and Gulf of California. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 112(G02015), doi:10.1029/2006JG000227.
- Yin SX, Chen D, Chen LM, Edis R. 2002. Dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium and responsible microorganisms in two Chinese and Australian paddy soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 34(8), 1131-1137.
- Yoon WB, Benner R. 1992. Denitrication and oxygen consumption in sediments of two south Texas estuaries. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **90**, 157-167.
- Yoshie S, Ogawa T, Makino H, Hirosawa H, Tsuneda S, Hirata A. 2006. Characteristics of bacteria showing high denitrification activity in saline wastewater. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* **42**, 277-283
- Yoshinari T. 1980. N<sub>2</sub>O reduction by Vibrio succinogenes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 39(1), 81-84.
- Yoshinari T, Hynes R, Knowles R. 1977. Acetylene inhibition of nitrous oxide reduction and measurement of denitrification and nitrogen fixation in soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 9,177-183.
- Yuguang Z, Diqiang L, Huimin W, Qiming X, Xueduan L. 2006. The diversity of denitrifying bacteria in the alpine meadow soil of Sanjiangyuan natural reserve in Tibet Plateau. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 51(10), 1245-1254.
- Zehr JP, Mellon M, Braun S, Litaker W, Steppe T, Paerl HW. 1995. Diversity of heterotrophic nitrogen fixation genes in a marine cyanobacterial mat. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 61(7), 2527-2532.
- Zehr JP, Carpenter EJ, Villareal TA. 2000. New perspectives on nitrogen- fixing microorganisms in tropical and subtropical oceans. *Trends in Microbiology* **8**, 68-73.
- Zhang W, Song L, Ki JS, Lau CK, Li XD, Qian PY. 2008. Microbial diversity in polluted harbor sediments II: Sulfate-reducing bacterial community assessment using terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism and clone library of dsrAB gene. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 73(3), 668-681.
- Zhang Y, Dong J, Yang B, Ling J, Wang Y, Zhang S. 2009. Bacterial community structure of mangrove sediments in relation to environmental variables accessed by 16S rRNA gene-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis fingerprinting. *Scientia Marina* 73(3), 487-498.
- Zhao JS, Manno D, Leggiadro C, O'Neil D, Hawari J. 2006. Shewanella halifaxensis sp. nov., a novel obligately respiratory and denitrifying psychrophile. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology 56, 205-212.

- Zhou J, Fries MR, Chee-Sanford JC, Tiedje JM. 1995. Phylogenetic analyses of a new group of denitrifiers capable of anaerobic growth on toluene and description of *Azoarcus tolulyticus* sp. nov. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* **45**, 500-506.
- Zhuang DC, Chen YG, Zhang YQ, Tang SK, Wu XL, Tan ZC, Li WJ, Cui XL. 2009. *Marinobacter zhanjiangensis* sp. nov., a marine bacterium isolated from sea water of a tidal flat of the South China Sea. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* **96**, 295-301.
- Zumft WG. 1992. The denitrifying procaryotes. In: Balows A, Trüper HG, Dworkin M, Harder W, Schleifer KH (Eds.), *The Prokaryotes* 1, Springer Verlag Press.
- Zumft WG. 1997. Cell biology and molecular basis of denitrification. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 61, 533-616.
- Zumft WG, Viebrock-Sambale A, Braun C. 1990. Nitrous oxide reductase from denitrifying *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. Genes for copper-processing and properties of the deduced products, including a new member of the family of ATP/GTP-binding proteins. *European journal of biochemistry* **192**(3), 591-599.



\*

# Appendix

# **APPENDIX I**

The redox electrode was calibrated using solutions A and B.

### **Solution A:**

Potassium ferrocyanide K <sub>4</sub> Fe(CN) <sub>6</sub> .3H <sub>2</sub> O; 4.22 g:	<b>0</b> .1M
Potassium ferricyanide K <sub>3</sub> Fe(CN) <sub>6</sub> ; 1.65 g:	0.05M

Add 50 ml d/w in volumetric flask. Transfer weighed chemicals and stir to dissolve. Dilute to volume with d/w.

## Solution B:

Potassium ferrocyanide K <sub>4</sub> Fe(CN) <sub>6</sub> .3H <sub>2</sub> O; 0.42 g:	0.01M
Potassium ferricyanide K <sub>3</sub> Fe(CN) <sub>6</sub> ; 1.65 g:	0.05M
Potassium fluoride KF.2H <sub>2</sub> O; 3.39g	0.36M
Add 50 ml d/w in volumetric flask. Transfer weighed che	micals an

Add 50 ml d/w in volumetric flask. Transfer weighed chemicals and stir to dissolve. Dilute to volume with d/w.

Transfer solutions to beaker. Place the electrode in the solution and wait until reading stabilizes. The potential should be about 192 mV (solution A) while for solution B it is about 256 mV. Thus, B-A=66 mV.

# **APPENDIX II**

- Winkler's A: Manganese (II) chloride (3M: reagent grade): Dissolve 100 g of MnCl<sub>2</sub>4H<sub>2</sub>O in 100 ml distilled water. After complete dissolution, make the solution up to a final volume of 1 litre with distilled water and then filtered into an amber plastic bottle for storage.
- 2. Winkler's B: Sodium iodide (4M: reagent grade) and sodium hydroxide (8M: reagent grade): Dissolve 600 g NaI in 600 ml of distilled water. If the color of solution becomes yellowish brown, discard and repeat preparation with fresh reagent. While cooling the mixture, add 320 g NaOH to the solution, and make up

the volume to 1 liter with distilled water. The solution is then filtered and stored in an amber glass bottle.

- 3. Sulfuric Acid (50% v/v): Slowly add 500 ml of reagent grade concentrated  $H_2SO_4$  to 500 ml distilled water. Cool the mixture during addition of acid.
- 4. Starch indicator solution: Place 1.0 g of soluble starch in a 100 ml beaker, and add a little distilled water to make a thick paste. Pour this paste into 1000 ml of boiling distilled water and stir for 1 minute. The indicator should be stored in a refrigerator.
- 5. Sodium Thiosulfate Stock solution (0.18 M: reagent grade): Dissolve 45 g  $Na_2S_2O_3*5H_2O$  and 2.5g sodium borate,  $Na_2B_4O_7$  (reagent grade) for a preservative, in 1 liter of distilled water. This solution is stored in a refrigerator and used to make the working thiosulfate solution. Some variation on the method call for a 0.1N solution, which can be purchased ready-made.
- 6. Sodium Thiosulfate working solution (0.018 M: reagent grade): Bring 100 ml of the sodium thiosulfate stock solution to 1000 ml with distilled water in a 1 liter volumetric flask. This solution is stored in a refrigerator and used for titrations. If a ready-made 0.1 N solution was used for the stock, a working solution of 0.01 N will be fine.
- 7. Potassium Iodate Standard (0.00167 M = 0.01 N: analytical grade): Dry the reagent in a desiccator under vacuum. Weigh out exactly 0.3567 g KIO<sub>3</sub> and make up to 1.0 liter with distilled water. It is important to note the temperature of the solution so that a precise molarity can be calculated.

# **APPENDIX III**

### Reagents for ammonium estimation:

Phenol nitroprusside:

Solution A: 10 gm of phenol in 100 ml of 95% ethanol.

Solution B: 0.6 gm of sodium nitroprusside dehydrate in 100 ml of distilled water.

Mix both 100 ml of Solution A and 100 ml of Solution B. (light sensitive, should be

freshly prepared)

Sodium hypochlorite:

4 ml of hypochlorite in 100 ml of 0.5 N NaOH.

# Trisodium citrate:

Dissolve 120 gm of trisodium citrate in 250 ml of distilled water. Add 5 ml of 0.8 N NaOH (stable indefinitely).

### Ammonium standard:

 $NH_4Cl$  sock solution (1 mM): 0.05349 g of NH<sub>4</sub>Cl dissolved in 1000 ml of distilled water. Working standard: prepare the standard up to 50 ml of different concentration.



### Determination of ammonium in sample:

For 5 ml of sample, add 200  $\mu$ l of phenol nitroprusside solution and mix it well, then add 100  $\mu$ l of trisodium citrate, mix it and 200  $\mu$ l of hypochlorite reagent. Incubate in dark for 6 hr and measure the Optical density (OD) at 630 nm.

# **APPENDIX IV**

### Nitrite standards

Sodium nitrite stock solution: 0.0345 gm of sodium nitrite is dissolve in 100 ml of distilled water.

*Working standard:* from the stock solution 1 ml is taken and the volume made up to 100 ml with distilled water. Prepare standard solutions containing 0, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 1.5 and 2  $\mu$ g at. NO<sub>2</sub>- N l<sup>-1</sup>.



### Determination of nitrite

For 5 ml of nitrite sample, add 100  $\mu$ l of sulphanilamide solution. Incubate for 2 – 8 min then add 100  $\mu$ l of N – (1 - Napthyl) – ethylene diamine dihydrochloride. Appearance of pink colour is conformation of nitrite in sample. Calculate the nitrite concentration by checking the OD at 543 nm by spectrophotometer.

## **APPENDIX V**

### **Reagents for determination of nitrate**

### 1% sulphanilamide:

Ig sulphanilamide in 10 ml concentrated HCl, made upto 100 ml with distilled water.

### *N(1-naphthyl)ethylenediamine dihydrochloride*:

100mg N(1-naphthyl)ethylenediamine dihydrochloride in 100 ml distilled water.

### Preparation of cadmium column

### Mercuric chloride solution:

Add 2.5 gm of mercuric chloride in 250 ml of distilled water.

### Cadmium fillings:

Cadmium fillings cut into 3 mm size.

### Preparation:

Weigh about 50 fillings and stir with mercuric chloride solution until clear solution changes black. Wash fillings with distilled water. Push glass wool at bottom of the column. Fill column with distilled water, add filling by tapping gently, pack without air bubble and spaces should be minimum. Put glass wool plug at the top. Wash column with distilled water. Adjust flow rate such that 100 ml passes through 8 - 12 min. column should be left completely covered with distilled water.

### Nitrate standard

*Potassium nitrate stock solution*:  $(1 \text{mM NO}_3^- \text{N I}^-)$ : 5.05 gm of potassium nitrate in 50 ml of distilled water  $(1 \text{M KNO}_3)$ . Pipette 50 µl of 1M solution and make up volume with distilled water to 50 ml.

*Working standard*: From the stock solution 0  $\mu$ l, 250  $\mu$ l, 500  $\mu$ l, 1 ml, 1.5 ml and 2 ml is taken and volume is made up to 50 ml of distilled water to prepare standard solutions containing 0, 5, 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50  $\mu$ g at. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> N l<sup>-1</sup>.

### Reduction:

Pass 10 ml through the cadmium column twice. Then pour the rest 30 ml. Discard the initial 15 ml and collect approx. 15 ml sample required for nitrate analysis. Add 200  $\mu$ l of

sulphanilamide in 5 ml of sample, wait for 5 min, and then add 200  $\mu$ l of N - (1 - napthyl)- ethylene diamine dihydrochloride. Take OD between 10 min to 2 hrs at 543 nm.



### Determination of nitrate in sample

Pass 10 ml through the cadmium column twice. Then pour the rest 30 ml. Discard the initial 15 ml and collect ~ 15 ml sample required for nitrate analysis. Add 200  $\mu$ l of sulphanilamide in 5 ml of sample wait for 5min and then add 200  $\mu$ l of N- (1-napthyl)- ethylene diamine dihydrochloride. Take OD between 10 min to 2 hrs at 543 nm.

# **APPENDIX VI:**

Culture medium for nitrate reducers:		
KNO3	0.101 g (1 mmol)	
Nutrient Broth (HiMedia laboratories)	6.5 g	
Phenol red	0.01 g	
Agar	5 g	
Aged seawater	1000 ml	

# **APPENDIX VII:**

Culture medium for denitrifiers:

KNO3	0.101 g
NH₄CI	0.05 g
Sodium acetate	0.1 g
Sodium succinate	0.1 g
Bacto Tryptone	1 g
Aged seawater	1000 <b>m</b> l
Adjust pH to 8.	

# **APPENDIX VIII:**

Morphological tests:

Gram staining (Gram, 1884)

- Smear of the isolates was prepared on clean dry grease free slides.
- $\blacktriangleright$  The smears were air-dried and heat fixed.
- They were then treated with crystal violet for 1 min followed by Gram's iodine for 1 min.
- The slide was then washed with decolorizing solution (ethyl alcohol) till the blue color disappears.
- > Counter stained with safranine for 30 sec. The slide was then washed with water.
- > Dried and observed under oil-immersion

## Oxidase test (Kovacs, 1956)

Oxidase discs (*HiMedia*, India) were used to detect the presence of cytochrome oxidase in the isolates.

Observation	Report
1. Deep violet color developed	Oxidase positive
Immediately after smearing.	
2. Deep violet color developed	Delayed positiveness

after 30 sec.

### 3. No color change.

### Oxidase negative

### Catalase test

- > This test was performed using 3 % hydrogen peroxide on a glass slide.
- Scrape the growth from a slant or plate with a non- metallic instrument.
- Suspend it in 3 % hydrogen peroxide on a slide.
- Examine for effervescence, presence of effervescence denotes catalase positive and absence denotes negative reaction.

Marine Oxidation /Fermentation (MOF) test: -

Test medium was prepared as follows:

Sea water- 100 ml

Dextrose-1 g

Peptone- 0.2 g

Agar-1.5 g

K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>- 0.03 g

Bromothymol blue- 0.002 g

Combine Peptone,  $K_2HPO_4$ , Bromothymol blue. Adjust pH of medium to 7.2. Then add agar and boil to melt. Add Dextrose, pour into tubes, autoclave and allow to cool and solidify. Inoculate the tubes with test culture using a nichrome stab and incubate.

Observe for color change of the medium and interpret results as follows:

Bottom to top yellow/bottom yellow
 Yellow only on top
 Blue colour
 Growth, no colour change
 No growth

### Motility test

Prepare wet smear of the culture on slide and observe under microscope (100X).

# **APPENDIX IX:**

Agarose gel (1%):	
Agarose	0.5 g
1X TBE	49.5 ml
Ethidium bromide	۱µ۱

# **APPENDIX X:**

### Preparation of 1X TBE buffer:

Add 10.8 g Tris-(hydroxymethyl) aminomethane in 500 ml distilled water. Add 5.5 g boric acid, 4 ml sodium ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (Na<sub>2</sub>EDTA; 0.5 M). Make up volume to 1000 ml. The solution is stable for a maximum of 3 months.

# **APPENDIX XI:**

### PREPARATION of 0% and 80% acrylamide solutions

**0% solution (100 ml):** 

-	40% acrylamide/bis 37.5 solution	15 ml
-	TAE 50 X	2 ml
-	Distilled water	83 ml

Blend the above with a magnetic stirrer for 5 - 10 minutes. Using a syringe, filter contents through a 0.2  $\mu$ m filter. Refrigerate filtrate at (4°C) in a plastic bottle protected from light (covered with aluminium foil). The product is stable for a maximum of 3 months.

### 80% solution (100 ml):

-	40% acrylamide/bis 37.5 solution	15 ml
-	TAE 50 X	2 ml
-	Formamide de-ionized	32 ml
-	Urea	33.6 g
-	Distilled water	18 ml

Blend the above with a magnetic stirrer for 5 - 10 minutes. Using a syringe, filter contents through a,0.2 µm filter. Refrigerate filtrate at (4°C) in a plastic bottle protected from light (covered with aluminium foil). The product is stable for a maximum of 3 months.

# Preparation of gel for Denaturing Gel Gradient Electrophoresis (DGGE):

Bottom gel:

- o 1 ml acrylamide 0%
- ο 30 μl Ammonium Per Sulfate (APS) 10%
- ο 2.5 μl TEMED(N,N,N',N' -tetramethylenediamine)

Introduce the gel between the glass plates with the help of a 1 ml pipette. See that the gel spreads evenly and overlay it immediately with 2 - 3 ml of distilled water so that the gel is set uniformly. Before casting the gradient gel, invert the DGGE gel unit and soak the water onto a tissue paper.

1 hour polymerisation

### Gradient migration gel 20-80%:

- o 20% Solution
  - 8.2 ml acrylamide 0%
  - 2.8 ml acrylamide 80%
  - 30 µl Ammonium Per Sulfate (APS) 10%
  - 7 µl de TEMED

80% Solution 0

7 µl de TEMED

Mix the contents of the 20% solution in a beaker using a magnetic stirrer. Similarly, mix the contents of the 80% solution in another separate beaker. Transfer the contents from the two beakers into the gel unit using a mechanical pump. Overlay the gel with distilled



water for uniform alignment. Before adding the topmost gel, remove the water by soaking it onto a tissue paper.

### Top gel:

- 5 ml acrylamide 0% 0
- 5 ml acrylamide 0% 30 μl Ammonium Per Sulfate (APS) 10% l hour polymerisation 0
- 5 µl de TEMED 0

Introduce the gel with the aid of a 5 ml pipette. Before arriving absolutely in the top of the glass, introduce the comb and add the remaining gel. Restrict the formation of air bubbles.

### NOTE:

- Store TEMED (Bio-Rad) solution at 4°C.
- Store sub-samples of 10% APS in eppendorf tubes at -20°C. ۰

## **APPENDIX XII:**

### Preparation of 50X TAE buffer (stock solution):

Add 242 g Tris base and dissolve in approximately 750 ml deionised water. Carefully add 57.1 ml glacial acid and 100 ml of 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0) and adjust the solution to a final volume of 1 litre. This stock solution can be stored at room temperature. The pH of this buffer is not adjusted and should be about 8.5.

### Preparation of 1X TAE buffer (working solution):

The working solution of 1x TAE buffer is made by diluting the stock solution by 50x in de-jonized water. Final solute concentrations are 40 mM Tris acetate and 1 mM EDTA. The solution is stable for a maximum of 3 months.

# **APPENDIX XIII:**

## Composition of Buffers and Solutions for cloning

Isopropyl b-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) stock solution (0.1M)

1.2 g IPTGAdd water to 50 ml final volume. Filter sterilize and store at 4°C.

# X-Gal (2 ml)

100 mg 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-Indolyl-β-D-galactoside Dissolve in 2 ml N, N'-dimethylformamide. Cover with aluminum foil and store at -20°C.

# LB medium (per liter)

10 g Bacto<sup>®</sup>-tryptone
5 g Bacto<sup>®</sup>-yeast extract
5 g NaCl
Adjust pH to 7.0 with NaOH

# LB plates with ampicillin

Add 15 g agar to 1 liter of LB medium. Autoclave. Allow the medium to cool to 50°C before adding ampicillin to a final concentration of 100  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup>. Pour 30–35 ml of medium into 85 mm Petri dishes. Let the agar harden. The plates can be stored at 4°C for up to 1 month or at room temperature for up to 1 week.

# LB plates with ampicillin/IPTG/X-Gal

LB plates with ampicillin were made as above; then supplement with 0.5 mM lPTG and 80  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> X-Gal and the plates were poured. Alternatively, 100  $\mu$ l of 100 mM lPTG and 20  $\mu$ l of 50 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> X-Gal may be spread over the surface of an LB ampicillin plate and allowed to absorb for 30 minutes at 37°C prior to use.

# SOC medium (100 ml)

2.0 g Bacto<sup>®</sup>-tryptone
0.5 g Bacto<sup>®</sup>-yeast extract
1 ml 1M NaCl
0.25 ml 1M KCl
1 ml 2M Mg<sup>2+</sup> stock, filter sterilized
1 ml 2M glucose, filter-sterilized
Add Bacto<sup>®</sup>-tryptone, Bacto<sup>®</sup>-yeast extract, NaCl and KCl to 97 ml distilled water. Stir to dissolve. Autoclave and cool to room temperature. Add 2M Mg<sup>2+</sup> stock and 2M glucose, each to a final concentration of 20 mM. Bring to 100 ml with sterile, distilled water. The final pH should be 7.0.

# 2M Mg<sup>2+</sup> stock

20.33 g MgCl<sub>2</sub> • 6H<sub>2</sub>O
24.65 g MgSO<sub>4</sub> • 7H<sub>2</sub>O
Add distilled water to 100 ml. Filter sterilize.

# 2X Rapid Ligation Buffer, T4 DNA

Ligase (provided) 60 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.8) 20 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> 20 mM DTT 2 mM ATP 10% polyethylene glycol (MW8000, ACS Grade) Store in single-use aliquots at -20°C. Avoid multiple freeze-thaw cycles.

# List of publications

ş,

¢

# List of publications

(\*Manuscripts from thesis)

- Fernandes S.O., Krishnan K.P., Khedekar V. D., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2005. Manganese oxidation by bacterial isolates from the Indian Ridge System. *Biometals* 18:483–492. (IF 1.704)
- Krishnan K.P., Fernandes C., Fernandes S.O., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2006. Tolerance and immobilization of cobalt by some bacteria from ferromanganese crusts of the Afanasiy Nikitin Seamounts. *Geomicrobiology journal* 23:31–36. (IF 1.886)
- Krishnan K.P., Fernandes S.O., Chandan G.S., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2007. Bacterial contribution to mitigation of iron and manganese in mangrove sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 54: 1427-1433. (IF 2.334)<sup>\*</sup>
- Krishnan K.P., Fernandes S.O., Loka Bharathi P.A., Krishna Kumari L., Nair S, Pratihary A.K., Ramalingeswara Rao B. 2008. Anoxia over the western continental shelf of India: Bacterial indications of intrinsic nitrification feeding denitrification. *Marine Environmental Research* 65: 445-455. (IF 2.032)
- Divya B., Fernandes S.O., Sheelu G., Nair S., Loka Bharathi P.A., Chandramohan D. 2009. Limnotolerant bacteria govern nitrate concentration in Mandovi estuary, India. *Estuarine Coastal Shelf Science* 82: 29-34. (IF 2.072)\*
- Fernandes S.O., Kulkarni S.S., Shirodkar R.R., Karekar S.V., Praveen Kumar R., Sreepada R.A., Vogelsang C., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2010. Water quality and bacteriology in an aquaculture facility equipped with a new aeration system. . *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 164(1-4): 81-92 (IF 1.356).
- 7. Fernandes S.O., Bonin P.C., Michotey V.D., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2010. Denitrification: An important pathway for nitrous oxide production in tropical

mangrove sediments (Goa, India). *Journal of Environmental Quality* 39(4): 1507-1516 (IF 2.291).\*

- Fernandes S.O., Loka Bharathi P. A. 2010. Nitrate levels modulate denitrification activity in tropical mangrove sediments (Goa, India). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* (DOI: 10.1007/s10661-010-1375-x; IF 1.356).
- Antony R., Sujith P.P., Fernandes S.O., Verma P., Khedekar V.D., Loka Bharathi P.A. 2010. Cobalt immobilization by manganese oxidizing bacteria from Indian Ridge system. *Current Microbiology* (In press; IF 1.33).

# **OTHER PUBLICATIONS**

Fernandes S.O. 2007. Arabian Sea beckons...... I respond. *Tauz:* a journal on Science, Religion and Society. 1:35-37.

### MANUSCRIPTS UNDER REVIEW / COMMUNICATED

- Gonsalves M.J.B.D., Fernandes C.E.G, Fernandes S.O., Divya B., Loka Bharathi P.A. Methane flux from marine sediments: Upper layers versus deeper strata.
- Fernandes S.O., Michotey V.D., Guasco S., Bonin P.C., Loka Bharathi P.A. Denitrification prevails over anammox in tropical mangrove sediments (Goa, India): indications from preliminary insights.\*
- 3. Fernandes S.O., Kirchman D.L., Loka Bharathi P.A. Gammaproteobacteria dominate Deltaproteobacteria in anthropogenically influenced tropical mangrove sediments (Goa, India). \*
- Fernandes C.E.G., Malik A., Jineesh V.K., Fernandes S.O., Das A., Pandey S., Kanolkar G., Sujith P.P., Helekar S., Gonsalves M.J., Loka Bharathi P.A. Estuarine influence on coastal waters: Comparison of proximate systems off Goa and Ratnagiri, West coast of India.

# Publications from thesis



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Marine Pollution Bulletin 54 (2007) 1427-1433

MARINE POLLUNION BULLETIN

www.elsevier.com/locate/marpolbul

# Bacterial contribution to mitigation of iron and manganese in mangrove sediments

K.P. Krishnan<sup>a,b</sup>, Sheryl Oliveira Fernandes<sup>a</sup>, G.S. Chandan<sup>a,c</sup>, P.A. Loka Bharathi<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> National Institute of Oceanography, Dona Paula, Goa, India <sup>b</sup> National Centre for Antarctic and Ocean Research, Vasco da Gama, Goa, India <sup>c</sup> Department of Applied Geology, ERSM, Jnanasahyadri, Kuvempu University, Karnataka, India

#### Abstract

The Mandovi and Chapora are two tropical estuaries lying in close geographic proximity on the west coast of India. Seasonal changes in down core variation of Fe, Mn and Total Organic Carbon (TOC) in the mangrove sediments adjoining these estuaries were studied to assess their influence on some of the representative benthic bacteria belonging to heterotrophic and autotrophic groups. Heterotrophic bacteria (HB) cultured on different nutrient concentrations (0.01%, 0.1% and 25%) together with nitrifiers (NtB; representating autotroph) were chosen to assess the influence of the above-mentioned abiotic parameters on the former. The experimental site located along the Mandovi is under the influence of extensive ferromanganese ore mining, while the control site at Chapora is relatively free from such influences. Geoaccumulation index computed for Mandovi showed that sediments (0-10 cm) were 'uncontaminated to moderately contaminated' by Fe during the pre-monsoon and monsoon seasons, while in the post monsoon season the 4-10 cm fraction was almost completely restored from contamination. Similar computations for Mn showed that in pre-monsoon, sediments fell in the 'moderately contaminated' and 'moderately to strongly contaminated' categories, while in the monsoon and post monsoon seasons all the sections were 'Uncontaminated'. The difference observed in correlation between Fe and Mn with the various fractions of heterotrophs and nitrifiers indicated that though these two elements shared a similar chemistry in the environment, microbes involved in biogeochemical processes might prefer them differentially. The relationship between TOC and HB enumerated on 0.01% dilute nutrient agar remained at r = 0.50, p < 0.05 throughout the year. Hence, it could be apparently linked to their preferred concentration of organic carbon requirement. A relationship of r = 0.61, p < 0.01 between manganese concentration and heterotrophs recovered on different strengths of nutrient agar is suggestive of their response to the metal enrichment. They could thus contribute towards maintaining the level of Mn at par with reference levels at Chapora. A positive correlation between Mn with NtB ( $n = 10, p \le 0.05, r = 0.58$ ) at the experimental site during the non-monsoon months is suggestive of the latter's contribution to regulation of the metal concentration in the sediment probably through anaerobic nitrification at the expense of manganese. The study therefore supports our hypothesis that both autochthonous autotrophs and heterotrophs work in tandem to mitigate concentration of Mn and related metals in mangrove sediments. © 2007 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Keywords: Iron: Manganese; Mangroves; Heterotrophs; Nitrifiers: Geoaccumulation

### 1. Introduction

The Mandovi and Chapora are two tropical estuaries lying in close geographic proximity to each other on the west coast of India, but the latter is relatively distanced

E-mail address: loka@nio.org (P.A. Loka Bharathi).

from pollution. The hydrological characteristics of these two estuarine systems are governed by the monsoon regime. The physical characteristics of the Mandovi and Chapora estuaries have been described earlier (Varma and Rao, 1975; Varma and Cherian, 1975; Murthy et al., 1976). The estuarine channel of the Mandovi is used to transport large quantities of ferromanganese ores from mines located upstream to the Marmagao harbour (Arabian Sea), while the Chapora is free from movement

 $<sup>^{\</sup>circ}$  Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 0 832 2450281; fax: +91 0 832 2450606.

<sup>0025-326</sup>X/\$ - see front matter © 2007 Published by Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.05.023

of ferromanganese ore bearing barges. Lush mangrove vegetation fringes both of the estuarine systems. Though the impacts of iron ore processing on the surface sediments of the Mandovi estuary have been documented earlier by Alagarsamy (2006), its influence on the benthic bacterial flora is sparsely understood.

In this study, an attempt has been made to understand the downcore distributory patterns of heterotrophic and autotrophic bacteria together with total Fe and Mn during monsoon and non-monsoon periods. Retrievable heterotrophic bacteria were enumerated on various nutrient strengths to estimate the various fractions requiring different carbon and nitrogen requirements. Nitrifiers were enumerated as a representative autotrophic community as they are one of the most important physiological groups in this ecosystem responsible for converting ammonia to its oxidized forms.

Geoaccumulation index ( $I_{geo}$ , Müller, 1979) was used to assess the impact of mining on the mangrove sediments. Although  $I_{geo}$  was originally devised for use with global standard shale values as background metal levels, Rubio et al. (2000) have shown the use of regional background values to give more appropriate results. In this study,  $I_{geo}$ has been calculated using regional metal concentrations ii. Chapora mangrove sediments. A comparison between the Mandovi and Chapora mangrove sediments was therefore made to assess the probable influence of mining on bacterial groups in this region. We hypothesize that bacterial populations in the mangrove sediments could play an important role in preventing the concentration of the metal species from accumulating.

### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Site description and sampling procedure

Sediment cores were collected from fringing mangrove forests along the Chapora and Mandovi estuaries. The control site in the Chapora estuary was located at Tuvem, whereas the Divar mangrove ecosystem was selected as the experimental site along the Mandovi estuary (Fig. 1). The experimental site is under the influence of ferromanganese ore mining. Samples were collected during the months of April (Pre Monsoon), July (Monsoon) and October (Post Monsoon) of 2005 using a PVC hand-held sediment corer. Sub samples were taken at 2 cm intervals from the surface to 10 cm by carefully sectioning the core in the lab.

#### 2.2. Chemical analyses

Organic carbon was determined by the wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley, 1957). Sub samples for metal analyses were dried at  $60(\pm 2)$  °C'for 48 h and disaggregated in an agate mortar before chemical treatment for Fe and Mn analysis. For each sample, a known quantity (~0.2 g) of sediment was

digested in a teflon vessel with a solution (10 ml) of concentrated HF (48% GR; Merck), HNO<sub>3</sub> (69% GR; Merck) & HClO<sub>4</sub> (35% GR; Merck) in a ratio of 7:3:1. The sediment was then dried on a hot plate in a fume hood chamber.

An aliquot of 5 ml of the above acid mixture was added and dried on the hot plate for 1 h. Further, 2 ml of concentrated HCl (35% GR; Merck) was added, followed by 10 ml of HNO<sub>3</sub> (69% GR; Merck). The residue was warmed and then transferred to a clean, dry standard flask to make a final volume of 100 ml with double distilled water. The detailed procedure of sediment digestion is given in Balaram et al. (1995). Trace metal concentrations (Fe and Mn) were measured using a flame atomic absorption spectrophotometer (AAS, PerkineElmer Model 5000). The accuracy of the analytical procedures was assessed using the certified reference material MAG-1 (USGS) that yielded results within the reference value range (Flanagan, 1967, 1976).

#### 2.3. Microbial analyses

Sediment core was sectioned at 2 cm intervals in sterile conditions to obtain representative samples at 0–2, 2–4, 4–6, 6–8 and 8–10 cm depths. Sub samples of approximately 5 g wet weight sediment were sampled using sterile syringe cores. The sub samples were transferred to 45 ml of full strength sterile seawater ( $10^{-1}$  dilution). Tween80 (50 µL) was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 mHz for 10 s. Serial dilutions of the sediment samples were made in autoclaved seawater to yield dilutions from  $10^{-1}$  to  $10^{-6/7}$ .

Medium for the isolation of heterotrophic bacteria (HB) was prepared using various nutrient strengths of 0.01, 0.1 and 25%, which correspond to 0.01%, 0.1% and 25% nutrient broth  $\pm 2\%$  agar, respectively. A concentration of 100% corresponds to 8 g nutrient broth (HiMedia Laboratories Pvt. Ltd., Bombay, India) per 1000 ml seawater. About 100 µl from 10<sup>-2</sup> dilution was plated onto the medium. The plates were incubated for 15 days at room temperature. Bacterial counts in the form of colony forming units (CFU) formed on the medium were recorded after a 15-day incubation period at 28(±1) °C. Dry weight of the sediment used for the dilutions was determined by drying the filtered sediment in an oven at 60 °C for 48 h.

Nitrifiers (NtB) were enumerated by the most probable number (MPN) method of Alexander and Clark (1965). Nitrifying media (seawater amended with NH<sub>4</sub>Cl of 2 mM final concentration) was distributed in 5 ml quantities in 15 ml screw capped tubes. From each dilution ranging from  $10^{-1}$  to  $10^{-6/7}$ , 500 µl was inoculated in triplicate in the nitrifying media until the inoculation from the highest dilution into the culture tubes yielded negative results. The culture tubes were incubated in the dark for a period ~60 days at 28(±1) °C. After incubation, the tubes were tested for the presence of NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and/or NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. The combinations of positive and negative tubes were scored and MPN was assessed from McCready's table (Rodina, 1972).



Fig. 1. Location of sampling sites in the Chapora and Mandovi estuary.

Statistical analysis was carried out using Pearson's Correlation Coefficient in order to explore the possible associations existing between different variables. The analysis was done using Microsoft Excel 2000. The bacterial parameters were normalized by log transformation before analyses.

### 3. Results and discussion

# 3.1. Down core variation and index of geoaccumulation for iron and manganese

Figs. 2a, b and 3a, b show the down core variation of Fe and Mn during pre monsoon, monsoon and post monsoon seasons. The overall range in sedimentary Fe values ranged between 8% and 12.6% at the experimental site, while it ranged between 4.7% and 9.3% at the control site. The Mn values varied from 0.06% to 0.52% at the experimental site and 0.05-0.48% at the control site. The values reported



Fig. 2. Down core variation in Fe. (a) refers to the control site while (b) refers to experimental site ( $\bigcirc$  - Pre Monsoon, + - Monsoon and  $\blacksquare$  - Post Monsoon).

in the present study are comparatively higher to those reported by Ray et al. (2006) from the Godavari estuarine mangrove ecosystem on the eastern coastline of India. These authors reported that the average sedimentary Fe



Fig. 3. Down core variation in Mn. (a) refers to the control site while (b) refers to experimental site ( $\bigcirc$  - Pre Monsoon, + - Monsoon and  $\blacksquare$  - Post Monsoon).

and Mn values were 0.004% and 0.001%, respectively. Studies by Alagarsamy (2006) showed that the concentrations of Fe varied from 2.2% to 49.7% on the surface sediments of the Mandovi estuary, while the concentration of Mn ranged below detection limit to 1.61%. Though reports from the Mandovi estuary (Alagarsamy, 2006) showed that metal concentrations were generally low during monsoon, compared to the pre and post monsoon seasons, at the adjoining mangrove sediments, they were found to vary. In the present study, the highest accumulation of Fe was observed during pre monsoon, while the values in the monsoon and post monsoon seasons were lower and comparabie. The variation of Mn values was similar to observations made by Alagarsamy (2006) in the surface sediments of the adjoining Mandovi estuary.

Irrespective of the depth, the experimental site showed an enrichment of Fe > 100% of the control site during pre monsoon. Percentage of enrichment has been calculated using the formula:

### If a > b:

Percentage of enrichment = (a - b)/b \* 100If b > a under washout conditions: Percentage of enrichment = (b - a)/a \* 100

where a is the concentration of Fe/Mn at experimental site and b is the concentration of Fe/Mn at control site.

In general, enrichment increases with depth to reach values >165% at an 8-10 cm interval during pre-monsoon. During monsoon, the general enrichment pattern is reversed with the highest enrichment (85.6%) at 0-2 cm. Moreover, observations from statistical analysis indicate that there is no significant correlation between Fe and Mn in the monsoon months, neither at the control nor at the experimental site. However, a direction is suggested in the relationship. It is negative at the experimental site and positive at the control site, perhaps suggesting that under a lower concentration of iron, manganese concentration tends to increase. With a higher concentration of iron up to 12-13%, this trend changes, suggesting that the increase of both of the elements do not get coupled after a threshold.

During post monsoon, it could be observed that, though the trend in down core variation fairly resembled the monsoon season, the magnitude fell sharply to show negative enrichment. It was interesting to note that, although the control site was free from the influence of mining, the experimental site showed negative Mn enrichment in all sections during monsoon and post monsoon. This could be due to enhanced fresh water supply to the Mandovi compared to the Chapora. These observations are contrasted by very high enrichment (393-773%) of Mn at the experimental site during the pre monsoon season, especially in the depth range of 4-6 cm. A positive relation between Fe and Mn during the non-monsoon months  $(r = 0.64, p \le 0.02, n = 10)$  at the control site and the absence of such a relation at the experimental site showed that, though the chemistry of Fe and Mn are closely related, they could be differentially preferred by organisms, which in turn is influenced by the prevailing environment. Alternatively, the concentration of iron is too high to warrant any bacterial dependance.

The geoaccumulation index ( $I_{geo}$ ) was originally defined by Müller (1979) for metal concentrations in the  $\leq 2 \mu$  fraction and developed for global standard shale values, which is expressed as follows:

$$I_{\text{geo}} = \log_2(C_n/1.5B_n)$$

where  $C_n$  is the measured concentration of metal 'n' in the sediment and  $B_n$  is the background value for metal 'n'.

The factor 1.5 is used for the possible variations of the background data due to lithological variations.

The choice of the background value plays an important role in the interpretation of geological data.  $I_{geo}$  has been widely utilized as a measure of pollution in freshwater (e.g. Müller, 1980; Singh et al., 1997; Kralik, 1999) and marine sediments (e.g. Stoffers et al., 1986; Bryan and Langston, 1992; Dickinson et al., 1996). Geoaccumulation index ( $I_{geo}$ ) of Fe and Mn in the experimental site (control site metal values were taken as reference values) was computed based on Müller (1979) for all the depths and seasons. The results are plotted in Fig. 4a and b.

According to the  $I_{geo}$  classification (Table 1), it could be inferred that the sediments in the depth range 0–10 cm fall in the 'uncontaminated to moderately contaminated by iron' category during the pre-monsoon and monsoon season. While, in the post monsoon season, though the 0–4 cm still remains 'uncontaminated to moderately contaminated by iron', the 4–10 cm layer has recovered from Fe contamination and could be termed as 'Uncontaminated'. The contamination due to Mn is more acute than Fe during the pre-monsoon season. During the pre-monsoon, the 0–8 cm section falls under the 'Moderately to strongly contaminated' category, while the 8–10 cm section falls under the 'Moderately contaminated category'. All the depths fall in the 'Uncontaminated' group during the monsoon and post monsoon and hence could be assessed as free



Fig. 4. (a) and (b)  $I_{geo}$  values of Fe and Mn, respectively, for the experimental site at Divar. The y-axis scale and legend to (b) is the same as that of (a).

Table 1

Description of sediment quality by geoaccumulation index (Müller, 1979)

Igeo, Value	Igeo Class	Description of sediment quality
>5	6	Extremely contaminated
4-5	5	Strongly to extremely strongly contaminated
3-4	4	Strongly contaminated
23	3	Moderately to strongly contaminated
1-2	2	Moderately contaminated
0-1	1	Uncontaminated to moderately contaminated
<0	0	Uncontaminated

from the Mn pollution. These observations could again suggest that, though the elements are closely related, the biogeochemical cycling of Mn could be more efficient and rapid when compared to Fe in the mangrove sediments. Moreover, the mangrove ecosystems play a buffering role by reducing the enrichment levels of Fe and Mn in the sediments. The overall assessment could be that, though the Mandovi estuary is under the influence of ferromanganese ore mining with significant impact on the estuarine sediments, the sediments of the adjoining mangroves are comparatively less contaminated, but when strongly contaminated, could be self-regulatory and recover in the time scale tested.

# 3.2. Total organic carbon (TOC) and bacterial trophic structure

Down core variability in TOC for the different seasons are illustrated in Fig. 5a and b. TOC varied from 0.02 to 1.8% in the control site, whereas at the experimental site, it varied from 0.12 to 2.74%. Lowest TOC values were recorded during the post monsoon season at the control



Fig. 5. (a) Control site and (b) Experimental site show the down core variation in Total Organic Carbon (TOC) in sediments. ( $\bigcirc -$  Pre Monsoon, + - Monsoon and  $\blacksquare -$  Post Monsoon).

site and the highest values were recorded during the pre monsoon at the experimental site.

TOC varied with different fractions of retrievable heterotrophic bacteria (Figs. 6 and 7). In the pre monsoon season, TOC and HB retrieved on all three strengths of nutrient agar showed a positive relationship at the control site. However, only on 0.01% HB was the correlation significant at r = 0.80,  $p \le 0.05$ . Despite the season, it could be observed that at the control site the abundance of HB retrieved on 0.01% dNA is limited (r = 0.50, p < 0.05, n = 5) by the availability of organic carbon. The extent of limitation due to carbon availability for HB retrieved on 0.01% (r = 0.89,  $p \le 0.01$ , n = 5) and 0.1% dNA  $(r = 0.96, p \le 0.001, n = 5)$  is maximum during the monsoon. Though there is a heavy organic flux into the estuary during the monsoon, the higher dependency of HB on TOC could be due to the lower lability of the organic carbon. Reduced residence time during monsoon could be responsible for the delayed degradation of complex organic matter into simpler labile forms. Short residence time could also be due to the large seasonal influx of freshwater into the estuary, with unchanged tidal amplitude over large distances (Unnikrishnan et al., 1997). As in the control site, as well as at the experimental site, TOC showed a positive relation with 0.01% HB (r = 0.72,  $p \le 0.1$ ) during pre monsoon. There does not exist any significant relationship between the 25 and 0.1% fraction of HB with TOC at the experimental site during the pre monsoon and monsoon seasons.

The scenario in post monsoon is very different from the preceding seasons at both the control and experimental sites. It was observed that the 0.01% dNA fraction of HB had a positive relationship of r = 0.889 ( $p \le 0.02$ ) and r = 0.79 ( $p \le 0.05$ ), respectively, with TOC. The other fractions bore an insignificant, negative relationship. However, it is suggestive of enhanced utilization compared to production of organic carbon. Though the estuarine environment is eutrophic with considerable organic loading, a persistent relationship between TOC and the 0.01% dNA fraction of HB could be due to a dominant fraction of heterotrophs, which constantly require an optimal organic carbon concentration of 0.01%. Similar observations have


Fig. 6. Control site shows the down core variation of bacterial groups with different nutritional requirements ( $\bigcirc$  – Pre Monsoon, + – Monsoon and  $\blacksquare$  – Post Monsoon).



Fig. 7. Experimental site shows the down core variation of bacterial groups with different nutritional requirements (O – Pre Monsoon, + – Monsoon and  $\blacksquare$  – Post Monsoon).

been made earlier by Goltekar et al. (2006) in the Mandovi estuary, which indicate that bacteria from relatively more dynamic estuarine systems seemed less resilient compared to the coastal and offshore populations, as they were best retrieved only on 1% nutrient strength.

# 3.3. Relation of sediment geochemistry with bacterial trophic status

It was interesting to note that TOC related positively to Fe (r = 0.67, p < 0.01, n = 15) and Mn (r = 0.92, p < 0.001, n = 15) at the experimental site, whereas the relationships were negative at the control site (r = -0.72, p < 0.001, n = 15 for Fe and r = -0.51, p < 0.05, n = 15 for Mn). These relationships could imply that at the experimental site there is considerable extraneous input of TOC favoring the accumulation of Fe and Mn. Wangersky (1986) has reported that coatings of organic matter prevalent in finegrained sediments bind a variety of trace elements. Enrichment of Mn in the pre monsoon and its subsequent removal in the monsoon indicate that Mn turnover time could be much less, as it is actively removed both by physical processes and biogeochemical sequestration. It could be observed that at the experimental site NtB are higher at the depth ranges of 2-4 cm and 8-10 cm. Irrespective of the season, a positive correlation between Mn and NtB (r = 0.61, p < 0.01, n = 15) at the experimental site suggests that Mn could be used actively as a co-factor for the ammonia monoxygenase enzyme. More importantly, it could also serve as an alternate terminal electron acceptor in anaerobic respiration (Hulth et al., 1999). This relationship disappeared when the Mn levels decreased during the monsoon season and was re-established during the post monsoon season (r = 0.62,  $p \le 0.02$ , n = 10) when the Mn levels increased. Absence of a significant relationship between Fe with various fractions of heterotrophs and nitrifiers at both the control and experimental sites suggested that Fe is present in excess and perhaps non-limiting. Moreover, Mn(IV) reduction preceeds that of Fe(III) because of reduction energetics of the solid phases (Burdige et al., 1992).

The relationship between Mn and various fractions of HB indicate that the latter has a considerable influence in regulating the levels of Mn. At the experimental site, HB cultured on 0.01% dNA related to Mn during pre monsoon (r = 0.826, p < 0.05, n = 5) and further strengthened during the monsoon (r = 0.968, p < 0.001, n = 5). HB on 0.1% dNA also showed a relationship to Mn concentrations (r = 0.951, p < 0.001, n = 5) during the monsoon. However, during post monsoon, the variation in HB on a higher

strength of 25% nutrient agar affected the variation in Mn concentration up to 90% (r = 0.949, p < 0.001, n = 5). All these observations show that the different fractions of HB could respond in sequence to the Mn enrichment taking place in the pre monsoon season. These relationships demonstrate that HB are actively involved in maintaining the level of Mn on par with reference levels at the Chapora estuary.

A very strong positive correlation between NtB and TOC in the pre monsoon season (r = 0.987, p < 0.001, n = 5) showed that heterotrophic nitrification could be a dominant process controlling the cycling of ammonia in sediments. The potential of heterotrophic nitrification in sediments has been previously reported by Schimel et al. (1984). Furthermore, the absence of a relationship in monsoon and a negative relationship in post monsoon (r = -0.673, p < 0.1, n = 5) could indicate a shift from a relatively heterotrophic to relatively autotrophic mode of nitrification.

## 4. Conclusion

The present study shows that the heterotrophs respond to the Mn enrichment and could be active in maintaining its level and the other associated metal concentrations like that of Fe on par with the reference site. A positive correlation between Mn with NtB at the experimental site during the non-monsoon months is indicative of the latter's contribution to regulation of the metal concentration, especially of Mn in the sediment, probably through its use as a terminal electron acceptor in respiration at the expense of manganese oxide. The study therefore lends support to our hypothesis that both autochthonous autotrophs and heterotrophs work in tandem to mitigate manganese and perhaps related metals like iron in mangrove swamps. Though the Mandovi estuary is under the influence of ferromanganese ore mining with relatively higher sediment metal concentrations, the adjoining mangroves are comparatively less contaminated due to the self-regulation facilitated by the native bacterial flora.

#### Acknowledgements

We are thankful to the Dr. S.R. Shetye, Director, NIO, for providing facilities to carry out this work. We also acknowledge the help rendered by Dr. Maheshwari Nair, Mr. Vineesh and Mr. Martin in trace metal analysis. KPK and SOF record their gratefulness to UGC and CSIR (Government of India) for the award of Senior Research Fellowship. This is NIO contribution no. 4246.

#### References

Alagarsamy, R., 2006. Distribution and seasonal variation of trace metals in surface sediments of the Mandovi estuary, west coast of India. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 67, 333–339.

- Alexander, M., Clark, F.E., 1965. Nitrifying bacteria. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. American Society Agronomy, Madison, Wis, pp. 1477–1483.
- Balaram, V., Ramesh, S.L., Anjaiah, K.V., 1995. Comparative study of the sample decomposition procedures in determination of trace and rare elements in anorthosites and related rocks by ICP-MS. Fresen. Journal of Analytical Chemistry 353, 176–182.
- Bryan, G.W., Langston, W.J., 1992. Bioavailability, accumulation and effects of heavy metals in sediments with special reference to Uniled Kingdom estuaries; a review. Environmental Pollution 76, 89-131.
- Burdige, D.J., Dhakar, S.P., Nealson, K.H., 1992. Effects of manganese oxide mineralogy on microbial and chemical manganese reduction. Geomicrobiology Journal 10, 27-48.
- Dickinson, W.W., Dunbar, G.B., McLeod, H., 1996. Heavy metal history from cores in Wellington Harbour, New Zealand. Environmental Geology 27, 57-69.
- El Wakeel, S.K., Riley, J.P., 1957. Determination of organic carbon in the marine muds. Journal Du Conseil Intrenational Pour L'exploration De La Mer 22, 180-183.
- Flanagan, F.J., 1967. U.S. Geological Survey silicate rock standards. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 31, 289–308.
- Flanagan, F.J. 1976. Descriptions and Analyses of Eight New USGS Rock Standards, U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 840, 192.
- Goltekar, R.C., Krishnan, K.P., De Souza, M.J.B., Paropkari, A.L., Loka Bharathi, P.A., 2006. Effect of carbon source concentration and culture duration on retreivability of bacteria from certain estuarine, coastal and offshore areas around the peninsular India. Current Science 90, 103-106.
- Hulth, S., Aller, R.C., Gilbert, F., 1999. Coupled anoxic nitrification/ manganese reduction in marine sediments. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 63, 49-66.
- Kralik, M., 1999. A rapid procedure for environmental sampling and evaluation of polluted sediments. Applied Geochemistry 14, 807–816.
- Müller, G., 1979. Schwermetalle in den sedimenten des Rheins e Verä nderungen seit 1971. Umschau 79, 778–783.
- Müller, G., 1980. Schwermetalle in den sedimenten des Elbe bei Stade. Naturwissenschaften 67, 560-561.
- Murthy, C.S., Das, P.K., Nair, R.R., Veeraya, M., Varadachari, V.V.R., 1976. Circulation and sedimentation processes in and around the Aguaca Bay. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 5, 9–17.
- Ray, A.K., Tripathy, S.C., Patra, S., Sarma, V.V., 2006. Assessment of Godavari estuarine mangrove ecosystem through trace metal studies. Environment International 32, 219–223.
- Rodina, A.G., 1972. Methods in aquatic microbiology. University Park Press, Butterworths, Baltimore London, pp. 269-291.
- Rubio, B., Nombela, M.A., Vilas, F., 2000. Geochemistry of major and trace elements in sediments of the Ria de Vigo (NW Spain): an assessment of metal pollution. Marine Pollution Bulletin 40, 968–980.
- Schimel, J.P., Firestone, M.K., Killham, K.S., 1984. Identification of heteretrophic nitrification in a sierran forest soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 48, 802-806.
- Singh, M., Ansari, A.A., Müller, G., Singh, I.B., 1997. Heavy metals in freshly deposited sediments of the Gomati River (a tributary of the Ganga River): effects of human activities. Environmental Geology 29, 246–252.
- Stoffers, P., Glasby, G.P., Wilson, C.J., Davies, K.R., Walter, P., 1986. Heavy metal pollution in Wellington Harbour. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 20, 495-512.
- Uunikrishnan, A.S., Shetye, S.R., Gouveia, A.D., 1997. Tidal propagation in the Mandovi-Zuari estuarine network, west coast of India: impact of freshwater influx. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 45, 737–744.
- Varma, K.K., Rao, L.V.G., 1975. Temporal and spatial variations in hydrographic conditions of Mandovi estuary. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 4, 11–17.
- Varma, K.K., Cherian, T., 1975. Physical characteristics of Chapora estuary. Mahasagar 8, 193-197.
- Wangersky, P.J., 1986. Biological control of trace metal residence time and speciation. A review and synthesis. Marine Chemistry 18, 269–297.

EL SEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science





# Limno-tolerant bacteria govern nitrate concentration in Mandovi Estuary, India

Baby Divya, Sheryl O. Fernandes, G. Sheelu<sup>1</sup>, Shanta Nair, P.A. Loka Bharathi<sup>\*</sup>, D. Chandramohan

Biological Oceanography Division, National Institute of Oceanography, Dona Paula, Goa 403 004, India

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 May 2008 Accepted 13 November 2008 Available online 3 Decembet 2008

Keywords: bacteria limno-tolerant halo-tolerant salinity nitrate estuarine environment Mandovi

#### ABSTRACT

The spatial and temporal abundances of limno-tolerant and halo-tolerant bacteria were investigated in the tide-dominated Mandovi estuary along the west coast of India. These investigations were carried out in relation to various environmental parameters on a monthly basis at three fixed stations for a year. On an annual basis, the estuary showed an average salinity of 28.2, 17.4, and 12.6 at the mouth, midstream and upstream region. Halo-tolerant retrievable count (HTRC) and limno-tolerant retrievable count (LTRC) of bacteria were in the order of  $10^6$  L<sup>-1</sup>. Among the environmental parameters, a strong negative relationship between salinity and nitrate (r = -0.806; p < 0.001) suggested that 64% of the variation could be due to fresh water influence in the estuary. The limno-tolerant retrievable count (LTRC) brought about 23% variations in nitrate concentration. This influence was maximum during the monsoon (r = 0.522; p < 0.05) especially in the surface waters (r = 0.624; p < 0.001) suggesting nitrate reduction by LTRC. Measurements of nitrate reducing activity (NRA) in whole-water samples along the salinity gradient in the estuary also revealed higher reduction rates at lower salinity upstream. This was further confirmed by culture experiments where the limno-tolerant bacteria showed higher NRA than halo-tolerant forms. It is therefore suggested that LTRC is more actively involved in the variation of nitrate that enters the Mandovi estuary particularly during the monsoon.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### 1. Introduction

An estuary, as the meeting point of fresh and saline waters, is a dynamic environment which is subjected to a wide variation in physical and chemical parameters. In the estuary, the bacterial community may comprise physiologically versatile species belonging to the autochthonous estuarine bacterial population and/or the allochthonous fresh water or terrestrial populations. Although the fresh water bacteria are introduced with the nutrient rich waters, they could be adversely affected by an increase in salinity in the estuary (Hyun et al., 1999) compared to the autochthonous estuarine bacteria. Estuarine microorganisms thus require the capacity for adaptation to the continuous mixing of waters, the different residence times and transportation of materials from diverse sources (Igeno et al., 1995; Almeida et al., 2001). The adaptive response of the bacteria may be either by changing their abundance and/or their activity. The Mandovi is a tide-dominated tropical estuary, located between 15°25' to 15°31'N and 73°45' to 73°59'E on the west coast of India and is well mixed throughout the year. Due to its location in the south-eastern Arabian Sea, it is subjected to wind-forcing resulting from the annual reversal of monsoon winds (Wiggert et al., 2005). The estuary receives an annual rainfall of the order 250–300 cm yr<sup>-1</sup> during the southwest monsoon (June-September) and less than 10 cm yr<sup>-1</sup> during the rest of the year (Shetye and Murthy, 1987). It shows a characteristic shift from an autotrophic phase during the non-monsoon period to heterotrophic mode during the monsoon (Ram et al., 2003).

The nitrate concentration is high (Sardessai and Sundar, 2007) in this estuary and the sources of nitrate are from terrestrial influx, the mangrove swamps (Qasim and Sengupta, 1981) and from the iron ore extraction-plant discharge (De Souza, 1983) located upstream. Do bacteria from these estuarine waters govern the level of nitrate? To address this question, we examined both autochthonous halotolerant and allochthonous limno-tolerant community along with nitrate concentrations in the Mandovi estuary. We hypothesize that the allochthonous limno-tolerant bacteria are responsible for governing the concentration of nitrate in the Mandovi estuary. Our hypothesis is further developed by laboratory experiments with whole-water sample and isolates of limno-tolerant and halotolerant forms on nitrate reducing activity at different salinities.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

E-mail address: loka@nio.org (P.A. Loka Bharathi).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Present address: Indian Institute of Chemical Technology, Hyderabad 500 007, Andhra Pradesh, India.

<sup>0272-7714/</sup>S - see front matter  $\circledast$  2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2008.11.020

#### 2. Materials and methods

Surface and bottom waters were collected from the mouth (Lat 15° 29' 35.81"N; Long 73° 48' 35.33"E), midstream (Lat 15° 30' 13.19"N; Long 73° 54' 00.83"E) and upstream (Lat 15° 32' 35.21"N; Long 73° 57' 24.43"E) of the estuary at monthly intervals for a period of one year using Zobell water samplers (Fig. 1).

#### 2.1. Physico-chemical parameters

Water temperature was measured immediately after collection of sample onboard using a field thermometer. All the other physico-chemical variables were estimated in triplicate in the laboratory after the transport of water samples in refrigerated conditions. pH was determined using pH meter (Elico LI 614 pH Analyser). Salinity, nitrate, and nitrite were estimated as described by Strickland and Parsons (1968). For oxygen estimation, the water samples that were fixed immediately on board and were then analyzed using Winkler's titrimetric method (Carpenter, 1965). Chlorophyll was estimated based on the fluorimetry method of Yentsch and Menzel (1963). Suspended load was determined gravimetrically on pre-weighed CF/F (Whatman) filters as described by Krey (1964).

#### 2.2. Microbiological parameters

Total bacterial numbers were enumerated by the acridine orange direct count (AODC) method (Hobbie et al., 1977). Samples were fixed immediately with formaldehyde (2% final concentration). A fixed amount was filtered through 0.2 µm pore size black polycarbonate membrane filters (Nucleopore), stained with 0.01% acridine orange and enumerated using an epifluorescence microscope (Olympus BH). Total viable counts were estimated (Kogure et al., 1979) by incubating the sample with yeast extract for 6 h with subsequent filtration, staining, and enumeration as above. Abundance of limno-tolerant and halo-tolerant bacteria was estimated from the CFU (Colony Forming Units) retrieved on nutrient agar prepared in distilled water (salinity = 0) and aged estuarine water (salinity = 30) respectively (Krumbein, 1971). Enumeration was carried out after 48 h of incubation at  $28 \pm 2$  °C and counts were expressed in numbers per liter. Interrelationships between bacterial and environmental parameters were statistically examined using Statistica and Analysis Tool Pack in Microsoft Excel. The microbial variables were log transformed before analyses.

#### 2.3. Nitrate reduction along salinity gradients

Surface water samples were collected in sterile polypropylene bottles for the determination of nitrate reducing activity (NRA)



Fig. 1. Sampling locations along the Mandovi estuary (Stn 1: mouth; Stn 2: midstream; Stn 3: upstream).

along salinity gradients in the Mandovi estuary i.e. towards the upstream (salinity = 5), midstream (salinity = 17) and mouth (salinity = 34). Water samples were transferred to sterile conical flasks. Allylthiourea (ATU) at a final concentration of 86  $\mu$ M was added to inhibit additional nitrate input through ammonium oxidation (Ginestet et al., 1998). Triplicates were maintained throughout the experiment and the flasks were incubated in the dark at room temperature in a static condition. The fall in nitrate content from each test flask was estimated at 0–1.5 and 3 h as described above. Cell counts were also done using a cell counting chamber under a bright field microscope (*Nikon* Eclipse 50i).

Nitrate reducing activity was estimated with representative halo-tolerant and limno-tolerant isolates. These isolates were grown on respective media. Pure cells harvested from culture plates were used. Cell suspension was vortexed and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 min using a *REMI* R-24 centrifuge. The supernatant was discarded and washing procedure was repeated. The cell suspension with 0.1  $OD_{600}$  was then added to 500 ml of test medium amended with ATU. Nitrate reducing ability in low (5) and high (34) sal:ne conditions was determined as described above and are expressed as aM cell<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Data of only representative cultures are presented.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Variation in physico-chemical parameters

The temperature variation throughout the year was negligible with slight drop during cold seasons and rainy months. Annual average temperature of the estuary was 27.2  $(\pm 2.8)$  °C. The annual average salinity was 20.3  $(\pm 12.3)$  for the whole estuary. The average salinity varied from  $12.6(\pm 11.2)$  in the upstream through  $17.4(\pm 12)$ in the midstream to  $28.2 (\pm 9.25)$  in the mouth. During the monsoon period the salinity dropped to a low of 0.11, 0.11, and 12.7 at upstream, midstream and mouth respectively. The average concentration of nitrate during the monsoon was 6.2 (±3.1) µM NO<sub>3</sub>-N whereas the value decreased drastically to 1.7  $(\pm 1.4) \mu M$ NO<sub>3</sub>-N in the non-monsoon. Salinity and nitrate showed opposite trend (Fig. 2). In general, variation was more pronounced when data was analyzed seasonally (Table 1). In the surface waters salinity varied from 0.11 to 18.7 in the monsoon and from 0.9 to 34.7 in the non-monsoon. However, in the bottom waters the salinity ranged from 0.09 to 31.7 and from 13.6 to 34.9 during the monsoon



**Fig. 2.** Annual variation of salinity and nitrate in the estuary. Mouth ( $\Delta$ ), midstream ( $\Box$ ), and upstream ( $\Box$ ).

#### Table 1

Physico-chemical variables in surface and bottom waters during monsoon and non-monsoon periods. Values in parenthesis - mean ± SD.

Variables	Monsoon		Non-monsoon	
	Surface	Bottom	Surface	Bottom
Temperature (°C)	$25-31^{a}(28 \pm 2.05)$	24-30.5 (27 ± 2.1)	20.5-32.5 (26.5 ± 3)	19.5-32 (25 ± 3.5)
pH	$6.8 - 7.8 (7 \pm 0.31)$	6.7-7.8 (7.3 ± 0.3)	7.2-8.2 (7.7 ± 0.26)	7.4-8.3 (7.87 ± 0.2)
Salinity	$0.11 - 18.7 (9.4 \pm 9.9)$	$0.09 - 31.7 (15 \pm 12)$	0.9-34.7 (17.8 ± 10.3)	13.6-34.9 (24 ± 6.2)
Dissolved oxygen saturation (%)	94-73 (84 ± 7.8)	104-53.7 (78.9 ± 15.4)	10661 (83 ± 10)	111-62 (87 ± 13.3)
Nitrate (uM)	3.6-14.1 (8.8 ± 2.9)	$1.17 - 13.3 (7.2 \pm 3.4)$	$0.05 - 6.44(3.2 \pm 1.6)$	$0.09 - 3.6 (1.8 \pm 1.1)$
Nitrite (uM)	$0.6-6.84(3.7\pm2.3)$	$0.72 - 8.9 (4.8 \pm 2.8)$	$0.001 - 2.3 (1.1 \pm 0.6)$	$0.001 - 2.2(1.14 \pm 0.6)$
Suspended load (g L <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.01 - 0.1 (0.06 \pm 0.04)$	$0.008 - 0.17 (0.09 \pm 0.06)$	$0.008 - 0.29 (0.14 \pm 0.08)$	$0.05 - 0.32(0.18 \pm 0.07)$
Chlorophyll (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2.6-0.04 (1.3 ± 0.86)	0.04-3.7 (1.8 ± 1.1)	0.04-10.59 (5.3 ± 2.8)	0.1-5.1 (2.6 ± 1.32)

" Range

and non-monsoon respectively. The percentage of mean dissolved oxygen saturation during monsoon and non-monsoon were (84 ± 7.8) and (83 ± 10) respectively in the surface waters. At the surface, nitrate concentration ranged from 3.6 to 14.1  $\mu$ M with an average value of 8.8 (±2.9)  $\mu$ M in the monsoon. The distribution in nitrite concentration followed similar trend. The suspended load was more during the monsoon compared to the non-monsoon period. Chlorophyll *a* concentration was higher during the monsoon period both at the surface and bottom.

#### 3.2. Bacterial parameters

The variations in total count (TC), total viable count (TVC), limno-tolerant retrievable count (LTRC), and halo-tolerant retrievable count (HTRC) are shown in Table 2. The total count of bacteria ranged from  $10^8$  to  $10^9 L^{-1}$ . The mean annual value of TC showed the maximum in the bottom waters during the non-monsoon season. The direct viable counts comprised 25% of the total bacterial abundance. These varied from the lowest 19.5% at the bottom in the non-monsoon season to the highest 51.7% at the surface in the monsoon season. The densities of LTRC and HTRC formed 0.008% and 0.014% respectively of the viable bacterial population in the estuary. On an average, the retrievability of halo-tolerant bacteria was double that of limno-tolerant bacteria at 10<sup>6</sup> CFU L<sup>-1</sup> throughout the year (Fig. 3). The retrievability of LTRC during monsoon was of the order  $10^6$  CFU L<sup>-1</sup>, while during the nonmonsoon their abundance decreased by an order. The highest abundance of HTRC and LTRC was detected in the non-monsoon and monsoon season respectively. The LTRC/HTRC ratios were high in midstream. The highest value of 14.2 ( $\pm$ 66.9) was recorded during the monsoon season (Table 3). The halo-tolerant forms did not show any significant relation to the variation in physicochemical parameters. The variation in the limno-tolerant counts related significantly to the variation in nitrate by 23% (p < 0.001) on an annual basis. During monsoon, nitrate related negatively to salinity (r = 0.536; p < 0.05). Variation in the LTRC was found to be responsible for 27% (p < 0.05) of the variation in nitrate during this season particularly in the surface waters (r = 0.624; p < 0.001). During the non-monsoon, LTRC caused 27% variation in nitrite (Table 4).

#### 3.3. Nítrate reducing activity

The initial concentrations of nitrate were 4.31 (±0.2)  $\mu$ M NO<sub>3</sub>–N at 5, 3.5 (±0.02)  $\mu$ M NO<sub>3</sub>–N at 17, and 3.0 (±0.06)  $\mu$ M NO<sub>3</sub>–N at 34 salinities (Fig. 4). Nitrification inhibited incubations with water collected along salinity gradients in the estuary revealed higher NRA in low saline waters upstream as compared to the higher salinity waters towards the mouth. Though increasing salinity generally inhibits the NRA activity, our observations show highest NRA of up to 8.72 (±0.1) aM cell<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in midstream (salinity = 17) where the ambient nitrate concentration was 3.5 (±0.02)  $\mu$ M. At salinity 5 specific NRA of limno-tolerant isolate was 55 aM cell<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Specific NRA in the estuarine isolate showed 11–92% repression of nitrate reduction at higher salinity (Table 5).

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Physico-chemical parameters

Mandovi is a fresh water dominated estuary, considerably influenced by tides. Even during the pre-monsoon period there is enough fresh water influx to keep salinity close to zero upstream to about 40 km which prevents high salinity waters from intruding upstream (Shetye et al., 1995). In the present study, the average salinity of the estuary was 12.6 ( $\pm$ 11.2) and 28.2 ( $\pm$ 9.25) in the head and mouth respectively. The upstream and mid stations close to lower region of the estuary (Fig. 1) were selected to evaluate the effect of salinity on nitrate concentration and also to enumerate LTRC and HTRC.

The low salinity observed during the monsoon season in all the 3 stations was due to a considerable amount of run off from a larger tributary system and also because of its versatile topography (Qasim and Sengupta, 1981). During the season, the estuary is known to be stratified 2–3 m below surface depending on the depth. Two salt wedges are formed which extends 10 km from the mouth of the estuary (Qasim and Sengupta, 1981) though it remains well mixed during the non-monsoon (Varma et al., 1975). Therefore, the presence of lighter fresher water above and the denser saline water below leads to a lesser extent of mixing. The

Table 2

Total count (TC), total viable count (TVC), halo-tolerant retrievable count (HTRC) and limno-tolerant retrievable count (LTRC) of bacteria in surface and bottom waters during monsoon and non-monsoon periods. Values in parenthesis – mean  $\pm$  SD.

Variables (L <sup>-1</sup> )	Monsoon	Monsoon		Non-monsoon	
	Surface	Bottom	Surface	Bottom	
TC (10 <sup>9</sup> )	4.05-0.9° (2.4 ± 0.9)	12-0.6 (6.3 ± 3.3)	13.2-0.7 (7 ± 3)	41.4-0.74 (21 ± 13.7)	
TVC (10 <sup>9</sup> )	$1.8-0.2(1\pm0.5)$	$2.2-0.19$ (1.2 $\pm$ 0.4)	$2.8-0.3$ (1.6 $\pm$ 0.6)	6.7-0.4 (3.6 ± 1.8)	
HTRC (10 <sup>6</sup> )	9.2-0.3 (4.7 ± 2.5)	$5.1-0.06(2.6 \pm 1.5)$	$13-0.06(6.6\pm 3.2)$	$13.2 - 0.01 (6.6 \pm 3.5)$	
LTRC (10 <sup>6</sup> )	3.3-0.1 (1.7 ± 1.05)	20-0.12 (10 ± 5.5)	1.5-0.06 (0.75 ± 0.35)	$4.08-0.03(2 \pm 1.1)$	

<sup>a</sup> Range.





present study also indicates that nitrate concentrations decreased from the head towards the mouth of the estuary as has been reported elsewhere (Dong et al., 2000, 2002). Nitrate and nitrite concentrations in the estuary were higher during the monsoon compared to the non-monsoon period with surface water recording higher concentration than the bottom water. This is because the estuary is also a receptacle for continuous nutrient and terrigenous organic inputs from riverine run off and mixing of fresh water and seawater leading to chemical precipitation (Eckert and Sholkovitz, 1976; Karbassi et al., 2008) particularly during monsoons. The higher level of suspended load in the monsoon  $(0.14 \text{ gL}^{-1})$ compared to non-monsoon (0.068 gL<sup>-1</sup>) would have contributed to the high level of nitrate. A similar observation was made in the Zuari estuary (De Souza, 1977) where nitrate levels were high in the surface waters and was correlated to the influence of fresh water influx following precipitation. The negative relationship between salinity and nitrate in the surface waters observed in the present study could be attributed to extraneous input of nitrate into the system by fresh water run off. The influx of fresh water in the head region throughout the year, especially during the monsoon would bring relatively high concentration of inorganic nitrogenous species into the estuary (Bhunia and Choudhary, 1982; Chandran and Ramamoorthy, 1984; Vijayakumar et al., 2000). The percent oxygen saturation in the estuary ranged from 53 to 111% annually with the least values during the monsoon which suggests a predominance of heterotrophic respiration. Increased allochthonous inputs have been shown to result in enhanced heterotrophic respiration and reduced primary production in the estuary (Ram et al., 2003). Intrinsic nitrification could also have a role in augmenting the levels of this parameter. In the non-monsoon season the variation in chlorophyll accounted for about 15% (p < 0.001) variation in nitrate concentration, while this relationship did not prevail during the monsoon. As there was no relationship between chlorophyll and nitrate it is suggested that excess of nitrate in the water did not limit the primary production during monsoon. Further, the significant relationship between chlorophyll and nitrate during the

Table 3

Spatial and seasonal variation in LTRC/HTRC ratio.

Location	Estuary	Season		
		Monsoon	Non-monsoon	
Mouth	0.62 (±0.54)	0.8 (±0.4)	0.53 (±0.57)	
Midstream	14.2 (±66.9)	41.8 (±115.8)	$0.49(\pm 0.4)$	
Upstream	0.61 (±0.4)	0.6 (±0.31)	0.58 (±0.55)	

non-monsoon as observed in the present study suggests nitrate removal from the estuary could be largely due to phytoplankton uptake. Earlier studies by Dham et al. (2002) have also demonstrated that the nitrate uptake by phytoplankton was more during the non-monsoon than the monsoon. In addition, chlorophyll concentration was low during monsoon as compared to nonmonsoon season suggesting reduced primary production due to increased turbidity during the monsoon as reported for Schelde estuary (Soetaert and Herman, 1995). However, the nitrate and nitrite concentrations in these waters are generally high due to enrichment caused by the discharge from extraneous sources like the iron ore screening plants throughout the year (De Souza, 1983).

#### 4.2. Microbiological parameters

The bacterial abundance in this estuary is comparable to that of the earlier reports by De Souza et al. (2003) and Ram et al. (2003). About 25% of the total bacteria were viable in the whole of the estuary. This study also finds that the culturable forms of HTRC and LTRC are also high. The high amount of suspended load could provide the required microenvironments (Fletcher, 1991; Kirchman, 1993). Previous reports show that LTRC is known to be abundant when fresh water inflow is high (Nair and Bharathi, 1982). Interestingly, the present study reveals that the HTRC and LTRC were of similar magnitude. The culturability is different with the halo-tolerant forms being marginally higher than and limnotolerant. This was in contrast to what has been reported in Gironde estuary where halo-tolerant far out-numbered limno-tolerant bacteria (Prieur et al., 1987). Thus, the limno-tolerant forms in the lower estuary seem to have adapted themselves to salinity fluctuations as the estuary maintained a salinity close 20 throughout the year except during monsoon thereby deriving the benefit of nutrients. Seasonal precipitation and salinity-induced stratification

Pearson's correlation of variables with r-values in the estuary.

	Variables		Correlation -
Estuary Whole	Nitrate	LTRC	0.479 <sup>b</sup>
Estuary surface	Nitrate	Salinity	-0.806 <sup>b</sup>
•	Nitrate	LTRC	0.624 <sup>b</sup>
Monsoon	Nitrate	Salinity	~0.536*
	Nitrate	LTRC	0.522*
Non-monsoon	Nitrate	Chlorophyll	0.383 <sup>b</sup>
	Nitrite	LTRC	0.524 <sup>b</sup>
<sup>a</sup> p < 0.05.			

b p < 0.001.



Fig. 4. Variation in nitrate concentration and specific nitrate reducing activity (NRA) along salinity gradients in the Mandovi estuary. Ambient nitrate: vertical bars; Specific nitrate reducing activity: smooth line.

apparently control the availability of the major nutrients in the water column of the estuary as elsewhere (Vareethiah et al., 1998).

Nitrate levels may be influenced by microbially driven processes (Smith et al., 2007) mediated by a diverse polyphyletic group of bacteria (Zumft, 1997). Nitrate in the Mandovi estuary could be removed through the reductive cycle by both halo-tolerant and limno-tolerant bacterial communities. LTRC was found to be responsible for the variation in nitrate during the monsoon season particularly in the surface waters. Even during the non-monsoon season, LTRC caused variation in nitrite. The significant relationship between LTRC and nitrite concentration observed in the present study emphasizes that the limno-tolerant bacteria could also be responsible for nitrite reduction in the estuary. Yoshie et al. (2004) have shown that salinity decreases the nitrite reductase gene diversity in denitrifiers. Quantification of nitrate/nitrite reducing phylotypes has shown that the gene copy numbers were detected the highest at the head of estuary where denitrification dominated (Smith et al., 2007). Consequently, this high nitrate input could trigger higher population of nitrate reducers and therefore nitrate reductase activity.

Experiments to determine nitrate reducing activity in ambient water samples have shown higher NRA to occur in low saline waters where nitrate concentrations were relatively high. Studies by Rysgaard et al. (1999) in estuarine sediments have shown that in situ nitrification and denitrification decreased with increasing salinities, with the most pronounced reduction of approximately 50% occurring when the salinity was raised from 0 to 10. Our study demonstrated that an increase in salinity up to 10 showed an increase of NRA by about 33% and this trend was observed up to 17. Nevertheless our experiments also indicated that when there was

#### Table 5

Specific nitrate reducing activity (NRA) of limno-tolerant and halo-tolerant bacteria at salinity 5 and 34.

lsolate	NRA (aM cell <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> ) Salinity		Percentage reduction in NRA	
	Limno-tolerant	55.09 (±3.3)	4.40 (±3.12)	92.01
Halo-tolerant	9.87 (±0.08)	8.72 (±0.91)	11.65	

a 100% increase in salinity from 17 to 35 there was a decrease in NRA by 50%. Recently, Miranda et al. (2008) have also shown that nitrification rates are higher at intermediate salinities than in either fresh water or seawater. Moreover, the ratio of the distribution of LTRC/HTRC clearly shows that estuary is dominated by the limnotolerant forms especially at the midstream and during the monsoon. Thus the higher NRA at the midstream is attributed to the higher ratio. Further, the tighter coupling of LTRC to nitrate concentration as revealed by lowered NRA in estuarine isolates under halo-tolerant conditions could be ascribed to repression of nitrate reductase at higher salinity. Igeno et al. (1995) have demonstrated that increase in salinity led to inhibition of nitrate uptake resulting in a drop in intracellular nitrate, thus repressing the nitrate reductase gene. Studies on the activity of nitrate reductase enzyme in a halo-tolerant cyanobacterium Aphanothece halophytica by Thaivanich and Incharoensakdi (2007), have also shown decline in NRA when sodium chloride concentrations were ≥300 mM. Though it is generally known that salinity can have a significant effect on inorganic nitrogen cycling in estuarine ecosystems, the differential inhibition in the reducing potential of estuarine bacteria observed in the present study is suggestive of optimal salinity favoring nitrate reduction. Although the nitrate reductase gene is known to be constitutive and widespread, the extent of influence of nitrate concentration on LTRC demonstrates that the environment could govern the degree of phenotypic expression in the LTRC community. Moreover, the nitrate reducing activity was found to be more widely expressed in LTRC especially during the monsoon during which the nitrate flux is pre-dominant. Thus, nitrogen cycling in estuarine waters could be maximal at optimal salinity levels. LTRC could therefore play a significant role in the variation of nitrate particularly in the surface waters where its concentration is greater.

#### 5. Conclusion

Limno-tolerant bacteria, though less in abundance, are actively involved in the variation of nitrate that enters the Mandovi estuary particularly during the monsoon. Nitrate reduction in the estuary is enhanced at optimal salinity levels. Though the NRA activity is generally inhibited by increasing salinity, our observations show that different microbes exhibit different levels of inhibition varying between 11 and 95%. The Mandovi estuary could therefore act as a major sink of nitrogen throughout the year especially during the monsoon.

#### Acknowledgements

We are thankful to Dr. S.R. Shetye, Director, NIO for the facilities. Divya and Sheryl thank the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (Govt. of India) for the award of Senior Research Fellowship. We are indebted to two anonymous reviewers for their valuable suggestions which improved the quality of the manuscript. The authors are thankful to by Ms. Shiney Babu Koshy, Vellore Institute of Technology University, Tamil Nadu, and Ms. Lavanya C., Alagappa University, Karaikudi, Tamil Nadu, for help rendered during field sampling and lab analyses. This is NIO contribution no: 4472.

#### References

Bhunia, A.B., Choudhary, A., 1982. Primary production of the estuarine water around Sagar Island, Sunderbans. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 11, 87–89.

Almeida, M.A., Cunha, M.A., Alcantara, E. 2001. Physiological responses of marine and brackish water bacterial assemblages in a tidal estuary (Ria de Aveiro, Portugal). Aquatic Microbial Ecology 25, 113-125.

- Carpenter, J.H., 1965. The Chesapeake Bay Institute. Technique for the Winkler oxygen method. Limnology and Oceanography 10, 141-143.
- Chandran, R., Ramamoorthy, K., 1984. Hydrobiological studies in the gradient zone of the Vellar estuary: nutrients. Mahasagar ~ Bulletin of National Institute of Oceanography 17, 69–77.
- De Souza, S.N., 1977. Monitoring of some environmental parameters at the mouth of Zuari River, Goa. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 6, 114–117. De Souza, S.N., 1983. Studies on the behaviour of nutrients in the Mandovi estuary
- during premonsoon. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 16, 299-308.
- De Souza, M.J.B.D., Nair, S., Bharathi, P.A.L., Chandramohan, D., 2003. Particleassociated bacterial dynamics in a tropical tidal plain (Zuari estuary. India). Aquatic Microbial Ecology 33, 29–40.
- Dham, V.V., Heredia, A.M., Wafar, S., Wafar, M., 2002. Seasonal variations in uptake and in situ regeneration of nitrogen in mangrove waters. Limnology and Dceanography 47, 241–254.
- Dong, L.F., Thornton, D.C.O., Nedwell, D.B., Underwood, G.J.C., 2000. Denitrification in sediments of the River Colne estuary, England. Marine Ecology Progress Series 203, 109–122.
- Dong, L.F., Nedwell, D.B., Underwood, G.J.C., Thornton, D.C.O., Rusinan, I., 2002. Nitrous Oxide formation in the Colne estuary, England. Applied and Environmental Microbiotogy 68, 1240–1249.
- Eckert, J.M., Sholkovitz, E.R., 1976. The flocculation of Fe, Al and humates from river water by electrolytes. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 40, 847–856.
- Flercher, M., 1991. The physiological activity of bacteria attached to solid surfaces. Advances in Microbial Physiology 32, 53-85.
- Alvances in Microbian Hysology 52, 35-05.
  Ginester, P., Audic, J., Urbain, V., Block, J., 1998. Estimation of nitrifying barterial activities by measuring oxygen uptake in the presence of the metabolic inhibitors allylthiourea and azide. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64, 2266–2268.
- Hobbie, J.E., Daley, R.J., Jasper, S., 1977. Use of nucleopore filters for counting bacteria by fluorescence microscopy. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 33, 1225–1228.
- Hyun, J.H., Choi, J.K., Chung, K.H., Yang, E.J., Kim, M.K., 1999. Tidally induced changes in bacterial growth and viability in the macrotidal Han River estuary, Yellow Sea. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 48, 143–153.
- Igeno, M.I., Morai, C.G.D., Castillo, F., Caballero, F.J., 1995. Halotolerance of the phototrophic bacterium Rhodobacter capsulatus E1F1 is dependant on the nitrogen source. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 2970-2975.
- Karbassi, A.R., Nouri, J., Mehrdadi, N., Ayaz, C.O., 2008. Flocculation of heavy metals during mixing of fresh water with Caspian Sea water. Environmental Geology 53, 1811–1816.
- Kirchman, D.L. 1993. Particulate detritus and bacteria in marine environments. In: Ford, T.E. (Ed.), Aquatic Microbiology – an Ecological Approach. Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 321–341.
- Kogure, K., Simidu, U., Taga, N., 1979. A tentative clirect microscopic method for counting living marine bacteria. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 25, 415–420. Kcey, I., 1964. Die mittlere Tiefenverteilung von Seston Mikrobiomasse und Detritus
- Kcey, I., 1964. Die mittlere Tiefenverteilung von Seston Mikrobiomasse und Detr in nordlichen Nordatlantik. Kieler Meeresforschungen 20, 18–29.
- Krumbein, W.E., 1971. Sediment microbiology and grain size distribution as related to tidal movement, during the first mission of West German underwater laboratory, Helgoland. Marine Biology 10, 101-112.
- Miranda, J., Balachandran, K.K., Ramesh, R., Wafar, M., 2008. Nitrification in Kochi backwaters. Estuarine, Coastal and Shetf Science 78, 291–300.

- Nair, S., Bharathi, P.A.L., 1982. Bacteriological studies in Mangalore coast. Mahasagar - Bulletin of the National Institute of Oceanography 15, 215-222.
- Prieur, D., Troussellier, M., Romana, A., Chamroux, S., Baleux, B., 1987. Evolution of bacterial communities in the Gironde estuary (France) according to a salinity gradient. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 24, 95-108.
- Qasim, S.Z., Sengupta, R., 1981. Environmental characteristics of Mandovi-Zuari estuarine systems in Goa. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 13, 557–578.Ram, A.S.P., Nair, S., Chandramohan, D., 2003. Seasonal shift in net ecosystem
- production in a tropical estuary. Limnology and Oceanography **48**, 1601–1607. Rysgaard, S., Thastum, P., Dalsgaard, T., Christensen, P.B., Sloth, N.P., 1999. Effects of
- satinity on NH<sub>4</sub> adsorption capacity, nitrification, and denitrification in Danish estuarine sediments. Estuaries 22, 21–30.
- Sardessai, S., Sundar, D., 2007. Variability of nitrate and phosphate. In: Shetye, S.R., DileepKumar, M., Shankar, D. (Eds.), The Mandovi and Zuari Estuaries. National Institute of Oceanography, India, pp. 59-66.
  Shetye, S.R., Gouveia, A.D., Singbal, S.Y., Naik, C.G., Sundar, D., Michael, G.S.,
- Shetye, S.R., Gouvera, A.D., Singbal, S.Y., Naik, C.G., Sundar, D., Michael, G.S., Nampoothiri, G., 1995. Propagation of tides in the Mandovi-Zuari estuarine network. Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences Earth and Planetary Sciences 104, 667–682.
- Shetye, S.R., Murthy, C.S., 1987. Seasonal variation of salinity in the Zuari estuary, Goa, India. Proceedings of the Indian Academy of Sciences (Earth and Planetary Sciences) 96, 249–257.
- Smith, C.J., Nedwell, D.B., Dong, L.F., Osborn, A.M., 2007. Diversity and abundance if nitrate reductase genes (narG and napA), nitrite reductase genes (nirS and nrfA) and their transcripts in estuarine sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73, 3612–3622.
- Soetaert, K., Herman, P.M.J., 1995. Nitrogen dynamics in the Westerschedule estuary (SW Netherlands) estimated by means of the ecosystem model MOSES. Hydrobiologia 311, 225–246.
- Strickland, J.D.H., Parsons, T.R., 1968. A Practical Handbook of Sea Water Analysis. Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Bulletin No. 167, pp. 71–80.
- Thaivanich, S., Incharoensakdi, A., 2007. Purification and characterization of nitrate reductase from halo-tolerant cyanobacterium Aphanothece halophytica. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 23, 85–92.
  Vareethiah, K., Ramadhas, V., Sivakumar, V., 1998. Distribution of nutrients in a Bar
- Vareethiah, K., Ramadhas, V., Sivakumar, V., 1998. Distribution of nutrients in a Bar built estuary, southwest coast of India. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of India 40, 169–175.
- Varma, K.K., Rao, L.V.G., Cherian, T., 1975. Temporal and spatial variations in hydrographic conditions of the Mandovi estuary. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 4, 11-17.
- Vijayakumar, S., Rajesh, K.M., Mendon, M.R., Hariharan, V., 2000. Seasonal distribution and behaviour of nutrients with reference to tidal rhythm in the Mulki estuary. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of India 42, 21-31.
- Wiggert, J.D., Hood, R.R., Banse, K., Kindle, J.C., 2005. Monsoon driven biogeochemical processes in the Arabian Sea. Progress in Oceanography 65, 176-213. Yentsch, C.D., Menzel, D.W., 1963. A method for determination of chlorophyll and
- phaeophytin by fluorescence. Deep-Sea Research 10, 221–231. Yoshie, S., Nada, N., Tsuneda, A., Hirata, A., Inamori, Y., 2004. Salinity decreases nitrite reductase gene diversity in denitrifying bacteria of wastewater treat-
- nitrite reductase gene diversity in denitrifying bacteria of wastewater treatment systems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70, 3152-3157.
- Zumft, W.G. 1997. Cell biology and molecular basis of denitrification. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 61, 533-616.

# Denitrification: An Important Pathway for Nitrous Oxide Production in Tropical Mangrove Sediments (Goa, India)

Sheryl Oliveira Fernandes and P.A. Loka Bharathi\* National Institute of Oceanography Patricia C. Bonin and Valérie D. Michotey Centre d'Océanologie de Marseille,

Net nitrous oxide production and denitrification activity were measured in two mangrove ecosystems of Goa, India. The relatively pristine site Tuvem was compared to Divar, which is prone to high nutrient input. Stratified sampling at 2-cm intervals within the 0- to 10-cm depth range showed that N,O production at both the locations decreased with depth. Elevated denirtification activity at Divar tesulted in maximum production of up to 1.95 nmol N,O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 2 to 4 cm, which was three times higher than at Tuvem. Detailed investigations to understand the major pathway contributing to N,O production performed at Tuvem showed that incomplete denitrification was responsible for up to 43 to 93% of NO production. Nirrous oxide production rates closely correlated to nitrite concentration (n = 15; r = -0.47; p < 0.05) and denitrifier abundance (r = 0.55; p < 0.05), suggesting that nitrite utilization by microbial activity leads to N,O production. Nirrous oxide production through nitrification was below detection, affirming that denitrification is the major pathway responsible for production of the greenhouse gas. Net N2O production in these mangrove systems are comparatively higher than those reported from other natural estuarine sediments and therefore warrant mitigation measures.

Copyright © 2010 by the American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America. All rights reserved. No part of this periodical may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

J. Environ. Qual. 39:1507–1516 (2010) doi:10.2134/jeq2009.0477 Published online 25 May 2010. Received 4 Dec. 2009. \*Corresponding author (loka@nio.org). © ASA, CSSA, SSSA SS85 Guilford Rd., Madison, WI 53711 USA

THE MARINE ENVIRONMENT is recognized as a net source of I nitrous oxide (N,O) to the atmosphere (Corredor et al., 1999). Estuaries and coastal regions account for approximately 60% of the total oceanic N<sub>2</sub>O flux (Bange et al., 1996). The N<sub>2</sub>O molecule is a precursor to compounds involved in the destruction of the stratospheric ozone layer (Yamagishi et al., 2007), which protects the Earth from harmful ultraviolet radiation. Since about 1750 onward, industrialization has increased the global atmospheric N,O concentration from ~270 to 319 µL L<sup>-1</sup> (IPCC, 2007). Although N,O is responsible for 5 to 6% of the greenhouse effect (Houghton et al., 1996), its lifetime of about 114 yr makes the global warming potential of this biogenic gas 298 times greater than that of CO, over a 100-yr time frame (Forster et al., 2007). Nitrous oxide is produced as a by-product during several microbiological processes including nitrification, denitrification, and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (De Wilde and De Bie, 2000). However, denitrification and chemolithotrophic nitrification appear to be the main biological sources of N<sub>2</sub>O emission in natural systems (Bremner and Blackmer, 1978; Firestone and Davidson, 1989; Bonin et al., 2002).

In ecosystems with high inputs of nitrogen (N) such as estuaries, denitrification mediates reduction of N loadings and therefore contributes to control of eutrophication (Nogales et al., 2002). Mangroves ecosystems constitute nearly 75% of tidal vegetation in tropical regions (Alongi et al., 1989), and they play an important role in the biogeochemical cycles of coastal and marine ecosystems (Thorsten and José, 2001). The N cycle within mangrove forests is mediated predominantly by microbial rather than chemical processes (Alongi et al., 1992). Inorganic N and other parameters important for N turnover can fluctuate widely due to the position of mangroves in the intertidal zone (Meyer et al., 2008). Anthropogenic inputs such as effluents from sewage treatment plants (Corredor and Morell, 1994) increase the rate of N loading to mangroves (Muñoz-Hincapié et al., 2002). They function as efficient buffer zones mitigating large amounts of nutrients (Corredor and Morell, 1994) in the estuarine system and

Abbreviations: DNT, denitrification activity; <sup>N</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O, incomplete denitrification; 'N<sub>2</sub>O, percentage of N<sub>2</sub>O through incomplete denitrification; MPN, most probable number; <sup>N</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O, nitrous oxide produced through nitrification; TOC, total organic carbon.

S.O. Fernances and P.A. Loka Bharathi, Marine Microbiology Lab., National Institute of Oceanography, CSIR, Dona Paula, Goa, India, 403004; P.C. Bonin and V.D. Michotey, Laboratoire de Microbiologie, de Géochimie et d'Ecologie Marines, CNRS-UMR 6117, Centre d'Océanologie de Marseille, Campus de Luminy, Case 901, 13288 Marseille Cedex 9, France. Assioned to Associate Editor Philippe Vidon.

reduce water pollution. Chiu et al. (2004) stated that as much as 55% of the N loss in mangrove sediments occurs through the denitrification pathway. Earlier studies recorded a substantial benthic flux of N,O in mangroves (Corredor et al., 1999; Muñoz-Hincapié et al., 2002; Kreuzwieser et al., 2003). Mangrove sediments are largely anaerobic and rich in organic matter, providing favorable conditions for denitrification. However, redox processes in the N cycle operate in tandem, stressing the importance of considering total N<sub>2</sub>O production rates from nitrification and denitrification (Meyer et al., 2008). Further, N<sub>2</sub>O production is dependent on a number of environmental factors, such as inorganic N concentrations (Dong et al., 2002), sediment redox potential (Van Cleemput and Samater, 1996), and organic carbon availability (Rosswall et al., 1989). Therefore, assessment of environmental parameters and their interrelationships with net N<sub>2</sub>O production in mangrove sediments is crucial in determining the key parameters governing its formation.

In the Indian Ocean region, high  $N_2O$  emission has so far been reported within the oxygen minimum zones in the Arabian Sea (Naqvi et al., 2000; Bange et al., 2001). Recently, investigations by Krithika et al. (2008) in a South Indian mangrove system have shown that the benthic  $N_2O$  flux varies between 0.41 and 0.77 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, indicating that these wetlands are significant contributors of the radiative gas to the atmosphere. However, little is known about the net production or origin of  $N_2O$  in these environments. In the present study, we quantified down-core variation in denitrification activity and net  $N_2O$  production in two mangrove ecosystems of Goa, Indiaone relatively pristine and the other influenced by extraneous nutrient input. Detailed studies to assess the major pathway for  $N_2O$  production and environmental factors responsible for its generation have been restricted to the relatively undisturbed site. Because there is growing concern over the role of mangrove ecosystems with respect to increased  $N_2O$  fluxes to the atmosphere, the study will enhance our knowledge on the contribution of the N cycle processes in  $N_2O$  production. In addition, our study can help initiate the formulation of mitigatory measures to minimize  $N_2O$  production and its emission from estuatine zones of the Indian Ocean region.

# **Materials and Methods**

# **Study Area and Sampling**

Investigations were performed at mangrove forests located at Tuvem and Divar along the rivers Chapora and Mandovi, respectively, in Goa on the west coast of India (Fig. 1). The site at Tuvem (15°39'94" N; 73°47'65" E) is set amid coconut (*Cocos* nucifera L.), cashew (*Anacardium occidentale* L.), and banana (*Musa* L.) plantations and is comparatively less influenced by anthropogenic activities. The dominant species of mangroves found at Tuvem are mainly represented by *Acanthus illicifolius*, *Excoecaria agallocha*, *Caesalpinia* spp., *Avicennia officinalis*, and *Clerodendrum inerme*. The Divar mangrove ecosystem (15°30'35" N; 73°52'63" E) is separated from the mainland by the river Mandovi. Here, the mangroves consist mainly of species like *Acanthus illicifolius*, *Pongamia pinnata*, *Cyperus* spp., *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza*, *Avicennia officinalis*, *Caesalpinia* spp., *Sonneratia caseolaris*, and *Rhizophora mucronata*. The Mandovi



Fig. 1. Location of sampling sites along the Chapora and Mandovi estuary.

Journal of Environmental Quality · Volume 39 · July-August 2010

is prone to high nutrient concentrations, especially during the monsoon season, which has been attributed to riverine and land runoff (Divya et al., 2009) and anthropogenic sources (De Sousa, 1983). Approximately 10 Mg mo<sup>-1</sup> of NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> is used as explosive in ferromanganese mining operations upstream of the Mandovi (De Sousa, 1999). Iron ore beneficiation plants situated on the riverbanks carry out treatment and upgradation of low grade ore fines. These plants use river water to wash the iron ore and discharge effluents directly into the aquatic system. This wastewater contains -80 µmol NO<sub>1</sub>-N L<sup>-1</sup>, forming a major source of the nutrient to the estuary (De Sousa, 1999). Annual variation of NO, -N concentrations along the Mandovi estuary has been reported by Divya et al. (2009). Further, Krishnan et al. (2007) showed that the Divar mangrove sediments are also enriched with metals (primarily Fe and Mn) as a result of ferromanganese mining upstream of the Mandovi. These metals, mainly Fe, have been shown to influence N transformations (Krishnan and Loka Bharathi, 2009).

Sediment samples were collected at low tide during January 2008 (postmonsoon season) using hand-held polyvinyl chloride push cores (7.5 cm i.d., 15 cm length). The cores were immediately capped at both ends and transported to the laboratory in an ice box. Cores for pore water nutrient and denitrification activity measurements were maintained at 4°C until analysis. Water from the sampling sites was collected in carbuoys for media preparation.

#### Physicochemical Parameters

Hydrogen ion concentration (pH) was measured on sample arrival at the laboratory using an Orion 4-Star Plus benchtop pH/ISE meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA). Sediment oxidation-reduction potential (Eh) was measured using an Orion platinum redox in combination with a Ag/ AgCl, reference electrode (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.).

For nutrient analyses, triplicate subsamples from sediment cores were taken at 2 cm increments from 0- to 10-cm depth by careful sectioning of sediment. Each section (7.5 cm diam. and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 mL of sterile saline (8.5 g L<sup>-1</sup> NaCl) and gently homogenized using a glass rod. The slurry was centrifuged at 4°C for 10 min at 5000 rpm (x1803 g) with a high speed cooling centrifuge (Model CPR-24; Remi Instrument Ltd., Mumbai, India). A low spin speed was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentrations due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2-µm filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Ammonium, NO, -N and NO, -N were measured colorimetrically (UV mini 1240 spectrophotometer; Shimadzu Corp., Tokyo, Japan) as described by Koroleff (1969), Bendschneider and Robinson (1952), and Wood et al. (1967). The weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying the wet samples at 60°C for 48 h. Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley, 1957).

# Denitrification, Net Nitrous Oxide Production, and Its Origin

Sediment cores were demarcated into five sections (0–2, 2–4, 4–6, 6–8 and 8–10 cm). Then 1 mL of sediment was extruded

from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20-mL headspace vials. Three milliliters of sterilized ambient sea water from the sampling site (containing 4.5  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub> –N L<sup>-1</sup>) was added. Sample preparations were also amended with chloramphenicol (1 g L<sup>-1</sup>) to prevent de novo enzyme synthesis during the incubations (Bonin et al., 2002). No additional C or NO<sub>3</sub> –N was added as substrate. The vials were capped with butyl stoppers, sealed with Al crimps, and then briefly vortexed to form a slurry.

Denitrification activity (DNT) was measured by the acetylene inhibition technique based on the inhibition of the conversion of  $N_2O$  to  $N_2$  (Sørensen, 1978). Over short incubation intervals, it is a cost-effective method for estimating denitrification, and rate estimates are comparable to those obtained by the membrane inlet mass spectrometry (Bernot et al., 2003). Thus, to measure DNT, some of the vials were made anaerobic by flushing with  $N_2$  for 15 min. The headspace over these slurries was amended with acetylene at 20 kPa (Bonin et al., 2002) and the tubes were briefly vortexed.

To determine net  $N_2O$  production, aerobic conditions were maintained in the vials and no acetylene was added to the headspace. However, to measure  $N_2O$  produced by denitrifiers ( ${}^{D}N_2O$ ), aerobic conditions were maintained and the headspace was adjusted to an acetylene concentration of 10 Pa to inhibit nitrification (Berg et al., 1982; Bonin et al., 2002). Triplicate measurements were performed at each depth, and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, and 3.0 h. Following incubation, each vial was treated with 0.1 mL of 1 M HgCl<sub>2</sub> solution and vigorously shaken for 2 min to stop the reaction.

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a gas chromatograph (Model 2010; Shimadzu Corp.) fitted with an electron capture detector and Poropak Q column (1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh; Chromatopak Analytical Instrumentation, Mumbai, India). The oven and detector temperatures were 40 and 300°C, respectively. High purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 mL min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard 44 ± 0.38 nmol N,O in N, (National Physical Laboratory, New Delhi). The rate of N<sub>2</sub>O production was determined based on its linear accumulation over time (Tiedje, 1982). The Bunsen solubility coefficient for the measured salinity and temperature in the microcosms was used to correct for dissolved N,O (Weiss and Price, 1980). As the experiment was performed in microcosms, it was necessary to minimize error likely to be caused by variability during sediment transfer. Hence, sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper and dried at 60°C for approximately 48 h. Average N<sub>2</sub>O production and DNT were calculated as nmol N,O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of dry sediment.

Nitrous oxide produced through nitrification ( $^{N}N_{2}O$ ) was calculated as

 $^{N}N,O = net N,O production - ^{D}N,O$ 

where net N<sub>2</sub>O production = N<sub>2</sub>O production from denitrification plus nitrification (without nitrification inhibitor) and  ${}^{\rm D}N_2O = N_2O$  produced by denitrifiers only (nitrification inhibited in presence of 10 Pa C, H<sub>2</sub>). Percentage of  $N_2O$  through incomplete denitrification ( $^{l}N_2O$ ) was calculated as

 $\%^{1}N,O = {}^{D}N,O/DNT \times 100/1$ 

where DNT = denitrification activity (in the presence of 20 kPa C,H,).

# Quantification of Denitrifiers

Denitrifiers were enumerated by the N,O-most probable number (MPN) technique. The sediment core was thawed and sectioned at 2-cm intervals using a sterile core cutter to obtain representative samples at 0 to 2, 2 to 4, 4 to 6, 6 to 8 and 8 to 10 cm. Sediment from each depth was homogenized hy mixing. Approximately 1 g of wet sediment was subsampled from each depth using sterile syringes. The subsamples were transferred to 9 mL of sterile culture medium to give a 10<sup>-1</sup> dilution. The culture medium was prepared as described by Michotey et al. (2000). Tween 80 (20  $\mu L)$  was added and the mixture was sonicated at 40 MHz for 15 s. Serial dilutions for each section of the core were prepared in triplicates. The vials were purged with high purity  $N_2$  for 10 min to induce anaerobic conditions and supplemented with 20 kPa acetylene (Bonin et al., 1994). The vials were incubated at room temperature in the dark for 10 d, and the positive tubes were scored on the basis of the accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O. Subsequent quantification was made using standard McCready's table (Rodina, 1972). Denitrifier abundance has been expressed as MPN cells per gram of dry sediment.

# **Statistical Analyses**

All analyses were performed using Statistica version 6 (StatSoft, Inc., Tulsa, OK). Bacterial numbers were  $\log_{10}$  transformed before analysis. Nitrous oxide production rates were checked for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. As the data was normally distributed (p > 0.2), *t*-test was used to check for statistically significant differences in mean value of N<sub>2</sub>O production between the two sites. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to assess relationships between biotic and abiotic parameters. The correlation values were plotted using Cytoscape 2.6.3 software (http://www.cytoscape.org/), which enabled an open-source network visualization. Principal com-

ponent analysis was used to examine the combined influence of environmental parameters on N,O production.

# Results

# Physicochemical Characteristics

The mangrove sediments were acidic in nature with pH ranging from 5.8 to 6.1 (Table 1). Sediment redox potentials were consistently low, in the range of  $-27.8 (\pm 0.9)$  to  $-6 (\pm 16.45)$ mV at Tuvem, while the Divar sediments exhibited the lowest redox potential of  $-5.7 (\pm 25.10)$  at a depth of 8 to 10 cm.

Pore water nutrient content varied widely with depth with 15.1 ( $\pm$  3.4)  $\mu$ mol NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N L<sup>-1</sup> recorded at 8- to 10-cm depth at Tuvem, while 31.34 ( $\pm$  1.83) was recorded at Divar at a depth of 6 to 8 cm. Nitrite and nitrate concentration generally increased with depth with up to 11.7 ( $\pm$  0.8)  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup>-N L<sup>-1</sup> and 14.2 ( $\pm$  0.4)  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup>-N L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, at Tuvem, while at Divar the maximum levels were 14.2 ( $\pm$  0.0)  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup>-N L<sup>-1</sup> 10.1 ( $\pm$  0.2)  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>5</sub><sup>-</sup>-N L<sup>-1</sup> at 6- to 8-cm depth, respectively. Total organic carbon at Tuvem varied from 2.1 to 4.5%, while at Divar it ranged between 2.5 and 4.0%.

# **Denitrification and Net Nitrous Oxide Production**

The profile of DNT at Tuvem, showed a maxima at 2 to 4 cm  $(2.23 \ [\pm 0.34] \ \text{nmol} \ N_2\text{O-N} \ g^{-1} \ h^{-1})$ , which decreased with depth (Fig. 2). Similarly at Divar, the highest DNT activity was observed within 0 to 4 cm, which was ~5 times higher than at Tuvem.

Nitrous oxide production was significantly different (tworailed t test, P = 0.003, n = 15) at both the locations and varied with depth. At Tuvem, a steady decrease in N<sub>2</sub>O production with depth was observed. The highest production rate of 0.71 (± 0.11) nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at 0 to 2 cm (Fig. 3). At the deepest layer investigated (8–10 cm), production of N<sub>2</sub>O had decreased to a minimum of 0.12 (± 0.02) nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. At Divar, the 2- to 4-cm layer had the maximum N<sub>2</sub>O production rate of 1.95 (± 1.20) nmol N<sub>3</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Depth integrated values for net N<sub>2</sub>O production and denitrification activity at both the locations are shown in Table 2.

Table 1. Variation in the average values of ph	vsicochemical parameters ( $\pm$ SD; $n = 15$ ) in the	e Tuvem and Divar mangrove sediments.
--	--	---------------------------------------

Depth	pН	Eh	NH,⁺-N	NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N	NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> -N	TOC†
cm		mV		μ <b>m</b> cl L <sup>_1</sup>		%
			Location: Tuven	n		
0-2	5.8 (± 0.2)	-27.8 (± 0.9)	14.7 (± 4.4)	4.5 (± 0.13)	10.4 (± 0.4)	2.1 (± 0.7)
2-4	5.9 (±0.2)	23.2 (±7.39)	15.0 (±1.4)	8.6 (±0.33)	9.9 (±0.4)	2.9 (± 1.4)
4-6	6.0 (± 0.6)	-9.5 (± 15.06)	7.8 (± 1.4)	8.1 (± 0.1)	10.9 (± 0.6)	4.5 (± 2.9)
6-8	6.0 (± 0.6)	-6 (± 16.45)	12.0 (± 0.8)	10.9 (± 0.6)	14.2 (± 0.4)	4.4 (± 2.8)
8-10	6.1 (± 0.5)	-6.3 (± 14.54)	15.1 (± 3.4)	11.7 (± 0.8)	11.4 (± 0.0)	4.0 (± 2.7)
			Location: Diva	r		
0-2	5.9 (± 0.3)	115 (± 64.7)	15.7 (± 3.4)	7.2 (± 0.0)	4.6 (± 0.7)	2.9 (± 1.6)
2-4	5.8 (± 0.1)	94.3 (± 62.6)	15.1 (± 2.0)	4.1 (± 0.2)	4.2 (± 0.2)	4.0 (± 2.1)
4-6	5.1 (± 0.1)	93.5 (± 45.18)	23.8 (± 2.3)	6.6 (± 0.6)	9.3 (± 0.2)	2.5 (± 1.0)
6-8	6.0 (± 0.1)	50.8 (± 61.38)	31.3 (± 1.8)	14.2 (± 0.1)	10.1 (± 0.2)	3.3 (± 1.7)
8-10	6.0 (± 0.0)	-5.7 (± 25.10)	22.1 (± 3.1)	8.1 (± 0.3)	10.0 (± 0.2)	3.1 (± 1.8)

† TOC, total organic carbon.

1510

Journal of Environmental Quality · Volume 39 · July-August 2010





Fig. 2. Denitrification profile  $(\pm$  SD) over depth at Tuvem and Divar. DNT, denitrification activity.

# Nitrous Oxide Production by Denitrifiers

Detailed investigations to elucidate the major pathway for N<sub>2</sub>O production at the relatively pristine site Tuvem showed that these sediments harbored up to 10<sup>7</sup> denitrifiers g<sup>-1</sup> sediment. Their abundance was maximum at 4 to 6 cm (7.14 × 10<sup>7</sup> cells g<sup>-1</sup>) as compared to the other sections of the core where their number was relatively stable. In the Tuvem sediments, the denitrifiers significantly influenced N<sub>2</sub>O production (n = 15; r = 0.55; p < 0.05) as illustrated in Fig. 4. They also showed an inverse relationship with pore water NH<sub>4</sub>'-N (r = -0.57; p < 0.05) and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-N (r = -0.55; p < 0.05) concentrations.

In the presence of a nitrification inhibitor, denitrifiers produced a maximum of 1.26 ( $\pm$  0.74) nmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 0 to 2 cm (Fig. 5). Incomplete denitrification ( $^{1}N_{2}O$ ) was responsible for 43 to 93% (Fig. 6) of the N<sub>2</sub>O production, which accounts for about 13 to 52% (net N<sub>2</sub>O/DNT × 100) of the N<sub>2</sub>O produced through denitrification. Nitrous oxide production through nitrification ( $^{N}N_{2}O$ ) was below detection.

Fig. 3. Variation in net N<sub>2</sub>O production (± SD) with depth from the Tuvem and Divar mangrove sediments.

Table 2. Depth integrated (0-10 cm) net N<sub>2</sub>O production and denitrification activity in the Tuvem and Divar mangrove sediments.

Depth integrated activity	Tuvem	Divar
Denitrification (mmol N <sub>2</sub> O-N m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )	0.14	0.67
Net N <sub>2</sub> O production (mmol N <sub>2</sub> O-N m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )	0.03	0.10

# Environmental Factors Influencing Nitrous Oxide Production

The relationships of N<sub>2</sub>O production rates with physicochemical parameters at Tuvem showed an inverse relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O production and pore water NO<sub>2</sub>—N concentration (n = 15; r = -0.47; p < 0.05). Up to 32% of the variation in N<sub>2</sub>O production was negatively influenced by sediment pH (r = -0.57; p < 0.05). Even though the relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O concentration and TOC was not statistically significant, a positive relationship existed between these parameters.

Principal component analysis on sediment variables resulted in four main components explaining nearly 80% of the total variance (Table 3) in  $N_2O$  production. The first component in the correlation plot explained 29% of the

Fernandes et al.: Nitrous Oxide Production via Denitrification

1511



Fig. 5. Nitrous oxide production by denitrifiers under nitrificationinhibited conditions at Tuvem.

observed variance. A forward regression (Fig. 7) of the reductive processes in the N cycle (DNT and N<sub>2</sub>O production) was observed in the first component. Sediment pH, denitrifier abundance, and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>--</sup>N significantly influenced this component. The second component explained 22% of the variance with pore water NO<sub>3</sub><sup>--</sup>N and organic carbon concentrations correlating strongly with this component. The third component correlated with pore water NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N and denitrification activity and explained 16% of the variation. The only and most significant variable in the fourth component was sediment redox potential, which explained 12% of the variation.

# Discussion

The Mandovi estuary receives a considerable nutrient input from various sources including mining wastes (De Sousa, 1983, 1999), land runoff during the summer monsoon (Sardessai and Sundar, 2007; Divya et al., 2009), remineralization of organic matter (Pratihary et al., 2009), and sewage effluents (Ansari et al., 1986). Hence, we expected the adjoining Divar mangrove ecosystem fringing the estuary to also contain elevated inorganic N levels favoring denitrification and consequently, N<sub>2</sub>O production. As hypothesized, down-core DNT at Divar was found to be comparatively higher than at the relatively Fig. 4. A network visualization of factors influencing nitrous oxide production arranged based on the hierarchy of r values denoted at each node. Significant correlations at 0.05 probability level (n = 15) are highlighted in gray. DNT, denitrification activity; TOC, total organic carbon.

pН

-0.57



Fig. 6. Percentage of  $N_2 O$  produced through incomplete denitrification ('N\_2 O) at Tuvem.

pristine site Tuvem (Fig. 2). Low redox potentials (<115 mV) at the sampling sites (Table 1) are indicative of anaerobic conditions in the sediment, which are conducive to alternate respiratory pathways such as denitrification and sulfate reduction. Pore water profiles in the present study revealed that low  $NO_3$  –N concentrations within the 0- to 4-cm layer in the Divar sediments coincided with elevated DNT. Denitrification is dependent on  $NO_3$  –N supply either from nitrification (Klingensmith and Alexander, 1983) or availability of the nutrient from the ambient seawater. The surficial sediments, especially, are continuously replenished with nutrients from

Table 3. Results of principal component analysis of sediment variables and N <sub>2</sub> O product
---

Variable	Component 1	Component 2	Component 3	Component 4
N,O production	0.856*	0.124	0.206	0.266
pH	-0.597*	0.391	-0.541	0.134
Eh	-0.215	0.438	0.106	0.828*
Ammonium 🦿	-0.453	-0.420	0.640*	0.164
Nitrite	-0.687*	0.649	0.093	-0.004
Nitrate	-0.395	0.665*	0.367	0.027
Denitrifi <b>ers</b>	0.730*	-0.023	-0.496	0.326
TOCt	0.369	0.779*	0.286	0.330
DNT†	0.021	0.133	-0.487*	-0.189
Total variance (%)	29.30	22.47	16.26	11.71

\* Correlation significant at the 0.05 probability level.

† TOC, total organic carbon; DNT, denitrification activity.

the estuarine water. These sediments ( $\leq 4$  cm) act as efficient traps to immobilize nutrients (Tam and Wong, 1993), which consequently enhances N metabolism within this depth range. Our observation is consistent with earlier studies by Jørgensen (1989), who showed that the denitrification capacity of estuarine sediments was always highest at the surface and declined with depth. To compare DNT measured using the acetylene block technique in the present study with other similar measurements in mangrove ecosystems, values were integrated to 10-cm depth. Denitrification occurred at a rate of up to 0.67 mmol N<sub>3</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> in the sediments examined (Table 2). These values are similar in range to those reported from a man-

grove system prone to secondary sewage effluents (Corredor and Morell, 1994) and in other estuaries (Barnes and Owens, 1998; Bernot et al., 2003). Although overenrichment of nutrients in coastal waters has ecological implications (Howarth et al., 2000), little is known about the fate of terrestrially derived nutrients in the Mandovi estuarine system. Pratihary et al. (2009) stated that benthic denitrification is responsible for 22% removal of riverine dissolved inorganic N in the Mandovi estuary. The high denitrifying capacity of the Divar sediments suggests that this ccosystem also acts as a buffer zone by reducing nutrient levels through the denitrification process and helps to maintain the water quality of the adjoining estuary.

High DNT at Divar was accompanied by elevated N<sub>2</sub>O production (Fig. 3) compared with Tuvem. Net N<sub>2</sub>O production at Divar occurred at a rate of up to 1.95 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, which is almost three times higher than the relatively pristing site Tuvem. Natural N<sub>2</sub>O production rates in estuarine sediments range from 0.1 to 8.5  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Wang et al., 2007). At NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations of ~10–15  $\mu$ mol (in situ + ambient seawater used in medium), depth integrated N<sub>2</sub>O production values of up to 0.1 mmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Table 2) recorded in our study are far greater than those reported by Dong et al. (2002) from the anthropogenically influenced Colne estuary at similar NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration. A microsensor approach by Meyer et al. (2008) has shown that in subtropical mangrove sediments, anaerobic N<sub>3</sub>O production (through denitrification) under eutrophicated conditions occurs at a rate of 0.1 mmol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. These values are comparable to those recorded in the current study. Our findings emphasize that ecosystems prone to higher N loading can have a detrimental effect on the environment through increased N<sub>3</sub>O production. Elevated levels



Fig. 7. Correlation plot from standardized principal component analysis (PCA) on sediment variables. Variables DNT, denitrification activity; TOC, total organic carbon.

of greenhouse gas emissions from these sediments would thus pose a major environmental issue.

Experiments to examine the major pathway for N<sub>2</sub>O production in the present study indicate that up to 93% incomplete denitrification at the surface of mangrove sediments (Fig. 6) could contribute substantially to an increase in atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O. Studies by Robinson et al. (1998) in hypernutrified estuarine sediments have also shown higher N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in the surface layer ( $\leq 2$  cm) attributing it to denitrification fuelled by NO<sub>3</sub><sup>--</sup>N availability. Similarly, Koike and Terauchi (1996) reported their highest concentration of N<sub>2</sub>O in the top 1 cm of the marine sediments studied. Stratified sampling in our study showed that benthic N<sub>2</sub>O production was found to generally decrease with depth. The flux of the radiative gas to the atmosphere would however be dependent on the diffusion coefficient and N<sub>2</sub>O consumption rates in the sediment layers it passes through.

A number of factors are known to influence the production of N,O in marine sediments. Physical, chemical, biological, and environmental factors like temperature, pH, sediment redox potential (Van Cleemput and Samater, 1996), organic C availability (Rosswall et al., 1989), NO, -N concentration (Dong et al., 2002), and denitrifying communities play an important role in N,O production. Statistical analysis showed that pore water nutrient concentrations, organic carbon availability, and denitrifiers were some of the important factors influencing the production of N<sub>2</sub>O in the current study. Degradation of sediment organic matter results in acidic conditions. Although the relationship between N,O production and TOC content in these sediments was not significant, a positive relationship existed and is thus indicative of its influence on the gas. Although the water soluble fraction of organic C was not estimated during the study, it is possible that it stimulated denitrifier activity and consequently, N<sub>2</sub>O production. Both DNT and N<sub>2</sub>O production followed a decreasing trend with depth; however, no significant relationship was observed between the two parameters. The production of N<sub>2</sub>O could be thus be governed by the availability of electron donors and acceptors like NH,\*, NO,", and organic carbon rather than the rate of denitrification (Usui et al., 2001; Mathieu et al., 2006).

The denitrifier community was also found to influence N<sub>1</sub>O production in mangrove sediments (Fig. 4, 5). They numbered up to  $10^7$  cells g<sup>-1</sup>, and their abundance could be regulated by the amount of organic matter available for their growth (Fig. 7). This can be easily explained by the fact that the denitrifiers are facultative aerobic microorganisms and their activity is limited by the amount of NO3-N available. Estuaries are generally heterotrophic systems, with bacterial respiration exceeding primary production (Heip et al., 1995, Gattuso et al., 1998). Consequently, removal of dissolved inorganic N from estuaries occurs through sedimentary denitrification and/ or burial in the sediment (Middelburg and Nieuwenhuize, 2000). An inverse relationship observed between denitrifiers and pore water nutrient concentrations in the present study suggests that denitrification could play an important role in mitigating excess nutrients within the aquatic system, preventing eutrophication.

In sulfidic sediments, the denitrification end-product is known to shift from N, to partially reduced inorganic N forms such as NO, and N,O (Ebrahimipour et al., 2000). This could explain the high NO, -N pool in the largely anaerobic mangrove sediments studied. About 22% variation in N<sub>2</sub>O production was caused by the variation in NO, -N concentrations, suggesting that it was one of the important and statistically significant parameters regulating the production of N<sub>2</sub>O in mangrove sediments. Many other studies have shown a correlation between N,O production and NO,-N concentration (He et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2004; Alinsafi et al., 2008). Denitrification activity in estuarine sediments is dependent on NO. - N availability (Kana et al., 1998), consequently leading to NO," and N,O production. Dong et al. (2002) stated that formation of N,O from NO, -N is thermodynamically favorable compared to nitrate, suggesting that it may be a critical factor regulating N<sub>2</sub>O formation. Bauza et al. (2002) reported N,O production mainly through nitrification in red mangrove forests, which are characterized by oxic conditions (redox potentials: 159-377 mV) and NH<sub>3</sub>'-N concentrations varying from 0.188 to 0.273 mmol L<sup>-1</sup>. On the contrary, Meyer et al. (2008) showed that nitrification and denittification contributed almost equally to N<sub>2</sub>O production under NH<sub>2</sub>'-amended conditions. In the present study, although ammonium concentrations at Tuvem were <15 µmol L<sup>1</sup>, it did not appear to assert a strong influence on N<sub>2</sub>O production. Nittification could be a significant source of N.O. In organically rich mangrove sediments, NH '-N released through remineralization of organic matter could easily get bound to clay particles, making it unavailable for biological uptake. Thus, when NO, -N and NO, -N predominate, NO arises from microbial denitrification (Corredor et al., 1999). Nitrate respiration is kinetically and thermodynamically favorable (Aivasidis et al., 2005) in oxygen-depleted environments and is preferred over other electron acceptors (Canfield et al., 2005). Denitrification activity also enhances NO, uptake, preventing its accumulation to toxic levels. Experimental results reveal that denitrification was the major pathway for N<sub>2</sub>O production in the mangrove ecosystems of Goa, India. Close grid measurements at submillimeter intervals by Meyer et al. (2008) have shown that in subtropical mangrove sediments, N,O production through nitrification occurs very close to the surface, while denitrification is responsible for its production in the deeper anaerobic layers. The production of N,O through nitrification could be more prominent when the oxidative process is more pronounced. However, N,O production through nitrification was not detected, indicating that the reductive phase of the N cycle was predominant at the time of sampling (postmonsoon). Despite denitrification showing highest activity during the premonsoon season (data not shown), measurements have shown that the mechanism of N<sub>1</sub>O production in mangrove sediments of Goa during all the three seasons is essentially the same.

# Conclusions

Denitrification and  $N_2O$  producing capacity of anthropogenically influenced mangrove ecosystems was clearly higher when compared with relatively pristine locations. Nitrous oxide production in the mangrove sediments of Goa was associated mainly with denitrification, whereas its production through nitrification was nondetectable. The highest percentage of  $N_2O$  production through incomplete denitrification occurred within the first 2 cm of the sediment, a fraction of which could be lost to the atmosphere. Nitrite concentration and denitrifier abundance were the two most important environmental parameters governing the production of N2O in these sediments, indicative of active nutrient uptake by the autochthonous denitrifier community. Although mangroves have the ability to efficiently moderate elevated nutrient concentrations in the estuarine system through the denitrification pathway, they also pose a threat by increasing greenhouse gas production. Our study shows that in mangroves prone to elevated nutrient levels, benthic N<sub>2</sub>O production was three orders higher than natural production rates in estuarine sediments elsewhere. Thus, adequate measures such as lowering use of NHaNO3 in mining activities and building predictive models (Valiela et al., 2000, 2004; Bowen et al., 2007) for tracking the fate of N inputs could be initiated to minimize N loading in adjoining estuarine systems. These strategies would not only help to lower N pollution but also simultaneously result in decreased N<sub>2</sub>O emission to the atmosphere.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr. S.R. Shetye, Director, NIO, for the facilities. S.O.F. is grateful to the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (Government of India) for the award of Senior Research Fellowship and to the Embassy of France in India for the award of Sandwich PhD Scholarship. The authors are thankful to Dr. Wajih Naqvi (NIO) and his team for discussions at the initial stages of the experiment. Dr. Prabhat Gupta (NPL) is acknowledged for providing the N<sub>2</sub>O standard. We thank two anonymous reviewers for their critical and constructive review that helped us improve this manuscript. We are also grateful to Tim Clough, Technical Editor, JEQ, for valuable suggestions. The authors appreciate the help of Mr. Santosh Shirodkar during field sampling. This is NIO contribution no. 4725.

#### References

- Aivasidis, A., P. Melidis, and D. Georgiou. 2005. Continuous denittification by external electron-donor supply utilizing an algorithm-based software controller. Biochem. Eng. J. 25:179–186.
- Alinsafi, A., N. Adouani, F. Béline, T. Lendormi, L. Limousy, and O. Sire. 2008, Nitrite effect on nitrous oxide emission from denitrifying activated sludge. Process Biochem. 43:683–689.
- Alongi, D.M., K.G. Boto, and A.I. Robertson. 1992. Nitrogen and phosphorous cycles. p. 251–292. In A.I. Robertson, and D.M. Alongi (ed.) Tropical mangrove ecosystems. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC.
- Alongi, D.M., K.G. Boto, and F. Tirendi. 1989. Effect of exported mangrove litter on bacterial productivity and dissolved organic carbon fluxes in adjacent tropical nearshore sediments. Mat. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 56:133–144.
- Ansari, Z.A., B.S. Ingole, and A.H. Parulekar. 1986. Effect of high organic enrichment of benchic polychaete population in an estuary. Mar. Pollut. Bull, 17:361–365.
- Bange, H.W., M.O. Andreae, S. Lal, C.S. Law, S.W.A. Naqvi, P.K. Patra, T. Rixen, and R.C. Upstill-Goddard. 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from the Arabian Sea: A synthesis. Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss. 1:61-71.
- Bange, H.W., S. Rapsomanikis, and M.O. Andreae. 1996. Nitrous oxide in coastal waters. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 10:197–207.
- Barnes, J., and N.J.P. Owens. 1998. Denitrification and nitrous oxide concentrations in the Humber Estuary, UK, and adjacent coastal zones. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 37:247–260.
- Bauza, J.E., J.M. Morell, and J.E. Corredor. 2002. Biogeochemistry of nitrous oxide production in the red mangrove (*Rhizophora* mangle) forest sediments. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 55:697-704.
- Bendschneider, K., and N.J. Robinson. 1952. A new spectrophotometric determination of nitrite in seawater. J. Mar. Res. 11:87-96.
- Berg, P., L. Klemedtsson, and T. Rosswall. 1982. Inhibitory effect of law partial pressures of acetylene on nitrification. Soil Biol. Biochem. 14:301–303. Bernot, M.J., W.K. Dodds, W.S. Gardner, M.J. McCarthy, D. Sobolev, and

Fernandes et al.: Nitrous Oxide Production via Denitrification

J.L. Tank. 2003. Comparing denitrification estimates for a Texas estuary by using acetylene inhibition and membrane inlet mass spectrometry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69:5950–5956.

- Bonin, P., E.R. Ranaivoson, N. Raymond, A. Chalamei, and J.C. Bertrand. 1994. Evidence for denirrification in matine sediment highly contaminated by petroleum products. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 28:89–95.
- Bonin, P. C. Tamburini, and V. Michotey. 2002. Determination of bacterial processes which are sources of nitrous oxide production in marine samples. Water Res. 36:722–732.
- Bowen, J.L., J.M. Ramstack, S. Mazzilli, and I. Valiela. 2007. NLOAD: An interactive, web-based modeling tool to predict nitrogen loads and concentrations in estuaries, and to explore options for nitrogen management. Ecol. Appl. 17:S17–S30.
- Bremner, J.M., and A.M. Blackmer. 1978. Nitrous oxide: Emission from soils during nitrification of fertilizer nitrogen. Science 199:295–296.
- Canfield, D.E., B. Thamdrup, and E. Kristensen. 2005. Aquatic geomicrobiology. Adv. Mar. Biol. 48:1–600.
- Chiu, C.Y., S.C. Lee, T.H. Chen, and G. Tian. 2004. Denitrification associated N loss in mangrove soil. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 69:185–189.
- Corredor, J.E., and J.M. Morell. 1994. Nitrate deputation of secondary sewage effluents in mangrove sediments. Estuaries 17:295–300.
- Corredot, J.E., J.M. Morell, and J. Bauza. 1999. Atmospheric nitrous oxide fluxes from mangrove sediments, Mar. Poliut. Bull. 38:473–478.
- De Sousa, S.N. 1983. Studies on the behaviour of nutrients in the Mandovi estuary during premonsoon. Estuar. Const. Shelf Sci. 16:299–308.
- De Sousa, S.N. 1999. Effect of mining rejects on the nutrient chemistry of Mandovi estuary, Goa. Indian J. Mat. Sci. 28:198–210.
- De Wilde, H.P.J., and M.J.M. De Bie. 2000. Nitrous oxide in the Schelde estuary: Production by nitrification and emission to the atmosphere. Mar. Chem. 69:203–216.
- Divya, B., S.O. Fernandes, G. Sheelu, S. Nair, P.A. Loka Bharathi, and D. Chandramohan. 2009. Limbotolerani bacteria govern nitrate concentration in Mandovi estuary. India. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 82:29–34.
- Dong, L.F., D.B. Nedwell, I. Colbeck, and J. Finch. 2004. Nitrous oxide emission from some English and Welsh rivers and estuaries. Water Air Soil Pollur. 4:127–134.
- Dong, L.E., D.B. Nedwell, G.J.C. Underwood, D.C.O. Thornton, and I. Rusmana, 2002. Nitrous oxide formation in the Colne estuary. England: The central role of nitrite. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 8:1240–1249.
- Ebrahimipaur, G., P. Lindenlaub, and T. Höpner. 2000. Denitrification in intertidal black anoxic surface sediments forms rather N<sub>2</sub>O and nitrite instead of molecular nitrogen. Mar. Biodiversity 30:73–80.
- El Wakeel, S.K., and J.P. Riley, 1957. Determination of organic carbon in the marine muds. J. Du Conseil Intrenational Pour L'exploration. Mer (Paris) 22:180–183.
- Firestone, M.K., and E.A. Davidson. 1989. Microbiological basis of NO and nitrous oxide production and consumption in soil. p. 7–21. In M.O. Andreae and D.S. Schimel (ed.) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Forster, P., V. Ramaswamy, P. Artaxo, T. Berntsen, R. Berts, D.W. Fahey, J. Haywood, J. Lean, D.C. Lowe, G. Myhre, J. Nganga, R. Prinn, G. Raga, M. Schulz, and R. Van Dorland. 2007. Changes in atmospheric constituents and in radiative forcing. *In* S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyt, M. Tignor, and H.L. Miller (ed.). Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Pane: on Climate Change. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York.
- Gattuso, J.P., M. Frankignoulle, and R. Wollast. 1998. Carbon and carbonate metabolism in coastal aquatic ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 29:405-434.
- He, Y., Y. Inamori, M. Mizuochi, H. Kong, N. Iwami, and T. Sun. 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from aerated composting of organic waste. Environ. Sci. Tethnol. 35:2347–2351.
- Heip, C.H.R., N.K. Goosen, P.M.J. Herman, J. Kromkamp, J.J. Middelburg, and K. Soetaert. 1995. Production and consumption of biological particles in temperate tidal estuaries. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 33:1–149.
- Houghton, J.T., L.G. Meira Filho, B.A. Callander, N. Harris, A. Kattenberg, and K. Maskell (ed.). 1996. Climate change, 1995: The science of climate change. Cambridge Univ. Press. Cambridge, UK.
- Howarth, R.W., D. Anderson, J. Cloern, C. Elfring, C. Hopkinson, B. Lapointe, T. Malone, N. Marcus, K. McGlathery, A. Sharpley, and D. Walker. 2000. Nutrient pollution of coastal rivers, hays, and seas. Issues Ecol. 7:1–15.
- IPCC. 2007. Summary for policymakers. In S. Salomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Averyr, M. Tignor and H.L. Miller

(ed.) Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York.

- Jørgensen, K.S. 1989. Annual pattern of denitrification and nittate ammonification in estuarine sediment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55:1841–1847.
- Kana, T.M., M.B. Sullivan, J.C. Cornwell, and K.M. Groszkowski. 1998. Denitrification in estuardne sediments determined by membrane inlet mass spectrometry. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43:334–339.
- Klingensmith, K.M., and V. Alexander. 1983. Sediment nitrification, denitrification, and nitrous nxide production in a deep arctic lake. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 46:1084–1092.
- Koike, I., and K. Terauchi. 1996. Fine scale distribution of nitrous oxide in marine sediments, Mar. Chem. 52:185–193.
- Koroleff, F. 1969. Direct determination of ammonia in natural waters as indophenol blue. Int. Con. Explor, Sea, C.M. C: 9.
- Kreuzwieser, J., J. Buchholz, and H. Rennenberg. 2003. Emission of methane and nitrous oxide by Australian mangrove ecosystems. Plant Biol. 5:423-431.
- Krishnan, K.P., S.O. Fernandes, G.S. Chandan, and P.A. Loka Bharathi. 2007. Bacterial contribution to mitigation of iron and manganese in mangrove sediments. Mar. Pollut, Bull. 54:1427–1433.
- Krishnan, K.P., and P.A. Loka Bharathi. 2009. Organic carbon and iron modulate nitrification rates in mangrove swamps of Goa, South west coast of India. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sei. 84:419–426.
- Krithika, K., R. Purvaja, and R. Ramesh. 2008. Fluxes of methane and nitrous oxide from an Indian mangrove. Curr. Sci. 94:218-224.
- Mathieu, O., J. Lévèque, C. Hénault, M.J. Milloux, F. Bizouard, and F. Andreux. 2006. Emissions and spatial variability of N<sub>2</sub>O, N<sub>2</sub>, and nitrous oxide mole fraction at the field scale, revealed with <sup>15</sup>N isotopic techniques. Soil Biol. Biochem, 38:941–951.
- Meyer, R.L., D.E. Allen, and S. Schmidt. 2008. Nitrification and denitrification as sources of sediment nitrous axide production: A microsensor approach. Mar. Chem. 110:68–76.
- Michotey, V.D., V. Méjean, and P.C. Bonin. 2000. Comparison of methods for quantification of cytochrome cd<sub>1</sub>-denitrifying bacteria in environmental marine samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:1564–1571.
- Middelburg, J.J., and J. Nieuwenhuize. 2000. Uptake of dissolved inorganic nitrogen in turbid, tidal estuaries. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 192:79–88.
- Muñoz-Hincapié, M., J.M. Morell, and J.E. Corredor. 2002. Increase of nitrous oxide flux to the atmosphere upon nitrogen addition to red mangroves sediments. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44:992–996.
- Naqvi, S. W.A., D.A. Jayakumar, P.V. Narvekar, H. Naik, V.V.S.S. Sarma, W. DeSouza, S. Joseph, and M.D. George. 2000. Increased marine production of N<sub>2</sub>O due to intensifying anoxia on the Indian continental shelf. Nature 408:346–349.
- Nogales, B., N.T. Kenneth, D.B. Nedwell, and A.M. Osborn. 2002. Detection and diversity of expressed denitrification genes in estuarine sediments after reverse transcription-PCR amplification from mRNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68:5017–5025.
- Prarihary, A.K., S.W.A. Naqvi, H. Naik, B.R. Thorat, G. Narvenkar, B.R.

Manjunatha, and V.P. Rao. 2009. Benthic flux in a tropical estuary and its role in the ecosystem. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 85:387–398.

- Robinson, A.D., D.B. Nedwell, R.M. Harrison, and B.G. Ogilvie. 1998. Hypernutrified estuaries as sources of N<sub>2</sub>O enussion to the atmosphere: The estuary of the river Colne, Essex, U.K. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 164:59–71.
- Rodina, A.G. 1972. Methods in aquatic microbiology. University Park Press, Baltimore, MD; Butterworths, London.
- Rosswall, T., F. Bak, R.J. Cicerone, R. Conrad, D.H. Ehalt, M.K. Firestone, I.E. Galbally, V.F. Galchenko, P.M. Groffman, H. Papen, W.S. Reeburgh, and E. Sanhueza. 1989. What regulates production and consumption of trace gases in ecosystems: Biology or physicochemistry? p. 73–95. *Ia* M.O. Andreae and D.S. Schimel (ed.) Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK.
- Sardessai, S., and D. Sundar. 2007. Variability of nitrate and phosphate. p. 59–66. in S.R. Sheiye, M. Dileep Kumar. and D. Shankar (ed.) The Mandovi and Zuari estuaries. National Institute of Oceanography, India.
- Sørensen, J. 1978, Denitrification rates in marine sediment as measured by the acetylene inhibition technique. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 36:139-143.
- Tam. N.F.Y., and Y.S. Wong. 1993. Retention of nutrients and heavy metals in mangrove sediment receiving wastewater of different strengths. Environ. Technol. 14:719–729.
- Thorsten, D., and L.R. José. 2001. Do mangroves rather than rivers provide nutrients to coastal environments south of the Amazan River? Evidence fram long-term flux measurements. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 213:67–77.
- Tiedje, J.M. 1982. Denitrification. p. 1011–1026. In A.L. Page (ed.) Methods of soil analysis. Part 2: ASA and SSSA. Madison, WI.
- Usui, T., I. Koike, and N. Ogura. 2001. N<sub>3</sub>O production, nitrification and denitrification in an estuarine sediment. Escuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 52:769–781.
- Valiela, I., M. Geist, J. McClelland, and G. Tomasky. 2000. Nitrogen loading from watersheds to estuaries: Verification of the Waquoic Bay nitrogen loading model. Biogeochemistry 49:277--293.
- Valiela, I., S. Mazzilli, J.L. Bowen, K.D. Kroeger, M.L. Cole, G. Tomasky, and T. Isaji. 2004. ELM, an estuarine nitrogen loading model: Formulation and verification of predicted concentrations of dissolved inorganic nitrogen. Water Air Soil Pollut. 157:365–391.
- Van Cleemput, O., and A.H. Samater. 1996. Nitrite in soils: Accumulation and role in the formation of gaseous N Compounds. Fert, Res. 45:81–89.
- Wang, D., Z. Chen, J. Wang, S. Xu, H. Yang, H. Chen, L. Yang, and L. Hu. 2007. Summer-time denitrification and nitrous oxide exchange in the intertidal zone of the Yangtze estuary. Estuar, Coast. Shelf Sci. 73:43–53.
- Weiss, R.F., and B.A. Price. 1980. Nitrous oxide solubility in water and seawater. Mat. Chem. 8:347–359.
- Wood, E.D., F.A.J. Armstrong, and F.A. Richards. 1967. Determination of nitrate in sea water by cadmium-copper reduction to nitrite. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 47:23–31.
- Yamagishi, H., M.B. Westley, B.N. Popp, S. Toyoda, N. Yoshida, S. Watanabe, K. Koba, and Y. Yamanaka. 2007. Role of nitrification and denitrification on the nitrous oxide cycle in the eastern tropical North Pacific and Gulf of California. J. Geophys. Res. 112:G02015, doi:10.1029/2006JG000227.

# Nitrate levels modulate denitrification activity in tropical mangrove sediments (Goa, India)

Sheryl Oliveira Fernandes · P. A. Loka Bharathi

Received: 2 September 2009 / Accepted: 11 February 2010 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2010

Abstract A study to examine the short-term effect of nitrate and organic carbon addition on denitrification activity was carried out on sediments from a mangrove ecosystem prone to anthropogenic activities (Divar, Goa, India). Laboratory microcosms were prepared using sediment sectioned at every 2-cm-depth interval from the surface to 10 cm. The incubations were subjected to varying nitrate amendments at concentrations ranging from 0, 5, 10, 20, 40 to 60  $\mu$ mol 1<sup>-1</sup> (up to three times more than measured in field). Nitrous oxide production rates increased significantly (n = 15; p < 0.001) on addition of the nutrient at all depths investigated indicating that denitrification in mangrove sediments was  $NO_3^$ limited. Incubations amended with organic carbon were prepared using glucose as a substrate with concentrations ranging from 0%, 0.1%, 0.3%, 0.5%, 0.75% to 1%. No significant increase in N<sub>2</sub>O production was observed on organic C addition. When both the substrates were in excess  $(1 \text{ mmol KNO}_3 + 1 \text{ mmol glucose})$ , potential denitrification rates decreased with depth and were up to 38 times higher than the in situ denitrification

S. O. Fernandes · P. A. Loka Bharathi (🖾) Marine Microbiology Laboratory, National Institute of Oceanography (NIO), Dona Paula, Goa, 403 004, India e-mail: loka@nio.org

Published online: 19 March 2010

activity varying from 81.26 to 304.09  $\mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. These results reveal that mangrove sediments could act as a sink for nitrate and microbially mediated denitrification could effectively reduce N load controlling any adverse environmental impact in the adjoining estuarine system.

Keywords Denitrification · Organic carbon · Nitrate · Mangrove · Sediment

# Introduction

In ecosystems with high inputs of nitrogen (N) such as estuaries, denitrification mediates reduction of nitrogen load and therefore contributes to eutrophication control (Nogales et al. 2002). One such ecosystem is the mangroves which constitute nearly 75% of tidal vegetation in tropical regions (Alongi et al. 1989). These habitats lie in close proximity to areas prone to anthropogenic activity (Muñoz-Hincapié et al. 2002). Mangroves play an important role in the biogeochemical cycles of coastal and marine ecosystems (Thorsten and José 2001). They function as efficient buffer zones mitigating large amounts of excess nutrients in the estuarine system reducing water pollution.

The nitrogen cycle within mangrove forests is mediated predominantly by microbial rather than chemical processes (Alongi et al. 1992). Inorganic N and other parameters important for its turnover

🙆 Springer

can fluctuate widely due to the position of mangroves in the intertidal zone (Meyer et al. 2008). Chiu et al. (2004) state that as much as 55% of the N loss in mangrove sediments occurs through denitrification. Mangrove sediments are largely anaerobic and rich in organic matter providing favorable conditions for denitrification. The process is mediated mainly by facultatively anaerobic heterotrophic bacteria which utilize oxidized N compounds for respiration under oxygen deficient conditions (Zumft 1997). Earlier studies have highlighted nitrate (Morell and Corredor 1993; Corredor and Morell 1994; Rivera-Monroy and Twilley 1996; Kana et al. 1998) and organic carbon (McCarty and Bremner 1993; Pfenning and McMahon 1997; Hill and Cardaci 2004) as important factors affecting denitrification. In sediment, denitrifying activity is highly correlated with water-extractable organic carbon and is frequently stimulated by the addition of exogenous carbon (Knowles 1982; Hahndel and Isermann 1992). Sufficient organic carbon is required for denitrification to occur as it is a source of energy for the conversion of nitrate to nitrogen gas. In the marine environment, high denitrifying activity has been reported to occur within the oxygen minimum zones (OMZs) contributing to 30-50% of the total nitrogen loss and has been commonly attributed to heterotrophic denitrification (Gruber and Sarmiento 1997; Codispoti et al. 2001). In the

OMZs of the Eastern Tropical North and South Pacific, denitrification appeared to be limited by organic carbon (Ward et al. 2008). In the Indian Ocean region, denitrification in the Arabian Sea has also been shown to be dependent on the organic carbon regime (Anderson et al. 2007). So far, there have been no reports on the factors limiting denitrification from nearby estuarine zones.

In the present study, we examined the shortterm effect of nitrate and organic carbon addition on denitrification activity in mangrove sediments prone to nutrient input from anthropogenic activities. We hypothesize that in organically rich mangrove sediments, denitrification could be more dependent on nitrate availability. The significant increase in denitrification activity on nitrate amendments observed in the present study further corroborates our hypothesis suggesting that nitrate is the main limiting factor for denitrification in mangrove sediments.

# Materials and methods

# Study area and sampling

Investigations were carried out at fringing mangrove forest located at Divar in Goa, west coast of India (Fig. 1) during January 2008 (post-monsoon



2 Springer

at Divar Island, Goa

season). The Divar mangrove ecosystem  $(15^{\circ}30'35''$  N and 73°52′63'' E) is separated from the mainland by the river Mandovi and is accessible by ferry. A significant number of inhabitants colonize along the banks. The Mandovi is important for the economy of the territory as it is heavily used for transportation of iron ore from mines located upstream. These iron ore beneficiation plants situated on the riverbank discharge effluents directly into the estuary. This discharge contains high quantities of NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> used as explosive in ferromanganese mining operations (De Souza 1999).

Sediment cores were collected at low tide and transported in an ice box. Cores for activity measurements were maintained at 4°C. For measurement of labile organic matter (LOM), cores were immediately sectioned at 0–2-, 2–4-, 4–6-, 6–8-, and 8–10-cm interval. The sections were dried at  $60^{\circ}C \pm 2$ , powdered and sieved through a 200-µm sieve and stored in clean polyvinyl chloride vials until analysis.

# Pore water nitrate

For the estimation of pore water nitrate concentration, subsamples were taken at every 2 cm intervals from surface to 10 cm by carefully sectioning the core. Each section (7.5 cm diameter and 2 cm thick) was transferred to 100 ml of sterile saline and homogenized using a glass rod. The slurry was centrifuged at 5,000 rpm for 10 min and 4°C. Low spin was maintained during centrifugation to ensure minimal change in nutrient concentration due to lysis of benthic infauna. The supernatant was filtered through a 0.2-µm filter and stored at -20°C until analysis. Nitrate was measured colorimetrically (Shimadzu UV/VIS spectrophotometer; precision  $\pm 0.01 \ \mu \text{mol } l^{-1}$ ) as described by Wood et al. (1967). Weight of the sediment used in the extraction was estimated by drying in a hot air oven at 60°C for 48 h.

# Total organic carbon

Total organic carbon (TOC) was determined by wet oxidation method with a precision of 0.01% (El Wakeel and Riley 1957).

## Labile organic matter

The LOM was measured as a sum of proteins, carbohydrate and lipid content in the sediments. Proteins were estimated as described by Lowry et al. (1951). Carbohydrate was estimated by phenolsulfuric acid method (Dubois et al. 1956) using glucose as standard. Lipid content in the sediment was estimated by using the acid dichromate method outlined by Parsons et al. (1984).

Effect of  $NO_3^-$  addition on denitrification

Sediment cores were demarcated into five sections (0-2, 2-4, 4-6, 6-8, and 8-10 cm). About 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of sediment was extruded from each section using a syringe core and transferred aseptically to sterile 20-ml headspace vials. Three milliliters of sterilized ambient seawater from the sampling site was added to the sediment. This seawater used for slurry preparation was spiked with a KNO<sub>3</sub> solution to give final concentrations of 0 (unamended to reflect in situ denitrification activity), 5, 10, 20, 40, and 60  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N l<sup>-1</sup>. The seawater was also amended with chloramphenicol at a final concentration of 1 g  $l^{-1}$  (Bonin et al. 2002) to inhibit de novo synthesis of denitrifying enzymes thus reflecting in situ activity at the time of sampling (Brooks et al. 1992). No additional carbon substrates were added. The vials were capped with butyl stoppers and were briefly vortexed to form slurry. The vials were purged with high purity  $N_2$ for 10 min to induce anaerobic conditions. Acetylene gas at 20 kPa (Bonin et al. 2002) was injected into the headspace to inhibit  $N_2O$  production by nitrification and its reduction by denitrification (Castro-González and Farías 2004). Triplicates were maintained at each depth and the vials were incubated in the dark for 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, 2.5, and 3.0 h. At the end of the incubation period, bacterial activity was terminated using 0.1 ml of  $1 \text{ M HgCl}_2$ .

Nitrous oxide in the headspace was analyzed using a *Shimadzu* 2010 gas chromatograph fitted with a electron capture detector and Porapak Q column (1/8" SS column, 3.05 m length, 80/100 mesh). The oven and detector temperatures were

🖄 Springer

40°C and 300°C, respectively. High-purity nitrogen at a flow rate of 35 ml min<sup>-1</sup> was used as a carrier gas. The gas chromatograph was calibrated using a secondary standard  $44 \pm 0.38$  nmol N<sub>2</sub>O in nitrogen (National Physical Laboratory, New Delhi, India). Denitrification activity was calculated based on the linear accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O over time. The solubility coefficients of N<sub>2</sub>O were used to correct for dissolved N<sub>2</sub>O in the microcosms (Weiss and Price 1980). Sediment used in each microcosm was filtered through a laboratory grade filter paper, dried at 60°C for approximately 48 h, and weighed. Denitrification activity was calculated as nanomoles of N<sub>2</sub>O-N per gram per hour of dry sediment, extrapolated to a unit area basis (per square meter) and expressed as micromoles of N<sub>2</sub>O-N per square meter per hour.

# Effect of organic C addition

Sterilized seawater used for slurry preparation was amended with 1 g  $l^{-1}$  chloramphenicol and glucose solution at a final concentration of 0%, 0.1%, 0.3%, 0.5%, 0.75%, and 1%. Samples were prepared and analyzed as described above. No additional nitrate was added.

# Potential denitrification rates

Samples were prepared and analyzed as described above except that the seawater used for slurry preparation was amended with KNO<sub>3</sub> and glucose at a final concentration of 1 mmol  $l^{-1}$  in addition to chloramphenicol.

## Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses have been carried out using analysis tool pack in *Microsoft Excel*. Significant differences in denitrification rates have been determined using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

# **Results and discussion**

Estuarine sediments are known to have considerable nutrient loading mostly derived from ex-

Deringer 🖉

traneous inputs like sewage outfall (King and Nedwell 1987). The present study showed that the Divar sediments harbored measurable pore water nitrate content which increased with depth (Fig. 2) ranging from 4.15 ( $\pm 0.21$ ) to 18.71  $(\pm 0.28)$  µmol 1<sup>-1</sup>. Down-core profiling of denitrification showed a subsurface maxima at 2-4 cm with a rate of 20.08 ( $\pm 4.37$ ) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $m^{-2}$  h<sup>-1</sup> (1.43 ± 0.66 nmol g<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). Isotopic measurements by Chiu et al. (2004) have shown much higher denitrification activity in surficial mangrove sediments as compared to the deeper nonrhizosphere soil with rates of up to 120 nmol  $g^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>. Thomas and Lloyd (1994) have also reported maximum denitrification to occur at the surface in estuarine sediment. The process is known to be dependent on nitrate availability (Seitzinger 1990). Low nitrate values encountered



Fig. 2 Down-core variation in pore water nitrate  $(\pm SD)$  at Divar

at the surface could thus be attributed to higher nitrate removal in the upper few centimeters of the sediment.

High denitrification activity at 2-4 cm coincided with increased organic carbon availability at this depth which varied from 2.88% at 4-6 cm to 4.95% at 2-4 cm (Fig. 3). Naturally occurring organic carbon in sediments is critical because it can influence nutrient availability (Moore 1989), enhance biological activity, and can increase acidity of ambient waters through organic acids (Eshleman and Hemond 1985; Kerekes et al. 1986). The primary source of TOC in mangrove swamps is plant material which is decomposed by sediment organisms and converted to organic compounds viz., carbohydrates, proteins and lipids. A sizeable fraction of organic matter could be transported to deeper depths by bioturbating infauna and retained within the system. Natural processes and human activities can also result in elevated content of TOC in the area. Sardessai (1993) have shown that decomposition of mangrove litter and influx of freshwater during monsoons contributes to organic matter derived from humic acids. In the present investigation, labile organic matter showed a similar depth-wise distribution like TOC with a maximum concentration of 0.68% LOM at 2-4 cm (Fig. 4). Labile organic matter is known to limit denitrification (McCutchan and Lewis 2008). In the reductive phase of the N cycle,  $NO_3^-$  ions are reduced to N<sub>2</sub>O or N<sub>2</sub> whereas organic C gets oxidized to  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$ . Our findings suggest that about 11–19% of the TOC is present in readily utilizable form (LOM) in mangrove sediments and could be important for heterotrophic metabolism.



Fig. 3 Down-core variation in total organic carbon (TOC:  $\pm$ SD) at Divar



Fig. 4 Down-core variation in labile organic matter  $(LOM; \pm SD)$  at Divar

D Springer

Denitrification activity in mangrove sediments was monitored when subjected to a wide range of nitrate amendments (three times higher than the ambient concentration). Denitrification activity was stimulated in microcosms containing seawater with all combinations of nitrate amendments, i.e., 5, 10, 20, 40, and 60  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N l<sup>-1</sup>. Higher rates were observed especially at depth  $\leq 4$  cm. Highest activity of 129.22 ( $\pm$ 31.94) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> at 0-2 cm was observed at nitrate amendment of 40  $\mu$ mol NO<sub>3</sub>-N l<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 5). At depths >4 cm, the activity was less pronounced. In estuarine sediments prone to high nitrate inputs, the bacterial communities adapt to changes in the concentration exhibiting higher rates of nitrate reduction and also increasing the proportion of nitrate re-



Fig. 5 Effect of nitrate addition on denitrification activity  $(\pm SD)$ 

Deringer

duced to gaseous products (King and Nedwell 1987). Laverman et al. (2007) have shown that denitrification in estuarine sediments is nitratelimited and the resident denitrifying community rapidly adjusts its level of activity to increased nitrate availability. Denitrification accounts for 27% to 57% of the nitrate consumption in estuarine and coastal sediments (Nishio et al. 1982). The Divar mangrove ecosystem is prone to high nutrient input from mining rejects, land runoff and domestic sewage discharge. The increase in denitrification activity especially in the first few centimeters is indicative of the high nitrate removal capacity of these sediments. Corredor and Morell (1994) have confirmed that mangrove sedimentmicrobial communities are capable of depurating up to 10-15 times the nitrate added. Recently, Krishnan and Loka Bharathi (2009) have shown that nitrification rates in the Divar sediments vary between 2.7 to 18.2 nmol  $g^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>. A strong coupling between redox processes of the N cycle could exist in these sediments wherein nitrate supplied continuously through the nitrification process could be fueling denitrification especially in the upper few centimeters.

Organic carbon addition stimulated denitrification activity mostly at depths  $\geq 4$  cm (Fig. 6). However, maximum activity of only 35.24  $(\pm 9.93) \mu$ mol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> was recorded at 4-6 cm depth. A 0.5% amendment of labile organic carbon (glucose) was found to effectively stimulate denitrification activity at all depths suggesting that the process is optimal at this concentration. Statistical analyses did not show significant increase in denitrification activity on organic carbon addition as compared to amendments with nitrate (one-way ANOVA; n = 15; p < 0.001) at all depths indicating that organic carbon was not a limiting factor for denitrification in mangrove sediments. Denitrification in oxygen minimum zones is known to be fueled almost entirely by organic matter supplied by particles sinking vertically from the euphotic zone (Anderson et al. 2007; Ward et al. 2008). In these environs, organic carbon is the main limiting factor controlling denitrification. In contrast, estuarine systems have considerable organic C loading and labile organic matter is readily available for metabolic activity. In such circumstances, denitrification is

**Environ Monit Assess** 





Fig. 6 Effect of varying organic carbon amendments on denitrification  $(\pm SD)$ 

Fig. 7 Down-core variation in potential denitrification activity (±SD)

more dependent on nitrate availability. Similar observations have been made by Davidsson and Leonardson (1996) using peaty and sandy soil in which  $NO_3^-$  has been shown to be a stronger regulator of denitrification than organic carbon.

Potential denitrification rates decreased with depth and were 15–38 times higher (within 0–10 cm core) than in situ denitrification activity when both nitrate and organic carbon were in excess. Highest activity of up to 304.09 ( $\pm$ 47.6) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 7) was recorded at 2–4 cm. At 8–10 cm, the activity decreased to 81.25 ( $\pm$ 22.58) µmol N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>. Flemer et al. (1998) have reported relatively high potential denitrification rates in estuarine

sediments ranging between 500 to 1,000  $\mu$ mol N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> which were also limited by nitrate availability. Laverman et al. (2007) have encountered maximum in situ rates two-fold lower than the maximum potential rate in surficial sediment indicating that in situ denitrification was nitrate limited. Our observations indicate that the surficial sediments have a comparatively higher denitrifying potential. This could be possible since the denitrifying communities at depths <4 cm get a continuous availability of electron acceptors through lateral supply from the ambient seawater in addition to relatively intense nitrification in the surficial sediments. Thus, these microbes are

🙆 Springer

able to eliminate elevated nitrate concentration through the denitrification pathway.

# Conclusion

The Divar mangrove sediments harbored sufficient amount of labile organic matter to support denitrification activity. Microcosm experiments have indicated that nitrate addition enhanced denitrification at in situ organic carbon concentration. The benthic denitrifying community in these habitats respond rapidly to episodic events of elevated nutrient supply by increasing the rate of nitrate removal through the denitrification pathway. Thus, these sediments could act as a sink for nitrate and this nutrient is more crucial in controlling denitrification activity. Potential denitrification rates were up to 38 times higher than the in situ denitrification activity indicating that the process was important in maintaining low concentration of nitrate and helps to maintain the water quality of the adjoining aquatic system.

Acknowledgements The authors thank Dr. S.R. Shetye, Director, NIO, for the facilities. Sheryl is thankful to the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (Government of India) for the award of Senior Research Fellowship. Dr. Prabhat Gupta (NPL, New Delhi) is acknowledged for providing the N<sub>2</sub>O standard. This is NIO contribution no. 4688.

# References

- Alongi, D. M., Boto, K. G., & Robertson, A. I. (1992). Nitrogen and phosphorous cycles. In A. I. Robertson & D. M. Alongi (Eds.), *Tropical mangrove ecosystems* (pp. 251–292). Washington: American Geophysical Union.
- Alongi, D. M., Boto, K. G., & Tirendi, F. (1989). Effect of exported mangrove litter on bacterial productivity and dissolved organic carbon fluxes in adjacent tropical nearshore sediments. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 56, 133-144.
- Anderson, T. R., Ryabchenko, V. A., Fasham, M. J. R., & Gorchakov, V. A. (2007). Denitrification in the Arabian Sea: A 3D ecosystem modelling study. *Deep*sea Research, Part 1, 54(12), 2082-2119.
- Bonin, P. C., Tamburini, C., & Michotey, V. (2002). Determination of bacterial processes which are sources of nitrous oxide production in marine samples. *Water Research*, 36, 722-732.

- Brooks, M. H., Smith, R. L., & Macalady, D. L. (1992). Inhibition of existing denitrification enzyme activity by chloramphenicol. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 58(5), 1746–1753.
- Castro-González, M., & Farías, L. (2004). N<sub>2</sub>O cycling at the core of the oxygen minimum zone off northern Chile. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 280, 1–11.
- Chiu, C.-Y., Lee, S.-C., Chen, T.-H., & Tian, G. (2004). Denitrification associated N loss in mangrove soil. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 69, 185-189.
- Codispoti, L. A., Brandes, J. A., Christensen, J. P., Devol, A. H., Naqvi, S. W. A., Paerl, H. W., et al. (2001). The oceanic fixed nitrogen and nitrous oxide budgets: Moving targets as we enter the anthropocene? *Scientia Marina*, 65, 85-105.
- Corredor, J. E., & Morell, J. M. (1994). Nitrate depuration of secondary sewage effluents in mangrove sediments. *Estuaries*, 17, 295–300.
- Davidsson, T. E., & Leonardson, L. G. (1996). Effects of nitrate and organic carbon additions on denitrification in two artificially flooded soils. *Ecological Engineering*, 7(2), 139–149.
- De Souza, S. N. (1999). Effect of mining rejects on the nutrient chemistry of Mandovi estuary, Goa. Indian Journal of Marine Science, 28, 198-210.
- Dubois, M., Gilles, K. A., Hamilton, J. K., Rebers, P. A., & Smith. F. (1956). Colorimetric method for the determination of sugars and related substances. *Analytical Chemistry*, 28, 350–356.
- El Wakeel, S. K., & Riley, J. P. (1957). Determination of organic carbon in the marine muds. *Journal Du Conseil Intrenational Pour L'exploration De La Mer*, 22, 180–183.
- Eshleman, K. N., & Hemond, H. F. (1985). The role of soluble organics in acid-base status of surface waters at Bickford Watershed, Massachusetts. *Water Resources Research*, 21, 1503-1510.
- Flemer, D. A., Lores, E. M., & Bundrick, C. M. (1998). Potential sediment denitrification rates in estuaries of Northern Gulf of Mexico. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 27(4), 859–868.
- Gruber, N., & Sarmiento, J. L. (1997). Global patterns of marine nitrogen fixation and denitrification. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 11, 235-266.
- Hahndel, R., & Isermann, K. (1992). Soluble nitrogen and carbon in the subsoil in relation to vegetable production intensity. *Acta Horticultirae*, 339, 193-206.
- Hill, A. R., & Cardaci, M. (2004). Denitrification and organic carbon availability in riparian wetland soils and subsurface. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 68, 320-325.
- Kana, T. M., Sullivan, M. B., Cornwell, J. C., & Groszkowski, K. (1998). Denitrification in estuarine sediments determined by membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43, 334– 339.
- Kerekes, J., Beauchamp, S., Tordon, R., Tremblay, C., & Pollock, T. (1986). Organic versus anthropogenic acidity in tributaries of the Kejimkujik watershed in western Nova Scotia. Water Air Soil Pollution, 31, 165-173.

Deringer

- King, D., & Nedwell, D. B. (1987). The adaptation of nitrate-reducing bacterial communities in estuarine sediments in response to overlying nitrate load. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 45(1), 15-20.
- Knowles, R. (1982). Denitrification in soils. In N. S. Subba Rao (Ed.), Advances in agricultural microbiology (pp. 246–266). London: Butterworth Sci.
- Krishnan, K. P., & Loka Bharathi, P. A. (2009). Organic carbon and iron modulate nitrification rates in mangrove swamps of Goa, south west coast of India. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science*, 84, 419–426.
- Laverman, A. M., Meile, C., Van Cappellen, P., & Wieringa, E. B. A. (2007). Vertical distribution of denitrification in estuarine sediment: Integrating sediment flowthrough reactor experiments and microprofiling via reactive transport modeling. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(10), 40–47.
- Lowry, O. H., Rosebrough, N. J., Farr, A. L., & Randall, R. J. (1951). Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 193, 265-275.
- McCarty, G. W., & Bremner, J. M. (1993). Factors affecting the availability of organic carbon for denitrification of nitrate in subsoils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 15(2), 132–136.
- McCutchan, J. H., & Lewis, W. M. (2008). Spatial and temporal patterns of denitrification in an effluentdominated plains river. Verh International Verein Limnology, 30(2), 323-328.
- Meyer, R. L., Allen, D. E., & Schmidt, S. (2008). Nitrification and denitrification as sources of sediment nitrous oxide production: A microsensor approach. *Marine Chemistry*, 110, 68-76.
- Moore, T. R. (1989). Dynamics of dissolved organic carbon in forested and disturbed catchments, wetland, New Zealand. Water Resources Research, 25, 1321– 1330.
- Morell, J. M., & Corredor, J. E. (1993). Sediment nitrogen trapping in a mangrove lagoon. *Estuarine Coasul and Shelf Science*, 37, 203–212.
- Muñoz-Hincapié, M., Morell, J. M., & Corredor, J. E. (2002). Increase of nitrous oxide flux to the atmosphere upon nitrogen addition to red mangroves sediments. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 44(10), 992–996.
- Nishio, T., Koike, I., & Hattori, A. (1982). Denitrification, nitrate reduction, and oxygen consumption in coastal and estuarine sediments. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 43(3), 648–653.

- Nogales, B., Timmis, K. N., Nedwell, D. B., & Osborn, A. M. (2002). Detection and diversity of expressed denitrification genes in estuarine sediments after reverse transcription-PCR amplification from mRNA. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68(10), 5017-5025.
- Parsons, T. R., Maita, Y., & Lalli, C. M. (1984). A manual of chemical and biological methods for seawater analysis (173 pp.). Pergamon Press, New York.
- Pfenning, K. S., & McMahon, P. B. (1997). Effect of nitrate, organic carbon, and temperature on potential denitrification rates in nitrate-rich riverbed sediments. *Journal of Hydrology*, 187(3), 283–295.
- Rivera-Monroy, V. H., & Twilley, R. R. (1996). The relative role of denitrification and immobilization in the fate of inorganic nitrogen in mangrove sediments (Terminos Lagoon, Mexico). *Limnology and Oceanography*, 41, 284–296.
- Sardessai, S. (1993). Dissolved, particulate and sedimentary humic acids in the mangroves and estuarine ecosystem of Goa, west coast of India. *Indian Journal* of Marine Sciences, 22, 54-58.
- Seitzinger, S. P. (1990). Denitrification in aquatic sediments. In N. P. Revsbech & J. Sorenson (Eds.), Denitrification in soil and sediment. New York: Plenum.
- Thomas, K. L., & Lloyd, D. (1994). Measurement of denitrification in estuarine sediment using membrane inlet mass spectrometry. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 16(2), 103-114.
- Thorsten, D., & José, L. R. (2001). Do mangroves rather than rivers provide nutrients to coastal environments south of the Amazon River? Evidence from long-term flux measurements. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 213, 67–77.
- Ward, B. B., Tuit, C. B., Jayakumar, A., Rich, J. J., Moffett, J., & Naqvi, S. W. A. (2008). Organic carbon, and not copper, controls denitrification in oxygen minimum zones of the ocean. *Deep-Sea Research 1*, 55, 1672– 1683.
- Weiss, R. F., & Price, B. A. (1980). Nitrous oxide solubility in water and seawater. *Marine Chemistry*, 8, 347-359.
- Wood, E. D., Armstrong, F. A. J., & Richards, F. A. (1967). Determination of nitrate in sea water by cadmiumcopper reduction to nitrite. *Journal of Marine Biological Association (United Kingdom)*, 47, 23–31.
- Zumft, W. G. (1997). Cell biology and molecular basis of denitrification. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 61, 533-616.

🖄 Springer